DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Dated: June 4, 2024

Name of Facility: Sharon Village Apartments

Located at: 4009 Craig Avenue (28211-2561)
P O Box 220130

Charlotte, NC 28222-0130
Telephone No.: 704-365-7190
In accordance with Chapter 58, Article 64 of the North Carolina General Statutes of the State of
North Carolina:
* This Disclosure Statement may be delivered until revised, but not after
May 30, 2025;

* Delivery of the Disclosure Statement to a contracting party before execution
of a contract for continuing care is required;

* This Disclosure Statement has not been reviewed or approved by any
government agency or representative to ensure accuracy or completeness of
the information set out



DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

SHARON VILLAGE APARTMENTS

ORGANIZATION INTRODUCTION AND INFORMATION

National HealthCare Corporation (NHC) is a long~ term care company that has been
providing the best in senior care for over 52 years. NHC’s founder, Dr. Carl Adams, was
a physician that had a vision in 1971 to provide higher quality healthcare services for
seniors. His dream was to create a campus concept that offered in-house services for
residents as they age with different needs much like the continuing care retirement
community of today,

At NHC, we believe that care should respect the individual, promote recovery, well being
and independence. We believe in celebrating life every day with our patients and residents.
Our goal has always been to provide a full range of extended care services, designed to
maximize the wellbeing and independence of patients of all ages. We are dedicated to
meeting patient needs through an interdisciplinary approach combining compassionate N

NHC through its qualifying subsidiary companies, develop and manage its own facilities,
and/or manages facilities for third party operators. We are an organization of 13,000
employees, with net operating revenue of more than $1.1 Billion dollars. NHC currently
operates for themselves and third parties 65 skilled nursing facilities with 8,421 beds, NHC
affiliates also operate 24 assisted living communities with 1,365 units, five independent
living communities with 475 units, three behavioral health hospitals, 34 homecare
agencies, and 30 hospice agencies. NHC’s other services include Alzheimer’s and memory
car¢ units, pharmacy services, a rehabilitation services company, and providing
management and accounting services to third party post-acute operators, NHC is a
publicly traded for-profit corporation.

NHC’s goal is to deliver the highest quality services to our residents at the lowest possible
cost. Our Apartment Managers are trained as cooperative supportive problem solvers and
our full-time corporate staff has daily exposure to the intricacies involved in translating the
concept of quality health care into the actual delivery of health services,

Upon closing and approval by the Department of Insurance, NHC HealthCare/Charlotte,
LLC, an affiliate of NHC, will become the license operator of the referenced CCRC.
NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is a North Carolina for profit limited liability company.

Through the following methods, NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC and its parent company,
National HealthCare Corporation, will achieve their objectives:

L. Maximize the utilization of manpower and professional skills to recruit qualified
personnel to staff the facility.

2. Provide overall administration and direction including financial systems
implementation and review, and professional analysis of the several indices of the
facility’s progress,

3. Assist in the development of short- and long-range communications, media, and
public relations programs to increase the visibility of the facility’s activities and to




promote-the-committee-edueation;-evaluate-the -continuing-development-of-the
facility’s program and resident care policies.

Provide ongoing responsive management to ensure quality cost-effective operation
and the constant sensitivity to changing community needs.

Use of bulk buying power to obtain the best service and buys from vendors.

Provide attractive working conditions and effective recruitment policies in order to
insure a stable, high caliber level of employee. -

Provide a high degree of expertise by being able to call on other communities
within the organization wherein individuals have attained excellence in specific
areas,

Assure top quality care, a good reputation, and a successful financial operation.
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FACHFTY INFRODY CTIONAND INFORMATION

Sharon Village combines beauty, dignity, and security to create a remarkably attractive
atmosphere. There are thirty-four one- and two-bedroom apartments, carefully planned to
provide convenience, safety, and privacy that make up Sharon Village.

In the kitchen, you’ll find all those extras you’ve come to expect —refrigerator, dishwasher,
disposal, stove, built-in microwave, and oven. Spend afternoons relaxing on your porch or
balcony, in the company of friends or in undisturbed privacy. Located in each apartment
are emergency call systems connected to the nurses® station in the adjacent White Oak
Manor — Charlotte nursing center. In addition, centrally located are a dining arca and
community room.

The White Oak Manor — Charlotte nursing center is a licensed 180-bed Medicare and
Medicaid certified nursing facility staffed 24-hours a day with health professionals.

Physical, speech and occupational therapists are available to apartment residents, Activities
at Sharon Village are planned to meet the needs and desires of the individual resident. We
offer planned and stimulating entertaining activities for you to enjoy at the community as
well as outside excursions to satisfy everyone’s taste. You're not bound by a schedule but
are free to set your own pace.

NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is a for profit North Carolina limited liability company.
The 4.559-acre site includes 34 apartments, all with ground floor entrance, and a 180-bed
nursing facility.

Sharon Village can be easily located by traveling East on Highway #74 from downtown
Chatlotte, N.C., turning right on Sharon Amity (South) and then right again approximately
1.2 miles onto Craig Avenue.

As of September 30, 2023 there were 36 residents at Sharon Village occupying 32 available
apartments.

Our nursing facility is recognized by the following affiliated groups:

Licensed by State Health Department

Certified by Medicare, Medicaid, and VA

Member of North Carolina Health Care Facilities Assoc.
Member of American Health Care Assoc.

SISt

The day-to-day operating manager of Sharon Village Apartments is Sheri Conrad,
Apartment Coordinator, Please see biography on next page.




e APARTMENT-COORDINATOR’S BIOGRAPHY

Sheri Conrad

Sheri joined the White Qak family in July 2017 performing various administrative duties
for multiple departments, In October 2018 she was promoted to Apartment Director for
Sharon Village Apartments,

Sheri has over 28 years of in-depth experience in Property Management, Construction
Management, Leasing and Human Resources. Her prior employment includes Star Linear
Systems, Trammel Crow Company, Childress Klein Properties and Summit Properties.

CURRENT CONTACT INFORMATION:

SHARON VILLAGE APARTMENTS
4009 Craig Avenue (28211-2561)

P O Box 220130

Charlotte, NC 28222-0130

704-365-7190
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Corporate-Staff

The operator of Sharon Village Apartments is an affiliate and subsidiary of National HealthCare
Corporation. NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is owned 100% by NHC/OP, LP which is
owned 99% by National HealthCare Corporation and 1% by NHC/Delaware, Inc, a wholly
owned subsidiary of National HealthCare Corporation,

The Manager of NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is as follows:
R. Michael Ussery

In addition, the Regional Director overseeing the North Carolina operations will be Greg Forsey,
prior Director of Operations for White Oak.

NHC Corporate Staff:

Stephan F. Flatt
Chief Executive Ofticer
Years with NHC: 19
Years as CEO: 7

Stephen F. Flatt was appointed to the Board and named Chief Executive Officer effective
January 1, 2017. He joined NHC in June 2005 as Senior Vice President-Development. On

~ January 1, 2009, Mr. Flatt became NHC’s President. He served as the President of
Lipscomb University from 1997 through June 2005 and, prior to that, President of Ezell
Harding Christian School in Nashville and Vice President of Financial Affairs and
Institutional Planning at Lipscomb.

R. Michael Ussety
President and Chief Operating Officer

Years with NHC: 44
Years as COO: 15
Years as President: 7

R. Michael Ussery has been with NHC since 1980. On January 1, 2009, Mr. Ussery was
appointed Chief Operating Officer and on January 1, 2017 he was appointed President of
NHC. During his tenure with NHC he has served as Senior Vice President-Operations,
Senior Vice President-Central Region, Regional Vice President, and Administrator in
multiple locations.

Vicki L. Dodson

Senior Vice President, Patient Services
Years with NHC: 40

Years as SVP: 5

Vicki L. Dodson was named Senior Vice President, Patient Services on June 1, 2019. She
joined NHC in 1984 and previously held the title of Assistant Vice President, Patient



Services-since-2017;-and; prior-to-that; served-as-Electronic-Health-Reeord- (EHR) - Pirector

and Comprehensive Patient Care Software (CPCS) User Analyst. She began her career with
NHC as a Home Care staff nurse and then served as a Director of Nursing and Regional
Nurse.

B. Anderson Flatt, Sr.

Senior Vice President,

Chief Information Officer

Years with NHC: 7

Years as SVP: 7

B. Anderson Flatt, Sr. brought more than 32 years of experience in health care technology
when he joined NHC in 2017, including roles as Senior-Vice President and Chief
Information Officer at Corizon Health from 2014-2017, Senior Vice-President and Chief
Information Officer at Cigna-Health Spring from 2006-2014, and prior to that, at AIM
HealthCare (now a division of Optum).

Brian F. Kidd

Senior Vice President
Chief Financial Officer
Years with NHC: 16
Years as CFO: 1
Years as Controller

and Principal

Accounting Officer: 7

Brian F. Kidd joined NHC in 2008, Prior to being promoted to Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer in May 2023, Mr. Kidd served as Senior Vice President, Controller
and Principal Accounting Officer since 2017.

Josh A. McCreary
Senior Vice President, General Counsel,

and Secretary
Years with NHC: 5
Years as SVP
Secretary and
General Counsel: 5

Josh A. McCreary joined NHC as Senior Vice President, General Counsel & Secretary in
2019. Prior to joining NHC, Mr, McCreary practiced law for 20 years at Hudson, Reed &
McCreary, PLLC. In private practice, he regularly counseled and represented businesses,
governments, and individuals in a wide variety of transactional, compliance, and litigation
matters.

NHC’s Corporate Staff can be reached at:
100 E. Vine Street
Murfreesboro, TN 37130




CORPORATE STRUCTURE

NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is wholly owned by NHC/OP, LP. which is an affiliate and
subsidiary of NHC. NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, L.I.C has two operating divisions: White Oak
Manor- Charlotte (180-bed Nursing) and Sharon Village Apartments (34 Continuing Care
Retirement Apartments). NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC also owns 100% of the real estate and
related fixed equipment.

NHC is financially responsible for all indebtedness including all financial and contract obligations
entered into by any of its’ subsidiaries, including NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC.

NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is owned 100% by NHC/OP, L.P. and does not have any Board
of Directors.

National HealthCare Corporation owns 99% of NHC/OP, L.P with the 1% owner being
NHC/Delaware, Inc. NHC’s Board of Directors are listed below:

Board Members:

J. Paul Abernathy, M.D. Director
1523 Mirabella Way
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

1. Paul Abernathy, M.D. (Independent Director) joined the Board in 2003 and is a retired
board-certified general surgeon. He was in private practice at Murfreesboro Medical Clinic
from 1971 until retirement in 1995.

Robert G. Adams Chairman of .
2217 Battleground Drive the Board
Murfreesboro, TN 37129

Robert G. Adams (Chairman & Independent Director) has served NHC for 50 years - 20
years as Senior Vice President, 11 years as Chief Operating Officer, 5 years as President,
12 years as CEQ and 31 years on the Board. Ile became Chairman of the Board on
January 1, 2009 and served as Chief Executive Officer from November 1, 2004 until
December 31, 2016. Mr. Adams retired from his position as CEO effective December 31,
2016 but remains non-executive Chairman of the Board. He is the brother of W. Andrew
Adams

W. Andrew Adams Director
801 Mooreland Lane
Murfreesboro, TN 37128

W. Andrew Adams (Independent Director) served NHC as a full-time employee and
director for 32 years and served as its President and CEO unti! he resigned those positions




2004, et a5 Chairmanof the Board through-2068-He-is-the-brother-of Rebert
Adams.

Ernest G. Burgess I Director
7097 Franklin Road
Murfreesboro, TN 37128

Frnest G. Burgess, IT1 (Independent Director) served as NHC’s Senior Vice President of
Opetations for 20 years before retiring in 1994. In his past role as Senior Vice President of
Operations, he gained significant operational experience in the long-term care business as
well as experience with financial and accounting matters.

Stephen F. Flatt Director &
100 Vine St. Ste 1400 CEO
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

Please see qualifications above.

Emil E, Hassan Director
8400 Heirloom Blvd
College Grove, TN 37046

Emil E. Hassan (Independent Director) joined the Board in April 2004, In 2004, he retired
from the position of Senior Vice President of manufacturing, purchasing, quality and
Jogistics for Nissan North America, Inc. while also serving as Chairman and CEQ of
Distribution and Auto Services ("DAS™), a Nissan affiliate company. Prior to joining
Nissan, he was with Ford Motor Co. for twelve years, where he held various management
positions in engineering and manufacturing.

Richard F. LaRoche Director
2103 Shannon Dr,
Murfreesboro, TN 37129

Richard ¥. LaRoche (Independent Director) served NHC for 27 years as Secretary and
General Counsel and 14 years as Senior Vice President, retiring from these positions in
May 2002. He has served as an NHC Board member since 2002,

Sandra Y. Trail Director
1011 Houston Dr.
Murfreesboro, TN 37130

Sandra Y. Trail (Independent Director) joined the Board in 2022. Ms. Trail has been 2
licensed practicing attorney for over 35 years as a sole proprietor and since 2018 as a
principal in the firm of Trail, Coleman and Stearns, PLLC located in Murfreesboro,
Tennessee.



——Neone-of the Board- Members-listed-above own-5%-or-more ownership-in National HealthCare

Corporation.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTION STATEMENT

With one exception, which is explained below, there is no person, association, trust, partnership,
or corporation which has an ownership interest in NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC or National
HealthCare Corporation which also has an ownership interest in a service firm, association, trust
partnership or corporation which provides goods, leases, or services to the facility. Furthermore,
there are no plans for other such arrangements to be developed in the next 12 months.

The one exception is an NHC affiliate, Network Pharmacy WO, LLC (“Network Pharmacy™).
Upon closing, Network Pharmacy will continue to supply preseription drugs, medical and nursing
supplies to White Oak Manor — Charlotte nursing facility. The value of the goods purchased by
White Oak Manor — Charlotte varies from year to year. For the year ending 9/30/23, the total value
was approximately $693,712.

The sole member (100% owner) of Network Pharmacy, is Nutritional Support Services (“NSS™),
an affiliate of NHC. Please see attached Organizational Chart.

Please See Corporate Structure above, for a listing of officers and Board of Directors for NHC.

AFFILIATION STATEMENT

NHC HealthCare/Chatlotte, LLC, NHC/OP, L.P. and National HealthCare Corporation, are not
affiliated with a religious, charitable, or other nonprofit organization; therefore, NHC
HealthCare/Charlotte, LL.C and NHC is responsible for all financial and contract obligations, and
NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC is not a tax-exempt organization.

10



{glom
‘O Aoeulieyd }oaSn

(#) seaialas Hoddng jeUDLIINN

Auedwwod Ayljiges; pajull euljoled ynosy  (g)
(1) 4140/ HN diyssauiied |prouad sassauuaLy ()

diysiauped poul| atemeaq v (1)
Uy

24n3on.1s Aljug

T {DHN LIIA-ISAN) mC _mO_UsHWO&

%001 uonelodio) sle)yljeay [euoilenN




CRIMINAL VIOLATION STATEMENT

s 1

There are no directors, officers, agents, or managing cmployees of NHC HealthCare/Charlotte;
LLC, or National HealthCare Corporation that have ever been convicted of a felony or pleaded
nolo contendere to a felony charge, or been held liable or enjoined in a civil action by final
judgment that involved fraud, embezzlement, fraudulent conversion, or misappropriation of
property; or (ii) is subject to a currently effective injunctive or restrictive court order, or within the
past five years, had any State or Federal license or permit suspended or revoked as a result of an
action brought by a governmental agency or departgnent gf%r any reasorn.

1 %
F B,

Y ! ﬁ
i NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLE
R. Michael Usgery",
i Manager of LLC ]

i / -
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(o4 20>
Foo Date
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ADMISSION

Health Criteria — Prospective residents must be ambulatory and be able to function
independently in the activities of daily living. Also, please refer to Section 1 (i) — (iii) of
the Apartment Rental Agreement.

Financial and Insurance Criteria — Prior to admission, the resident must pay the Retention
Deposit, if applicable, and the first month’s rent. We do not require, but recommend, the
resident maintain adequate renter’s insurance covering the personal contents of their
apartment.

Age Requirement — Admissions are limited to those individuals who are 65 years of age or
older.

Changes of Condition Prior to Occupancy — At the time of occupancy, each resident must
meet the health criteria outlined above.

Cancellation/ Termination — In accordance with Section 1 of the Apartment Rental
Agreement, the following describes our cancellation and termination policy:

“The term of this Agreement shall begin on the first day of occupancy, and end
upon the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resident’s death, or at such time
thereafter as the Resident’s belongings have been removed from the
premises; or

(b) Resident’s default as hereinafter defined; or

(c) Sharon Village having determined, and having given wriiten notification
thereof, that the Resident:

(1) is socially incompatible with the Sharon Village employees, other
residents or guests;,

(i)  has demonstrated possible emotional instability.

(i)  poses arisk to the life and well-being of him/herself or others;

(iv)  has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property belonging to Sharon
Village, him/herself or others; or

(v)  fails to fully comply with all terms and provisions contained in this
Agreement; or

(vi)  has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or poses for Sharon
Village its employees, residents or guests, any other unreasonable
risks; or

(d)  The last day of any month prior to which the Resident has given to Sharon
Village:

(i) In the event the Resident is to be transferred, based upon written

medical certification, to a hospital or to White Oak Manor- Charlotte
Nursing Center, at least ten (10) days prior written notice or

12



(e)

i) In-the-event-the -Resident.is-to.be. transferred. based .upon. written

medical certification, anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iii}  In the event the Resident is to be transferred anywhere else, without
written medical certification, at least (60) sixty days prior written
notice; or

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed by fire or other calamity,
or if the apartment, or a substantial portion of the complex, is acquired
through condemnation proceedings, making it such, under the
circumstances, that the apartment is no longer reasonably fit for its intended
use.

In the event the Resident is transferred as provided in Paragraph (i) above,
to a hospital, he shall have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to return to
his apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain in full force and
effect, so long as all terms, covenants and conditions here in contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and are then
being) fuily complied with.

In the event the Resident is transferred, as provided in Paragraph (i) above,
to White Oak Manor — Charlotte Nursing Center, the Resident shall have
thirty (30) days from date of transfer to return to his apartment, and to have
the within Agreement remain in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and condifions herein contained, including those pertaining to
rental payments, have been (and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being transferred elsewhere as provided
above, wishes to again become a tenant of Sharon Village, atter the within
Agreement has terminated, and is certified, in writing, by a qualified
physician, as being again able to reside in the apartment complex, Sharon
Village agrees to give the Resident, to the extent reasonably possible, a
priority as far as the next available apartment, with Retention Deposit and
rental rates to be those then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental
Agreement to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and (ii) above, Sharon Village
may, but shall have no legal duty to, waive the requirement regarding
written notification based upon terms and conditions mutually agreeable to
both Sharon Village and Resident.”

13



~-Apartment-Rental-Agreement (With-Retention-Schedule-Ineluded)

Retention Schedule is as follows:

LENGTH OF OCCUPANCY AMOUNT RETAINED AMOUNT REFUNDED
Upon Occupancy 20% 80%

Year 1 (prorated daily) 20% 60%

Year 2 (prorated daily) 20% 40%

Year 3 (prorated daily) 20% 20%

Year 4 (prorated daily) 20% 0%

The purpose of paying the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent when compared to the
Straight Rental payment plan,

Upon a resident’s death, the unearned portion of the Retention Deposit becomes the facility’s
property. In the event of a death of a spouse where the remaining spouse continues to live at Sharon
Village, the Retention Deposit continues to be earned by the facility based on the original

Apartment Agreement, When the remaining spouse dies, the uncarned portion becomes the
facility’s property.

Upon termination of the Apartment Rental Agreement (with Retention Schedule Included) for any
reason other than resident’s death, the resident or his legal representative shall be entitled to a
refund of the unearned portion of the Retention Deposit. The amount of refund will be calculated
on a daily basis (365 days per year). Refunds of this nature will be promptly made to the Resident
or his legal representative but under no circumstances later than 30 days after the termination date
of the agreement.

If an exccuted contract is rescinded or cancelled under the terms of this contract, all unearned fees
and deposits will be fully refundable to the Resident or their Legal Representative within 30 days
following the later of the execution of the contract or the receipt of a disclosure statement and
Resident will not be required to move into apartment during recession period, The amount of
refund will be calculated on a daily basis (365 days per year).

Transfers

A transfer fee may apply if you request a transfer from your current apartment 1o another, After 10
years of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will
apply if transfer occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made prior to 5 years, 100%
of the transfer fee will apply. An exception to the transfer fee may apply if a prearranged agreement
signed by both parties stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific apariment within one year.
The transfer fee is not a preset cost but is based on cost to refurbish the vacated apartment.

Marriages

If a current resident(s) of Sharon Village becomes married, the rent will increase based on the rent
schedules in effect at that time for two persons. No additional deposit is required and the balance
outstanding on any deposit(s) will continue to amortize in accordance with each Resident’s original
Rental Agreement. A new Rental Agreement will be negotiated between Sharon Village and the
husband and wife as Residents. Other than for medical reasons there are no qualifying
requirements for a spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event the spouse does not
medically qualify for admission, the agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be
required.

14



Rent/ Tefautlt

If an existing resident is unable to meet their monthly obligation to the facility, the Apartment
Rental Agreement provides the following under Section(s) 16 (no initial deposit agreement) and
17 (with retention schedule agreement) “Default”:

“This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the condition that the Resident shali
faithfully perform all of the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by him to be
performed as herein set forth or in other agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into
between Sharon Village and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default if:

(a) Any rental payment due hercunder shall at any time be in arrears and unpaid
for fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written notice making
demand therefore; or

()  Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the covenants, agreements,
or conditions set forth herein and said failure shall continue for a period of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written notice of such failure
from Sharon Village.

(c) Owner’s having determined, and having given written notification thereof,
that the resident:

(1) is socially incompatible with the Owner’s employees, other
residents, or guests;

(i)  has demonstrated possible emotional instability;
(iii)  poses arisk to the life and well-being of himself or others;

(iv)  has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, propefty belonging to the
Owner, himself, or others; or

(v)  has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or poses for the Owner,
its employees, residents or guests, any other unreasonable risks or

In the event of a default, Sharon Village may, at its option, declare the term of this
Agreement ended and repossess the apartment and shall further be entitled to all rights and
remedies set forth herein.” The Owner shall be entitled to be fully reimbursed for all costs
and expenses incurred in enforcing its rights hercunder, including a reasonable attorney’s
fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued, monthly, interest, at the maximum rate allowed
by law, as to any payments due and owing hereunder.”

15
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The following services are available at no extra charge to residents:

(a)
(b)
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(d)

©

-

(8)
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(m)

Meals. Sharon Village will provide Resident with one meal per day, the meal to be
determined by Owner, and to be served in the common dining area.

Guest Meals. Are available at $10.00 per meal.

Utilities. All utilities, except telephone expenses, will be paid for by Sharon
Village. However, the cost of telephone installation and removal shall be paid by
Resident.

Janitorial Services. Sharon Village will provide services in all service arcas, halls
and community areas.

Maid Service. Sharon Village will provide maid service every other week, on a
regularly scheduled basis, to clean Resident’s apartment if so desired by Resident.

Laundry. Once each week, Resident’s flat laundry will be picked up outside the
door of Resident’s apartment, cleaned, and then returned.

Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of charge at the apartment
complex for Resident’s use (Resident must provide detergent).

Transportation, Transportation will be available at certain scheduled times, to be
determined by Sharon Village in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center will be made available, on a
priority basis, whenever Resident’s health, as determined by Resident’s physician,
S0 requires.

Nursing Facility Days. At the time of residence and each calendar year thereafter,
each resident is allowed 10 inpatient days in the adjacent White Oak Manor
Charlotte facility. Unused days cannot be carried forward to the next calendar year.
A physician’s written medical certification is required before admission to the
Nursing Facility.

Nurse Call System. Is located in the master bedroom and bath of each apartment
and 1s connected to the nurse’s station at the adjacent nursing facility. If activated,
a trained member of the Nursing Department will respond to the apartment.

Health Services Available.  Skilled Nursing Care (Medicare and Medicaid
Certified).

Storage Facilities. Sharon Village shall provide, at Resident’s sole risk, reasonable
storage space for Resident’s belongings other than furniture and other household
furnishings.

Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are available for Resident’s use on
first come/first served basis.

16
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services can be purchased by the Resident,

) Personal Services. The following services are available at the Resident’s expense:

Beauty/ Barber Shop
Accommodations for overnight guests

17
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Vo FEES/RENT

Application/ Registration Fee — a $500 deposit is required to be on the waiting list. This
fee is refundable within 30 days from receipt of such a request.

RETENTION & MONTHLY RENTAL FEES

Apartment Retention Monthly Rental Fee
Type Deposit 1 Person 2™ Person
Efficiency $17,600 $895 N/A
One Bedroom $22,000 $1,160 $1,490
One Bedroom Deluxe  $26,000 $1.465 $1,795
Two Bedrooms $30,000 $1,735 $2,065

The purpose of the Retention Deposit is to reduce the monthly rent when
compared to the Straight Rental Plan

STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN
Apartment Retention Monthly Rental Fee
Type Deposit 1% Person 24 Person
Efficiency N/A $1,195 - N/A
One Bedroom N/A $1,540 $1,870
$1,870 $2,200

One Bedroom Deluxe N/A
Two Bedrooms N/A $2,175 $2,500

Although Sharon Village will attempt to keep rental increases to a minimum, during any
calendar year following the first full calendar year of this Agreement, Sharon Village may,
due to an increase in the cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon thirty (30) days
prior written notice to the Resident, increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during any calendar year does not exceed the
greater of:

(i) Six (6%) percent of the average monthly rental during the preceding
calendar year; or

(i)  An amount equal to the average monthly rental during the preceding
calendar year multiplied by the percentage increase in the “Consumer Price
Index” figures for January and December of the preceding calendar year,
the Consumet Price Index being the “Consumer Price Index — U.S. City
Average — All Items Figures for Urban Wage Farners and Clerical Workers
(Including Single Workers), which index is currently published in the
“Monthly Labor Review” of the Bureau of Labor Statistics of the United
States Department of Labor, or its successor index.
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SHARON -VILLAGE -APARTMENTS

SCHEDULE OF FEE CHANGES FOR THE LAST FIVE YEARS

RETENTION DEPOSIT PLAN

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Depogit Rent Deposit Rent Depusit Rent
2 Bedrooms
1. Person $30,000 N/&a 530,000 N/A $30,000 $1,4735 $30,000 §1,850 530,000 $1,650
2 People $30,000 N/A $30,000 N/A 430,000 $2,065 $30,000 $1,965 $30, 000 $1,965
1 Bedroom
1 Person $22,000 N/A 522,000 N/A $22,000 81,160 $22,000 $1,105 $22,000 $1,105
2 pPeople $22,000 N/A 522,000 N/A $22,000 81,490 $22,000 81,420 522,000 $1,420
1 Bedroom Deluxe
1 Person $26,000 N/A 426,000 N/A 326,000 $1,465 526,000 §1,395 $26,000 51,395
2 People 526,000 N/A $26,000 N/A $26,000 §1,79%5 $26,000 $1,710 $26,000 S$1,710
Efficiency

1 Person £17,000 N/A $17,000 N/A 417,000 $895 $17,000 $850

STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN

517,000 $811

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019

Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rent Deposit Rant
2 Bedrooms
1 Person N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 52,175 N/A $2,070 N/A 42,070
2 People N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $2,500 N/Aa $2,385 N/A $2,38%
1 Bedroom
1 Person N/A N/B N/A N/A N/A 41,540 N/A 81,465 N/A $1,465
2 People N/A N/A N/A N/B N/A 41,870 N/A $1,780 N/A 51,780
1 Bedroom Deluxe
1 Person N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 51,870 N/A 41,780 N/Aa §1,780
2 People N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A 52,200 N/A $2,095 N/A 82,095
Efficiency
1 Person N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A $1,195 N/A 81,135 N/A 81,135
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SHARON VILLAGE
FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (RETENTION DEPOSIT
PLAN) - RENT

2023 2022 2021 2020 2019
1 Perscn N/C N/C +55 N/C +77
2 People N/C N/C +70 N/C +92
1 Person N/C N/C +70 N/C +54
2 People N/C N/C +85 N/C +69
Cne Bedroom Deluxe
1 Person N/C N/C +70 N/C +64
2 People N/C N/C +85 N/C +79
Efficiency
1 Person N/C N/C +45 N/C +39

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (STRAIGHT RENTAL PLAN) - RENT

2023 2022 2021 2029 2019
1 Person N/C N/C +75 N/C +98
2 People N/C N/C +90 N/C +113
1 Person N/C N/C +75 w/C +68
2 Pecple N/C N/C +90 N/C +84
One Bedroom Deluxe
1 Person N/C N/C +90 N/C +86
2 People N/C N/C 4105 N/C +101
Efficiency
1 Person N/C N/C +60 N/C +53

FREQUENCY AND AVERAGE DOLLAR CHANGE (RETENTION DEPOSIT
PLAN) - DEPOSIT

2023 2021 2020 2019 2019
1 Person N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
2 pPeople N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
1 Person N/C N/C N/C N/ N/C
2 People N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
One Bedroom Deluxe
1 Person N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
2 People N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
Bfficiency
1 Person N/C N/C N/C N/C N/C
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FINANCIAL INFORMATION

The NHC parent company 10K will be presented in the disclosure statements until such

tinte-asthe newly formed-provider-entities-have-a-complete-annual-audited-finaneial

statement to present.

1. Audited Financial Statement — Please refer to Attachment L
2, Five Year Projection Statement — Please refer to Attachment I1.
3, Current Interim Financial Statement — Please refer to Attachment I11.

2]



VII. PROJECTED VS. ACTUAL FORECAST COMPARISON

The following pages include:

1. White Oak Manor — Charlotte and Sharon Village, Inc.

a. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Balance Sheet

b. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Income Statement

c. Comparison — Year Ended September 30, 2023
Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows

d. Schedules Exhibit A — Assets Limited to Use — Operating Reserve /
Consolidating Balance Sheet

€. Accounts Receivable Balances by Year
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White Oak Manor- Charlotte and Sharon Village, Inc.

Comparison - Year Ended September 36, 2023
Forecasted Balance Sheets

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Varlance
ASSETS '
CURRENT ASSETS
Cash and Cash Equivalents $ 421,847 % 425000 $ (3,153 1%
Accounts Receivable, Net 1,273,788 1,225,437 48,351 4%
Intercompany Accounts Receivable - 1,694,028 {1,594,028} -100% A
Cther Current Assets 75,893 108,710 32,817 -30%
Total Current Assets 1,771,528 3,353,175
ASSETS LIMITED AS TO USE - OPERATING RESERVE 217,448 240,285 7,161 3%
MOVEABLE EQUIPMENT 2,010,385 2,079,846 (69,560} w3%
Less: Accumulated Depreciation 1,573,446 1,673,791 {100,345) -5%
Construction In Prograss ‘ - -
Moveable Equipment, Net 436,940 406,155
Total Assets : $ 2425914 $ 3,958,615
Actual Forecast Variance % Variance
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY (DEFICIT}
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts Payable $ 333,603 $ 323,043 3 10,560 3%
Accrued Wages and Other Liabilities 418,076 323,043 96,033 30%
Medicare Advance Payments -
Intercompany Accounts - - -
Total Current Liabilities 752,679 846,086
DEFERRED CREDITS
Unearned Deposit Ravenue - Nonrefundable 55,751 77,934 {22,183} -28%
Unearned Deposit Revenue - Refundable - - - 0%
Deposits on Apartments 3,000 5,800 ~45%
Total Deferred Credits 58,751 83,434
LONG-TERM DEBT -
Total Liabilities 811,430 729,520
SHAREHOLDER'S EQUITY {DEFICIT)
Common Stock, par value $1 per share; 300,000 shares
authorized, 281,450 shares Issued and cutstanding 281,450 281,450 - 0%
Retainsd Eamings (Deficit} 1,333,034 2,058,645
Other Comprehensive Loss
Total Shareholder's Equity 1,614,484 3,240,095
Total Liabilities and Shareholder's Equity $ 24250814 $ 3,968815

Out of balance check - -

Materiality Threshold - variance is greater than 10% and $100,000

A) NCDOI requested the intercompany balance be closed out to retained earnings after the forecast was submitted. The forecast was setup
to accumulate an intercompany balance due to activity. We continue to work through improving the modsl to more accurately reflect the new
procedure.



White Oak Manor- Charlotte and Sharon Village, Inc.

Comparison - Year Ended September 30,2023
Forecasted iIncome Statement

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Varlance
REVENUES
Net Patient Service Revenue $ 14,556,062 $ 14,332,281 $ 223781 2%
Apartment Rents 511,684 553,200 (41,816} -8%
Deposit Amortization 15,933 20,400 (4,487} ~22%
Investment Income {4,346} 17,648 (21,994) -125%
Other Revenue - Provider Relief Funds -
Other Revenue 28,457 24,000 A4
Total Revenues 15,107,790 14,947 529
COST AND EXPENSES
Nursing Services 6,845,118 6,068,220 776,858 13%
Ancillaries 1,386,629 1,152,120 234,409 20%
Dietary Expenses 1,303,202 1,183,860 119,342 10%
Social Services 165,593 257,520 (91,627) -36%
Activities 130,281 163,080 {32,799} «20%
Medical Records 50,006 49,080 1,016 2%
Laundry and Linen 146 488 118,200 28,288 24%
Housekeeping 416,604 444,840 {28,236) 6%
Facility Cperations and Maintenance 702,760 648,80C 53,660 8%
Depreciation 90,813 95,878 (4,865) 5%
Interest Expense 1,920 1,920 0%
Taxes and Insurance 234,905 242 400 {7,495) -3%
Employee Benefits 614,273 725,100 (110,827) -15%
COVID-19 Expenses - - - 0%
General and Administrative 2,170,470 2,047 851 122,619 6%
Total Expenses 14,258,052 13,196,849
OPERATING GAIN (LOSS) 848,738 1,750,680
NONOPERATING GAIN (LOSS)
Change in Unrezalized Losses on Investments 32,584
Other Nonoperating Gain {765,614)
Total Noncperating Loss (733,030} -
Net Loss 115,708 1,750,680

Materiality Threshold - variance is greater than 10% and $100,000
B) Cecupancy increased 15%, facility was not able to reduce contract nursing and used contract nursing to address staffing needs due to
increased occupancy.

C} Ancillaries Increase due to 15% occuppancy increase.

D) Dielary increase dus to 16% occuppancy increase. Raw focd increased $84k dus to occuppancy and inflation.

E) Incorrectly expected increase in employes benefits wi reduction in confract nursing. Facility was not able to reduce contract nursing and
group insurance expanse decreased by $22k. Workers compensation decreased by $45k.



White Oak Manor- Charlotte and Sharon Village, Inc.

Comparison - Year Ended September 30, 2023

Forecasted Statements of Cash Flows

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Net income {loss)
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash
Provided (Used} by Operating Activities:
Depreciation
Depesit Amortization
Deposit Receipts
(Increase) in Current Assats:
Accounts Receivable
Estimated Third-Party Payer Setllements
Other Current Assets
Ingrease in Current Liabilities:
Accounts Payable
Intercompany Accounts
Medicare Advance Payments
Accrued Wages and Other Liabilities
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Cperating Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of Property and Equipment
Net Change in Assets Limited as to Use - Operating Reserve
Net Cash Used in Investing Activities

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Distributions to Sharaholder
Net Cash Used in Financing Activities

NET INCREASE {DEGREASE) IN CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and Cash Equivalents - Beginning of Year

CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - END OF YEAR

2023 2023
Actual Forecast Variance % Variance
$ 115,708 $ 1,750,680
90,813 95,678 {4,865) -5%
{15,933) {20,400) 4,487 -22%
{2,500) 42,800 (45,300} -106%
{181,249) {132,898} {48,351) 36%
- 100%
29,713 (3,188) 32,879 -1035%%
33,725 23,332 10,393 45%
- (1,594,028} 1,594,028 -100% F
(180,408) - {160,405) #DIV/IC!
265,491 {16,623) 282 114 1687% G
175,363 145,375
{124,265) (98,345)
(46,455) (39,234)
(170,720) (137,579}
- . - 0%
4,643 7.796
417,204 417,204
$§ 421,847 3 425 000

Materiality Threshold - variance is greater than 10% and $100,000
F) NCDOI raguest that intercompany accounts be zeroed oul. The medel used by White Oak auditors does not fully support the ability o

reflect that process.

G) Accrued wages were lower than forecasted due to timing of pay dates. September 2023 was a three payroll month,




Exhibit A — Assets Limited to Use — Operating Reserve / Consolidating Balance Sheet

i . Reserve Calculation for 2024 "
Total Projected Operating Expenses: Formula |20 Tryon- 5] Burlington -]~ Charlotie.
Projected SNF Expense| A 8,310,875 12,801,416 15,771,128
Projected Apartment Expense| B 1,911,603 1,600,972 708,630
C A+B 10,222,478 13,902,388 16,479,758
Total Projected Depreciation Expense:
Projected SNF Depreciation| D 70,066 65,579 78,846
Projected Apartment Depreciation] E 98,767 29,188 24,626
F D+E 168,833 94,767 103,472
% of SNF Patient Days Attributable to Apartment Residents| G 2.68% 0.37% 0.18%
% of SNF Days Attributable to SNF only Residents| H 97.32% 89.63% 99.82%
Calculation of Excluded Expenses| | H*A 8,088,144 12,853,681 15,742,740
Calculation of Included Expenses  J G*A 222,731 47,735 28,388
Calculation of Included Depreciation| K D*G 1,878 243 142
Expenses Subject to DO| Approved Operating Reserve| L B+J-E-K 2,033,689 1,018 276 712,250
Operating Reserve Percentage| M 25.00% 25.00% 25.00%
T Projected Reserve Req| (N | . L*M | 508422 - 264,819} 178,063
T Investment Balances| . | . -1 - 515992 . 307,474 217,446 |
Over/{Short) 7,570 52,355 39,383
Total operating expenses 10,222,478 13,902,388 18,479,758
Pringcipal payment cn any loeng-tern debt + 0 0 0
Depreciation expense - 98,787 29,188 24,626
Amortization expense - [t 0 0
Extraordinary items as approved by the Cemmissioner - 8,080,022 12,853,924 15,742,882
Debt service Portion - 0 0 0
Total operating Costs = 2,033,689 1,019,278 712,250
Occupancy Factor X 25.00% 25,00% 25.00%
Qperating Reserve Requirement = 508,422 254 819 178,063
2 033,689 | 1,019,276 | 712,250 |




VIII. RESERVES, ESCROW AND TRUSTS

IX.

XI.

Sufficient reserves are maintained at all times to pay the residents the total outstanding
initial deposit liability, The amount available at September 30, 2023 is $217,446.

There are no material differences between (i) the forecast statements of revenues and
expenses and cash flows or other forecast financial data filed pursuant to N.C.G.S. §58-64-
20 as a part of the disclosure statement recorded most immediately subsequent to the start
of the provider’s most recently completed fiscal year and (if) the actual results of operations
during that fiscal year, together with the revised forecast statements of revenues and
expenses and cash flows or other forecast financial data being filed as a part of the revised
disclosure statement. Based on the terms of the resident agreement, initial deposits are not
required to be in an Escrow or Trust Account.

FACILITY DEVELOPMENT/ EXPANSION

During the year, a freestanding elevator was installed allowing residents better access to
community dining and social events,

OTHER MATERIAL INFORMATION, AS APPLICABLE

N/A as there is no past or current litigation, bankruptey filing, receivership, liquidation,
impending actions or perils against NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC this retirement
community.

RESIDENT’S AGREEMENT/ CONTRACT

Please refer to Attachment IV,
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ATTACHMENT |

NHC’s 2023 Audited Financial Statements
and

First Quarter 2024 10-Q

The NHC parent company 10K will be presented in the disclosure
statements until such time as the newly formed provider entities
have a complete annual audited financial statement to present.
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UNITED STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMIS SION
WASHINGION, D.C, 20549

FORM10-K
(Mark One)
X ANNUALREPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE S BCURITIES AND EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2023

OR
O TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period fiom, to

Commission File No, 001-13489

{Exact name of registrant as specified in its Corporate Charter)

Delaware 52-2057472
(State of Incorporation} (LR.S. Brrployer Identification No.)

100 E. Vine Sireet
Murfreesboro, Tennessee 37134
{Address of principal executive offices)
Telephone Nunber: 615-890-2020

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act.

Title of Bach Class Trading Name of Each Exchange on which Registered
Symbol(s)
Shares of Common Stock NHC NYSE-American

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: None

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act, Yes I No X

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) ofthe Act. Yes (] Ne X

Indicate by cheek mark whether the registrant (1) has filed allreports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15¢d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
months {or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and {2) has been subject to such filing requireirents for the past 90 days: Yes X No O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically every Tnteractive Data File requited 1o be submitted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§232.405 of
this chapter) during the preceding 12 months {or for such period that the registrant was required to submit such files). Yes X No [

Indicate by check mark whether the rogistrant is a large acceleratad filer, an accelerated filer, a non—accolerated filer, a smaller reporting company, or an emerging growth congany.
See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "smaller reporting conpany,” and "emerging growth company” in Rule [2b-2 of the Exchange Act. Large
accelerated filer X Accelerated filer 1 Non—accelerated filer O3 Smaller teporting conpany [ Frrerging growth company £}

[fan emerging growth company, ndicate by checkmark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any new orrevised financial
accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of'the Fxhange Act. O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has filed a report on and attestation to its management’s assessment of the effectiveness of its intemal control over financial
reporting under Section 44{b) of the Sarbanes-Oxlay Act {15 U.8.C. 7262(b)) by the registered public accounting firm that prepared or issued its audit report. X

If securities are registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act, indicate by check mark whether the financial statements of the registrant included in the filing reflect the comection
ofan emor to previously issued tinancial statements. [

Indicate by check mark whether any of those emor corrections are restatements that required a recovery analysis of incentive-tased conpensation received by any of the
registrant's executive officers during the relevant recovery period pursuant to (§240. 10D-1(b). O

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company {as defined in Rule 1202 of the Exchange Act). Yes 1 No X

The aggregate market value of Common Stock held by non—afiliates on June 30, 2023 (based on the closing price of such shares on the NYSE Anerican) was approximately
$546.0 million. Forpurposes of the foregoing caloulation only, all directors, naned executive officers and persons known to the Registrant to be holders of 5% or more ofthe
Registrant’s Comnon Stock have been deemed affiliates of the Registrant.
The number of shares of Common Stock cutstanding as of February 14, 2024 was 15,349,989,

Documents Incorporated by Reference
The follewing documents are incorporated by reference into Part 11T, Iters 10, 11,12, 13 and 14 of this Form 10-K:
The Registrant's definitive proxy staterent for its 2024 shareholder’s meeting.
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CAUTIONARY NOTE REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS

Statements in this annual filing that are ot historical facts are forward-looking statements. NHC caution s thal any forward-looking statements made mvolve

risks and uncerainties and are not guataitess of futire perfornance, TivesTofd SHEUI 4180 TETer T6 the g ks etitifie 5 disetissionof varous
risk facters of the Conpany and that are inherent in the health care industry. Given these rigks and uncertaintics, we can give ne assurance that these forward-looking statements
will, in fact, transpire and, therefore, caution investors not to place undue reliance on them, The risks included here are not exhaustive. All forward-looking statenents represent
NHC's best judgment as of the date of this filing,

PART1

ITIM 1. BUSINESS

National HealthCare Corporation, which we also refer to as NHC or the Company, began business i 1971, Our principal business is the operation of skilled nnrsing
facilities, assisted living facilities, independent living facilities, homeeare and hospice agencics, and behavicral health hospitals. Our business activities include providing sub—
acute and post—acute skilled nursing care, intermediate nursing care, rehabilitative care, memory and Alzheimer’s care, senior lving services, home health carc scrvices, hospice
setvices, and behavioral health services. In addition, we provide management services, accounting and financial services, as well as insurance sorvices to third party operators of
health care facilitics, We also own the real estale of 10 healthcare properties and leasc these properties to third party operators, We operate in 8 states and our operations are
primarily located in the Southcastem and Midwestem parts of the United States.

Description of the Business

The following table summarizos our operations by ownership status as of December 31, 2023:

Owned Leased Managed Total !
Skilled Nursing Facilities :
Nurnber of facilities 28 32 8 68
" “Percentage of total 41.2% 47.0% 11.8% 100.0%
Licensed beds 3,526 4,227 o7 8,732
Percentage of total 40,4% 484% 11.2% 100,0%
Assisted Living Facilities
MNumber of facilities 17 7 2 26
Percentage of total ' . 65.4% 26,9% 1% 100.0%
Units 1,293 174 34 1,501
Percentage of total 86.1% 11.6% 23% 100.0%
Independent Living Facilities
Nuber of facilitics 1 3 1 5
Percentage oftotal 20.0% 50.0% 20.0% 100.0%
Retirement apartments 93 245 137 475
Percentage of total 19.6% 51.6% 28.8% 100.0%
Behavioral Health Hospifals
Number of facilities 3 - - 3
Percentage of total 100.0% - - 100.0%
Licensed beds 96 - - 96 :
“Pescentage of total 100.0% - - 100.0% i
Homecare Agencies 35 - - 35
Hospice Agencies 30 - - 30
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Net Patient Revenues. The services we provide include a comprehensive range of health care services. In fiscal 2023, 95.3% of our net aperating revenues were derfved
from such health care services. Highlights of health care services activities during 2023 were as follows:

*

Skilled Nursing Facilities, The most significant portion of cur business and the base for our other health care serviess is the operation of our skilled nursing

facililies (" SNFs™). Ty our facilities, experienced medical professionals provide nedical services prescribed by physicens. Registered niscs, licsnged practical
nurses, and certified nursing assistants provide comprehensive, individualized nursing care 24 hours a day. In addition, our facilities provide licensed therapy
services, quality nutrition services, social services, activities, and housekeeping and laundry services, Revenues from the 60 facilities we own or lease are
reported as net patient revenues in our financial statements, Managewent fee incoie is vecorded as other revenues from the eight facilities that we manage, We
generally charge 6% of facility net operating revenues for cur nenagenent services,

The following table shows the occupancy percentages tor our owned and leased skilied nursing facilities. We define occupancy percentage as the ratio of actual
patient days during any measurement period to the nuiwber of operational beds in a facility. The number of beds that are operational may be less

than the Ecensed bed capacity. The reduction of operational beds compared 1o licensed beds occuss for a variety of reasons, some of which include conforning
to govemment requircients, improving operational efficiencies, or cnhancing the patient experience, We believe reporting occupancy bascd on operational
beds is consistent with industry practice and provides a more meaningful measure of perfonmance.

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2002 2021
Overail census 87.9% 83.8% 80.6%

Rehalilitative Services. Our licensed therapists provide phiysical, speech, respiratory and occupational therapy for patients recovering from strokes, heart
attacks, orthopedic conditions, newrological ilnesses, or other illnesses, injuries, or disabilities. We maintained a rehabilitation staff of over 1,200 highly trained,
professional therapists in 2023, Most of our rehabilitative services are for patients in our owned, leased and managed skilled nursing facilities. However, we also
provide services to 41 additional health care providers, Our rates for these services are competitive with other market rates,

Medical Specialty Units, Alt our skilled nursing facilicies participate in the Medicare program, and we have expanded our range of offerings by the creation of
facility—s pecific medical specially units such as our memory care units and sub-acute nursing units, Our trained staft provides cate for Alzheimer’s patients in
carly, middie and advanced stages of the disease. We provide specinlized cate and programs for persons with Alzheimer’s or related disorders in dedicated units

within many of our skilled nursing facilities. Our specialized rehabilitation programs are designed to shorten or eliminate hospital stays and help to reduce the
cost of quality health care. We develop individualized patient care plans to target appropriate medical and functional planning objectives with a primary goal
where feasible for a retumn to hone or a similar environment,

Assisted Living Facilities. Our assisted living facilities provide personal care services and assistance with general activities of daily living such as dressing,
bathing, meal preparation and medication management, We perform resident assessments 1o determine what services are desired or required and our qualified
staff encourages residents fo participate in a range of activities. In 2023, the rate of occupancy was 78.5% conpared to 71.6% in 2022, Certificates of Need
("CONs™} are not required to build these projects in most states, and we belicve overbuilding has ocourred in sone of our markets.

Tndependent Living Facilities. Our independent Tiving facilities offer specially designed residential umits for the active and abulatory elderly and provide
vatious ancillary services for our residents, mehiding restaurants, activity rooms and social areas, Charges for services are paid fom private scurces without
assistance [fom govemmental prograns. Independent living facilities way be licensed and regulated in some states, but do not require the issuance of a CON
such as is required for skillsd nursing facilities, We have, in several cases, developed independent living facilities adjacent to our numsing facilities. These units
are rented by the month; thus, these facilities offer an expansion of our continuum of care, We beliove these independent living wmits offer a positive marketing
aspect to all our sendor care offerings and services. In 2023 and 2022, the rate of occupancy was 89.0%.

We have one independent living facility which is a "continuing care conunity”, where the resident pays a substantial entrance fae and 2 menthly maintenance
fee. The resident then receives a fullmnge of services, including skilied nursing and home health, without additional charge.

Behavioral Health Hospitals. Our comprehensive continuum of care includes behavioral health services to both adults and geriairic pationts with psychiatric,
enotional, and addictive disorders. Currently, we operate three behaviorai hospitals for adult and geriatric patients who require inpatient hospitalization duc to
mental disorders, including cognitive flincsses. We also offer intensive outpatient programs with individualizad treatment plans based on the patient's clinical
needs.
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. Homeeare Agencles. Our home health agencies {"bomecares™) assist those who wish to stay at home er in assisted living residences but still require some
degree of medical care or assistance with daily activities, Registored and licensed practical nurses and therapy professionals provide skilled services such as
infiision therapy, wound care and physical, occupational and speech therapies, Home health aides nay assist with daily activities such as assistance with
walidng and getting in and ont of bed, personal hygiene, medication assistance, light housckeeping and naintaining a safe eavironment. Under the Medicare

reiimbursement payment system, we receive a prospectively defennined amount per patient per 30-day periad of Tare. Uritler 6T aiiaged Care saitacts; we may”
receive a period of care payment or be paid by a per-visit paynent modsl, In 2023, we served an average census of 3,321 patients and provided 309,929 visits.

. Hospice Agencies, We provide hospice care through Catis Healtheare, LP. ("Carls”), a wholly owned subsidary of NHC. Caris specializes in providing hospice
and palliative care to over 1,268 patients per day in 30 locations in Georgia, Missouri, South Carolina, Tennessee, and Virginia. Under the Medicare
reimbursement payment system, Medicare pays a daily rate to cover the costs for providing services included in the patient care plan. Medicare makes daily
payments based on 1 of 4 levels ofhospice care, All hospice care and services offered to patients and their familios must follow an individualized written plan of
care that meets the patient’s needs,

. Pharmacy Operations. At Decenber 31, 2023, we operated four regional phanmacy focations (two locations in Tennessee and one location cach in South Carolina
and Missouti). These pharmmcics primarily service our patients that are in an inpatient setting using a central location to deliver pharmaccutical supplies. Cur
regional pharrmacies bill Medicare Part D Prescription Drug Plans {(PDPs) electronically and dircetly for inpatients who have selected a PDP.

. Institutional Specia! Needs Plan ("FSNP™). Our I-SNF, which is called NHC Advantage, is 2 managed care insurance company that restricts cnrollment to
Medicare Advantage eligible individuals who, for 90 days or longer, have had or are expected to need the level of services provided in a skilled nursing facility.
We believe the .SNP benefits our patients by providing nurse practitioners and care-cootdination teams that continue to ¢nhance the patient-centered
eapericnce and our quality of patient care. The [-SNP receives a per momber, per month presium from Medicare which covers the members sane health care
benefits as original Medicare, as well as additional benefits including proventive screenings and routine vision coverage, At December 31, 2023, the [-SNP
operated in the states of Tennessee, Missouri, and Seuth Carolina with approximately 1,200 members enrolled in the plan,

Other Revenucs. We generate revenues from management, accounting and financial services to third patty operators of healtheare facilities, fom insurance services to
our managed healtheare facilities, and from rental income. In fiscal 2023, 4.7% of our net operating revenues were derived from such sources. The significant sources of our other
revenues ate described as follows:

. Management, Accounting and Financinl Serviees. We provide management services lo skilied nursing facilities, assisted living facilities and independent Eving
facilities aperated by third party operators. We typically charge 6% of the ymnaged centors’ net cperating revenues as a foe for these services. Additionaily, we
provide accounting and financial services to other healthcare operators, As of Decerrber 31, 2023, we perform management services for eleven healthcare
facilities and accounting and financizl scrvices for 16 healthcare facilities.

. Tus urance Services, NHC owns a Tennessee domigiled insurance company that provides workers” conpensation coverage to substantially all of NHCs owned,
leased and nmanaged healthcare facilities. A second whelly owned insurance subsidiary is licensed in the Cayman Islnds and provides general and professional
liability coverage in substantially all of NHC's owned, leased and managed healthcare facilities,

. Rental Income. The healthcare properties currently owned and leased to third party operators include nine skilled nursing facilities and one assisted living
conunnities.

Government Stimulus Tncorme, We received govement stinulus funds as part of the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Feonomic Security Act {the "CARES ACT' ". The
CARES Act provided $2.2 trillion of econenyy-wide finaneial stimulus in the form of fnancial aid to individuals, businesses, nonprofits, states and mnicipaliies. The CARES Act
appropriated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Relief Fund ("PRF"). The Conpany recorded $0, $11,457,000
and $63,360,000 of govemment stimulug income fromthe PRF for the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively,

Nen-Operating Income, We generale non—operating income from equity In eamings of unconsolidated nvestments, dividends and realized gains and losses on
narketable securities, interest income, and other miscellaneous aon—operating income.
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Quality of Patient Care

CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their families and caregivers compare skilled nursing facilities more ensily, The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilied nursing operation a rating ranging between one and five stars in various categories (five stars being the best). The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precutsors to outstanding financial performance.

In July 2022, CMS launched its enhanced Five-Star Quality Rating System which infegrates weckend staffing rates for nurses and information on annual tumover among
nurses and administrators, The tables below sunimarize NHC's overall performance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing industry as of Decerrber 31, 2023:

Indusiry
NHC Ratings Ratings
Total number of skilled nursing facilities, end of period 68
Number of 4 and S-star rated skilled nursing facilities 40
Percentage of 4 and S-star rated skilled nursing facilities 59% 36%
Average rating for all skilled nursing fucilities, end of period 3.6 29
Deyelopment and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our post—acute and senior health care cperations while protecting our existing operations and markets, The fellowing table lists our recent
canstruction and purchase activities.

Type of Cperation Description Size Location Placed in Service
Hospice Acquisition 28 agencies Various June 2021
Homecare New Agency 1 agency Anderson, SC January 2022
- Hospice New Agency 1 agency Tutllshotma, TN March 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 64 beds Knoxville, TN April 2022
““Behavioral Health Hospital : L New Facility 16 beds St, Louis, MO June 2022
Hospice ) New Agenocy 1agency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023
© ' Skilled Nursing Acquisition 66 beds Nashville, TN May 2023
Homecare New Agency | agency Tallahassee, FL May 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vero Beach, FI. July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 units Merritt Island, FL, July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 160 units Stuart, FL Tuly 2023

Business Segments

The Company has two repartable operating segments: (1} fupatient sorvies, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals and (2) homecare and hospice services. The Company also reports an "all other” category that includes revenues fom rental incoms,
managerment and accounting services fees, insurance servioes, and costs of the cotpotate office, See Note 6 i the notes to the consolidated financial statements for further
disclosure of the Company’s operating segroents.

Customers and Sources of Revenues

No individual customer, or related group of customers, accounts for a significant portion of our revenues. We do not expect the loss of a single customer or group of
related customers would have a imaterial adversc cffect.
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Certain groups of patients receive finds to pay the cost of their care froma comon source. The following table sets forth sources of net patient revenues for the periods
mdicated:

Year Ended December 31,

Source 2023 2022 2021
Medicare ‘ 4% 3% 36%
Meanaged Care 10% 10% 11%
Medicaid o ) 3% 28% 20%
Private Pay and Other 26% 25% 24%
Total ™ e 100% T 100% 100%

We attenyt lo attract an increased percentage of Medicare and private pay patients by providing rehabilitative and other post-acute care services, These services are
designed lo speed the patient's recovery and allow the patient to retur home as scon as it is practical,

Medicare is a health insurance program for the aged and certain other ¢hronically disabled individuals operated by the federal govemnment. Medicare covers skilled
nursing services for beneficiaries who tequire nutsing care and/or rehabilitation setvices foliowing a discharge from an acute care hospital, For each eligible day a Modicare
beneficiary is in a skilled nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject to adjustment for ¢ertain factors such as a wage index in the geographic area, The
payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facility for the beneficiary that day, including reom and board, nutsing, therapy and drugs, as well as an estimate of
capital-related costs to deliver those services.

 Medicaid is a nedical assistance program for the indigent, operated by individual states with the financial participation of the federal government. The states in which we
operate primatily use a cost-based refmbursenent system. Under cost-based reimbursenent systens, the skilled nursing facility is reinbursed for the reasonable direct and
indirect allowable casts it ncurred in a base year in providing routing resident care services as defined by the program. Seniors who enter skilled mursing facilities as private pay
patients can becon eligible for Medicaid once they have substantially dopleted their assets. Medieaid is generatly the largest sowres of funding for most skilled nursing facilities.

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources inclade cormercial insurance, ndividual pationt funds, managed care plans and the Veterans Administration.
Affhough paynent mates vary among these sources, market forces and costs largely determine these rates, Private paying patients, private insurance camiers and the Veterans
Adninistration generally pay based on the center's charges or specifically negotiated contracts,

We contract with nunaged care organizations ("MCO's") and insurance carriers for the pravision of healthcare services by our owned, leased and nanaged healthcare
facilities,

Government Regulation
General

Health care is an aree of cxiensive regulatory oversight and fiequent regulatory change. The federal govemment and the states in which we operate regulate various
aspects of our husiness. These regulatory bodies, zmong other things, require us annually to ficense our skilled nursing facilities and other health care businesses. To operate
skilled nursing facilities and provide health care services we must comply with foderal, state and local laws relating to the delfivery and adequacy of medical care, distribution of
phammaceuticals, equipment, personnel, operating policies, fire prevention, rate-setting, building codes and environmental protection. Changes in the laws or new interpretations
of existing laws as applied to the skilled nursing facilities, home health and kospice, or other components of our health care businesses, may have a sigaificant impact on our

operations.

Governmental and other authorttics periodically inspect our healthcare facilities and home health and hospice agencies to assure that we continue to comply with thelr
vatious standards. We must pass these inspections to continue our licensing under state law, to obtain cortification under the Medicare and Medicaid programs, and to continue
our participation in the Veterans Administration program We can only participate in other thizd—party prograns if our facilities pass these inspections.

From time to time, we, like others in the health care industry, may receive notices from federal and state regulatory agencies alleging that we failed to comply with
applicable standards, These notices may require us to take corective action and may impose civil money penalties and/or other operating restrictions. If our healthcare
operations fail to corply with these directives or otherwise fail to conply substantially with Eeensure and certification laws, rules and regulations, we could lose our certification as
a Medicare and Medicaid provider and/or lose our licenses,

Iocal and state health and social service agencies and other regulatory authorities specitic to their location regulate, to varying degrees, our assisted Hving facilities.
Although regulations and Ecensing tequiterents vary significantly from state to state, they typically address, among other things, personnel education, training and records;
facility services, including administration of medication, assistance with supervision of nedication management and limited nursing services; physical plant specifications;
furnishing of resident units; food and housekeeping services; emergency evacuation plans; and resident tights and responsibilities, If assisted living facilities fail to comply with
licensing requirernents, these facifities could Jose their licenses, Most states also subject assisted living facilities to state or local building codes, fire codes and food service
licensure or certification requirements. In addition, the manner and extent to which the assisted [iving industry is regulated at federal and state levels are evolving,

6




Table of Contents

In ali states in which we operate, before a skilled nursing facility can make a capital expenditure exceeding cerfain specified amounts or construct any new skilled health
care beds, approval of the state health care regulatory agency or agencies must be obtained, and a Certificate of Need issued. The appropriate state health planning agency nust
review the Certificate of Need according to state specific guidelines before a Certificate of Need can be issued. A Cortificate of Need i generally issued for a specific nExinum
amount of expenditure and the project must be conpleted within 2 specific time period, There is no advance assurence the ill be able to obtain a Certificate of Need in any

instance. [n son¥ stafes, approval is alse necessary in order fo purchase exisiing health care beds, although the purch ed't fuil! ficsteof
Need application procedure by giving advance written notice of the acquisition and giving written assurance to the state regulatery agency that the change of ownership will not

result in a change in the number of beds, services offered and, in sonk cases, reimburs ement rates at the facility.

While there are currently na significant legislative proposals to eliminate Certificates of Need pertaining to skilled nursing care in the states in which we do business,
deregulation In the Cestificate of Need area would kely result in increased conmpetition and could adversely affect occupancy rates and the supply of licensed and certified
personnel.

A significant goal of the federal heakth care system is to transform the delivery of health care by helding providers accountable for the cost and quality of care
provided. Medicare and many commercial third-party payors are implementing Accountable Care Organization (" ACO") nodels n which groups of previders sharc in the benefit
und risk of providing care to an assigned group of individuals, Other reimbursement methodology reforms in which we are participating or expect fo participate in include value—
based purchasing, in which a portion of provider reimbursement is edistributed based on relative performance on designated economic, clinical quality, and patient satisfaction
tretrics. Alse, CMS is implementing programs to bundle acute care and post—acute care reimbursement to hold providers accountable for costs across a breader continmumof care.
These reimbursement nethodologies and §imilar programs are likely to continuc and expand, both in public and commercial heakh plans. Providers who respond successfully to
these trends and can deliver quality care et lowor costs are likely to benefit financially.

Patient Confidentiality

We are also subject to laws and regulations enacted to protect the confidentiality of patient health information. The U.S, Department of Health and Human Services
("HHS") has issued nules that govern our use and disclosure of protected health information. We have established policies and procedures to conply with HIPAA privacy and
sceurity requiretrients, We maintain a conpany-wide HIPAA conpliance plan, that we believe complies with the HIPAA privacy and security regulations, The HIPAA privacy and
security regulations have and will continue te impose significant costs to the Conpany in order to comply with these standards, Our operations are also subject to.any federal or
state privacy-telated laws that are more restrictive than the privacy reguistions issued under HIPAA, These laws vary and could impose additional penalties for privacy and
security breaches,

Medicare and Medicaid Participatlon

All skifled nursing facilities, owned, leased or managed by us are certified to participate in Medicare, All but eight (seven owned and one managed) of our affiliated skilled
nursing facilities participate in Medicaid. All our homecars and hospice agencies participate in the Medicare and Medicaid programs, with Medicare comprising the majority of their
revenue, Our behavioral health hospitals also participate in the Medicare and Medicaid program

Duting the fiscal years presented, we received payments from Medicars and, if participating, from Medicaid. We record as receivables the amounts we ultimately expect to
receive under the Medicare and Medicaid programs and record into profit or loss any differences in amounts teceived at the time of interim or final settlements. There have not
been any adjustments that have had a material adverse effect on the Conpany within the last three years,

Medicare Legislation and Regulations
Skilled Nursing Focilities

Medicare is vniform nationwide and reinburses skilled nursing facilities under a fixed paynent nethodology called the Skifled Nursing Facility Prospective Payment
System ("SNF PPS"), The SNF PPS includes = case-mixmodel called the Patient-Driven Payment Mode! ("PDPM™), which focuses on a resident’s condition and care needs, rather
than the ampunt of care provided to determine refmbursement levels, PDPM utilizes clinically relevant factors for determining Medicare payment by using ICD-10 diagnosis codes
and other patient characteristics as the basis for patient classification, PDPM utilizes five case-mix adjusted payment components: physical therapy {"PT”), occupational therapy
{"OT™), speech language pathology ("SLP”), nursing and social services and non-therapy ancillary services (“NTA™), Tt also uses a sixth non-case mix compenent to cover
utilization of skilled nursing facility ("SNF"} resources that do not vary depending on resident characteristics.
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In July 2003, CMS released its final rue outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilitics, which began on October 1,
2023, The fiscal year 2024 rule equates to a net increase of 4.0%, or approximately $1.4 billion, in Medicare Part A payments to SNFs in fiscal year 2024 compared to 2023 levels, The
rile includes a 3.0% narket basket rate incroase, a 3.6% market basket forecast error adjustment, less a (2% productivity adjustiment, as well as a negative 2.3%, or approxinately
$780 million, decrease in 2024 SNF Payment Prospective Systens rates as a result of the second phase of the Patient Driven Payment Model parity adjustment recalibration.

The Coronavirus Aid, Relief and Foonomic Security Act {the "CARES" Act) and other subsequent Congressional actions tenporarily suspended Medicare sequestration
beginning May 1, 2020 through March 31, 2032, The Medicare sequestrtion policy reduces fee-for-service Medicare payments by 2 percent. Bifcotive April 1, 2022, sequesiration
was reinstated but only 1% was reduced fom Medicare payments from April 1, 2022 through Junc 30, 2022, Beginning July 1, 2022, sequestration was increased back to the 2%
reduction of Medicare payments for the remainder of 2022, The CARES Act extended the sequestration policy through 2030 in exchange for the tenporary suspension.

Homecares

Medicare is uniform nationwide and reimburses homecare agencies under a Patient-Driven Groupings Medel ("PDGM™). Under PD(GM, Medicare provides honecare
agencies with payments for each 30-day period of care provided to bencfieiaries. If'a benoficiaty is still eligible for care after the end of the first 30-day payment period, a second 30-
day payment poriod can begin. There are no limits to the nunber of periods of care a beneficiary who remains eligible for the home health benefit can receive, While payment for
each 30-day period of carc is adfusted to zeflect the beneficlary’s health condition and needs, a special outlier provision exists to ensurc apprepriate payment for thase
beneficiarics thal have the most cxpensive care needs. The payment under the Medicare program s also adjusted for certain variables.

Tn Noverrber 2023, CMS released its final mle outfining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment mates. CMS projects payments to houre health agencics in fiscal year 2024 will
increase In aggregate by 0.8%, or §140 million. The increase is the result of a 3.3% arket basket update, reduced by a 03% productivity adjustrent. The increase is offset by a
behavioral adjustmont that will cut payments by a net 2.6%. The behavioral adjustment was designed to achieve budget-neutral implenentation of the PDPM. Finally, CMS also
adjusted the fixed-dollar loss ratio for outlier payments, which will increase payments by 0.4%.

Hospice
Medicare payment rates are caleulated as daily rates for each of four levels of care we deliver. Rates are set based on specific levels of care, are adjusted by a wage index
to teflect healthcare labor costs across the country and are established annually through federal legislation, The following are the four levels of care provided under the hospice

benefit:

. Rontine Home Care. Cate that is not classified under any of the other levels of care, such as the work of nurscs, social workers or home healkh aides.

. General npatient Care, Pain control ar acute or chronic symptom nznagement that cannot be mana ged in a setting other than an inpatient Medicare-certified
fucility, such s a hospital, skilled nursing facility or hospice inpatient facility.

. Continuous Home Care, Care for patients experiencing a medical erisis that requires nursing services to achicve palliation and symptom centrol if the agency
provides a minimnm of eight hours of care within a 24-hour peried.

. Tnpatient Respite Care. Short-term, inpatient care to give tetpotary reliefto the carcgiver who regularly provides care to the patient.

Medicare payments arc subject to two fixed annual caps, which are asscssed on a provider number basis, and are broken into an inpatient cap amount and an overall
payment cap, These cap amounts are caleylated and published by the Medicare fiscal intermediary on an annual basis.

In July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment ratos. CMS issued a rate increase of 3.1%, or $780 million, effective October 1, 2023,
This fncrease is the result ofa 3.3% nuarket basket increase reduced by a 0.2% productivity adjustment, The FY2024 hospice payment update also includes an update to the
stalutory aggregate cap amount, which limits the overall payments per patient that are made annually, The eap amount for FY2024 is $33,494,
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Medicaid Legislation and Regulations

Skilled Nursing Facilities

State Medicaid plans subject to budget constramts are ot particular concem to ns. Changes in federal fimding coupled with State buaget piroblens gtid Medicaid
expansion under the Affordable Care Act have produced an uncertain environiwent, SBerme states will not keep pace with post-acute healtheare inflation, States are cwrrently under
pressure to pursue other altematives to skilled nursing care such as commuanity and home—based services.

Medicaid programs are funded jointly by the federal government and the states and are administered by states under approved plans. Most state Medicaid payments are
nude under a prospective paynent system or under programs which negotiate payment levels with individual providers. Some states use, or have applied to use, waivers granted
by CM$ to inplement expansion, impose different eligibility or entolliwent restrictions, or otherwise implement programs that vary from federal standards.

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Tennessee implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We cstimate the resulting increase in
reverme for the 2024 fiscal year will be approxinmtely $15,000,600 annually, or $3,750,000 per quarter.

Bffective October 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of South Carclina implemented specific individual pursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting
increase i revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $9,000,000 annually, or $2,250,000 per quarter.

Eifective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Missouri inplemented specific individual nursing facility increases, We estimate the resulting increasc in
revenue for the 2024 flscal year wili be approximately $5,000,000 annually, cr $1,250,606 per quarter.

We have also received frem many of the states in which we operate a supplemental Medicaid payment to help mitigate the inflationary laber and medical supplies costs
rosulting from the pandemic, For the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we have recorded $20,214,000, $19,442,000 and $20,482,000, respectively, due to these
supplemental Medicaid payments, We have recorded these payments in net patient revenues in our consolidated statements of operations,

Competition

In most of the communities in which we operate health care facilities, we corpete with other health care facilities in the area, There are hundreds of operaters of post-acute
healthcare services in cach of these states and no single operator, including us, dominates any of the markets, except for some stmall mral matkets which might have Hoited
competition, In competing for patients and staff; we depend upon referals from acute care hospitals, physicians, residential care facilities, church groups and other commnity
service organizations, The reputation in the community and the physical appearance of our facilities are important in cbtaining patients since members of the patient’s family
generally participate to a greater extent in selecting skilled nursing facilities than in selecting an acute care hospital, We believe that by providing and emphasizing rehabilitative, as
wellas patient-centered healthcare services, we can broaden our patient base and to differentiate cur operations from competing operations,

As we continue to expand into ail areas of senior health care, we monitor propesed or cxisting competing operations, Cur development goal is to Tink our skilled nursing
facilities with our senior fiving commumities, home health and hospice operations, and behavioral heslih hospitals; therefore, obtaining a competitive advantage for our operations.

Human Capital
Emplayees

As of December 31, 2023, we had 13,123 full-tie and part-time employecs {"partners™ fhrough cur Administrative Services Contractor (National Health Corporation).
None of our partners were represented by a cellective bargaining agreenent. We believe relations with our partners are good. Our partners are guided by NHC's Code of Conduet,
and they take pride in their work, The Company’s partners appreciate different perspectives and embrace the opportunity to work with those of diverse backgrounds.

Total Rewards

To attract and retain top talent, we helieve we nust offer and maintain competitive total rewards for our pariners. These rewards include not only wages and salaries, but
also health, welfare, and retirernent benefits. Qur pariners accrue eamed tine off ("ETO”) with the flexibility to use this time at their discretion. We offer comprehensive health
fnsurance coverage to ail eligible partners as well as a partner and family sick time program which allows pariners to acerue paid sick time based on hours worked and to use that
time for themselves ov family menbers in need of care. We offer a 401(k) plan which includes matching company contributions. Also, to foster a stronger sense of owners hip, we
offer an Bnployee Stock Purchase Plan where pariners nay purchase company stock through payroll deduction.
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We face conpetition in empioyimg and retaining nurses, technicians, aides, and other high-quality professional and non—professional enployees. Te enhance our
competitive position, we offer a robust educational tuition reimbursement program, an Anerican Dietetic Association approved intermship prograny specialty designed nurse aide
training classes, and there is financial scholarship aid available for various health care voecation programs.

We also conduct an " Adainistrator i Traming” cours e, which 15 24 fiohtli i quration, for the professional tratiitg of skilled s ing - fetlity-administrators - Presently, -

we have six (four nale and two femmle) full-time individuals in this program. All sixef our regicnal vice presidents and 52 of our 68 hiealth care center administrators are graduates
of this program

We regularly utilize third-party consultans to conduct anonymous surveys to seek foedback fom our partners on a variety of topics, including but not limited 1o,
confidence in conpany leadership, competitiveness of our conpensation and benefits package, career growth opportunitics and improvements on how we can continue to make
our company an enployer of choice. The results are shared with our partners and reviewed by senior leadership, whe analyze areas of pragress ot deterforation and prioritize
actions and activities in response to this feedback to drive meaningful improvements in partner engagement.

Health and Safety

The health and safety of cur partners is our highest priczity. We focus on safety training in order to maintain a safs work environment and ninimize work-related injury.
When the pandemic began, we ensured and continue to ensure that our partners have access to wasks, thermometers, protective gloves, sanitizing supplics, and all personat
protective cquipment needed in order to protect themselves. We closely followed the recommendations of the World Health Organization, the U.S. Centers for Disease Control and
local governiments, and we took action to ensyre our partners were safe.

Community

We have a long and proud history of investing in the comnunities where we live and work. Through the National Health Foundation {the "Foundation”) and The
Foundation for Geriatric Education (" TFGE") we give back by providing grants te nonprofits and providing tuition refmbursement to partners to further their education in the field
of geriatrice, We also have a Coropassion Pund which is used to help suppoert partners in times of need. Many of our partners make a positive inppact it the conymnities in which
they live by donating their time and falent by volunteering and serving on boards of charitable organizations.

Fnvironmental Sustainability

We are working diligently to minimize our effect on the environment by conserving energy and proiecting our natutal resources. We are focusing on being mote energy
efficient and reducing cur water use and wastewater discharges while continuing to pravide a heaithy environment for our patients, partners and visitors, We are committed to
achering to applicable federal, state and local environmental regulations. Our goal is to iminimize environmental risks to our patients and in the conrminities which we operate.

Through recyeling programs, we are working to reduce the amount of waste sent to landfills. Our electronic waste is recycled through a zero-landfill recycling company.
Avatiable Information

The Company's Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Repotts on Form 10-Q and Carrent Reports on Form 8-K, and anendnents to those reports filed or furnished
pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Bxchange Act of 1934, are available free of charge at wwwahceare.com, as soon as reasonably practicable after the reperts are
electronically filed or fumished with the U.S. Securities and Fxchange Conmmission ("SEC"). The SEC maintains a website that contains these roports as well as proxy statenents
and ather information regarding issuers that file electronically, The SECs website is at www.sec.gov. NHCs website and its content are not deemed incorporated by reference into
this report.
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ITEM1A, RISKFACTORS

You should carefully consider the risk factars set forth below, as well as the other information contained in this Annual Repert on Form 10-K, These rigk factors should
be considered i connection with gvaluating the forward—looking statements contained in this Annual Report on Form 10-K, because these factors could cause the actual results

and conditions to differ matenally from those projecied fn forward—leoking statements, THe Hi§ks destifed befow are nor the only wisks faetip usAdditionat-risks—and-
uncertainties that are not currently known to us or that we currently deenito be immaterial may also materially and adversely affect our business operations. Any of the following
rsks could materially adversely affect our business, financial condition or results of operations and cash flows,

Risks Relating to Our Operations

COVID-19 and other pandemics, epidentics, or outbreaks af a contagions Hiness may adversely affect onr operating resilts, cash flows and financial condition, The
COVID-19 pandermic had s negative impact on our business and results of operations, COVID-19 and ather pandemics, epidemics, or outbreaks of a contagious ilness, and similar
events, may cause harmtto us, our partners (enpployecs), our patients, cur vendors and supply chain partners, and financial institutions, which cculd have a material adverse effect
on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows, The impacts may include, but would not be lirdited to:

e Disruption to operations due to the unavailability of partners due to illness, quarantines, risk of illness, travel restrictions or factors that limit our existing or potential
wokforce,

« Tncreased costs and staffing requitements related to additional CDC protocols, federal and state workforce protection and related isclation procedures, including
chligations to test patients and staff.

o Decreased availzbility and increased cost of supplies due to increased denmnd around essential personal protective equipment ("PPE?), sanitizers and cleaning supplies
including disinfecting agents, and food and food-telated products due to increased global demrand and distuptions along the global supply chains of these manufactures
and distributors.

o Decreased census across all our operations, which could negatively impact our operating cash flows and financial condition,

e Hlevated partner turmover which may increase payroll expense, increase third party agency nurse staffing, and recruiting-related expenses.
o Tngreased risk of litigation and related liabilities arising in connection with patient or partner ilness, hospitalization and/or death.
«  Significant distuption of the giobal financial markets, which could have a negative impact on our ability to acoess capital in the future.

The further spread of COVID-19, and the measures taken by federal and state govemiments and local health authorities intended to limit the spread of the virus, couid
inpact the resources required to carry out our business as usual and may have a material adversc cffect on our results of operations, financial condition and cash flows. The extent
to which the COVIN-19 pandemic will impact ouz business and our financial results will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. Such
developments my include the ongoing geographic spread of the virus, the timing, availability and effectiveness of medical treatments and vaccines (ncluding additional dosos of
vaceines), the impact of any mutations of the virus, and the type, duration and efficacy of actions that may be taken by various govemental authorities to centain the virus or
treat its impact, among others. Any of these developments, individually or in aggregate, could materially impact pur business and our financial results and condition.

We depend on reimbursement from Medicare, Medicaid and other third-party payors, and reimbursement rates from such payors may be reduced, We derive a
substantial portion of cur revenue from third—party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid prograns. Third—party payor prograns are highly regulated and are subject to
frequent and substantial changes. Changes in the reibursement rate or methods of payment from third—party payors, including the Medicare and Medicaid prograns, or the
jmplementation of ather measures o reduce reimburservents for our services has in the past, and could in the future, result in a substantial reduction i our revenues and operating
nargins. For example, the Budget Control Act 02011 requires autoratic spen ding reductions to reduce the federal deficit, inposing Medicare spending reductions ofup to 2% per
fiseal year, with a uniformpercentage across all Medicare prograns. CMS began inposing a 2% reduction or. Medicare claims in 2013, and these reductions have been extended
through 2030. The CARES Act and related legisiation temporarily suspended this 2% reduction through March 31, 2022, and reduced the sequestration adjustment from 2% to 1%
from April 1 through June 30, 2022, The full 2% reduction took effect July 1, 2022,
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Net revenue realizable under third—party payor agreements can change after examination and retroactive adjustment by payors during the claims settlement processes or
as a result of post-payment audits, Payors may disallow requests for reimbursement based on determinations that certain costs are not reimbursable or reasonable because
additional documentation is necessary or because certain services were not coversd or were not reasonable and medically necessary.

Our Tospice agencies are subject to two payment caps that it Medicare reimbutsement each Tederal Tiecal Vear, an mpatient ¢ap and an aggregate cap. The kipatient capy
limits the number of days of inpatient care to no more than 20% of total patient care days, The aggregate cap lintts the total Medicare reimbursement that a haspice may receive
based on an annual per-beneficiary cap amount and the number of Medicare patients served. If payments received by any one of our hospice provider numbers exceeds the
inpatient or aggregate caps, we are required to reinburse Medicare for paynients received in excess of the caps, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,

We cannot assure you that adequate refmbursement levels will continue to be available for the services provided by us. Further limits on the scope of services reimbursed
and on reinbursement rates could have a material adverse effect on our liquidity, financial condition and results of operations. It is possible that the effects of further refinenents
to payment systems that result in lower paymenis to us or cuts in state Medicaid funding could have a material adverse cffect on our resulis of operations. See ftem 1, "Buginess —
Government Regulation” and "Business - Medicare Logislation and Regulations”.

The industry trend toward value-based puwchasing mayp negatively impact our revenues. There continues to be a growing trend in the healthcare industry among both
govemment and commercial payors toward value-based purchasing of healtheare services. Valre-based purchasing prograns enphasize quality and efficiency of services, rather
than volume of services, For example, CMS refmburses SNF providers using the PDPM, & paynent methodology that classifies patients into payment groups based on clinical
factors ushg diagnosis codes rather than by vohume of services, In addition, OMS requires SNFs, home health agencies and hospices ta report quality data in order to receive full
reimbursenent, Failure to report quality data or pocr perfonmance may negatively inpact the anwunt of reimbursement received, CM3 publishes quality measure data online
through its Care Conmpare website, to allow the public to search and compare data for Medicare-certified providers.

Under the SNF Value-Based Purchasing Program CMS reduces SNF Medicare payments by 2 percentage points and redistributes the majority of these funds as incentive
payments based on SNF quality measure performance, In January 2022, CMS began implementing a hationwide expunsion of the Home Health Value-Based Purchasing ("HHVBP)
Model. Under the model, home health agencies will receive increases or decreases to their Medicare foe-for-service payments ofup to 5%, based on performance against specific
quality measures refative to the performance of other providers. Data collested in each perfornemee year will inpact Medicare payments two years Tater, Calendar year 2023 is the
first performance year under the expanded HHVBP Model that wilt affect payments,

Other initiatives aimed at improving the cost of carc include altemative payment models, such as ACOs and bundled payment arrangements. Medicare and many
conmrercial third-party payors are implementing ACO models, in which groups of providers ghare in the benefit and risk of providing care tc an assigned group of individuals at a
lower cost. In addition, CM$ is inplementing prograns to bundle acute carc and post-acute ears teimbursement to held providers accountable for costs across a broader
continuum of care. In October 2021, the CMS Innovation Center relensed an outline of its strategy for the next decade, noting the noed to accelerate the movement te value-based
caro and drive broader system transfonmation, By 2030, the CMS Innovation Center ais to have all foe-for-service Medicare hencfielaries and the vast majority of Medicaid
beneficiaries in an accountable care relationship with providers who are responsible for quality and total medical costs. The CMS Innovation Center signaled its intent to
streamiling its paynent models and to increase provider participation through implementation of more mandatory models,

These reimbursement methodologies and other value-based care initiatives arc likely to continue and expand, at both the federal and state levels and in public and
cormereial health plans. Tt is unclear whother alternative payment models will suceessfitlly coordinate care and reduce costs or whether they will decrease overall reimburscment.
As a result, it is difficult to predict how the trend toward value-based purchasing will ultimately affect our business, If we fail to meet or exceed quality performance standards
under any applicable value-based purchasing program, perform at a level below the outcomes denonstrated by our competitors, or otherwise fail to effectively provide or
coordinate the efficient delivery of quality health care services, our reputation in the industry may be negatively inpacted, we may receive reduced reimbursement amounts, angd we
fmay owe repayments to payots, causing our revenues to decline, Faflure to respond successfully to value-based purchasing trends could negatively impact our business, results
of operations and/er financial condition,

By anderiaking to provide management services, advisory services, anl/or financial services to other entities, we becomie af least partially respo wsible for meeting
the regulatory requirements of those entities. We provide nenagement and/or financial services to skilled mursing facilities, assisting living facilities and independent living
facilities owned by third parties. The "Risk Factors" contained herein as applying te us may in many instances apply equally to these other entities for which we provide services.
We have in the past and may in the future be subject to claims fromthe entities to which we provide managetrent, advisery or financial setvices, or to the claims of third parties to
those entities. Any adverse determination jn any legal proceeding regarding such claks could have a material adverse effect on our business, our results of opertion, our
financial condition and cash flows.

We provide management services fo skifled nursing facifities and other healthcare Jacilities nnder termis whereby the payments for onr services are subject to
subgrdination 1o ather expenditures of the healtheare ficility, Furthermore, there are certain third parties with whom we have contracted to provide services and which we have
determined, based on insufficient histerical collections and the lack of expected futwre cellections, that the service revenue realizstion is uncertain, We nay, therefore, make
expenditures related to the provision of services for which we are not paid.
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The cost to replace or retain qualified nurses, health care professionals and other key personnel may adversely affect our financial perfornance, and we may nof be
able to comply with certain states’ staffing requirements, We could experience significant incteases in our operating costs due to shorlages in qualified nurses, health care
professionals and other key personnel, The market for these key personnelis highly conpetitive, We, like other healit care providers, have experienced diffculties in attracting and
retaining qualified personmel, especially facility administrators, nurses, certified nurses' aides and other inportant health care providers, There is currently a shortage of nurses, and

trends indicate this shortage will continue or worsen in the future. The difficulty our skilled nursing facilities are experiencing i Wiy and relaming qualiicd personnel s
increased our average wage rate. We may continue (o experience increases in our labor costs due to higher wages and greater benefits required to attract and retain gualified health
care persennel, Our ability to control labor costs will significantly affect our future operating results. Additionally, if we fail to aftract and retain qualified and skilled persommel, our
ability to conduct our business operations effectively could be harred.

Certain states in which we operate skilied nursing facilities have adopted mininum staffing standards and additional states nay also cs tablish similar requirenents i the
fisture. Our ability to satisfy these requirements wili depend upon our ability o attract and retain qualified aurses, certified nurses” assistants, and other statf, Failure to comply with
these requirements may zesult in the imposition of fines or other sanctions. If states do not appropriste sufficient additional fiunds (through Medicaid program appropriations or
otherwisc) to pay for any additional operating costs resuking frommininmmum staffing requirements, our profitability may be adversely affected.

The staffing lovel required to receive a S-star rating in the CMS Nursing Home Five Star Quality Rating System is doternined based on analysis of the relationship
between staffing levels and measures of mursing home quality. CMS places a strong crphasis on rogistered nusse ("RN") staffing, CMS posts infonmation on nursing home
staffing measurcs on the Care Comparg website including staff tumover rates and weekend staffing levels. This new data has been incorporated into the Nursing Home Five Star
Quality Rating System.

Although we currently have no collective bargaining agreements with unions at our facilities, there is no assurance this will continue to be the case. If any of our facilities
enter into collective bargaining agreements with unions, we could experience or incur additional administrative expenses associated with union representation of our errployees.

Cur senior managenent team has cxtensive experionce in the healthears industry, We believe they have been instrumental in guiding our business, instituting valiable
performance and quality monitoring, and driving nnovatien, Accordingly, our future performance is substantially dependent upon the continued services of our seniot
managerment team The loss of the services of any of these persons could have a nmterial adverse effect upon us,

Disusters and similar events, which may increase as a vesuif of climute change, sy seviously fiavin our business, Natural and man—nude disasters and similar events,
including terrorist attacks and acts of nature such as hurricancs, tomadocs, carthquakes and wildfires, Ty cause dammge or disruption te us, our employces and our facilifies,
which could have an adverse impact on our patients and our business, In order to provide care for our patieats, we arc dependent on consistent and reliablo delivery of food,
pharmaceuticals, utilitics and other goods to our facilities, and the availability of employees to provide services at our facilities, If the delivery of goods or the ability of employees
to reach our facilities were interrupted in any material respect due to a natural disaster or other roasons, it would have a significant impact on our facilities and our business.
Furthermore, the impact, or impending threat, of a natural disaster has in the past and may in the future require that we evacuate one or more facilities, which would be costly and
would involve rigks, including potentially fatal risks, for the paticnts. The impact of disasters and similar cvents is inherently uncertain. Such cvents could hanm our patients and
employees, severely damage or destroy onc or more of our facilities, harm our business, reputation and financial performunce, or otherwise cause aur business to suffer in ways
that we currently cannot predict.

Stgnificant changes in the climate may occur in areas whete our facilities are located and we may experience more frequent exireme weather events which may result in
physical damage to or 2 decrease n demand for our facilities located in these areas or affected by these conditions. In addition, chenges in federal and state legislation and
regulation on climate change could result in increased capital expenditures to improve the energy efficiency of our facilities without a corresponding increase in revenue, Climate
change may also have indirect effects on our business by increasing the cost of (or meking unavailable) property insurance on terms we find acceptable, Should the impact of
climate change be material in nature, incrading destruction of cur facilities, or occur for lengthy periods of time, our financial condition or results of cperations may be adversely
affected.

Futore acquisitions er new developments may be difficuit to complete, use slgnificant resources, ot be unsiccessful and could expose us to nnforveseen liabilities, We
may selectively pursue acquisitions or new developments in our target markets. Acquisitions and new developments may involve significant cash cxpenditures, debt incurrence,
capital expenditurcs, additional operating losses, amortization of the intangible assets of acquired companics, dilutive issuances of equity securities and other expenscs that could
have a material adverse offect on our financial condition and results of operations. Acquisitions also invoive numerous other risks, including difficulties integrating acquired
operations, personnel and information systens, diversion of management's time from existing operations, potential losses of koy employees or customets of acquired cormpanics,
assumptions of significant Habllities, exposure to unforeseen liabilities of acquired conpanies and increases in cur indebtedness.

13




Table of Contents

. We cannot assure that we will succeed in obtaining financing for any acquisitions at & reasonable cost or that any finaneing will not contain restrictive covenants that
Jumit our operating flexibility, We also nay be unable to operate acquired facilities profitably or succeed in achieving improverents in their fnancial perfommnce,

We also may face competition in acquirng any facilities. Cur competitors may acquire or seek to acquire many of the facilities that would be suitable acquisition

Sandidates for us . IS could Tisit our ability 16 grow by acquisitions or ferease the cos T o ouracquisitions

In addition, federal and state regulation may adversely impact our ability to cormplete acquisitions or pursue new developments, For exarple, a Medicare regulation known
as the "36 Month Rule” prohibits the buyer of a Medicare-certified home health agency fromassuming the Medicars billing privileges of an acquired ageney if the acquired agency
either envolied in Medicare or underwent a change in majority ownership fewer than 36 months prior to the acquisition, subject to certain exceptions, Instead, the buyer st enroll
the acquired home health agency as a new provider with Medicare, The 36 Month Rule may increase conpetition for acquisition targets that are not subject to the ruke and may
cause significant Medicare billing defays for purchases of home health agencics that are subject to the rule. In addition, our ability to expand operations in a stale depends on our
ability to obtain necessary state licenses 1o operate and, where required, certificate of nced approval, States may limit the nwmber of ficenses they issue. The failure to obtain any
required license or certificate of need could inpair our ability to operate or expand our business,

Upkeep of healthcare propertics is capital intensive, requiving ws to continually divect financial resources to the maintenance and enhancement of orr physical plant
and equipmient, As of December 31, 2023, we leasod or owned 60 skilled nursing faclities, 24 assisted living fagilities, 3 behavioral health hospitals, and four independent living
facilities. Our ability to maintain end enhance our physical plant and equipment in a sufable condition to meet regnlatory standards, operate officiently and remain competitive in
our markets requires us to cormmit a substantial pertion of vur fiee cash flow to continued investment in our physical plant and equiproent. Certain of our competitors may operate
centers that are not as old as our centers, or may appear more modernized than our centers, and therefore may be more attractive to prospective customers. In addition, the cost to
replace our existing conters through acquisition or construction is substantially higher than the camying value of our centers. We are undertaking a process to allocate more
aggressive capital spending within our owned and leased facilities in an effort to address issues that arise in connection with an aging physical plant.

iffactors, including factors indicated in these "Risk Factors" and other factors beyond our contrel render us unable to direct the necessary financial and hutman resources
to the mainienance, upgrade and modemization of our physical plant and equipment, our business, results of opetations, financial condition and cash flow could be adversely
impacted.

We are defenddants in significart legal actions, which are commonplace in onr industry, and which coudd subject us to increased pperating costs and substantial
uninsured Habilities, which would materially and adversely affect onr liguidity and financial condition, As is typicel in the health care industry, we are subject to clais that
our services have resulted in resident injury or other adverse effects, We, fike our industry peers, have experienced an increasig trend i the frequency and severity of
professional Lability and workers’ compensation clains and litigation asserted against us. In some states in which we have significant operations, insurance coverage for the risk
of punitive damages arising from professional liability cleins andfor Ltigation tmay not, in certain cases, be available due to state law prohibitions or linitations of availability. We
cannot assure you that we will not be liable for punitive damage awards that are either not covered or are in excess of our insurance policy limits. We also believe that there have
been, and will continue to be, governmental investigations of long—tenm care providers, particularly in the area of Medicare/Medicaid filse clains, as well as an increase in
enforcenent actions resulting from these mvestigations, Tsurance is not available to cover such losses. Any adverse determination in a legal proceeding or governmental
investigation, whether currently asserted or arising in the fature, could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition.

Due {o the rising cost and limited availability of professional liability and workers’ conpensation insurance, we are largely self-insured on all of these prograns and as a
result, there is no Lmit on the maxinum number of clains or amount for which we or our insurance subsidiaries can be liable in any policy period. Although we base our loss
estinates on independent actuatial analyses using the information we have to date, the amount of the losses could exceed our estimates. In the event our actual Hability exceeds
our estimates for any given period, cur resuits of operations and financial condition could be mterialty adversely inpacted. In addition, our insurance coverage might not coverall
claims made against us, If we are unable fo maintain cur current insurance coverage, if judgments are obtained in excess of the coverage we maintain, if we are required to pay
uninsured punitive danmges, or if the number of claims sottled within the self-insurcd retention currently in place signifieantly Increases, we could be exposed to substantial
additional liabilities. We cannot assure you that the clains we pay under our scli-insurance programs will not cxceed the reserves we have set aside to pay clamns, The number of
claims within the self-insured retention may increase,
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Ifwe fatl to compete effectively with other health cave providers, our reventies and profitability may decline. The health care services industry is highly conpetitive.
Our skilled nursing facilities, assisted living facilities, independent Living facilities, hospices, home care setvices and other pperations compete on a local and regional basis with
other nursing centers, health care providers, and senfor living service providers that provide services similar to these we eoffer. Some of our conpetitors' facilities are located in
newet buildings and may offer services not provided by us or are operated by entities having greater financial and cther resources than us. Certain of our competitors are operated

by not-forprofit, non-axpaying or govemmental agencies that can finance capital expenditures on a lax-cxenpt basis dnd that fegeive fimidsand chantable vontributiong

unavailable to us. Consclidations of not-for-profit entities may intensify this cotpetitive pressure. Many cotpeting general acute care hospitals are targer and more established
than cur facilities.

There is also increasing consolidation in the third-party payer industry, including vertical integration efforts among third-party payers and healthcare providers,
Healthcare industry patticipants are increasingly implementing physician alignment strategies, such as enploying physicians, acquiting physician practice groups and
participating i1 ACOs or other clinical integration models, Other industry participants, such as large enployer groups and their affiliates, may intensify competitive pressure and
affect the industry in ways that are difficult to predict. Trends toward clinical transparency and value-bascd purchasing may inpact our corpetitive position and patient volumes.

Our facilities conpete based on factors such as our reputation for quality care; the conitment and expertise of our staff, the quality and conprehensiveness of our
treatiment pregrans; the physical appearance, location and condition of our failities and to a limited extent, the charges for services. In addition, we compete with other health care
providers for customer reforrals fiom hospitals and other providers. As & resulf, a failute to compete effectively with respect to referrals may have an adversc iupact on our
business. We cannot assure that increased campetition in the future will not adversely affect our financial condition and results of operations.

Possible changes in the case mix of patierts and payor mix may significantly affect o profitabifity. The sources and amounts of our paticut revenues will be
determined by a number of factors, including licensed bed capacity and occupancy rates of our facilities, the mix of patients and the rates of reimbursement among payors.
Changes in the case mix of the patients as woll as payor mix among private pay, Medicare and Medicaid will significantly affect our profitability, Particularly, any significant
inerease in cur Medicaid population could have a material adverse effect on our financial position, resulls of operations and cash flow, especialy if states operating these
programs continue to limit, or more aggressively seek limits on, reimbursement rates or service levels,

Private third-party payors continue fo #ry to reduce health care costs. Private third—party payors are continuing their efforts to control health cars costs through direct
contracts with health care providers, increased utilization roview and greater enroliment in managed care programs and preferred provider organizations, among other strategics.
These private payors increasingly are demanding discounted fee structures and the assunption by health care providers of all or a portion of the financial risk. The ability of
private payors to control healthcare costs may be enhanced by the increasing consolidation of insurance companies and the vertical integraticn of health ingurers with healthcare
providers, We could be adversely affected by the continuing efforts of private third—pary payors to limit the amount of reimburs crent we reccive for health care services, We
cannot assure you that reimbursement undet private third—party payor programs will romain at levels cormparable to present levels or will be sufficient to cover the costs allocable
to patients cligible for reimbursement pursuant to such programs. Future changes in the reimbursement rates or methods of private o third-party payors or the inplerrentation: of
other measures to reduce reimburserent for our services conld result in a substantial reduction in our nst operating rcvenues. As aresult of competitive pressures, our ability to
maintain operating margins through price increases to private patients is limited.

n addition, the failure to obtain, renew, or retain payor agreements with favorable contract tems may negatively impact our results of operations and/or revenue. Our
ability to contract with payors depends on our quality of service and reputation, as well as other facters of which we may have littie or no contrel, such as state appropriations and
changes in provider eligibility requirements.

We are permitted to incur substanttally more debt, which could further exacerbate the risks described above. We and out subsidiarics may be able to ineur substantial
indebtedness in the firture. I debt is added, the related risks that we now face could intensify.

Risks Related to Government Regulation

We conduct business in a heavily regriated industry, and changes in, or violations of regulations may resuli in increased cosis o¥ sanctions that reduce owr revenue
and profitability. In the ordinary course of our business, we arc regularly subject to inquiries, investigations and audits by federal and state agencies to determine whether we are
in compliance with regulations governing the operation of, and refmbursement for, skilled nursing facilities and nursing homes, assisted living and independent living facilities,
hospice, home health agencies, behavioral health hospitals, and our other operating areas. These regulations include those relating to licensure, certification and entoliment with
gavemment prograns, conduct of operations, ownership of faclities, constructiot. of new and additions to existing facilitios, allowable costs, adeguacy and quality of services,
qualifications and training of personnel, comrmmications with patients and consumers, billing and coding for services, adequacy and menner of documentation for services
provided, minimum direct care spending ratios, services and prices for services, and pharmaceuticals and controlied substances. Various laws, including federal and state anti—
kickback and anti-fiaud statutes, prohibit certain business practices and relationships that wight affect the provision and cost of health care setvices reimbursable under federal
and/or state health care progratns such as Medicare and Medicaid, including the payment or receipt of termuneration for the referral of patients whose care will be pald by federal
govemnental programs or fee-splifting arrangements between health care providers that are designed to induce the referral of patients to a provider for medieal products and
services, Furthermore, many states prohibit business cotporations fromproviding or hokling themselves out as a provider of medical care,
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In addition, the Stark Law broadly defines the scope of prohibited physician referrals under federal health care progrums to providers with which they have ownership or
other financial amangements. Many states have adopted, or are considering, legislative proposals similar to these laws, sone of which extend beyond federal health care prograns,
to prohibit the payment or receipt of renuneration for the refemal of patients and physician referrals regardless of the source of the paymment for the care.

We zlso are subject to potential lawsuits under a federal whistle-blower statute designed to conbat fraud and abuss n the heaith care ndustry, known as the federat False
Claing Act. These lawsuits can involve significant monetary awards to private plaintiffs who successfully bring these suits. When a private party brings a qui tamaction under the
False Cluins Act, it files the complaint with the court under scal, and the defendant will generally not be aware of the lawsuit until the govemment makes a determination whether it
will intervene and take a lead in the litigation.

These laws and regulations are complex and linited judicial or regulatory interpretation exists. We cannot assure you that gevemmental officials charged with
responsibility for enforcing the provisions of these laws and regulations will not assert that ene or more of cur amangements are in violation of the provisions of such laws and
regulations.

The regulatory environment surrounding the post-acute and long—tenn care industry has intensificd, particularly for farger for-profit, multi-facility providers Bke us. The
foderal governmont has imposed extensive enforcement policies resulting in a sighificant increase in the nunber of mspections, citations of regulatory deficiencics and other
regulatary sanctions, including terinations fom the Medicare and Medicaid programs, denials of payment for new Medicare and Medicaid admissions and civil menetary
penalties.

Tf we fail to obtain or renew required regulatory approvals or licenses or fail to comply, or are perceived as failing to comply, with other oxtensive laws and regulations
applicable to our business, we could have our licenses suspended or rovoked, becoms ineligibla to receive government program reimbursement, be required to refund amounts
received from Modicare, Medicaid or private payors, suffer civil or criminal penalties, suffer damage to our reputation in various markets or be required to make significant changes
to our operations, Any of these sanctions could have a material adverse effect on our operations and financial condition. Furthermore, should we lose licenses or certifications for
many of our facilities as a result of regulatory action or otherwise, wo could be decmed in default under some of our agrcements, including agrooments governing outstanding
indebtedness.

We have established policies and procedures that we beliove are sufficlent to ensure that we will operate in substantial compliance with these anti-fraud and abuse
requireents. From time to time, we may seek guidance as to the interpretation of these laws; however, there can be no assurance that such laws will yltimately be interpreted in a
manner consistent with our practices, In addition, we could be ferced to expend considerable resources responding to an investigation or other enforcement action under these
laws or regulations, While we believe that our business practices are consistent with Medicate and Medicaid critetia, those criteria are ofien vague and subject to change and
inferpretation, We are unable to predict the future course of federal, state end local regulation or legislation, including Medicare and Medicaid statutes and regulations, or the
intensity of federal and state enforcement actions. Aggressive anti-fraud actions have had and could have an advetse etfect on our financial position, results of operations and
cash flows. See item 1, "Business — Government Regulation”.

16




Table of Contents

We face wicertainty related to the COVID-19 public health emergency’s ("PHE") expivation and wind-down, which could have a material adverse affect on onr
business, financial condition, resulfs of operations and cash flows. The extent fo which the OOVID-19 PHF's termination will affect cur operations will depend on future
developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted. There remains uncertainty as to what changes will be made to the Health and Human Service's emergency
response.requirements. for our skilled nursing. facilities and_senior living facifities in order to batter respond to the issues experienced during the COVID-19 PHE To the extent

COVID-1% s endernic in nature, we may face continued challenges fromongoing infection control and emergency preparcdness requirements nmde part of state laws or regulations.
Additionally, the long-term effects of the COVID-19 panderic may include long-term decline in demand for care in skilled nursing facilities and senior hiving facilities.

Our business may be impacted by healthcare reform efforts. In recent years, the US. Congress and certain state legislatures have cansidered and passed a large number
oflaws intended to result in significant changes to the healthcare industry, including the ACA. The ACA affeets how healtheare services are delivered and reimbursed through the
expansion of public and private health insurance coverage, reduction of growth in Medicare and Medicaid spending, and the establishment and expansion of prograns that tie
reimbursement to quality and integration, The ACA has been subject to legislative and regulatory changes and court challenges. Although the current presidential administration
has indicated that it generally intends fo protect and strengthen the ACA, it is possible that there may bo continued changes fo the ACA, its implementation or its nterpretation.
Changes by Congress or govemment agencies could eliminate or alter provisions beneficial to us, while leaving in place provisions reducing our reimbursement or otherwise
negatively inpacting our business.

There is also imcertainty regarding whether, when and what other health reform measures will be adopted, and the inpact of such efforts on providers as well as other
healthears industry participants. Seme members of Congress have propesed expanding government-finded coverage, including proposals to expand coverage of federally-funded
insurance progmms as an altemative to private insurance or to establish a single payor system (such reforns are often referred to as "Medicare for AIl™), and some states have
implemented or proposed public health msurance options.

In additian, CMS administrators may make changes fo Medicaid payment models or grant additional flexibilities to states in the administration of state Medicaid programs,
including by expanding the scepe of waivers under which states may implement Medicaid expansion provigions, impose different eligibility or entollment restrictions, or otherwise
inyplement prograns that vary from federal standards, Other industry participants, such as private payors, may also intreduce financial or delivery systemreforns, We are unable to
predict the nature and success of such initiatives. Healtheare reform initiatives may have an adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and operating results,

We gre required to comply with Imws governing the transmdssion and privacy and security of health information. The Health Insurance Portability and Accountabiiity
Act of 1956, or ("HIPAA™), requires the use of unifonm electronic data transnission standards for healthcare clains and payment transactions submitted or received electronically.
In addition, as required by HIPAA, the TIHS has issucd prvacy and security regulations that extensively regulete the use und diselosure of individually identifiable health
tnformation (known as Protected Health Informmtion, or PHI) and require covered entities, inchuding healthcare providers and health plans, and vendors known as "business
gssociates,” fo implement administrative, physical and technical safeguards to protect the security of PHI, Covered entitics must report breaches of unsecured PHE without
unreasonable delay to affected individuals, FIHIS and, i the case of larger breaches, the media, The privacy, security and breath notification regulations have inposed, and will
continue to inpose, significant complianee costs on our operations,
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“There are numerous other laws and legis lative and regulatory initiatives at the federal and state levels addressing privacy end secusity concerns. These laws vary and may
mpose ?ddltmna} obligations or peaalties, For exampla, additional federal and state obiigations may apply to belavioral, addictive disorder and other types of sensitive
infermation, Further, various state laws and regulations mmay require us to notify affected individuals m the event of a data breach invelving individually identifiable information

_related mformation is involved), In addition, the Federal Trade Commission uses its consumer protection authority fo initiate enforcerent actions in response fo

data breaches. To the extent we fafl to conply with one or more federal and/or state privacy and security requirenents or if we are found to be responsible for the non-comphiance
of our vendors, we could be subject to substantial fnes or penalties, as well as third-party claims, and suifer harm to our reputation, which couid have & material adverse effect on
ourbusiness, financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

Tn. addition, health care providers and industry participants are also subject to a growing nunber of requirements intended to pronwote the interoperability and exchange of
patient health information, For exanyple, most health care providers and certain other entities are subject to information blocking restrictions pursuant to the 2ist Century Cures Act
that prohilsit practices that are likely to interfere with the access, sxchange or use of electronic health information, except as required by law or specified by HHS as a reasonable
and necessary activity,

We are subject to employment-velated laws and regulations which could increase our cost of doing husiness and subject us to significant back pay awards, fines and
Tewsnits, Our opetations are subject to a varicty of federal, state and local employment-related laws and regulations, inchiding, bat not fintted to, the U.S, Fair Labor Standards
Act, which governs such matters as ninimom wages, the Family Medical Leave Act, overtime pay, compensable time, record keeping and other working conditions, Title VI of the
Civil Rights Act, the Frrployec Retirement Income Seourity Act, the Americans with Disabilitics Act, the Naticnal Labor Relations Act, regulations of the Equal Employment
Opportunity Comtission, regniations of the Office of Civil Rights, regulations of the Department of Labor {DOL), federal and state wage and hour laws, and a variety of similar laws
enacted by the federal and state governments (hat govem those and other enployment-related matters. Because Jabor represents such a large pottion of our operating costs,
compliance with these evolving federal and state laws and regulations could substantially increase our cost of doing business while failure to do so could subject us to significant
back pay awards, fines and lawsuits, In addition, federal proposals to introduce a system of mandated health insvrance and flexible work time and other similar initiatives could, if
implerented, adversely affect our operations. Our failure to cormply with federal and state employment-related laws and regulations could have a material adverse effect cn our
business, financial position, results of operations and liquidity.

Our business is subject to a variety of federal, state and local envirornmental laws ard regnlations, As a healtheare provider, we face regulatory requitements in arcas of
air and water quality contrel, medical and lowlevel rmdioactive waste management and disposal, asbestos numagenent, 1esponse te mold and lead—based paint n our facilities and
employee safety, :

As an operator of healthcare facilities, we also may be required to investigate and rermediate hazardous substances that are located on and/or under the property,
including any such substances that may have migrated off, or may have been discharged or transported from the property. Part of our operations involves the handling, use,
storage, transportation, digposal and discharge of medical, biological, infections, toxic, flammable, and other hazardous materials, wastes, pollutants, or contaminants. In addition,
we are sometines unable to determine with certainty whether prior uses of our facilities and properties or surrounding propertics may have produced continuing cavironmental
contamination or nonconpliance, patticularly where the timing or cost of making such determnations is not deemed cost effective, These activities, as well as the possible
presence of such materials in, on and under our properties, may tesult in damage to individuals, property, or the environment; may inferrupt operations or increase costs; nRy
result in legal liability, damages, injunctions or fines; may resylt in investigations, administrative proceedings, penalties or other govemmental agency actions; and may not be
covered by surance, :

We belicve that we are in material conpliance with applicable environmental and oceupational health and safity requirements. However, we cannot assure you that we will
not encoutter environmental liabilities in the future, and such labilities may resulf in material adverse consequences to our operations or financial condition,

We are subject to federal and state income taxes. Changes in tax laws and regtlations or the interpretation of such laws could adversely affect our posttion on
income taxes and estimated income liabilities, Uncortain tax positions nay arise where tax laws may allow for altemative interpretations or where the timing of recognition of
incone is subject to judgment, We betieve we have adequate provisions for unreco gnized tax benefits related to uncertain tax positions. Although we believe we have accurately
estinmted our tax lisbilities, uncertainty of interpretation by various tax authorities and the possibility that there are issues that have not been recognized by management could
tesult in additional tax liability. We believe that our liabilities reflect the auticipated outcome of Ynown uncertain tax positions in conformity with ASC Tepic 740 Income Taxes.

We are also subject to regular reviews, exaninations, and audits by the Internal Revenue Service and other taxing authorities with respect to our taxes, There are
uncertainties and anbiguities in the application of the Tax Cuts and Jabs Act of 2017 {"TaxAct") and it is possible that the IRS could issue subsequent guidance or take positions
on audit that differ fiom our interpretations snd assumptions, Although we believe our tax estimates arg reasonable, if a taxing autharity disagrees with the positions we have
taken, we could face additional tax liability, including interest and penalties. Our effective tax rate could be adversely affected by changes in the mix of camings in sates with
different statutery faxrates, changes in the valuation of deferred tax assets and liabilities, change in tax laws and regulations, changes i our interpretations of tax laws, including
the Tax Act, Unanticipated changes in our taxrates or exposure ta additional incomme fax Kabilities could affect our profitability, There can be no assutance that payment of such
additional ameunts upon final adjudication of any disputes will not have a nmierial inpact on our results of operations and financial position.
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Risks Related to Owr Structure and Public Company Compliance

Failure to maintain effective internal controls in accordance with Section 404 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act could result in a resiatement of our financial statements,
_.cause.investors. to. lose_confidence in_our financial statements and gur company and have 4 material adverse effect on our business and stock price. We produce our

consolidated financial statements in accordance with the requirerents of ULS. GAAP. Fffective internal centrols are necessary for us to provide reliable financial reports to help
mitigate the risk of faud and to operate successfully as a publicly traded company. As a public conpany, we are required o document and test our internal control procedures in
order to satisfy the requiternents of Section 404 of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act of 2002, or Section 404, which requires annual management assessments of the effectiveness of our
internal controls over financial reporting,

Testing and maintaining intemal conirols can divert our managewent's attention fromother matters that are important to our business, We ney not be able to cenclude on
an ongoing basis that we have offective intemal contrels over financial reporting in accotdance with Section 404 or our independent registered publie accounting firm may not be
ablo 1o issue an unqualified repert if we conclude that our intemal controls over financial teporting arc not effective, If cither we arc unable to conclude that we have effective
intemal controls over financial repotting or our independent registered public accounting firm 3 unable to provide us with an unqualificd report as required by Section 404,
investors could lose confidence in our roported financial mformation and our corpany, which could result in a decline in the market price of our conmon stock, and cause us to fail
to meet our reporting obligations in the future, which in ftum could impact our ability to raisc additional financing if necded in the fiture,

Tnereasing costs of being publicly owned are likely to impact our fistre consolidated financial position and results of operations, In connection with the Sarbanes—
Oxdey Act o 2002, we are subject to rules requiring our management to report on the effectiveness of our internal control over financial reporting. If we fall to have effective ntemal
controls and procedures for financial reporting in place, we could be unable to provide timely and reliable financial information which could, in tum, have an adverse effect on our
business, results of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

I

Significant regulatory changes, including the Sarbangs—Oxley Act and tules and regulations promulgated as a result of the Sarbanes—Oxley Act, have increased, and in
the fisture, are likely to further increase general and administrative costs. In order to comply with the Sathanes—Oxley Act of 2002, the listing standards of the NYSE exchange, and
tules implemented by the SEC, we have had to hire additional personnel and utilize additional outside legal, accounting and advisory services, and may continue to require such
additional resources. Moreover, in the rapidly changing regulalory envirorment in which we operate, there is significant uncertainty as to what will be required to comply with
many of the regulations. As a result, we may be required to spend substantially more than we cwrently estimate, and may need fo divert resources from other activities, as we
develop our compliance plans,

Provision for losses in ow financial statements tnay aot be adequate. Loss provisions in our financial statements for self-insured programs arc made ofi an
undiscounted basis in the relevant period, These provisions are based on internal and external evaluations of the merits of individual claims, analysis of claitms history and
independent actuariaily determined estimates, Our management reviews the methods of determining thesc estimates and establishing the rosulting accrued liabilities frequently,
with any material adjustments resulting fom being reflected in current eamings, Although we believe that our provisions for self-insured losses in our financial statements are
adequate, the ultimate liability may be in excess of the amounts recorded. In the event the provisions for losses reflected in our financial statements are inadequate, our financial
condition and results of operations may be materially affected.

Tmplementation of new information technology could cause business intervuptions and negatively affect our profitability and cash flows. We continue to refing and
implement our information technology to improve customer service, enhance operating efficiencies and ptovide more effective managenent of business operations, Tnplementation
ofinformation technology carres risks such as cost overruns, project delays and business interruptions and delays, If we experience a material business interruption as a result of
the implementation of our existing or fiture information technology infrastructure or are unable to obtain the projected benefils of this new infrastructure, it could adversely affect
1t and could have a material adverse effect on our business, resuits of operations, financial condition and cash flows.

We depend on the proper fimetion and availability of our informution systeins, We ars dopendent an the preper function and availability of our information systens.
Though we have taken steps to protect the safety and sccurity of our information systems and the data maintained within those systems, there can be no assurance that our safety
and security ineasures and disaster reeovery plan will provent damage or interruption of our systems and operations, and wa may be vulnerable to losses associated with the
imptoper functioning, security breach ot ynavailability of cur information systems. Failyre to maintain proper function and availability of cur information systems could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial position, results of eperations and liquidity.
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Tn addition, certain software supporting owr business and information systens are licensed to us by independent software developers, Our inability or the inability of
these developess, to continue to nuintain and upgrade our informetion systems and seftware could dismpt or reduce the efficiency of our operations. In addition, costs and
potential problens and interruptions associated with the inplementation of new or upgraded systens and technology or with maintenance or adequate support of existing systems
also could disrunt or reduce the efficiency of our operations and could have a material adverse effect on our business, financiai position, results of operations and liquidity.

Cybersecurity vishs could harm owr ability to operate effectively. Cybersecurity refers to the conbination of technologies, processes and procedures established to
protect information technology systems and data from unauthorized access, attack, or damage. We rely on our inforation systems to provide security for processing,
transmission and storage of confidential patient, sesident, employee, other consumer informmtion, such as personally identifiable information, including information relating to
health protected by HIPAA. Although we have taken steps to protect the security of our infonmation systens, medical devices that store sensitive data, and the data maintained in
those systens and devices, it is possible that our safety and security measutes will not prevent inproper functioning or the fproper access or disclosure of perscnally identifiable
information such zs in the event of cyber-atiacks. We may be at increased risk because we outsourco certain servioes or fanctions to, or have systems that interface with, third
parties, Some of these third parties may store or have access te our data and may not have effective controls, processes, or practices to protect our information from attack,
damage, or unauthorized access. A breach or attack, ncluding those caused by updates and other releases, affecting any of these third parties could harm ourbusiness.

If personally identifiable informetion of our patients or others is improperly accessed, tampered with or distributed, we may incur significant costs to remediate possible
injury to the affected patients, and we may be subject fo sanctions and civil or crintnal penaltics if we are found to be in viclation of the privacy or security rules under HIPAA or
other similar federal or state laws protecting confidential personally identifiable informmtion.

Security breaches, including physicai or electronic brealk-ins, conputer virses, attacks by hackers and similar breaches can create system disruptions or shutdowns or
the unauthorized disclosure of confidential mformetion. Additionally, healthcare busiesses are increasingly targets of cyberatiacks, whereby hackers distupt busmess operations
or obtain protected health infommtion, ofter denmnding lazge ransoms. As cyber threats continue to evolve, we may be required to expend significant additional resources to
continue to modify or exhance our protective measures or to investigate and remediate any eybersecurity vulnerabilities. The occurrence of any of thesc events could result in
harm to patients; business terruptions or delays; the loss, misappropriation, corruption, or unauthorized access of data; litigation and potential iability vnder privacy, security
and consumer protection laws or other applicable laws; reputational darmge; or fedoral and state govemnmental inquiries. Any failare to maintain proper functionality and securily
of our information systems could have a naterial adverse effect on our business, financial condition, and results of operations.

F¥e mnay not be able (o meet all our capital needs, We cannot assure you that our business will generate cash flow from operations that anticipated revenue growth and
irprovement of operating efficiencies will be realized or that future botrowings will be available to us in an amount sufficient to enable us to service any future indebtedness orto
fund our other liquidity needs, We tray need to incur indebtedness, sell assets, or make certain discretionary capital exponditures.

The performances of ouwr fixed—income and our equity investment portfolios are subject to a vaviety of investment risks. Our investiwent portfolios are conmprised
principally of fixed-income securities and comimon equities. Our fised—income portfolio i actively managed by an investment group and includes short-term investments and
fixcd-maturity scoutities. The performances of our fired—income and our equity portfolios arc sukject to a number ofrisks, including:

o Interest rate risk — the risk of adverse changos in the value of tied—income securities as a result of increases In market interest rates.

e Investment credit risk— the risk that the value of cortain investments may decrease in value due to the deterioration in financial condition of, or the liguidity available to,
one or mote issuers of those securities or, in the case of asset—backed securitics, due to the deterioration of the loans ot other assets that undetlie the securities, which, in
each case, also includes the risk of permanent loss,

o Concentration risk —the risk that the portfolic may be too heayily concentrated in tho securities of National Health Tnvestors "NHL” or certain seetors or industries, which
could result in a significant decrease in the value of the portfolio in the event of'a deterioration of the financial condition, performance, ot autleok of NHI, or those certain
sectors or industries.

«  Liquidity risk — the risk that we will not be able to convert investnenls into cash on favorable ters and on a timely basis or that we will not be able to sell them at all,
when we desire to do so. Disruptions in the financial markets or a lack of buyers for the specific securities that we are trying to sell, could prevent us from liquidating
securilies or canse a reduction i prices to levels that are not acceptable to us.
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In addition, the success of our mvestment strategies and asset allocations in the fixed—incone portfolio may vary depending on the nmrket environment, The fied-
income porifolio's performance also may be adversely impacted if, among other facters: there is a lack of transparency regarding the underlying businesses of the issuers of the
securities that we purchase; credit ratings assigned to such securities by nationally recognized credit rating agencies are based on inconyplete intonmation or prove unwarranted; or

The conmmon equity portfolio is subject to general movements in the values of equity markets and to the changes in the prices of the securities we hold. Equity markets,
sectors, industries, and individual securities may be subject ta high velatility and to long periods of depressed or declining valuations.

If the fied—incone or equity portfolios, or both, were to suffer a decrease in value due to matket, sector, or issuer—specific conditions to & substantial degree, our
liquidity, financial position, and financial results could be materally adversely affected.

Our stock price is volatile and finctuations in our operating results, quarterly earmings and other fuctors may result in declines in the price of our comnon stock,
Equity markets are prone to, and in the last few years have experienced, extreme price and volume fluctuations, Wolatility over the past fow years has had a significant inpact on the
market price of securities issued by many companies, including us and other conpanies in: the healtheare industry, If we are unable to operate our businesses as profitably as we
have in the past or as our stockholders expect us o in the futwre, the matket price of our conmon stoelk will likely decline as stockhoiders could sell shares of cur common stock
whon it becomes apparent that the market expectations may not be realized. In additien to our operating results, many sconomic and other factors beyond our control could have
an adverse effact on the price of our common stock including;

e general economtc conditions;

o developments generally affecting (he healthcare industry;

o strategic actions, such ag acquisitions or restructurings, or the introduction of new services by us or our competitors;
s new laws or regulations or new interpretations of existing laws or regulations applicable to our business;

s fitigation and govemmental invesligations;

s changes in accounting standards, policies, guidancc, interpretations or principles;

¢ investor perceptions of us and our business;

»  actions by institutional or other large stockhelders;

e quatlerly variations in operating results;

s changes in financial estimates and recommendations by securities analysts;

&  pross eleases or negative publicity relating to our competitors orus or relating fo trends in health care;
s sales of stock by msiders;

¢ natural disasters, terrorist attacks and pandemics; and

e additions or departures of key personnel.

We may not be able fo pay or maintain dividends and fhe failure to do so would adversely affect onr stock price. 'We currently pay a quarlerly dividend on our
common stock and our Board intends to continue to pay a quarterly dividend, However, cur ability to pay and maintain cash dividends is based on many factors, including our
financial condition, funds from operations, the level of our capital expenditures and future business prospects, our abiiity to make and finance acquisitions, anticipated operating
cost levels, the level of demand for our beds, the rates we charge and actual results that may vary substantially from estimates. Sotpe of the factors are beyond our contreland a
change in any such factor could affect our ability to pay ot waintain dividends. The failure to pay or maintain dividends could adversely affect our stock price,

ITEM 1B, UNRESOLVED STAFF COMMENTS
None.
TEM1C, CYBERSECURITY

The Conpany’s Board of Directors takes seriously both the responsibility to guard against cybersecurity threats and its conpliance with the SEC Cybersceusity
regulations adopted on July 26, 2023, The Board of Directors reeeives an annual cybersecurity update fiom the Chief Information Offieer {CI0O) and Chief Infornmation Security
Officer (CISO) at every November Board meeting and, accordingly, received its custonary detailed briefing fromthe CIO0 and CISO st its Novendber 2, 2023 meeting, The Board also
received an extensive separate briefing this year on cybersecurity threats and regulations presented by the CIO and outside expert consultants at its August 3, 2023 meeting.

The CIO reports relevant infornation regarding cybersceurity threats and risks to the Certification Committee, which is chaired by the Chairman of the Audit Committee.
The Chairman of the Audit Conmittee will then elevate any matters of siguificance, as waranted, to the full Audit Conmitiee. The Andit Committee can then further elevate matters
to the full Board of Directors, as necessaty or required.

The Company has adopled processes to identify, assess, and manage material risks from cybersccurity threats, It has also adopted processes to evaluate material effects,
ot reasonably likely matetial effects, of risks from eybersecurity threats and previous cybersecurity incidents, The Corpany has adopted processes to assess and evaluate the
necessity ofany material disclosures required on Form 8-K.

The Company’s CIO has more than 40 years of experience in informtion technology and cyber matters in healtheare. The Conpany’s CISO has 26 years in cybersecurity
natters and has served as the Cotpany’s CISO for 6 years. The Company has an Incident Response Planning Commitiee who will meet, as necessary, to address, identify, and
manage any naterial cybersecurity threats. The Company also has a crisis team consisting of the Compliance Officer, Ceneral Counsel, Chief Financial Officer, Human Resources
Officer, Facilities Managewent Administrator, and the Network Systens Adrnistrator, which will be engaged ifan event poscs a significant risk to the Conpany.

The Company and the Board of Directors are committed to rermaining updated on evolving cybersecurity regulations and best practices, as well as the development and
amcndiment of processes to meet these changing demands.
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ITEM 2, PROPERTIES

Skilled Nursing Facilities

Licensed
State City Cenfer Name AftiliEaGH Bisds
Alabama - - -5 - CCAnniston NHC HealthCare, Anniston Leased(1) 151
~ Moulton NHC HealthCare, Moulion Leased(l} 136
Georgia Fort Oglethorpe NHC HeslthCare, Fort Oglethotpe Owned 135 !
o Rossville MNHC HealthCare, Rogaville Qwned 112
Kentucky Glasgow NHC HealthCare, Gasgow Leased{l) 194
Missoui Desloge NHC HealthCare, Desloge Leased(1} 120 :
Independence The Villages of Jackson Creek Leased 120
Independence The Villages of fackson Creek Memory Care Teased 70 i
Joplin NHC HezlthCare, Joplin Leased(1) 126 ‘
Kennett NHC HealthCare, Kennett {eased(l) 170 ‘
Macon Macon Health Carc Center Owned 120
Osages Beach Osage Beach Rehabititation and Health Care Center Ovmed 94
St. Charles NHC HealthCzre, St. Charles Leased(l) 120
‘St Louis NHC HealthCare, Maryland Heights Leased(1} 220
5t. Peters Villages of St, Peters leased 130
Springfield Springfield Rehabilitation and Health Care Center Leased 144
‘West Plains NHC HealthCare, West Plains Owned 114
South Carolina Anderson NHC HealthCare, Anderson Teased{l} 290
CBluffion NHC HealthCare, Blaffton Owned 120
~ Chatleston NHC HealthCare, Charleston Owned 132
" ‘Clinton WHC HealthCare, Clinton Owaed 133
Columbia NHC HealthCarc, Parklane Owmed 180
"Greenwood NHC HealthCare, Greenwood Leased(1) 152
CGreenville WNHC HealthCare, Greenville Owned 176
Laurens NHC HealthCate, Laurens Leased(1) 176
Lexington NHC HealthCare, Lexingten Owned 170
Mauldin 'NHC HealthCare, Mauldia Owned 180
Murells Tnlet NHC HealthCare, Gardon City Owned 48
North Augusta NHC HealthCare, Nerth Augusta Ovmed 192
Sunter NHC HealthCare, Sumier Managed 138
Tennessee Athens NHC HealthCare, Athens Leased(l) 86
Chattanooga NHC HealthCare, Chattanooga Leased(1) 260
Colunbia NHC HealthCare, Columbia Owned 106 ;
Columbia NHC-Maury Regional Trangitional Care Center Owmed 112 i
Cookeville NHC HealthCare, Cookeville Managed 14 i
Dickson NHC HealthCare, Dickson Leased(l) 191 |
Dunlap NHC HealthCars, Sequatchie Lpased(l) 110
Farragut NHC HealthCare, Farragut Qwned 106 i
Franklin NHC Place, Covl Springs Ovwned 180 :
Franklin NHC HealthCare, Franklin Leased(l) 80
Callatin NHC Flace, Sumner Owned 92
Hendersonville NHC HealthCare, Hendersonville Leased(1} 122
Johnson City NIIC HealthCare, Johnson City Leased(1) 167
Kingsporf NHC HealthCare, Kingsport Owned 90
Knoxville NHC HealthCare, Fort Sanders Cwmed 166
Knoxville Holston Health & Rehabilitation Center Ovwmned 94
Knoxville NHC HealthCare, Knoxville Owned 127
Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Lawrenceburg Managed 9
Lawrenceburg NHC HealthCare, Scott Leased(1} 60
Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Lewisburg Leased(1) 100
Lewisburg NHC HealthCare, Oakwood Leased{l) 60
McMinnville NHC HealthCare, McMmnnville Teased(1) 115
Milan NHC HealthCare, Milan Teased(1} 117
Murfreesbore AdansPlace Owned 90
Murfressbero WHC HealthCare, Murfreesboro Managed 181
Nashville Takeshore, Heartland Ovwmed 66
Nashville Lakeshore, The Meadows Managed 113
Nashviile The Healh Center of Richland Place Managed 107
Mashville NHC Place at The Trace Owned 20
Nashville West Meade Place Managed 120
Oak Ridge NHC HealthCare, Oak Ridge Managed 120
Pulaski NHC HealthCare, Pulaski Leased(1} 102
Smithville NHC HealthCare, Smithville Leased(l) 114
Somerville NHC HealthCare, Somesville Leased{) 72
Sparta NHC HealthCare, Sparta Leased(}) 9%
Springfield NHC HealthCare, Springfield Owned 107
Tullahoma NHC HealthCare, Tullahoma Owned 90
Virginia Bristol NHC HealthCare, Bristo] Leased(1} 120
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Behavioral Health Hospitals

Licensed
_ _S tate City Center Name Affiliation Beds
Missouri Maryland Heights Maryland Heights Center for Behavioral Health Owned 16
Osage Beach Osage Beach Center for Cognitive Disorders Owned 16
Tennessee Knoxville Knexville Center for Behavioral Medicine Owned(2) 4
Assisted Living Units
State City Center Name Affiliation Units
Alabarm Anniston NHC Place/Anniston Owned 67
Kentucky Glasgow NHC HealthCare, Gasgow Leased{l) 12
Florida Merritt Island Sodalis Senior Living Meritt Island Owned 95
Stuart Sodalis Scnior Living Stuart Owned 96
“Vero Beach Sodalis Senior Living Vero Beach Owned 129
Missouti St. Charles Lake St. Charles Retirement Center Leased(1) 26
Independence The Villages of Jackson Creek Leased 52
8% Peters Villages of St, Peiets Leased 52
St. Peters Villages of St. Peters Memery Care Owned &0
South Carolina Bluffton The Palmettos of Bluffton Qwned 78
Charleston The Palmettos of Charleston Owned 60
Columbia The Palmettos of Parklane Ovwmed 75
Greenville The Palmettos of Mauldin Owned 45
Murrells Inlet The Palmettos of Garden City Owned 80
Tennessee Dickson NHC HealthCare, Dickson Leased(1) 20
Farragut NHC Place, Famragut Owmed 84
Farragut NHC Place, Cavette Hill Owned 60
Franklin NHC Place, Cool Springs Owned 89
Gallatin NHC Place, Sunmer Owned &0
Murfreesboro AdansPlace ) Owned 106
Mashville Lakeshore Heartland Owned 9
Nashville Lakeshore, The Meadows Managed 10
Nashville Richland Place Managed 24 |
Nashville The Place at the Trace Owned 80 |
Smithville NHC HealthCare, Smithville Leased(1) [ ;
Somerville NHC HealthCate, Sorerville Teased{l) 3
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Betirement Apartments
State City Retirement Apartments Affiliation Units
Missouri St. Charles Lake St, Charles Retirerment Apis. j Teased(!) 152
Tennessee .. *‘Chattanooga Parlewood Retirereni Aparttents Leased(1) 30
Johnson City Colonial Hill Retirement Apattments | Leased(1} 63
‘Murfreesboro - " AdamsPlage VS e Owned 93
Nashville Richland Place Retirement Apts. Managed 137
Homecare Agencies
State City Homecare Agencies
Florida Chipley NHC HomeCare of Chipley
Crawfordville NHC HomeCare of Crawfordville
Mexitt Island NHC HomeCare of Menitt sland
Pananu City NHC HomeCare of Panama City
Port St. Joo NHC HomeCare of Port St. Joe
Quingy NHC HomeCare of Quiney
Taliahassee NHC HomeCare of Tallahassee
Vero Beach NHC HomeCare of Vero Beach
South Carolini Adlen NHC HotreCare of Aiken
B - “Anderson NHC HomeCare of Anderson
Greenville NHC HoneCare of Greenville
Greenwood NHC HomeCare of Greenwaod
Laurens NHC HomeCare of Laurens
“Murreils Inlet NHC HomeCare of Murrells Inlet
Summerville NHC HomeCare of Low Country
West Columbia NHC HomeCare of Midlands
Tennessee - Athens NHC HoneCars of Athens
Chattanooga NHC HomeCare of Chattanooga
Coluirbia NHC HoweCare of Colnrbia
Cookeville NHC HomeCare of Cookeville
Dickson NHC HomeCare of Dickson
Franklin NHC HomeCare of Franklin
Hendersonville NHC HomeCare of Hendersonville
Johnson City NHC HonxCare of Johnson City
Knoxville NHC HoneCare of Knoxville
Lawrenceburg NHC HoneCare of Lawrenceburg
Lewisburg NHC HoneCare of Lewisburg
McMinnville NHC HomeCate of McMinnville
Milan NHCHomeCare of Mitan
Murfreesboro NHC HomeCare of Murfreesboro
Mashville ‘Ascension at Home St, Thomas(3)
Pulaski NHC HomeCare of Pulaski
~Somerville NHC HomeCare of Sotnerville
Sparta NHC HomeCare of Sparta
‘Springfield NHC HomeCare of Springfield
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Hospice Agencics
_ State City Hospice Agencies
CGeorgia Rossville o Caris Healthcare — Rossviile
Missouri o gt Touds Caris Healthcare — St. Louis
South Carolina ) "Anderson Caris Healthcare — Anderson
Biuffton Caris Healthcare — Bluffton
*‘Chatleston Caris Healthcare — Charleston
Colunmbia Caris Healthcare — Columbia
Greenville Claris Healthcare — Greenville
Creenwood Caris Healthcare — Greenwood
Myitle Beach Caris Healthcare — Myrtle Beach
Summer Curis Healthcare — Sunter
Tennessoe ~ Athens Caris Healthcare — Athens
Chattancoga Caris Healthcare — Chattanooga
~ Colmbia Carls Healthcare — Columbia
- Cockeville Caris Healtheare — Cookeville
Crossville Caris Healthcare — Crossville
" Dickson Caris Healthears — Dickson
Greeneville Caris Healtheare — Greeneville
Johnson City Caris Healthoars — Johmson City
Knozxville Caris Healthoare — Knoxville
Lenoir City Caris Healtheare — Leneir City
Milan Claris Healthcare — Milan
Murfigesboro (arls Healthcare — Murfreesboro
Nashville Caris Healthcare — Naghville
Sevierville Caris Healthcare — Sevierville
Somerville Caris Healthcare — Somwerville
Springfield Caris Healthcare — Springfield
Tullahoma Caris Healthcare — Tullahoma
Virginia Big Stone Gap Caris Healtheare — Big Stone Gap
Bristol Caris Healtheare — Bristol
Cedar Bluff Caris Healthcarc — Cedar Bluff

Healtheare Facilities Leased to Others

The following table includes certain information regarding healtheare facilities which are owned by us and leased to others:

Name of Taciity Location No. of Beds
Skilled Nuising Facilitles
Solaris HealthCare North Naples Naples, FL. 60
Solaris HealthCare Coconut Creek Coconut Creek, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Daytona Daytona Beach, FL 73
Solaris HealthCare Inperial Maples, FL 113
Solars HealthCare Windermere Orlande, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Charlotte Harber Port Charlotte, FL 186
The Health Center at Standifer Place Chattanooga, TN 444
Solaris Healil:Care Eake City Lake City, FL 120
Solaris HealthCare Pensaccla Pensacela, FL 180
Assisted Living No. of Units
Standifer Place Assisted Living Chattanooga, TN 7

(NLezased fFron NHL

(2) Knoxville Center for Behavioral Medicine is owned by separate limited liabitity companies, The Company owns 65% of the operations entity and owns 80% of the real estate

entity.

(3)Ascension at Home St. Thomas is owned by a separate limited liability company. The Conpany owns 50% of the limited liability company.

25




Table of Contents
TTEM 3, LEGAL PROCEEDINGS

General and Professional Liability Insurance and Laws uits

The senior care industry has experienced ncreases m both (he number of persenal mjury/wronghil deatli claiis and i the Severity of awards based upon alleged
negligence by nursing facilities and their enployees in providing care to residents, The Conmpany has beer, and continues to be, subject to claims and lega! actions that atise in the
ordinary course of business, ncluding potential claims related to patient care and treatment. The defense of these lawsuits may result in significant legal costs, regardless of the
outcone, and can result in large settlenent amounts or danage awards,

As a result of the tems of our insurance policies and cur use of a wholly-cwned insurance company, we have retained significant self-insured risk with respect to general
and professional liability. Additional insurance is putchased through third party providers that serve to supplement the coverage provided through our wholly-owned captive
insurance company. We use independent actuaries to assist management in estimating our exposures for clains obligations (for both asserfed and unasserted clains) related to
caposures in excess of coverage limits, and we meintain reserves for these obligations. It is possible that clains against us could cxceed cur coverags linits and our reserves, which
would have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations and cash flows.

General Litigation

Qui Tam Litigation

Q087 7-AMM (N.D. Ala) This is a qui tamcase originally filed under seal on June 22, 2020. The United States declined intervention on March I, 2021, Thereafter, the Plaintiffs filed
an amended Complaint against Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Tategrated Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entitios that Dr. Malhotra was alleged to own or in which he allegedly had a
financial interest. The Complaint also named multipie skilled nursing facilitics as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC, an affiliate of National HealthChre
Cotporation, The Complaint alleged that nurse practitionets afliliasted with Dr. Malhotra provided fres services to the facilities in exchange for refbmrals to entities owned by or in
which Dr. Malhotra had a financial interest in violation of the False Claims Act and Anti-Kickback Statute. NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on Noverdber 4, 2021. On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and administratively terminated the motian to dismiss pending the U.S. Supreme Court's
review of a petition for certiorari filed in an unrelated matter but invelving one of the legal argurments raised in the motion to dismiss, Thereafter, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiorari in the unrelated matter. As a resul, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed ils motion to dismiss, The District Court granted NHC Healthcare/Moulton’s
Motion te Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Dismissal on Mazch 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in jts entirety with prejudice with respect 1o the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs, The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Bleventh Ciroult. On Decerber 21, 2023, the Hleventh Cirouit entered an Crder affiming the District Court’s dismissal of the claims.
The Plaintiffs have 90 days from the entry of the dismissal Crder to fils a Petition for a Wril of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court requesting a review; otherwise, the
Order affinning dismissal issued by the Bleventh Circuit will be final,

ITEM 4, MINE SAFETY DISCLOS URES
Not applicable.
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PARTI

ITEM S, MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS, AND ISSUER PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES

Market Infornuation

Our common stoek is listed and traded on the NYSE-American exchange under the symbol "NHC.” On December 31, 2023, NHC had approxinately 13,250 stockholders,
comprised of approximately 1,950 stockholders efrecord and an additional 11,300 stockholders indicated by security position listings.

Dividend Policy

We da not have 2 forma! dividend pelicy, but we currently intend to continue to pay regular guarterly dividends to the holders of our conmon stock. The Company has
paid a comen dividend since 2004, although there can be no assurances that our quarterly dividends will be declared, paid or increased in the future.

Stock Repurchase Programs

In 2023, the Company purchased 44,349 shares of its common stock for a total cost of $2,482,000. The shares were funded fiom cash on hand and were cancelled and
returned o the status of authorized but unissued,

Equtity Compensation Plans
The following table sets forth information regarding our equity compensation plans:
Nunber of securities

remaining available for
future issuance under

Number of securities to be Weighted average equity comrpensation
' issued upon exercise of exercise price of plans {excluding
outstanding opticns, outstanding options, securities retlected in
Plan Categoty warsants and rights wanants and rights golumn (a})
@ {®) ©

Fquity compensation plans approved by security holders 588534 % 61.30 1,751,461
Eauity conpensation plans not approved by security holders - - -
Total 588,534 3§ 61.30 1,751,461
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The following graph and chart compare the cumiilative total stockhelder retum for the period fiom January 1, 2019 through Decenber 31, 2023 on an mvestment of $100 i
(i) NHC's common stack, (if) the Standard & Poor’s 300 Stock Index ("S&P 500 Index") and (iif) the Standard & Poor’s Health Care Index ("S&P Health Care Index"). Qummlative
total stockholder retum assumes the reinvestment of all dividends. Stock price performances shown in the graph are not necessarily indicative of future price perfornances.
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PM6.  [RESERVED]

ITEM 7, MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Owerview

National HealthCare Corporation, which we also refer to as NHC or the Company, is a leading provider of post—-acute care and senior health care services, At December 31,
2023, we operate or nanage 68 skilled nursing facilities with 8,732 licensed beds, 26 assisted Living facilities with 1,301 units, five independent living facilities, three behavioral
health hospitals, 35 homecare agencies, and 30 hospice agencies located in 8 states. In addition, we provide nunagement services, accouniing and financial services, and insyrance
services to third party operators of healthcare properties, We also own the real estate of 10 healtheare properties and lease these properties to third party operators.

Legislation and Government Stimulus Due te COVID-19

The U.S. govemment cnacted several laws beginning in March 2020 designed to help the nation respend to the COVID-19 pandemic. The new laws inpacted healtheare
providers in a varicty of ways, but the largest legislation from a monetary relicl perspective was the CARES Act. Through the CARES Act, as well as the PPPCHE, the federal
govemment allocated $178 billion to the Public Health and Social Services Emergency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Relief Fund. The Provider Relief Fund is
administered through grants and other mechznisns to skilled nuzsing providers, home health providers, hos pitals, and other Medicare and Medicaid entolled providers to cover
unreimbursed health care related cxpenses or lost revenue attributabls to the public health cimergency resulting from COVID-19.

The Provider Relicf Fund grants come with tenms and cendition certifications in which all providers arc required to submit documents to ensure the funds are used for
healthoarerelated capenses or lost revenue attributable to COVID-19, The Company recorded $0, $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 of govemnent stimulus income from the Provider
Relief Funds for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The grant income was determined on a systemic basis in ling with the recognition of specific
expenses and lost revenues for which the grants are intended fo compensate, The Conpany’s assessment of whether the terms and conditions for amounts received have been met
for income recognition and the Company's related income caloulation considerad all frequently asked ¢uestions and other interpretive guidance issucd to date by HHS,
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Executive Summary

Earnings

To manitar our eamnings, we have developed budgets and management reports to nenitor laber, census, and the composition of rfevenies, Thrng Sevtaiii il
tines, our net patient revenues and govemment reimbursement may not keep pace with inflationary increases in our expenses, which may cause net eamings to decline.

Cecupancy

A primary ares of rmmagement focus continues to be the rates of occupancy within our skilled rursing facilities. The overall census (based on operational beds) in owned
and leased skilled nursing facifities for 2023 was 87.9% compared to 83.8% in 2022 and 80.6% in 2021.

"The pandemic caused an increased strain on America's healthcare workforce, which has created the challenge of raintaining desirable patient census levels. Management
has undertaken a nunber of steps in order to best position our curent and fature operations. This includes warking intemally to examine and fnprove systems to be most
responsive to refermal sources and payors, as well as find creative initiatives to retain and attract qualificd healthcare professionals. Additionally, NIC is in varicus stages of
partnerships with hospital systens, payers, and other pesi-acute alliances to better position ourselves 50 we are an ective participant in the delivery of post-acute healthcare
scrvices,

Quality of Patient Care
CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consumers, their families and caregivers conpare skilled nursing facilities more casily, The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives cach skilled nursing operation a rating ranging between one and five stars in various categoeries (five stars being the best). The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outcomes as precursors ta outstanding financial performance.

Tn July 2022, CMS launched its enhanced Five-Star Quality Rating System which integrates weekend staffing rates for nurses and information on annual tumover aneng
nurses and administrators, The tables below summarize NHC's overall performance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skilled nursing industry as of December 31, 2023

NHC Ratings Industry Ratings
Total number of skilled nursing facilities, end of period 68 ‘
Number of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facilitics 40
Percentage of 4 and 5-star rated skilled nursing facitities 3% 36%
Average rating for all skilied nursing facilities, end of period 3.6 29

Bevelopment and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our post—-acute and senior health care operations while protecting our existing operations and narkets. The following table lists our recent
construction and purchasc activities,

Type of Operaticn Description Size Location Placed in Service

Hospice- Acquisition 28 agencies Various Tune 2021

Homecare New Agency 1 agency Anderson, S8C January 2022

Hospice New Agency 1 agency Tullahone, TN March 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 64 beds Knoxville, TN Aprl 2022
Behavioral Health Hospital New Facility 16 beds &t Louis, MO June 2022

Hospice New Agency lagency Cedar Bluff, YA March 2023
Skilled Nursing ‘ © Acquisition 66 beds Neshville, TN May 2023
Homecare New Agency 1 agency Tallahassec, FL May 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 135 units Vero Beach, TL July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 units Merritt Island, FL July 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 100 units Stuart, FL July 2023

Accrued Risk Reserves

Our aceried professional Hability and workers’ compensation reserves totaled $103,259,000 and $102,469,000 at December 31, 2623 and 2022, respectively, and are a
primary area of nanagenent focus. We have set aside restricted cash and restricted narketable securitics to fund our professional liability and workers' compensation reserves,

As to exposute for professional Eability clais, we have developed performance measures to bring focus to the patient care issues most likely to produce professional
liability exposure, including in—house acquired pressure ulcers, significant weight loss and numbers of falls. These prograns for cettification, which we regularly modify and
improve, have produced measurable improveiments in reducing these incidents. Our experience is that achieving goals in these patienl care areas improves both patient and
enployee satisfaction,

Segment Reporting

The Company has two reportable operating segiments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilitios, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hespitals; and {2) homecare and hespice services, These reportable operating segments are consistent with inforrmtion used by the Company’s
Chief Fxecutive Officer, as chisf operating decision maker ("CODM™), to assess performance and allocate resources, The Company also reports an "all other” category that
includes revenues fromrenral income, management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate cffice.

The Conpany’s OODM evaluates perfonmance and allocates capital resources to cach segment based on an operating model that is designed to inptove the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Company, while enhancing long-term sharehokler value. The CODM does not review assets by segment i his resource allocation and
therefore, assets by segment are not disciesed below.
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The following tablos set forth the Company’s consolidated statements of operations by business segment (in fhousands).

Year Ended Degender 31, 2023

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice AN Giher ToEAl
Revenues:
Net patient revenues 956,077 % 131,537 § - $ 1087614
Other revenues 1,141 - 52,789 §3,930
Net operating revenues 957,218 131,537 52,789 1,141,544
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages ‘and benefits - 589,279 80,610 42 455 712,344
Other operating 254,539 23,525 10,095 288,183
~Facility rent 250 33,787 2,172 5,566 41,525
Depreciation and amortization 38172 786 3,076 42,034
Interest ' 34 - - 34
Total costs and expenses 916,121 107,097 61,1592 1,084,410
Incone (loss) before non-operating income 41,087 24,440 (8,043) 57,134
Non-operating income - - 16,660 16,660
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities - - 14,544 14,944
[ncome before income taxes 41,007 § 24440 % 23,200 § 88,738
Year Ended Deccrber 31, 2022
Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues: .
Net patient revenues 900231 % 128,854 % - 3 1,028,085
Other revenues 136 - 45,060 45,196
Governrment stimulus income 11457 - — 11,457
Net operating revenues and grant incone 911,824 128,854 45,060 1,085,738
Costs and Bxpenses; -
Salaries, wages and benefits 580,707 77,688 27,774 686,169
Other operating 251,355 26,319 11,698 289,372
Faeility rent 32,956 2327 5,694 40,977
Depreciation and amortization 36,522 691 3,276 40489
Interest 563 - - 563
Recovery of assets - - (3,728 (3,728
Total costs and expenses 902,103 107,025 44,714 1,053,842
Ineone before non-operating income o721 21,829 346 31,856
Non-operating incong - - 11,141 11,141
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities - = (15,806) (15,806}
Income (loss) before income taxes 9721 % 21829 % 4319 % 27,231
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Year Ended Decewber 31, 2021

Inpaticnt Homecare
Services and Hospice All Cther Total
Revenues: v R ’ B
Net patient revenues $ 868,687 § 096,855  § - % 965,542
Other revenues - 386 - 45,014 45,400
Govemnment stinulus come 63,360 - - 63,360
Net operating revenues and grant income 932,433 96,855 45,014 1,074,302
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 557,604 59,226 49,233 666,063
Other operating 238,354 16,053 12,347 260,754
Facility rent 12,819 2,064 5,935 40,818
Depreciation and amortization 36,890 443 3,335 40,672
Interest 845 - — 845
Inpainrent of assets ' 4,497 - 3,728 8,225
Total costs and expenses 871,009 77,786 74,582 1,023,377
Tncome {Joss) before non-gperating income 41,424 19,069 (29,568) 50,925
Non-operating income +° - - (7,71 17,774
Gain on acquisition of equity method investment - - 95,202 95,202
Unrealized losses en marketable equity securities S - - (13,863) (13,863)
Tneome before income taxes - -~ - S ’ $ 61424 § 19069  $ 69,545 § 150,038

Non-GAAP Tinancial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non-GAAP financial measures as the Canpany beligves that these figures are helpful in allowing investors to more acourately assess
the ongoing nature of the Company’s operations and measure the Company’s performance more consistently across periods. Therefore, the Conpany believes this inforrmtion is
meaningful in addition to the information contained in the GAAP presentation of financial information, The presentation of this additional non-GAAP financizl inforation i not
intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordunce with GAAT.

Specifically, the Conpany belicves the presentation of non-GAAP financial information should exclude the following ltens: the unrealized gains or losses on our
marketable equity securities, operating results for stat-up healtheare operations not at fisll capacity, any gains on the acquisition of equity method investments, gains on the sale
of propeity and equipment, stock-based compensation expense, and impairments or recaoveries of long-lived assets and notes receivable.

The oporating results for the start-up eperations not at full capacity melude the following: far the year ended Decernber 31, 2023, included are operations that began from
2021 to 2023, which is two behavioral health hospitals, two honecare agencies, and twe hespice agencies. For the year ended Decermber 31, 2022, included are facilities that began
operations from 2020 to 2022, which is two behavioral health hospitals, one hospice agency, and one homecare agency. For the year ended Deceber 31, 2021, included are
facilities that began operations from2019 to 2021, which & two behavioral health hospitals and one memory care facility.
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The table below provides reconciliations of GAAP to non-GA AP ites (doflars in thousands, excep! per share data).

Year Ended Decenber 31,
2023 2022 2021

Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation $ 66,798 8 2445 8§ 138,590
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Unrealized (gains) losses on narketable equity securities (14,944) 15,806 13,863

Gain on sale of property and equipment (6,230) - -

Gain on acquisition of equity method investment - - {95,202)

Stock-based comnpensation expense 2,782 2,612 2,620

- Operating results for newly-opened operations not at full capacity 2,359 5416 922

Trpainrent (recavery) of assets ] ] - (3.728) 8,225

Tncome taxexpense (benefif) on non-GAAP adjustments : : : S 4,169 (5,228) 6,373
Non-GAAP Net Income $ 54934 § 37323 3§ 62,645
GAAP diluted camings per shate $ 434 % 145 § 859
Non-GAAP adjustments:

Unrealized {gains) losses on marketable equity securities ©.72) 0.76 0.67

Gain on: sale of property and equipment ' 030 - -

Chin on acquisition of equity method investment - - (6.16)

Stock-based compensation expense 0.13 .13 013

Operating results for newly-epened operations not at full capacity 0.10 0.26 0,04

Inpafrment (recovery) of assets - (0.18) 0.39
Non-GAAT diluted earnings per share $ 355 % 242 8 4.06

Results of Operations

The foliowing table and discussion set forth items from the consolidated statcmnents of operations as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income for the
years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021.

Percentage of Net Operating Revenues

Year Fnded December 31,
2023 222 2021

Revenues: )

Net patient revenues 95.3% 94.8% 89.9%

Other revenues 47 42 42

Government stimulus inceie - 1.0 59

Net operating revenues and grant income 100.0 1000 160.0

Costs and Expenses:

Salaries, wages and benefits 62.4 63.2 620

Other operating 252 26.6 748

Facility rent 36 38 3.8

Depreciation and anwortization 37 37 38

Interest 0.1 0.1 0.1

Tmpafment (recovery) of assets — 0.3) 0.8

Total costs and expenses 95.0 97.1 95.3

Income from operations 5.0 29 47
Non-operating ncome L5 10 17
Cainl on acquisition of equity nethod investment ) - - 88
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable equity securities 1.3 (1.4) (1.3}
Income before inconw taxes ) 7.8 2.5 13.9
Income tax provision (2.1} 0.7 (1.0
Net income 57 18 129
Net loss attributable to noncontrolling interest 0.2 03 0.0
Net income attributable to common stockholders of NHC 5.9% 2.1% 12.9%
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The follewing table sets forth the increase or (decrease) in certain itens from the consolidated statements of operations as compared to the prior period (dollars in
theusands) .

Period to Period ncrense (Decrease)

2023 vs. 2022 2022 vs, 2021
Amount Percent Amount Percent
Revenues: : EERRE
~ Net patient revenues g 38,529 57% $ 63,543 6.6%
“Otherrevenues 8,734 19.3 (204) {0.4)
Govemniment stimalus income (11,457 (100.0) (51,903) (81.9)
"2 Net operating revenues and grant moene 55,806 51 11,436 1.1
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 26,175 38 20,106 30
Other operating (1,189) O 22,618 85
Facility rent 348 13 155 04
Depreciation and amortization 1,543 38 (183 {04
Interest (239) 42.5) (282} (334)
Inpairment (recovery) of assets - 3,728 100.0 (11,953) (1453}
" Total costs and expenses 30,568 29 30,463 30
Income from operations 252038 79.1 (19,029) {374
Non—operating income 5519 49.5 (6,633 (37.3)
Gain on acquisition of equity methed Investment - - (95,202) (1000}
Unrealized gains (losses) on marketable equify securities 30,750 194.5 (1,943) (14.0)
Incone before income taxes 61,507 2259 (122,807 (81.9)
Incomme tax provision (16,196) (223.3) 3,697 33.8
Net incone 45311 226.8 (119,110} (35.6)
Net {income) loss attributable to noncentrofling interest (958) {38.8) 2,965 596.6
Net income attributable to common stockholders of NHC ) 44353 197.6% 3 (116,145) {83.8)%
2023 Comparedte 2022

Rosults for the year ended Decertber 31, 2023 compared to 2022 include a 5.1% increase in net operating revenues and grant income, The net operating revenues increase
was primarily driven by the continued cceupancy increase in our skillod nursing facilities, as well as increases in skifled nursing per diems fiom some of our governmental payors,
Excluding the government stimulus income and the seven skillsd nursing facilities n Massachusalts and New Hampshire in which we ceased operations in September 2022, same-
facility net aperating revenues increased 11.3% as compared to the same petiod a year ago,

For the year ended December 31, 2023, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $66,798,000 compared te net incorne of $22,445,000 for the satme period in 2022,
Exchuding the unrealized gains and losses in our marketable equity securities porttofic and other non-GAAP adjustments, adjusted net income was 54,534,000 for the year ended
Decerrber 31, 2023 compared to $37,323,000 for the same petiod a year ago. The increase in non-GAAP camings for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023 compared to the same petied
in the prior year was prinerily due to the continued occupancy increass in our skilled nursing facilities, skilled nursing per diemincreases from some of our gevemment payors, and
the continued reduction of nuise agency staffing expense within our operations,

Net operating revenues and gran! inconie

Net patient revenues totaled $1,087,614,000 an increase of $58,529,000, or 5.7%, conpared to the prior year, Included in net patient revenucs for the years ended December
31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, i $20,214,000 and $19,442,000 of supplenental Medicai¢ payments that were received to help mitigate the inflationary labor and medical supplies
costs caused by the pandemic.

The ovorall average census it owned and leased skilled nursing facilitios for 2023 was §7.9% compared to 83.8% n 2022. The conposite skilled nursing facility per diem
increased 6.7% in 2023 compared to 2022, Medicare and menaged oare per diem rates increased 3.3% and 5.9%, respectively, in 2023 compared to 2022, Medicaid and private pay
per diemrates increased 9.4% and 5.5%, respectively, in 2023 compared to 2022,

New operations, which include ane skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
lealth hospitals, two hospice agencies and twe homecare agencies, have attributed to an increase of $25,821,000 in net patient revenues for the year ended December 31, 2023
compared ta the same period last year. In Septewber 2022, the Conpany transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, which resulted in net patient revenves decreasing $48 820,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 conpared to the same period Jast year,
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COther Tevenues in 2023 were $53,930,000, an increase of $8,734,000, or 19.3%, as further detailed in Notc 4 to our consolidated financial statements, In 2023, we contributed
tznd to a newly-formed limited fiability cormany resulting in an equity interest in the new entity. The fair value of the land eontributed to the entity was $8,000.000 and the related
cost basis in the land was $1,770,000, which resulted in a gain of $6,230,000.

For the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we recorded 30 and $11,457,000 n govemment stmmlis meote related To Tands Técéived fomithe CARES
Act Provider Relief Fund,

Total costs and expenses
Total costs and expenscs for 2023 increased $30,568,000, or 2.9%, to $1,084,410,000 from $1,053,842,000 in 2022,

Salaries, wages, and benefits increased $26,175,000, or 3.8%, te $712,344,000 from $686,169,000, Salaries, wages, and benefits as a petcentage of net operating revennes
and grant ncome was 62.4% compared to 63.2% for the years ended Deceniber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, We continue to face worldoree and labor shortages within alt of our
operations. The labor and workforce shortages have resulted in us contracting with agency nurse staffing conpanics. The agency nurse staffing companies charge inflated heurly
rates; therefore, we arc working diligently to find solutions to reduce and eliminate the agency nurse stafiing within our healthearc operations. For the year ended Decewber 31,
2003 qur agency nurse staffing expenses decreased $30,682,000, or approximately 44.5%, compared to the same period a yeat ago.

New operations, which include one skilled nuring facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencics, have attributed 10 an increase in salaries, wages, and benefits of $13,565,000 for the year ended December 31,
2023 compared to the same period last year In September 2022, the Conpany transforred the operations of seven skilled mursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New
Hampshire, which resulted in salaries, wages, and benefits decreasing $31,920,000 for the year ended Decomber 31, 2023 compared to the same period last year.

Cther operating expenscs decreased 31,189,000, or 04%, to $288,183,000 for the year cnded December 31, 2023 compared to $289,372,000 for the prior year Other
operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant incoms was 25.2% and 26.7% for the years ended Decerber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The ten new
operations listed above attributed to an increase in other operating expenses of $9.082,000 for the year ended December 31, 2023 compared to the sane period Jast year. The
transfer of the eperations of the seven skilled nursing facilitiea Jocated in Massachusetts and New Hamypshire, as noted abave, resulted in other cperating expenses deoreasing
$15,025,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023 conpared to the prior year, We continug to face inflationary pressures in certain categeries within other operating expenses as
well, such as food/dietary supplies and drugs/pharmaceutical supplies.

Facility rent expense increased $548,000, or 1.3%, to 341,525,600, Depreciation and amonimtion mereased 3.8% to $42,034,000, Interest expense decreased $239,000 to
$324,000 in 2023 from $563,000 in 2022. At Decenber 31, 2023, we have no cutstanding long-termidebt.

Crher income
Non—operating income increased by $5,519,000, or 45.5% to $16,660,000 compared to the prior yoar, as further detailed in Note 5 t our consohdated financial statements,

We recorded unrealized gains in the amount of $14,944,000 for the increase in fair value of our marketable equity securities portfolio for the year ended Decarrber 31, 2023,
The markotable equity securities portfolio consists mainly of publicly-traded healthcare REIT's and other blue-chip public cempanies held withit: our insurance companies.

Income taxes
The inceme tax provision for 2023 is $23,450,000 (an effective incone taxrate of 26.4%:).
2022 Compared to 2021

Results for the year ended December 31, 2022 canpared to 2021 inchide a 1.1% increase in net operating revenues and grant income, The net operating revenues and grant
income increase is primarily driven by the June 2021 acquisition of Caris hospice and the continued occupancy increase in our skilled nursing facilities, These increases were offset
by the reduction in government stimulus income of $51.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021,

For the year ended Decenber 31, 2022, GAAT net income attributable to NHC was $22,445,000 conpared to net income of $138,590,000 for the same period in 2021. The
large decrease in our reported GAAP net income for 2022 was primarily due to the $95.2 million gain recorded i 2021 fromthe acquisition of Caris. Excluding the gain on the Caris
acquisition, as well as the unrealized losses in our marketable equity securities porttolio and the other nen-GAAP adjustments, non-GAAP net income for the year ended December
31,2022 was $37,323,000 compared to $62,643,000 for the year ended December 31, 2021. The decrease in adjusted net income for the year ended December 31, 2022 conpared to
2021 is prircarily due to the $51.9 million less govemment stimulus incoms recorded Juring the 2022 period. We also continue o incur inflationary wage pressures within all areas of
our operations.

Net operating vevenues aud granl income

Net patient revenues totaled $1,020,085,000, en increase of $63,543,000, or 6.5%, compared Lo the prior year, Inchided in net patient revenucs for the year ended Decomber
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, is $19,442,000 and $26,482,000 of supplemental Medicaid payments that wers received to help mitigate the incremental costs in fighting the
pandetric,

The overall average census in owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for 2022 was 83.8% compared to 80.6% in 2021, The composite skilled nursing faclity per diem
increased 2,3% in 2022 compared to 2021, Medicare and managed care per diem rates increased 2.3% and 6.0%, respectively, in 2022 cormpared te 2021, Medicaid and private pay
per diemrates increased 3.0% and 4.7%, respectively, in 2022 compared to 2021,

In June 2021, the Conpany acquired the remaining ownership interest in Caris, which resulted in net patient revenues increasing $31,566,000 for the yoar ended December

31, 2022 conpared to the prior year, Tn September 2022, the Company transfenred the cperations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hampshire
resulting in net patient rovenues decreasing $18,732,000 for the year ended December 3 1, 2022 compared to the prior year,
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Other revenues in 2022 were 345,196,000, a decrease of $204,000, or 0.4%, as further detailed in Note 4 to our consolidated financial statements.

For the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, we recorded $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 in govemment stimulus income related to funds received fromthe
CARES Act Provider Relicf Fund.

Total costs and expenses
Total costs and expenses for 2022 increased $30,465,000, or 3.0%, to $1,053,842,000 from §1,023,377,000 in 2021.

Salaries, wages, and benofits increased $26,106,000, or 3.0%, to $686,169,000 from $666,063,000. Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of nef operating revenues
and grant incone was 63,2% compared to 62.0% for the years ended Decernber 31, 2022 and 2021, respeotively, Our Caris acquisition in Junc 2021 increased salaries, wages, and
benefits $19,040,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to 2021. We continue to face workforce and labor shortages within all of our operations, which increases wage
pressure in regards to retaining and attracting qualified healthcare partners {cnployees). The labor and workforce challenges have resulied in us contracting with agency nurse
staffing companies. The agency nurse staffing corpanies charge inflated hourly mtes; therefore, we are worldng diligentiy to find solutions to reduce and eliminate the agency
nurse staffing within our healtheare operations, For the year cnded Decorber 31, 2022, our agency nurse staffing expenses wore $68,875,000 compared to $36,391,000 for the 2021
year. In September 2022, the Company transferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hanpshire resulting in salaries, wages, and
benefits decreasing $18,053,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2022 conpared to the prior year.

Other operating cxpenses icreased $22,618,000, or 8.5%, to $289,372,000 for the year ended December 31, 2022 compared to $266,754,000 for the prior year. Other
operating expenscs as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income was 26.7% and 24.8% for the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, respectively. Our Caris
acquisition increased other operating expenses $10,190,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2022 compared to the prior year. The transfer of the operations of the soven skilled
nursing facilitics located in Massachusetts and New Hanmpshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating cxpenses decreasing $6,859,000 for the year ended December 31,2022
compared to the prior year, We incurred increased expenses fromour professional liability actuarial report in the fourth quarter 0f 2022 compared to the prior year of §3,284,000. We
also continue to face inflationary pressures in certain categories within other operating expenses as well, such as food/distary supplies and drugs/phermaceutical supplies,

Facility rent expense increased $159,000, or 0.4%, to 340,977,000 Depreciation and amortization decreased 0.4% to $40,489,000. Interest expense decreased $282,000 to
$563,000 in 2022 from $845,000 in 2021, At December 31, 2022, we have ne outstanding long-term debt.

During 2022, we had 2 note receivable recovery of $3,728,000,
Other income

Non—operating income decreased by $6,633,000, or 37.3% to $11,141,000 compared to the prior year, as further detailed in Note 5 to our consolidated financial statements,
The decrease in our non-operating ncome is due to the June 2021 acquisition of Caris, Prior to the June 202! acquisition date, Caris was our most significant equity method
investment with a 75.1% non-controlling ownership inferest. From the respective acquisition date, Caris’ financial infonation is now included in the Conpany’s consolidated
financial statements and is no longer accounted for as an equity method investment.

In June 2021, a gain of $95,202,000 was recorded on the acquisition of the remaining awnership interest of Caris, We previously held a noncontrolling interest in the
pettnership. Upon acquiting the remaining ownership interest in Caris, we valued the business and gur previously held equity position (75.1%) based upon Caris' fair valus at the

acquisition date,

We recorded unrealized losses in the amount of $15,806,000 for the decrease in fair value of our matketable equity securities portfolio for the year ended December 31,
2022, The natketable equity securities portfolio consists mainly of publicly-traded healthcare REIT"s and other blue-chip public companies held within our insurance conpanies.

Income taxes
The incone taxprovision for 2022 is 57,254,000 (an effective incone taxrate of 26.6%).
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Liquidity, Capital Resources and Financial Condifion

Sources and Uses of Funds

Our primary sources of cash include revenues fiom the operations of our healthcare operations, managenent and acesuntinvg FEivices, Tertal icome; ard Tvestmeit
income. Qur primary uses of cash include salaries, wages and other operating costs of our healthcare operations, the cost of additions to and acquisitions of real property, facility
rent expenses, and dividend distributions, These sources and uses of cash are reflected 1 our interim condensed consolidated statements of cash flows and are discussed in

further detail below,

The following is a suary of our sources and uses ofcash flows (dollars in thousands):

Year Ended One Year Change Year Ended One Year Change
12/31/23 12431722 $ % 12/31/22 12/31/2} 8 %

Cash, cash equivalents, resirdeted .~ - © o

cash, and restricted cash

equivalents at beginning of

period - - 74865 8 119743 % {44,878) 315 % 119,743 § 158502 § {38,759) (24.3)
Cash provided by operating = - - o S

activities T 411,216 h 8,742 102,474 1,1722 8,742 62,394 (53,652) (86.0)
Cash used in investing activities (17,568) (5,978) (11,590} (193.9) (5.978) (65,889) 59,911 909
Cash used in financing activities (42,545) (47,642) 5,097 1.7 {47,642) (35,264) {12,378) {35.1)
(ash, cash equivalents, restricted

cash, and restricted cash ‘

equivaienfs at end ofpeﬁod $ 125,968 H 74,8635 $ 51,103 68.3 3 4865 3 119,743 $ (44.878) (37.5)
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Operating Activities

Net cash provided by operating activities for the year ended December 31, 2023 was $111,216,000 as compared to 38,742,000 and $62,394,000 for the years ended December
31, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Cash provided by operating activities consisted of net income of $65,288,000 and adjustments for non-cash itens of $33,625,000. There was cash

provided by working capital in the amount of $17,396,000 for the year ended Decerber 31, 2023 conpared o cash used Tor working capifal needs in the ahwuif of $73,697,000m
2022,

Included in the adjustments for non-cash items are depreciation expense, equity in camings of unconsalidated investments, unrealized losses on our marketable equity
securities, recovery of assets, deferred taxes, and stock compensation,

Dwvesting Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $17,568,000 for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023, as compared to $5,978,000 and $65,889,000 for the years ended Docember
31, 2022 and 2021, respeciively. Cash used for property and equipment additions was $27.501,000, $30,200,000, and $39,399,000 for the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022 and
2021, respectively, On May 1, 2023, we acquired the asseis of a 66-bed skilled nursing facility in Nashville, Tennessee for approximately $2,760,000. Tn 2023, the Company had
investments i unconsolidated companies of $4,661,000, of which the primary investiment is & rulti-family development in Franklin, Tenmessee. Proceeds fromthe sale of marketable
securitics, net of purchases, resulted in cash proceeds of $17,895,000 and $16,168,600 in 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2022, the Company collected
notes reccivable 0f$3,879,000 and received proceeds fromthe sale of property and equipment of $4,175,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used in financing activitics totaled $42,545,000, $47,642,00C, and $35,264,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, Principal
payments made under finance lease obligations was $4,985,000, $4,655,000, and $4,423,000 for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectivoly. Dividends paid to
common stockholders was $35,560,000, $34,604,000, and $32,030,000 for the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, Proceeds from the issuance of common
stock totaled $313,000, $2,114,000, and §$3,441,000 for 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively, We repurchased common shares outstanding in the amount of 2,482,000, $9,903,000, and
$836,000 for the vears ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively,

Short—term liguidity

We expect to meet our short—term liquidity requirements primarily fromour cash flows fromoperating activities. In addition to cash flows fromoperations, we have current
cash on hand of $107,076,000 and unrestricted marketable equity and debt securitics of $116,544,000, We also have unencunbered real estate, as well the berrowing capacity on our
§50 miltion credit facility, that can be used to meet our contractual obligations and growth and development plans in the nox twelve months,

Long—term Hguidity

We expect to meet our long—term liquidity requirenents primarily fromour cash flows from operating activities, our current eash en hand of $107,076,000, our unres tricted
matketable equity and debt securitics of $116,544,000, and our borrowing capacity on the $50 million credit facility, We also have substartial value in our unencuwbered real estate
assets which could potentially be used as collateral in future bowawing opportunities. At December 31, 2023, we do not have any long-termdebt,

Qur ability to obtain long-term debt to meet our long—term contractual obligations and to finance our operating requirements, growth and development plans will depend
upon our future performance, which will be affected by business, economic, financial and other factors, including potential changes in state and federal government payment rates
for health care, customer demand, success of our marketing efforts, pressures from competitors, and the state of the economy, including the state of financial and credit markets, as
well as many unforessen factors.
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Contingencies

See Note 17 to the consolidated financial staterents for additional information on pending litigation and other conlingencies,

Guarantees
At December 31, 2023, we have no agreements {o guarantee the debt obligations of other parties.

We have no outstanding letters of eredit. We may or may not in the firture elect to use financiat derivative instruments to hedge interest rate exposure in the fature, At
December 31, 2023, we did not participate in any such financial instruments,

New Accounting Pronouncements
The Company did not adopt any new accounting standards during 2023,
Application of Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation of financial staterents in conformity with accounting principles gencrally accepted in the United States of America requires us to make estimafes and
assumptions that affect the roported ameunts of assets and labilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilides at the date of the financial statements and the reported
amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could differ frem those ostimates and cause our reported net income to vary significantly fromperiod
to period.

Qur critical accounting policies that are both important to the portrayal of our financial condition and results and require our most difficulf, subjective or complex
judgrents are as follows:

Net Patient Revenues and Accounis Receivable

Net patient revenues are detived from services rendered to patients for skilled and inteprediate nursing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services and behaviorn] health services. Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Conpany
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. Thesc arounts are due from patients, govemrental programs, and other third-party payors, and include vatiable
consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settioment of audits, reviews, and investigations.

The Company recognizes tevenue as its performance obligations are completed. Routine services are treated as a single performance obligation safisfied over time as
services are rendered. These routing services represent a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinct. The performance obligations are satisfied over time as the
patient simukaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the healthcare services provided. Additionally, there nuy be ancillary services which are not inchuded in the daily
tates for routine services, but instead are treated as separate perfonmnce obligations satisfied ata point in time when those services are rendered, Contract liabilities ure recorded
for payments the Company 12ceives in which perfomance obligations have not been conpleted.

The Conpany determines the transaction price based on estabiished billing rates reduced by explicit price concessions provided Lo third party payots. Balicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience. The Company considers the patient's ahility and intent to pay the amount of consideration upon
admission. Credit losses are recorded as bad debt expense, which is included as a commponent of other operating cxpenses consclidated statements of operations

Reverive Recognition — Third Pariy Payors

Medicare and Medicaid program revenues, as well as certain Managed Care program revemes, are subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemment
representatives or their agents, Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and
are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price far providing patient care. These seftlements are estinated based on the terms of the payment agreement with
the payor, correspondence ffom the payor and the Company's historical settlement activity, imcluding an assessment to ensute that it is probable that a signiticant reversalin the
amount of cunmilative revenue recognized will not cocur when the uncertainty asseciated with the retroactive adjustment is subsequently resolved.

In our opinion, adequate provision has been made for any adjustments that may result fiom these teviews. Any differences between our original estimates of
reinburscments and subsequent rovisions ar reflected in operations in the period in which the revisions are made eften due to final determination or the period of payment no

longer being subject to audit or review.
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Accrued Risk Reserves

We are seléinsured for fisks related to workers' conpensation and general and profossional lighility nsurance, We have two wholly—owned limited purpese insurance
e nisks related to workers’ conpensation and general and professional Hability insurance claims, The acorued risk reserves include a liability for reported claims

and estimates for incurred but unreported ¢lains. Cur policy is 1o engage an extemal, independent actnary to assist m estimating our exposure for claims obligations (fof both
asserted and unasserted claims). We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis.

Professional liability remains an area of particutar concem to us. The long-term care industry has scen an increase in persenal injury/wrongfu! death claims based on
alieged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their employees in providing care to residents. The Conpany has been, and continues to be, subject to clains and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, including potential claims related to patient care and treatwent. A significant increase in the number of these claiirs, or an increase in
the amounts due as a result of these claims could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results ofoperations and cagh flows. It is also possible that
future events could causc us to nake significant adjustments or revisions te these reserve estimates and cause our reported net income to vary significantly fromperiod te period,

We are principally selfinsured for incidents oceurring in all centers owned or leased by us. The coverages include both primary policies and excess policies. In alt years,
settlements, if any, in excess of available insurance policy limits and our own reserves would be cxpensed by us,

[TEM7A.  QUANTIFATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOS URE ABOUT MARKIT RISK

Matket risk represents the potential econemic loss arising from adverse changes in the fair valze of financial instraments. Currently, our exposure to market risk relates
primarily to our fixed—iccome and equity portfolios, These investment portivlios are exposed prinarily to, but not limited to, intercst rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk, and
concentration risk. We also have exposure to market risk that includes cur cash and cash equivalents. The Company's senior management has established comrprehensgive risk
management policics and procedures to manage these trarket risks.

Interest Rate Risk

The fair values of our fived-income mvesiments fluctuate in response to changes in market interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally
translate into decreases and increases, respectively, in the fair values of those instruments. Additionally, the fair values of inferest rate sensitive instruments may be affected by
the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepaymment options, the liquidity of the instrament and other general market conditions, Al Decercber 31, 2023, we have avallable for sale
marketable debt securities in the amount of $127,727,000. The fixed fncome portfolio is comprised of investments with primarily short—term and intermediate—term maturities. The
portfolio cosposition allows fexibility in reacting to fuctuations of interest rates. The fixed fncome pottfolic allows our msurance company subsidiaties to achieve an adeguate
risiadjusted return while maintaining sufficient liquidity to mest obligations,

Onr cash and cash equivalents consist ofhighly liquid investrnonts with 2 maturity of less than three months when purchased, As a result of the short~term nature of our
cash instruments, a hypothetical 1% change in interest rutes would have minimal impact en our future eamings and cash flows related to these instruments,

We do not cutrently use any derivative instunents to hedge our interest rate exposure. We have nat used derivative mstruments for trading purposes and the use of
such instruments m the future wauld be subject to approvals by the Tnvestment Commiltee of the Beard of Directors.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is nanaged by diversifying the fied income portfolio o aveid congentrations in any single industry group or isswer and by lmiting investments in securities
with lower credit ratings. Corporate debt securities and asset—backed securities comprise approximately 60% of the fair value of the fixed income portfolio, At December 31, 2023,
the credit quality ratings for our fixed inceme pertfolic consis ted of the following investment and non-investnent grades (as a percent of fair value): 7% AAA rated, 42% AA rated,
38% A rated, 12% BEBrated, and 1% BB rated, :

Equity Price and Concentraifon Risk

Our marketable equity securities are recorded at their fair market velue based on quoted market prices. Thus, there is exposure to equity price risk, which is the potential
change in fair valize due to a change in quoted market prices. At Decenber 31, 2073, the fair value of aur rarietable equity securities is approximately $137,896,000. Our investment
in NITI conprises approximately $91,071,000, or 66.0%, of the total fair value of cur marketable equity securities. We manage our exposure to NHI by closely monitoring the financial
condition, perforance, and outlook of the company. Hypothetically, a 10% change in quoted market prices would result in a related increase or decrease in the air valie of our
equity mvestments of approximately $13,790,00C. At Deceruber 31, 2023, our equity securities had net unrealized gans of §83,586,000. Of the total unrealized gains in our marketable
equity securities, approximately $66,337,00 is related to our mvestment in NHi.
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ITEMS. FINANCIAL STATEMINTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA

REPORT. OFANDEPENDENT REGIS TERED P

To the Stockholders and the Board of Directors of National HealthCare Corporation
Opinion on the Financial Statements

Wo have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of National HealthCare Corporation (the Company) as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, the related
consolidated staterments of operations, conprehensive incot, equity and cash flows for cach of the threc years in the period ended Decenber 31, 2023, and the related notes and
financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a) (collectively referred to as the "consolidated financial statements”). In our opinion, the consolidated financial
statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company at December 31, 2023 and 2022, and the results of its operations and ils cash flows for sach
ofthe three years in the period ended Decendber 31, 2023, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board {United States) (PCAOB), the Company's internal control
over financial reporting as of Decerber 31, 2023, based on criteria established in Internal ControkIntegrated Fratmework issued by the Comnittee of Sponsoring Organizations of
the Treadway Commission (2013 franework), and our report dated February 16, 2024 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.

Basis for Opinion

These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to expross an opinion on the Company’s financial staterments based
on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAUB and are required to be independent with respect to the Conpany in aceordance with the US, federal
securities laws and the applicable rules and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCACB,

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance
about whether the financial staterments arc fiee of material misstatement, whether due to error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of matorial
misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to omor or faud, and performing procedures that respend to those risks. Such procedures included examining, on a test
basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. Our audits also included evahuating the accounting principles vsed and significant estimates
made by managenent, as woll as evalnating the overall presentation of the financial statements. We belioye fhat cur audits provide a reasenable basis for our opinien.
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Critical Audit Matter

The critical audit natter communicated below is a metter arising from the current period audit of the consolidated financial statements that was communicated er required
to be communicated to the audit committee and that: (1) relates to accounts or disclosures that are naterial {o the financial staterents and {2) nvolved our especially challenging,

subjective or conplex judgments. The communication of the ¢ritical audit matter does not alier in any way our opinion on the congoidated faicial STafeients, take 48 W whole;
and we are not, by conmmnicating the critical audit matter below, providing 2 separate epinion ex the critical andit matter or on the accounts or disclosures to which it refates.

Estimation of Prafessional Liability Claims Reserves

Description of the Matter The Company's acorued risk reserves totaled $103,259,000 as of December 31, 2023. As deseribed in Note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements, the accrued risk rescrves include professional liability claims reserves for unipaid repotted professional iability claitrs and estimates for
incurred but unreported claims. The Company's policy with respect to the professional liability claims reserves is to use an actuary to assist
management in estimating the exposure for clairs obligations (for beth asserted and unasserted claims),

Auditing management’s professional liabifity claims reserves was complex and highly judgmental due to the significant estimation required in
determining the reserves, particularly the assumptions of the severity of asserted clatms and the quantity and severity of unknown clains,

How We Addressed the We obtzined an understanding, evaluated the design and tested the effectiveness of conirols over the Company’s professionat Hability ¢laims
Matter in Our Auclit reserve determination, including controls ever management’s review of the significant assumptions described above. For exanple, we tested
contrals over management’s toview ofthe actuarial analysis, the significant actuarial assuimptions and the data Inputs provided to the actuary.

To test the professional lizbility claims teserves, our audit procedures included, atrong others, testing the completeness and accuracy of the
underlying clafms data provided to the Company’s actuarial spocialist, obtaining legal confinmation letters to evaluate inclusion of significant
litigated matters in the claims data, and reviewing the Company's insurance contracts by policy year to assess the Company's self-insured
retentions, deductibles, and coverage limits. In addition, we invalved our actuarial specialists to assist in our evaluation of the methodologies
applied by management's specialist and assessing the accumcy of the Company's reserves. We also compared the reserves recorded to a range
developed by our actuarial specialists based on independently selocted assunmptions

/s/ Emst & Young LLP

We have served es the Company's anditor since 2009.
Nashville, Tennessee
February 16, 2024
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Revenues:
Net patient revenues
Other revenues
Government stimulus income
Net operating revenues and grant income

Costs and expenses:
Salarics, wages and bencfits
Other operating
Facility rent
Depreciation and anmortization
Interest ]
Tipairment (recovery) of assets

Total costs and expenscs

Income fromoperations

Other income:
Non-operating income
Gain on acquisition of equity method investnent
Unrealized gains (losses} on marketable equity securities

Incowe before income taxes

Incorre tax provision

Nef income

Net (income) loss attributable to noncontrolling interest

Net income attributabls to National HealthCare Corporation

Eamnings per share attributable to National HealthCare Corporation stockholders:

Basic
Diluted

Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic = - '

Diluted

Dividends declared per common share

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidgated S tatements of Operations
(in.thousands, except share and per share amaunts)

Year Ended Decomber 31,
2023 2022 2021
] 1,087,614 § 1,029,085 963,542
53,930 45,196 45,400
- 11,457 63,360
1,141,544 1,085,738 1,074,302
712,344 686,169 666,083
288,183 289372 266,754
41,523 40977 40,818
42,034 40,489 40,672
324 563 845
- (3,728) 8,225
1,084,410 1,053,842 1,023,377
57,134 31,896 50,925
16,660 11,141 17,7714
. - 95,202
14,544 {15,806) (13,863)
88,738 27,231 150,038
(23,450) (7.259) (10,951
65,288 14,977 139,087
1,510 2,468 (497
§ 66,798 3 22,445 138,550
$ 43 5 146 9,03
$ 434§ 145 3.99
15,310,142 15410222 15,347,129
15,377,343 15,447,211 15,416,716
£ 234 % 226 211

The acconpanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statenients.
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NATIONAL HEPALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 221
Net income -+ -7 S 3 65,288 % 19,977 139,087
Other comprehensive income (logs):
Unrealized gains (losses) on investnents in marketable debt securities 3434 (12,946) @17
‘Reclassification adjustment for realized losses (gains) on sale of marketable debi securities 17 {129) 214
Incorme tax (expense) benefit related to itens of other conprehensive income (loss) (523) 1,938 933
Other comprehensive incon (loss), net of tax 2,928 {1L137) {3.452)
Net (incone) loss athributable to noncontrolling interest 1,510 2,468 @9
Comprehensive ingome attribulable to National HealthCare Corporation § 69,726 § 11,308 135,138

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral par! of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEATLTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands)

Decomber 31,
2023 2022
Assets
Current Assets:
Cash and cash equivalents ' $ 107076 % 58,667
Restricted cash and cash equivalents, current portion 17,725 15,121
Marketable equity securities 111,117 100,786
Marketable debt securities 5,427 23,136
Restricted marketable equity securities 26,779 22,358
Restricted marketable debt sceurities, current portion 12,822 16,244
Accounts receivable 108,545 99,986
Inventories ) 7,386 7,088
Prepaid expenses and other assels ' 8,855 10,244
Notes reccivable 503 302
Total current assets T 406,235 353,932
Property and Equipment;
Property and equipment, at cost 1,101,681 1,081,219
Accurmilated depreclation and amortization S (608,352) (574,687
Net property and equipment 493,329 506,532
Other Assets:
Restricted cash and ¢ash equivalents, less current portion 1,167 1,677
Restricted marketable debt securities, less cument portion 109,478 103,267
Deposits and other assets 14,786 12,728
Operating lease —right-of-use asscts 94,201 120,521
Goodwill 168,295 168,295
Intangible assets 7.038 7,038
Investments it unconsolidated companies 16,267 2,060
Total other assets 411,232 414,986
Total assets § 1,310,796 § 1275450

The ucconpanying notes o consoliduated financial statements are an integral part of these consalidated statewents,
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share amounts)

December 3,

2023 2022,
Liabilities and Equity
Current Liabilities:
Trade accounts payable ) 8 19,194 3 16,958
Finance leasc obligations, current portion 860 4,985
Operating lease Labilities, current portion 29,352 28,073
Accrued payrell 84,110 72,510
Amounts due to third party payors 18,369 16,631
Acered risk reserves, cument portion 30,549 31,365
Other current liabilitics 22,961 17,615
Dividends payable 9,051 8,748
Total current Tiabilities - 214,476 197,887
Finance lease obligations, less cument portion - 860
Openating leass Jiabilities, less current portion 63,175 91,016
Accrued tisk reserves, less current portion ’ 72,710 71,104
Refundable entrance fees 6,376 6,207
Defened income faxes ' 17,200 10,509
Other noncurrent liabilities 26,379 10,953
““Total liabilities o 400,316 397,936
Equity: y :
Cotmon stock, $.01 par value; 45,000,000 shares authorized; 15,350,661 and 15,357,746 sheres, respectively, issued and
outstanding 153 153
Capital in excess of par value 227,604 226,50
Retained eamings 687,599 656,664 :
Accurmlated other comprehensive loss (6,604) (9,532) i
Total National HealthCare Corporation stockhelders’ equ1ty 908,752 874,276
Norncontrolling interest 1,728 3,238 .
Total equity 910,480 877,514 |
““Total liabilities and equity $ 1310.756 3 1,275,450 :

The accompanying notes to conselidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)

Year Ended Decenber 31,
2023 2021
Cash Flows From Operating Activities:
Net income b3 65,288 19977 139,087
Adjustments to reconcile net fcome to net cash provided by operaling activitles: ’
Depreciation and armortization 42,034 40,489 40,672
~* Equity in'earnings ofunconsolidated investments =~ SISO Y {2,015 47 {5,411
Distributions fromunconselidated investments ) 470 439 6,314
Unrealized (gains) losses on marketable equity securities "+ " ’ ) (14,944) 15,806 13,863
{Gains) losses on sale of marketable securities 667 1,326 (1,042)
Gain on acquisition of equity method investment — - 95,202
Gain on sale of property and equipment (6,230) - -
Impairment (recovery) of assets 3,728) 8225
Defened income taxes 5,768 5,595 (6,294
Stock—based compensation 2,782 2,612 2,620
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts recefvable ' (8,559) (3,862) 4,050
Inventories (298) 1,494 159
Prepaid expenses and other assets {669) (1,111 {3,298)
Operating lease obligations (1,244) 430) -
Trade accounfs payable 2,236 {5,530) (2,083)
Acered payroll ) 11,600 (34,188) 17,292
Amocunts due to third party payors 1,738 (964) &9
Accrued risk reserves 750 4421 (1,480
Provider relief funds ' - (9,443} (6,625
Contract liabilities ) - (15,022) {36,231)
Other current liabilities - o 5,376 (2,444) (1,380
- Other noncurrent liabilities 6,426 3,382 (11,862)
Net cash provided by operating activitics 1i1,216 8,742 62,34
Cash Flows From Inwesting Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment . (27,901) (30,200) (39,399}
Proceeds fromthe sale of property and equipment - 4,175 -
Acquisition of skilled nursing facility (2,700) - -
Investments in unconsclidated companies (4.661) - {350
Acquisition of equity method nvestinont - (28,713)
(Investments in) collections ofnotes receivable {201) 1,879 8,840
Purchases of marketable secutities (29,501) (33,793) (108,187)
Sale of marketable secutities 47,356 49,961 101,920
Net cash used in investing activities (17,568) (5,978) (65,389
Cush Flows From Financing Activities:
Principal payments under finance lease cbligations (4,985) {4.695) (4.423)
Dividends paid to common stockholders (35,560) (34,604) {32,030
Issuance of common shares 313 2,114 344
Repurchase of common shares (2,432) (9,903} (836)
Nencontrolling interest contributions (distributions} 250 (964)
Fntrance fec deposits (tofunds) 169 (BG4) 452)
' Net cagh used in financing activities (42,545) {47,642) (35,264)
Net Inerease {Decrease) in Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash
Equivalents 51,103 (44,878) (38,739)
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Byuivalents, Beginuing of Period 74,865 119,743 158,502
Cash, Cash Equivalents, Restricted Cash, and Res fricted Cash Equivatents, End of Period $ 125,968 74,865 119,743
Balance Sheet Classifications:
Cash and cash equivalents $ 107,076 58,667 107,607
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,892 16,198 12,136
Total Cash, Cash Fequivalents, Restricted Cash, and Res tricted Cash Equivalents 5 125,968 74,865 119,743
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
{continued, in thousands)

‘ Year Ended Decenber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Supplemental Information:
Cash payments for interest $ 2 3 493 % 845
Cash payments for income taxes 14,571 8,765 22,881
Non-cash activities include:
Noncontrolling interest contribution ofland - - 2,840

The accompanying notes to consoliduted financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HFALTHCARE CORPORATION

Consolidated Statements of Equity

Bafance at Tanuary 1,2021 "~

Net incone

Congibutions atiributable to noncontrelling
interest » - A e

Qther comprehiensive loss

Stock—based compensation

Shares sold - options exercised

Repurchase of conmon shares

Dividends declared to connor stockholders
{$2.11 per share)

Balance at January 1,2022°

Net ncone

Contributions attributable to noncontroliing
nterest

Other comprehensive loss

Stock-based compensation

Shares sold — options exercised

Repurehase of comoon shares

Dividends declared to cormmon stockholders
($2.26 per share)

Balance at Januvary 1, 2023

Net income

Other comprehensive incorre

Stock-based compensation

Shares sold — options exercised

Repurchase of common shares

Dividends dectared to common. stockholders
($2.34 per share)

Balance at Decender 31, 2023

(in thousands,.except for share.and per.share amouiis)

Accunulated

Capital in QOther Mon-
Cormmon Stock Bxcess of Retained Comprehensive controlling Total
Shares Ampount Par Value Farnings Income (Loss) Interest Equity
15,369,745 $ 53§ 226,943 $ 363,024 % 5057 % 3,08 3 798,260
- - - 138,590 — 497 139,087
- - - - - 1,876 1,876
- - - - (3,452) - (3,452)
- - 2,620 - - - 2,620
90,725 ! 3,440 - - - 3,441
(8,437 - (836) - - - (839)
= - - (32,536) — - (32,536)
15452033  § 154 % 232,167 % 669,078 § L6058 5450 $ 908,460
- - - 22445 - (2,468) 19,977
- - — — - 250 250
- - - (1L,137) - {1L,137)
- - 2612 - - - 2,612
54,200 - 2,114 - - - 2,114
{148,547) () (9,902) - - - {9,503)
— - - (34,859 - - (34,859)
15,357,746 % 153 % 226991 § 656,664 § 9,532) % 3238 % 477,514
- - - 66,798 - (1,510) 65,288
- — - - 2928 - 2,928
- - 2,782 - - - 2,782
37,264 - 313 - - - 313
(44,349 - (2,482) - - - (2482)
- — - (35,863) - = (35,863)
15,350,661  § 153§ 227604 $ 687,599 § (6,604) 3 1,728 % 910,480

The accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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Nuotes to Consofidated Financial Statements

Note 1 - Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
Nature of Operations

National HealthCare Corperation (“NHC" ar “the Company") operates, manages or provides services to skilled nursing facilities, assisted living faciities, mdependent
living facilities, home health care agencies, hospice agencies, and behaviora! health hospitals located in 8 Southcastern and Midwestern states in the United States. The most
significant part of our business relates to skilled and intermediate nursing care settings in which we also provide assisted living and retirement services, rehabilitative therapy
services, remory and Alheimer's care services, home health and hospice services, and behavioral health services. In addition, we provide insurance services, management and
accounting services, and we lease properties to operators of skilled nursing and assisted living facilities, The health care onvironment has continually undergone changes with
regard to federal and state reimbursoment programs and other payor sources, compliance regulations, competition among othet health care providers and patient carc litigation
issues, We continually monitor these industry developments as weltas other factors that affect our business.

Principles of Consolidation and Basis of Presenfation

The consolidated financial statements, which are prepared in accordance with U.S, generally accepted accounting principles ("GAAP™, include our whelly owned and
controlled subsidiaries and affiliates. All significant intercompany transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation. The Conpany ptesents noncontrolling interest
within the equity section of its consolidated balance sheets. The Corrpaity presents the amount of consclidated net income that is attributable to NHC and the noncontrolling
interest it its consolidated statements of operations,

Vriable interest entities {"VIBs™) in which we have an interest have been consolidated when we have been identified as the primary beneficiary. Investments in ventures
in which we have (he ability to exercise significant mfluence but do not have control aver are accounted for using the equity method. Equity method investments ave initially
recorded at cost and subsequently are adjusted for our share of the venture's carnings or losses and cash distributions, Investments in entities in which we lack the ability to
exercise significant influence are inclnded in the consolidated financial statements at cost unless there has beon a decline in the market value of our investment that is deemed to be
othet than tempoerary.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confonuity with U.S. GAAP requires us to nake estimotes and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial staterments and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period,
Actual results could differ fromhose estimates and could cause our reported net income to vaty significantly fromperiod to period.

Net Patient Revenues and Accounts Receivahbie

Net patient revenues are derived fiom services rendered to patients for skilled and intermediate nursing, rehabilitation therapy, assisted fiving and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services, and behavioral health services, Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that reflects the consideration to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. These amcunts are due from patients, governmental programs, and other third-party payors, and include variable
consideration for refroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and tvestigations.

The Company recognizes revenue as its performance obligations are conpleted. Routine services are treated as a single performance obligation satisfied over tine as
services aro rendered. These routine services Tepresent a bundle of services that are nct capable of being distinet. The performace obligations are satisfied over time as the
patient simuitaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the heaktheare services provided. Additionally, there may be ancillary services which are not included i the daily
rates for routing services, but instead are treated as separate performance obligations satisfied at a peint in time when those services are rendered. Coniract lizbilities are recorded
for payments the Company reccives in which perforrance obligations have not been completed.

The Company deternines the transaction price based on established billing rates reduced by explicit price concessions provided to third party payors. Explicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience, The Company considers the patient's ability and intent to pay the amount of consideration upon
admission, Credit losses are recorded as bad debt expense, which is included as a component of other opemting expenscs in the consolidated statements of operations. Bad debt
expense was $7,424,000, $4,711,000, and $3,886,000 for years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively. As of December 31,2023, and 2022, the Company has recorded
allowance for doubtfisl accounts of $8,054,000 and $6,246,000, respectively, as our best estimate of probable losses inherent in the accounts receivable balance.
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Other Reventies

Other revenues include reverues from the provision of insurance services, management and accounting services to other lang—tenm care providers, and rental incon,
- (hyr-instranee revenues-consist of pramivms. that-arc-generally. paid in-advance-and.then anortized into.income. over.the. policy. period. W charge for management services based
on a percentage of net revenues. We charge for accounting services based on a monthly fee or a fixed fec per bed of the healthcare conter under contract, We record other
revenues as the performance obligations are satisfied based on the ters of our contractual arrangements,

We recognize rental income bascd on the terms af our eperating Jeases, Under certain of our leases, we receive variable rent, which is based on the increase in revenues of
a lessce over a base year. We recognize variablo rent annually or monthly, as applicable, when the actua revenuc of the lessec is camed.

Gavernment Grants

We account for govermment grants in accordance with Intomational Accounting Standard ("IAS™) 20, Accounting for Govermment Grants and Disclosire of Government
Assistance, and as such, we reeognize grant ineore on a systematic basis I line with the recognition of specific cxpenses and lost revenucs for which the grants arc intended to
colpensate.

Segmment Reporting

Tn accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Cedification (" ASC") 280, Segrment Reporting, the Conpany is required to repart financial and deseriptive
information about its repartable operating segments. The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) homecare and hospice services, The Conpany also reports an "all other” category that
includes revenues from rental income, management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the cotporate office, See Note 6 for further disclosurs of the
Company’s operating segments.

Other Operating Expenses

Other aperating expenses include the costs of care and serviees that we provide to the residents of our ficilities and the costs of maintaining our facifities. Our primary
patient care costs include drugs, medical supplies, purchased professional services, food, and professional liability insurance and licensing fees, The primary facility costs include
utilities and property insurance,

General and Administrative Cosis

With the Company being a liealthcare provider, the majority of our expenses are "east of rovenue” itoms, Costs that could be classificd as "gencral and administrative” by
the Company would include its corporate office costs, excluding stock-based compensation, which were $21,412,000, $20,651,000, and $20,160,000 for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.

Cash and Cash Equivalents
Cash equivaleats include highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when purchased.
Restricted Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Marketable Securities

Restricted cash and cash equivalents and restricted marketable secorities represent assets that are prinarily held by our wholly owned fimited purpose insurance
companics for workers' compensation and professional liability claims.

Investments in Marketable Securities and Restricted Marketable Secyrities

Our investments in matketable cquity securities are carried at fair value with the changes inn unrealized gains and losses recognized in our resulls of operations at each
measurement date. Cur investments i marketable debt securitics are classified as available for sale sccunities and carried at fair valne with the unrealized gains and losses
recognized through accumitiated other comprehensive Income/loss at each measurement date, For available for sule debt securities in an unrealized loss position, we first assess
whether we intend to sell, ot it is more likely than not that we will be required to sell the seeurity before recovery of the amortized cost basis. If either of the criteria regarding intent
or requircnent to sell is met, the security’s cost basis is written down to fair value through our results of operations. For debt secutifies that do not meet the aforementioned
criteria, we evaluate whether the decline in fair value has resulfed fromcredit losses or other factors. Ifa credit loss exists, the present value of cash flows expected to be collected
from the security are compared to the cost basis of the security. If the present valye of cash flows expected to be collected is less than the amortized cost basis, a credit loss exists
and an allowance for credit Iosses is recorded for the credit loss, limited by the amount that the fair value B8 less than the amortized cost basis. Realized gains and losses from
securities are recognized in results of operations upon dispesitien of the securities using the specific identitication method on 2 trade date basis.
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Inventories

Tnventerties consist generally of food and supplies and are valued at the lower of cost or warket, with cost detenmined on a first—in, first—out {FIFO) basis,

Marigage and Other Notes Receivable

Th accordance with ASC Topic 310, Recaivahles, NHC evaluates the camying values of its mortgage and other notes receivable on an instrument-by-instrunent basis. On
& quarterly basis, NFIC reviews its notes receivable for recoverability when events or circummstances, including the non-receipt of contractual principal and interest payments,
significant deteriorations of the financial condition of the borrower and significant adverse changes in general ceonomie conditions, indicate that the carrying amount of the note
receivable may not be recoverable, If necessary, impaimment is measwred as the amount by which the carrying amount exceeds the discounted cash flows oxpected to be received
under the note receivable or, if foreclostire is probable, the fair value of the collateral securing the note receivable.

For the year ended Decerber 31, 2022, the Company recorded a recovery of a note reccivable of $3,728,000 due to the borower paying off the note. For the year ended
December 31, 2021, the Company recorded a credit loss provision for this same note receivable of $3,728,00 due to the financial instability of the borrower. The recovery and credit
loss provision of the noto receivable is recorded in the consolidated statenents of operations under the line itemn "impairment (recovery) of assots”,

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost. Depreciation is provided by the straight-line method over the expected useful lives of the assets estimated as follows:
buildings and improverments, 2040 years and equipment and furniture, 3-15 years, Leasehold improvetments are amortized over periods that do not exvoed the non—cancelable
respective lease tems using the straight—line method.

Bxpenditures for repairs and meintenance are charged to expense as incutred, Botterments, which significantly extend the usefu! life, are capitalized, We remove the costs
and related allowances for accummlated depreciation ot amortization from the accounts for properties sokd or retired, and any resulting gains ot losses are included in income,

Tn accordance with ASC Topic 360, Property, Plant, and Equipment, we evaluate the recoverability of the carrying values of our properties on a property-by-property
basis, We review our properties for recoverability when events or cirounstances, including significant physical changes in the property, significant adverse changes in general
cconontic conditions, and significant deterorations of the underlying cash flows of the property, indicate that the earrying amount of the property may not be recoverabie, The
need fo recogaize impaimment is based on estimated future undiscounted cash flows froma property over the remaining useful ifs conpared to the canying value of that property.
Ifrecegnition of impaiment is necessary, it is measured as the amount by which the carrying amount of the property cxceeds the estimated fuir value of the property, Management
has evaluated long-lived assets and determined there were inpairment charges of 30, $0, and $4,497,000 during the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively.
The 2021 inpaimment charges wete recorded in the sonsolidated statements of operations under the line item "inpairment of assets” and were due to the August 2022 exit of the
seven skilled nursing facilities in Massachuselts and New Hanpshire.

Business Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acquisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations. Acquisitions are accounted for as
purchases and are inchded in our consolidated financial staternents from their respective acquisition dates. Assets acquired and Habilities assumed, if any, are measured at fair
value on: the acquisition date using the appropriate valuation method. Goodwill generated from acquisitions is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
tangible and identifiable intangible assets acquired and liabilities gssumed. In determining the fair value of identifiable assets, we use varous valuation technigues. These
valuation methods require us to make cstimates and assunptions surrounding projected revenues and costs, future growth, and discount rafes,

Long-Term Leascs

The Company’s lease portfolio primarily consists of finance and operating real estate leases for certain skilled nursing foilitics, assisted and independent living faclities,
homecare and hospice offices, and phamacy warehouses. The original terms ofthe lcases typically range from two to fifteen years. Sevetal of the real estate leases include renewal
options which vary in length and may not include specific rent renewal amounts. We determine ifan arrangement is a leage at inception of a contract, We determine the lease term
by assuming exercise of renewal options that are reasonably certain.

The Cotrpany records right-ofusc assets and iabilities for non-cancelable roal estate operating leases with original or remaining lease terms in expess of one ycar. Leascs
with a Jease term of 12 months or less at inception are not recorded and are expensed on a straightling basis over the lease term. We recognize leasc conponents and non-lease
conponents together and not as separats parts of 2 lease for real estate leases,

52




Table of Contents

Operating lease right-of-use assets and liabilities are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term The present value of the lease paynents are
discounted using the incremental borrowing rate associated with each lease. The vartable conponents ofthe lease payment that fuctuate with the operations of a health facility are
notinclided in detemining the right-ofuse assets and lease liabilities, Rather, these variable components are expensed as inourred.

Goodwiil and Other fntangible Assets

Goodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifizble net assets acquired in husiness combinations, Goodwill & not amprtized but is
subicct to an annual impairment test, We perform cur annual goodwill impainment assessment cn the first day of the fourth quarter. Tests are performed more fiequently if cvents
occur, of circumstances change that would more likely than not reduce the fair value of the reporting unit below its carrying amount,

The Company’s indefinite-lived intangible assets consist of trade names and certificates ofneed and licenses. The Company reviows indefinite-lived intangiblo assets for
impairment on an anpual basis or nore frequently if events or changes in circumsiances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable,

Accried Risk Reserves

We aro self-insured for risks related to workers' compensation and general and professional liablity insurance. We have two wholly—owned limtted purpose ingurance
companies that insure these risks. Accrued risk reserves represent the accrual for risks associated with workers’ compensation and professional liabitity claims, The acerued risk
reserves inchude a liability for unpaid roported claims and estimates for incurved but unrepotted claims. Our policy with respect to a significant portion of our workers’
compensation and professional and general liability claims is to use an actuary to agsist management in estimating our exposure for claims obligation (for both asserted and
unasserted claims). We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a quarterly basis, with changes in estirated losses being recorded in the consolidated statements of operations in
the period fisst identified.

Other Current Liabilities
Other cutrent liabilities primarily represent aceruals for current foderal and state income taxes, real estate taxes and other current liabilitics.
Contintiing Care Contracts and Refindable Entrance Fees

We have one continuing care retirement center ("CCRC") within our operations. Residents at this retirement center may enter inte continuing care contracts with us. The
contract provides that 10% of the resident entry fee becores non-refindablo upon ocoupancy, and the rermaining refundable portion of the entry fee is caleulated using the lessor
of the price at which the apartment is re-assigned or $0% of the original entry fee, plus 40% ofany appreciation ifthe apartment exceeds the original resident’s entry fee.

Non-refundable fees are included as a conponent of the transaction price and are amortized into revenue over {he actuarially determined remmining life of the resident,
which is the expected period of occupancy by the resident. We pay the refundable portion of our entry fees to residents when they relocate fomour conmmnity and the apartment
is Te-occupied. Refundable entrance fees are not included as part of the transaction price and are classified as refundable entmance fees in the Conpany's consolidated balance
sheets. The balances ofrefundable entrance fees as of December 31, 2023 and December 31, 2022 were $6,376,000 and $6,207,000, respectively.

We annually estimate the present value of the et cost of future services and the use of faclities to be provided to the current CORC residents and compare that amount
with the Satance of non—refundable deferred revenue from ontrance fees received. Ifthe present value of the net cost of fixture services exceeds the related anticipated revenues, a
Hability is recorded (obligation to provide future services) with a corresponding charge to income. The obligation to provide Huture services is inchuded i other noncurrent
liakilities in the Company’s consclidated balance sheets. At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we have recorded a future service obligation in the amounts of §1,606,000 and $2,218,000,

respectively.
Other Noncwrreni Liabilities

Other nonoutrent lishilitics inckade reserves primarily related to various uncertain income tax positions, deferred revenue, and obligations to provide services to our CCRC
residents. Deferred revonue includes the deferred gain on the sale of assets to National Health Carporation {"National") and the non-refundable portion of OCRC entrance fees
being amortized over the remaining life expectancies of the residents.
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Tncone Taxes

We utilize ASC Topic 740, facowe Taxes, which requires an asset and liability approach for financial accounting and reporting for income taxes, Under this guidance,
.. doferred taxassets-and.liabilities.are. determined based upon. differences. between. financial reperting. and. tax basis.of assets and Jiabilities and are measured using the enacted tax

laws that will be in effect when the differences are expected 1o reverse. The effect on deferred taxassets and liabilities of a change in taxrates is rceo gnized in incotne in the period
thal includes the enactment date. See Note 13 for further discussion of cur accounting for incore taxes.

Also, under ASC Topic 740, fncomie Taxes, tax positions ere cvaluated for recognition using a morelikely—than—not thresheld, and those tax positions requiring
recognition are measured at the largest amount of tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realized upon ultimate settlerent with 2 taxing autherity that has full
knowledge of all relevant information. Liabilities for income tax matters inclide amounts for income taxes, applicable penaltics, and interest thercon and arc the resuit of the
potential altemative interpretations of taxlaws and the judgmental nature of the timing of recognition af taxable income,

Noncontrolling Interest

The noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary s presented within total equity in the Company's consolidated balance shoets, The Company presents the noncontrolling
inferest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to NHC in its consolidated statements of operations. The Company’s earnings per share is caloulated based on net
income atiributable to NHC’s stockholders, The carrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary eamings based on ownership
interest.

Stock—Based Compensation

Stock-based awards granted inclnde stock options, restricied stock units, and stock purchased under cur enpleyee stock purchase plan, Steck-based compensation cost
is measured at the grant date, based on the fair value of the awards, and is recognized as expense aver the requisite service period only for those equity awards expected to vest.

The fair value of the testricted stock units is detenmined based on the stock price on the date of grant. We estinated the fair value of stock options and stock purchased
under our employee stock purchase plan using the Black—Scholes model. This model utilizes the estimated fair value of comenon stock and requires that, at the date of grant, we use
the expected term of the grant, the expected volatility of the price of our commmon stock, risk-free interest tates and expected dividend yicld of our conmen stock. The fai value is
amortized on a straight—line basis overthe requisite service periods of the awards,

!

Comprehensive Income

ASC Topie 220, Conprehensive Income, Tequires that changes in the amounts of certain itens, including unrealized gains and losses on marketable debt securitios, be
shown in the consolidated financial statements as comprehensive income. We report comprehensive income in the consolidated statements of comprehensive income and also in
the consolidated statements of stockholders’ equity.

Coneentration of Credit Risks

Our credit risks primatily relate to cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, marketable securities, restricted matketable
securities and notes receivable. Cash and cash equivalents are primanily held in bank accounts and ovemight investments. Restricted cash and cash equivalents are prinarily
invested in commercial paper and certificates of deposit with financial institutions and other interest-bearing accounts. Accounts receivable consist primarily of amounts due from
patients (fimded through Medicare, Medicaid, other contractual prograns and through private payors) and from other health care companics for management, accounting and
other services. We perform continual credit evaluations of our clients and maintain appropriate allowances for doubtful accounts on any accounts receivable proving uncollectible,
and continually monitor and adjust these allowances as necessary. Marketable secunities and testricted marketable securities are held primarily in accounts with brokerage
institutions. Notes receivable relate primarily to secured Joans with health care facilities.

At any point in time we have funds in our operating accounts and restricted cash accounts that are with third party financial institutions, These balances in the US. may
exceed the Federzl Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") insurance fimits, While we monitor the cash balances in our operating accounts, those cash and restricted cash
balances could be impacted if the undetlying financial institutions fail or could be subject 1o other adverse conditions in the financial narkets.

Our financial instrutrents, principally our notes receivatle, are subject to the possibility of loss of the carrying valucs as a result of the failure of other parties to perform
according to their contractual obligations, We obtain various collateral and ather protective rights, and continually monitor these rights in order to reduce such possibilities of
credit 1oss. We evaluate the need to provide reserves for potential credit losses on our financial instruments based on managenent's periodic review of the portfolic on an
instrument-by-instrument basis.
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Accounting Guidance Not Yet Adopred

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB") issued Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") No. 2023-07, " Segment Reporting (Topic 280):
Tnprovement-fo-Reportable.Segment.Disclosures. The.ASU.improves. reportable. segment. dis ts, prinarily through enhanced disclosures about significant

segient expenses. In addition, the amendments enhance interim disclosure requireiments, clarify circumstances in which an entity can disclose muitiple segiment measures of profit
and loss, and contain other disclosure requirements, This ASU s effective for fiscal years beginting after December 15, 2023 and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after
Decercher 15, 2024., Farly adoption is permitied. We are cumently evaluating the inpact this standard wilt have en our disclosurcs.

Note 2 — Coronavirus Pandemic (*"'COVID-19")

Tn sarly March 2020, COVID-19, a disease caused by the novel strain of the coronavitus, was characterized as a pandemic by the World Health Organization, The U.S.
govemment enacted several laws beginning in March 2020 designed to help the nation respond to the COVID-19 pandemic. The laws fmpacted healthcare providers in a variety of
ways, but the largest legislation from a monetary relief perspective was the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Fconomic Security Act (the "CARES Act"}). Through the CARES Act, as
well as the Paycheck Protection Program and Health Care Enhancement Act ("PPPCHE"), the federal govemnment allocated $178 billion to the Pyblic Health and Social Services
Frrergency Fund, which is referred to as the Provider Reliet Fund. The Provider Relief Fund is administered through grants and other mechanisms te skilled nursing providers,
home health providers, hospitals, and other Medicare and Medicaid enrelled providers to cover unreimbyrsed health care related cxpenses or lost revenue atfributable to the public
health emergency resulting from COVID-19.

The Provider Reliof Fund grants come with tents and condition certifications in which all providers are required to submit documents to ensure the funds are used for
healthcare-related expenses or lost revenne attributable to COVID-19, The Company recorded $0, $11,457,000 and $63,360,000 of govemment stimuhus income from the Provider
Relief Funds for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively. The grant incorie was determined on a sysientic basis in line with the recognition of specific
expenses and lost revenues for which the grants are intended to compensate. The Conpany’s assessnent of whether the tenrs and conditions for amounts received have been met
for income recognition and the Conpany’s related income caloulation considered all frequently asked questions and other nterpretive gwidance issued to date by the US.
Department of Health and Hunen Services ("HHS”).

We have also received supplemental Medicaid payments from many of the states in which we operate to help mitigate the incremental fabor and medical supply costs

tesulting fromthe public health emergency. We have recorded $20,214,000, $19,442,000 and $20,482,000 in net patient revenues for these supplemental Medicaid payments for the
vears ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

Note 3 — Net Patient Revenues
The Company disaggregates revenue fromcontracts with customers by service type and by payor.
Revenue by Service Type

The Company’s net patient services can genenlly be classified into the fllowing two categoties: (1) fupatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospials, and (2) hemeeare and hospice services (in thousands).

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Inpatient services 3 956,077 & 900231 § 868,687
Homecars and hospice services 131,537 128,854 96,855
Total net patient revenues $ 1,087,614 § 1020085 & 965,542
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. For inpatient and hospice services, revenue is recognized on a daily basis as each day represents a separate contract and perfomunce obligation, For homecare, revenue
is recpgmzed when services are provided based on the namber of days of service rendered in the period of care or on a per-visit basis. Typically, patients and third-party payors
are billed monthly afier services are performed or the patient is discharged, and payments are due based en contract tenis.

As our perfernanee obligations telate to contracts with a duration of one year or logs, the Company is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price aliocated to performmnce obligations that are unsatisfied or pattially unsatisfied at the end of the reporling period, The Conpany has minkual unsatisfied performance
obligations at the end of the reporting period as our patients are typically under no obligation to remmin admitted in our facilities or under our care. As the period between the tire
of service and time of payment is typically one year or less, the Company did not adjust for the effects of a significant financing component.

Revenue by Payor

Cortein groups of paticnis receive funds to pay the cest of their care from a common source. The following table sets forth sources of net patient revenucs for the
perinds indicated:

Year Bnded December 31,
Source 2023 2002 021
Medicare ‘ e o 4% % 36%
Managed Care 10% 10% 11%
Medicaid ) 30% 28% 29%
Private Pay and Other 20% 25% 24%
Total S 100% 100% 100%

Medicare covers skilled nursing services for bencficiaries who require nursing care and/or yehabilitation services following a hospitalization of at least three consecutive
days. For cach ¢ligible day a Medicare beneficiary is in a skilled nursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject 1o adjustwent for certain factors such as a wage
indexin the geographic area. The payment covers all services provided by the skilled nursing facility for the beneficiary that day, including room and board, nursing, therapy and
drugs, as well as an estimete of capital-related costs to deliver those services.

For homecare services, Medjcare pays based on the acuity level of the patient und based on periods of care, A period of care is defined as a length of care up to 30 days
with multiple continuous periods allowed, The services covered by the payment inchude all disciplines of care, in addition to medical supplies, within the scope of the home health
benefit.

For hospice services, Medicare pays a dafly rate to cover the hospice’s costs for providing services included In the patient caro plan. Medicare makes daily payments
based on 1 of 4 levels of hospico care. All hospice care and services offered to patients and their fumilies st follow an individuatized writtcr: plan of care that neets the patient's
needs,

Our hespice service evenue is subject to certain limitations on paynents from Medicare. We are subject to an inpatient cap limit and an overall Medicare payment cap for
each provider nunber. We monitor these caps on a provider-by-provider basis and estimate amounts due back to Medicare if we ¢stimate a cap has been excecded, If applicable,
we record these cap adjustments as a reduction to revenue.

Medicaid is operated by individual states with the financial participation of the federal govermment, The states in which we operate currently use prospective cost-based
reimbursement systens, Under cost—based reinburserent systens, the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable divect and indirect allowable costs it incurred in a
base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the program,

Private pay, managed cate, and other payment sources include commercial insurance, individual patient funds, managed care plans and the Veterans Administration,
Private paying patients, private insurance camriers and the Veterans Adrministration generally pay based on the healthcare center's charges or specifically negotiated contracis, For
private pay patients in skilled nursing, assisted living and independent living facilities, the Company bills for room and board charges, with the remittance being due on receipt of
the statement and generally by the 10th day of the month the services are performed,

Certain managed care payors for homecare services pay ona per-visit basis, This revenue is recorded on an accrial basis based upon the date of services at amounts
equal to its established or estimated per-visit rates.
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Third Party Payors

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare and Medicaid programs are conplex and subject to interpretation, Noncompliance with such laws and regulations can be
subjeet-to-regulatary-actiers-including -fines,-penaltics,-and.-gxclusion. from the. Medicare and. Medicald. programs. W eYE.. ¢ following zll applicable laws and

regulations,

Medicare and Medicaid program revenues, as well as ccrfaic Managed Care program revenucs, ate subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemment
representatives or their agents. Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments duc to audits, reviews or investigations are considered variable consideration and
are included in the determination of the estimated transaction price for providing patient care. Thesc settlements arc estimated bas ed on the tenms of the payment agreement with
the payor, correspondence frem the payor and the Company’s historical settlement activity, ineluding an assessment Lo ensure that it is probable that a significant reversal in the
amount of cumulative reveaue recognized will not oceur when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustrent is subsequently resolved. Bstimated scttlements arc
adjusted in future periods as adjustments become known, or as years ate settled or are no longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations. We belicve that any
differonces between the net revenues recorded, and final determination will not materially affect the consolidated financial statements. We have made provisions of approximately
$18,369,000 and $16,631,000 as of Decewber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, for various Medicare, Medicaid, and Managed Care claims reviews and current and prior year cost
reports,

Note 4 ~ Other Revenues

Other revenues are outlined in the table below: Revemes from rental incone inclede health care real estate properties owned by us and leased to third party operatars.
Revenues from management and acceunting services include fees provided to nanage and provide accounting services to other healthcare eperators. Revenues from insurance
services include premiuns for workers® compensation and professional Hability insurance policies that our wholly owned inswrance subsidiaries have wiitten for certain healthcars
operators to which we provide management or accounting services. "Other” revenues inchide miscellaneous heelth care related eamings (in thousands),

Year Ended Decenber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Rental income $ 23926 % 23451 % 22,717
Management and accounting service focs 18,544 16,160 17,139
Insurance services 3,857 4,766 5,019
Other 1,373 819 525
Gain on sals of property and equipmesnt 6,230 - —
Total other revenues 5 53930 3§ 4519 % 45,400

Rental ncome

The Corpany leases real estate assels consisting of skilled nursing facilities and assisted living facilities to third party operators. Additionally, we sublease four Florida
skilled nursing facilities included in our lease from National Health Tnvestors ("NHP} as noted in Note 7 - Long Term Leases. Rental income refiected in the consolidated
statements of operations consisted of the following (in fheusands):

Year Fnded Degenber 31,
2023 2022 2021
Opetating lease payments 3 22928 8 23,039 § 22,609
Variable lease payments 998 412 108
Total rental income E) 23926 3% 23451 % 27
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Variable lease payments are based on revenue increases as conpared to a base year.

The foliowing table sets forth the undiscounted cash flows for future mininum lease payients receivable for leases in effect at Decerber 31, 2023 (in thousands);

2024 o : | ' : $ 23,033
2025 ) ) ) ] 22,824
2026 e o - . . 20314
2027 73
2008 — o L 6
Thereafter B e —
Total future minimymlease payments 3 66,150

Maragement Fees from Natlonal
We have managed skilled nursing facifities for National since 1988, and we currently manage five facilitics. See Note 18 regarding our relationship with National.

During 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recognized approximately $5,200,000, $4,332,000, and 33,915,000, respectively, of managenent fees and interest on managenment fees.
Unrecognized and unpaid management fees and interest on nenagement foes fromNational total $19,049,000 and $18,843,000 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,

The unpeid fees from these five facilities, becanse collection of substantially all of the contract consideration was not probable when the performmance obligation was
satisfied, will be recognized as revenues only in the period in which the amounts are received. Under the tervs of our nenagoment agreement with National, the paywent of these
foes 1o us may be subordinated to other expenditures of the five skilled nursing facilities, We continue fo manage these facilities so that we may be able to collect our fees in the
future and because the incremental savings fromdiscontinuing services to a facility may be small conpared to the potential benefit. We mway receive payment for the ynrecognized
nunagement fees in whole or in part in the firture only if cash flows from the operating and investing activities of centers or proceeds from the sale of the centers are suflicient to
pay the fees, There can be no assurance that such future improved cash flows will oceur,

Muanagement Fees and Financlal and Aecounting Services for Other Healthicare Centers

We provide managenent services and financial and acoounting services to certain healtheare facilities (in addition to the five National centers) operated by third party
owners. Far the years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, we recognized managerent fees and financial and accounting fees of $13,344,000, $11,828,000, and 313,224,000 from
these centers, respectively,
Insurance Services

Tor workers' compensation insurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the consolidated statements of operations for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022
and 2021 were $2,611,000, $2,689,000, and $2,974,000, respectively. Associated losses and expenses are roflected i the consolidated statements of operations as "Salaries, wages
and benefits.”

For professional lability msurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the consolidated staterrents of operations for the years ended Decomber 34, 2023, 2022 and
2021 were $1,246,000, $2,077,000, and $2,045,000, respectively, Associated losses and expensos including those for self-insurance are included in the consolidated statements of
operations as "Other operating costs and expenscs”.

Gain on Sale of Property and Equiipment

In 2023, we contributed land to a newly-formed limited Lability company resulting in an equity intetest in the new entity. The fair value of the tand contributed fo the new
entity was $8,000,000. The related cost basis of the contributed land was $1,770,000, which resuktedin a gain of §6,230,000.

Note 5 — Non—Operating Income

Non-operating income includes equity in eamings of unconsolidated vestrents, dividends and other realized gains and losses on marketable securities, and interest
income (in thousands}.

Year Ended Decenber 31,

2023 2022 2021
Equity in eamings of unconsaolidated inves tnents M 2,015 % 477§ 5,111
Dividends and net realized gains or losses on the sale of securjtios 6,262 5,530 7,998
Interest income 8,383 5,134 4,605
Total non-operating in¢ome 3 16,660 § 1,141 § 17,774
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Caris HealthCare, LP. ("Caris”)

On fune 11,2021, the Conpany acquired the rermaining 24.9% equity interest in Caris HealthCare, LT ("Catis™). Prior to the June 11, 2021 acquisition date, Caris was our
most Fignificant-equity-nethod-investimeat with-a.75.1% non-controlling ownership. interest. From the res ancial information is now incuded in the

Company’s consolidated financial statements and is no longer accounted for as an equity methed investment.

Note 6 — Business Segments

The Company has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services. These reportable operating segments are consistent with information used by the Corpany’s
Chief Frecutive Officer, as chief operating decision maker ("CODM), to assess performance and aflocate resoutces. The Company also teports an "all other” category that
includes revenues Fromrental income, mnagenent and accounting setvices fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office.

The Company's CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resourees to each segment based on an operating model that is designed to improve the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Cempany while enhancing long-term shareholder value, The CODM does not review nasets by segnent in his resource allocation and therefore,
assets by segment are niot disclosed below.

The following tables set forth the Company’s consolidated statements of operations by business segment (in thousandsy.

Year Ended Decenber 31, 2023

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues: el e s
Net patient revenues ' ' $ 956,077 § 131,537 % - 3 1,087,614
Otherrevenwes - = il ' 1,141 - 52,789 53,930
Net operating revenues 957218 131,537 52,789 1,141,544
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 589,279 . 80,610 42 455 712,344
Other operating 254,559 23,529 10,095 288,183
Facility rent : 33,787 2,172 5,566 41,525
Depreciation and amostization 38,172 786 3,076 42,034
Interest ) ' 324 - — 34
Total costs and expenses 016,121 107,097 61,192 1,084,410
Incone (loss) before non-operating income 41,697 24,440 (8,043) 57,134
Non-operating income - - 16,660 16,660
Unrealized gains on matketable equity securities - - 14,944 14,944
Income before income taxes § 41,097 3 2440 § 23200 % 88,738
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Year Ended Decenber 31, 2022

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice Al Other Total
RDV L (491w s
Net patient revemues 3 900231 § 128,854 & - 5 1,029,085
Other revenues 136 - 45,060 45,196
Governinent stinmlus income 11457 — — 11,457
* - "Net operating revenues and grant income 911,824 128,854 45,060 1,085,738
Costs and Expenses: : -
Salaries, wages and benefits 580,707 77,688 27,774 686,169
‘Other operating N 251,355 26,319 11,698 289,372
Facility rent 32,956 2,327 5,694 40,977
Depreciation and amortization 36,522 651 3,276 40,489
Interest 563 - - 563
Recovery of assets — - (3,728) (3,728)
Total costs and expenses 902,103 107,025 44,714 1,053,842
Income before non-operating income 9,721 21,829 346 31,890
Non-operating income o - - 11,141 11,141
Unrealized losses on marketable equity securities — - (15,806) {15,806)
Incore (loss) betore income taxes 5 9,721 % PAR 2 4319 $ 27,231

&0




Table of Contents

Year Ended December 31, 2021

Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenues:
Net patient revenyces $ 263,687 $ 96855 § - % 965,542
Other revenues - 386 - 45,014 45,400
Covemnment stimulus incorme 63,360 - — 63,360
Net operating revenues and grant income S 032,433 96,835 45,014 1,074,302
Costs and Expenses:
Salaries, wages and benefits 557,604 59,226 49,233 666,63
Other operating 238,354 16,053 12,347 266,754
Facility rent 32,819 2,064 35,935 40,818
Depreciation and amertization 36,850 443 3,339 40,672
Intercst 845 - - 845
Inpairnent of assets ) 4497 - 3,728 8,225
Total costs and cxpenses 871,009 71,786 74,582 1,023377
Income (loss) before non-operating mcome 61,424 19,069 (29,568) 50,925
MNon-operating income - - 17,774 17,774
Gain on acquisition of equity methad investment - - 95,202 95,202
Unrealized losses on narketable equity securities - - {13,863) (13,863)
Income before income taxes 3 61424 § 19069 3 69,545 8 130,038

Note 7 — Long~Term Eeases
Operating Leases

At Decenber 31, 2023, we lease from NHI the real property of 28 skilled nursing facilities, five assisted living centers and threc independent living centers under one
waster lease agreement, As part of the lease agreement, we sublease four Florida skilled nursing facilities to a third-party operator. The lease includes basc rent plus & percentage
rent.

The znnual base rent was $34,075,000 in 2023, The annual base rent is $32,625,000 in 2024, 332,225,000 in 2025, and $31,975,000 in 2026 with the leasc term expiring at
Decerrber 31, 2026, The percentage rent is based on a quarterly calculation of revenue increases and is payable on a quarterly basis, Percentage rent expense under the NHI lease
agreements for 2023, 2022, and 2021 was 85,545,000, §3,887,000 and $3,721,000, respectively,

We have a fight of first refusal with NH] to purchase any of the properties should NHI receive an offer from an unrelated party during the term of the lease or up to 180
days after termination of the related lease.

Finance Leases

Effective March 1, 2014, NHC began leasing and operating thiee senior healthcare facilities in the state of Missouri under three separate lease agreements. Two of the
healthcare facilities ave skdlled nursing facilities that also include assisted living facilities and the thirg healthcare facility is a memory care facility. Each of the leases is a ten-ycar
lease with two five-year renewal aptions. Under the terms of the leases, base rent totals $5,200,000 anrrually with rent thereafter escalating by 4% of the increase in facility revenue
over the 2014 base year With the ten-year lease term ending on March 1, 2024, we have chosen not to rencw or extend the leases and will be exiting these three healthears
opemtions at that time.

Fixed assets recorded under the finance leases, which are included in properey and equipment in the consclidated balance sheets, are as follows (in thousands):

December 31,
2023 2022
Buildings and personal property 3 39001 § 39,011
Accurlated amortization (38,354) (34,482)
3 647 3 4,529
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Lease Classification

‘ The Company recorded the following on the consolidated balance sheets (in thousands);

Decenber 31,
Rig_ht-qf—Usc Aassets Ralance Sheet Classification 2023 2022
Finance lease assets Net property and equipment ) 647 8 4,529
Operating lease right-ofuse assets Onenating lease right-of-use assets 54,201 120,521
Total ' [ 125,050
Decenber 31,
Lease Liabilitics _ Balance Sheet Classification 2023 2022
Current: o
Finance lease Habilitie: Finance lease obligations, current portion 860§ 4,985
Operating lease Liabilities Operating lease liabilities, current pertion 29,352 29,075
Noncurrent:
Finance lease liabilities Finance lease obligations, less current portion - 860
Operating lease liabilities Operating kease liabilitles, less current portion 63,175 91,016
Weighted-average rormaining lease terms and discount rates were as foliows:
Deceniber 31,
2023 2022
Weighted-average rermaining lease terms (in years)
Finance 02 12
Operating 30 40
Weighted-uverage discount 1ate
Finance 6.0% 6.0%
Operating 6.6% 6.6%
Lease Costs
Lease costs recorded in the consolidated statement of operations ate as follows (in thousands):
December 31,
2023 2022 2021
Finance fease costs:
Depreciation of leased assets $ 3882 % 3878 § 3,905
Interest of lease liabilities 215 534 807
Tatal finance lease costs 4,097 4412 4,712
Operating lezse costs:
‘Operating lease costs 34,953 36,051 36,079
Variable lease costs 5,549 3,387 3,721
Short-term lease costs 1,023 1,039 1,018
Total opemting lease costs 41,525 40,977 40,818
Total lesse costs 3 45622 3 45380 § 45,530

62




Table of Contents

Mininum Lease Paymenis

The following table summuarizes the maturity of our finance and operating lease Habilities as of Decewber 31, 2023 (in thousands):

2024
2025
2026
2027
2028
Thereafter

Total minfmm lease payments
Less: amounts representing mterest A
Present value of foture mininmm lease payments

Less: current portion
Nencurrent lease labilities

Other

Supplemental cash flow data were as follows (in thotsands):

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of lease liabilities:
Operating cash flows for operating leases
Operating cash flows for finance leases
Financing cash flows for finance leases

Note 8 — Earning Per Share

The following table sunmarizes the earings and
thousands, except share and per share anounts);

Basie;

Weighted average common shares outstanding

Finance Operating
Leasces Leases
b3 867 § 34,442
- 33,645
- 32,9355
- 496
- 198
— 32
& 867 3 101,768
(7) (9,241)
860 92,527
(860} (29,352)
3 - 4 63,175
December 31,
2023 2022 2001
36198 3 36051 % 36,079
215 534 807
4,985 4,695 4423

Net income atiributable to common stockholders of National Healthcare Corporation

Earnings per common share, basic

Dituted:

Weighted average conmon shares outstanding
Difutive effect of stock options
Assumed average conmon shares cutstanding

Net incore attiibutable to common stockholders of National Healthcare Cotpotation

Farnings per comumon share, diluted

the weighted average number of common shares used in the caloulation of basic and diluted eamings per share {in

Year Fnded December 31,
2023 2022 2021

15,310,142 15,410,222, 15,347,129

3 66,798 3§ 245 3§ 138,590
b3 436§ 146 3 9.03
15,310,142 15410,222 15,347,129

67,201 36,989 69,587

15,377,343 15447 211 15,416,716

y 66,798 8§ 22445 8§ 138,590
$ 434 % 145 % 8.99

Tn the above table, options to purchase 588,534, 375,638, and 291,946 shares of our common stock have been excluded for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and

2021, respeetively, due to their anti-dilutive impact.
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Note 9 — Inves tments in Marketable Securities

|

Marketable-securities-consist of the-following-(in-thousands):

December 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Anottized Fair Anmortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Investments available for sale: . : ’ )
Marke_tablc_ oquity securities 3 30176 § L7 3 30,176 § 100,786
““Corpomate debt securities -+ - - - ' 2,497 2,441 14317 13,885
Asset-backed securities - - 500 494
- UL.8. Treasury securities BT : 2,950 2,986 9,009 8,757
Restricted investments available for sale:

‘Marketable equity securities Co S 24,134 26,779 24,326 22,358
Corporate debt securities 59,586 57,731 54412 51,600
Asset-baclked securities h 19,388 17,659 24,605 2437
U.8. Treasury securities 46,771 42,863 45989 41,294
State and municipal secutities 4,106 4,047 4877 4N

¥ 189,648 265623 § 208211 % 265,791

Tnctuded in the marketable cquity securities availablo for sale are the following (in thousands, except share amotinits}:

Decerber 31, 2023 December 31, 2022
Fair Fair
Shares Cost Value Shares Cost Value
NHI Cominon Stock 1,630642 3 4734 8 91,671 1,630,642 3 24734 % 85,152

The amortized cost and estimated fair value of debt securities classified as available for sale, by contractual maturity, ate as follows (in thowusands):

Decerber 31,2023 December 31, 2022
Fair Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Maturities:

Within 1 year g 19664 3 19328 $ 33,662 8 33,037
1to 5years 81,517 74118 81,500 76,394
6 to 10 years 33,515 30,802 38,547 33,218
Over 10 years 642 479 - —
3 135338 § 127,727 8 153,709 % 142,647

Cross unrealized gains related to marketable equity securities are 584,514,000 and 871,869,000 as of Decemher 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Gross unrealized losscs
related to marketable equity securities are $928,000 and $3,227,000 as of Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. For the year ended December 31, 2023, the Company rocognized
net unrealized gains of $14,944.00, For the years ended 2022, and 2021 the Company recognized net unrealized losses of $15,806,000, and $13,863,000, respectively, in the
consolidated statements of operations.

Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale marketable debt securities are $326,000 and $9,000 as of Decertber 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. Gross unrealized
losses related to available for sale matketable debt securities are $7,937,000 and $11,071,000 as of December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively,

The Company’s unrealized losses in our available for sale merketable debt securities were determined to be non-credit related, The Company has not recognized any credit
related impairments for the years ended December 31, 2023 and 2022,
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For the marketable debt securitics in gross unrealized loss pesitions, {a) it is more fikely than not that the Conpany will not be required to sell the investment securities
before recovery of the unrealized losses nor does the Company have the intent to sell before recovery of unrealized losses, and (1) the Company expects that the contractual
principal and interest will be received on the investrment securities.

Praceeds fromthe sale ofavailable for sale marketable scourities during the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021 were $47,396,000, $49,061,000, 2nd $101,920,000,
respectively, Not investment losses of $667,000 and $1,326,000 and net investment gains of $1,042,000 were realized on these sales duzing the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022,
and 2021, respectively.

Note 10— Fair Value Measurements

The accounting standard for fair valug measurements provides a framework for measuring fair value and requires expanded disclosures regarding fair value measurements,
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for an asset ar the exit price that would be paid to transfer 2 liability in the principal or most advantageous market in an
orderly transaction betwsen market participants on the reasurenent date. This accounting standard cstablishes a fair value hicrarchy, which requires an entity to maxirize the use
of observable mputs, where available, The following sumnmarizes the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level 1 - The valuation is based on quoted prices in active matkets for identical instraments,

Level 2 The valuation is based on observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instruments in active narkets, quoted prices for identical or sinilar instruments in
matkets that are not active, and model-based valuation technigues for which afl significant assuniptions are observable in the market.

Level 3 — The valuation is based on unobscrvabie inputs that are supported by minimal or no market activity and that are sigrificant to the fair valie of the instrument.
Level 3 valuations are typically perforned using pricing models, discounted cash flow methodologies, or similar techniques that incorperaie nanagement’s awn es timates
of assunptions that nmarket participants would use in pricing the mstrunent, or valuations that require significant management judgment or estimation,

A financial ins trament’s leve! within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lewest level of input that Is significant to the fair value measurenent,

The Company's non-finencial assets, which ncludes goodwill, intangible assets, property and equipment and right-cf-use assets, are not required to be meas ured at fair
value on a recurring basis. However, on a periodic basis, or whenever cvents or changes in citeumstances indicate that their carying value may not be recoverable, the Company
assesses its long-lived assets for inpaiment, When inpaiment has oceurred, such long-lived assets are written down to fair value.

Valuation of Marketable Securities

The Company determines fair value for marketable securitics with Level | inputs through quoted market prices. The Company determines fair value for marketable
securities with Level 2 inputs through broker or dealer quotations or altemative pricing sources with reasonable lovels of price transparcney. Our Level 2 nutketable scourities have
been initially valued at the transaction price and subsequently valued, at the end of cach maonth, typically utilizing third party pricing services or ather market observable data. The
picing services utilize industry standard valuation models, including both income and market-based approaches and obscrvable market inputs to determine value. These
observable matket inputs include reportable trades, benchimark yields, credit s preads, broker/dealer quotes, bids, offers, and other industry and eCONOIIC GVents.

We validated the prices provided by our broker by reviewing their pricing methods, cbtaining market values from other pricing sources, analyzing pricing data in cortain
instances and confirming that the relevant markets are active. After completing our vafidation procedures, we did not adjust or override any fair value measurements provided by
our broker as of December 31, 2023 or 2022,

Other

The canying amounts of cash and cesh equivalents, restricted cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, and accounts payable approximate fair value due to their
short_temm nature. The estimated fair value of notes toceivable approximatos the cartying value based principelly on their underlying interest rates and terms, maturities, collateral
and credit status of the receivables, At December 31, 2023 and 2022, there were no mmterial differences between the carrying amounts and fair values of NHC's financial
instrurents.

65




Table of Contents

The following table sunmarizes fair value measurements by level at Decewber 31, 2023 and December 31, 2522 for assets and liabilities measured at fair value on a recurring
basis (in thousands):

Fa#r Valuc Measurements Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assels Inputs Inputs
Decewber 31,2023 Value (Lovel 1) {Level 2) {Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents - e ' $ 107,076 $ 07,076 $ - % -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,302 18,852 - -
Marketable equity securities 137,896 137,896 - -
Corporate debt securifios 60,171 42,860 17,313 —
Asset—backed securities 17,659 - 17,210 49
U.8. Treasury securities 45,850 45,850 - -
State and nmnicipal securities 4047 - 4,047 . —
Total financial assets $ 391,591 % 352,574 % 38,568 § 449
Fair Value Measurements Using
Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Signiftcunt
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
December 31, 2022 Valie {Level 1) (Lavol 2) (Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents $ 58,667 § 58667 & - % -
Restricted cash and cash equivalonts 16,198 16,198 - —
Marketable equity securities : 123,144 123,144 - -
Corporate debt securities 64,894 48,525 16,369 -
Asset-backed securities ' 22,931 - 22,931 -
.S, Treasury securities 50,051 50,051 - -
State and municipal securities 4,771 1,337 3434 -
Total financial assets § 340656 § 297922 § 2734 8 -
Note 11 - Property and Equipment
Property and equipment, at cost, consists of the following {in thousands):
December 31,
2025 2022
Land § 65579 § 67,163
Leasehold improvements 129,801 125,142
Buildmgs and improverrents 700,044 638,433
Furniture and equiptent 195,159 187,743
Construction in progress 11,098 12,736
Property and equipreent, at cost 1,101,681 1,081,219
Less: Accunmlated depreciation (608,352} (574,687)
Net property and equipment 3 93320 8 506,532
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Note 12 — Goodwlll and Other Intangible Assets

As-ofDecember 312023 we-evaluated potential thggering events-that might be indicetors. that our goodwil and indefinite lived intangibles were impaired. The Conpany

performms its goodwill impaiment analysis for each reporting unit that constitntes a component for which (1) discrete financial information is available and (2) segment management
regulatly teviews the operating results of that cotmponent, i accordance with the provisions of ASC Topic 380, Fntangibles - Goodwill and Other. No goedwill or intangible asset
inpairments were recorded during the years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021,

The following table represents activity in goodwill by segment as of and for the year ended Decerrber 31, 2023 (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31, 2023

Inpaticnt Homnecare and
Services Hospice All Other Total
January 1,2022 o 3,741 164,554 - 168,295
Additions - - - -
December 31,2022 B 3,741 164,554 - 168,285
Additions - — — —
Decerrber 31,2023 $ ) 3,741 § 164,554 § - 3 168,295

As part of the Caris acquisition in June 2021, we alse recorded indefinite-lived intangible zssets that consisted of the trade name {$4,340,000) end certificates of need and
licenses ($2,698,000%.

Note 13 — Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes is comprised of the following cormmponents (in thovsands):

Year Ended December 31,
2023 2022 2021

Current tax provision '
Federal $ 14520 % N7 % 15072
State 3,137 251 1,164
Total current tax provision 17,657 968 16,236

Deferred tax provision

Federal 4142 4,595 (3,866)
State 1,651 1,691 (LA419)
Total deferred tax provision 5793 6,286 (5,285)
Tnome tax provision 3 BA0 5 7254 5 10,951
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The deferred tax assets and biabilities, consisting of temporary differences taxeffected at the respective incowre taxrales, are as follows (in thousands):

Decewber 31,
2023 2022
Deferred tax asscts:
Accrued riskreserves b 1898 § 2,209
Accrued expenses 7,346 6,441
Financial reporting depreciation in cxcess of tax dopreciation 5,653 5,505
Stock based compensation B ' 931 M2
Deferred revenue 4,087 3,393
Operating lease liabilities 23,658 30,558
Other 567 1,711
Total gross deferred taxassets 45,040 50,559
Less: valuation allowsnce (594 o78)
Defemred taxassets less vakation allowance 3 44446 $ 49,581
Deferred tax liabilities:
Unrealized gains on marketable securities $ (19971) § {15,396)
Deferred gain on sale of asseis, net (2,055) (2,045)
Bock basis in excess of tax basis of intangible assets (3.387) (3,063)
Book basis in excess of taxbasis of securities (3,393) {3.164)
Long—terminvestments (8,753) (6,155)
Operating lease assets (24,087) (30,667}
Total deferred tax liabilities 3 (61,646) 8 {60,490)
Net deferted tax liability $ (17.200) % (10,909

A reconciliation of income tax expense and the amount computed by applying the statutory federul incorme tax rate to income before income taxes is as follows {in
thousands):

Year Ended Decenber 31,

2023 2022 2021
Tax provision at federal statutory rate 5 18635 % 579 % 31,508
Increase (decrease) in incore taxes resulting fron

State, net of federal benefit 4,600 1,034 : 1,113
Nontaxable revaluation gain - - {19,758)
Unrecognized taxbenefits 1,227 730 (158)
Expiration of statute of limitations ' {1,491) (1,032) (1,901)
Tax{expense) benefit of nencontrolling nterest 317 518 (104

Other ) 162 285 251
Total increases (decroases} 4,815 1,535 (20,557}

Effective incone tax expense $ 23450 % 7254 3 10,951

Our deferred tax asscts have been evaluated for realization based on historical taxable incote, tax planning strategies, the expected timing of reversals of existing
temporary differences and future tasable income anticipated. Our deferred tax asscts, with the exception of certain state tax net operating losses and certain deferred tax assets
associated with unrealized losses on marketable securities, are more likely than not fo be realized in full due to the existence of sufficient taxable income of the appropriate character
under the taxlaw. As such, the only valuation allowance rclates to state net operating losses and unrealized losses on marketable securities.

Uncertain tax positions may arisc where tax laws may allow for alternative interpretations or where the tining of recognition of income is subieet to judgment. Under ASC
Topic 740, tax positions atc evaluated for recognition using a more-likely—than-—not thteshold, and those tax positions requiring recognition are measured ai the Jargest amount of
tax benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely of being realived upon ultimate settlement with a taxing anthorily that has full knowledge of all refevant information.

In accordance with curent guidance, the Corpany has cstablished a liabifity for unrecognized tax benefits, which are difforences botween a tax position taken or cxpected
10 be taken in 2 tax retumn and the benefit recognized and measured, Generally, a Hability is created for an unrecognized tax benefit because it represents 2 compiniy’s patential
future obligation 1o a taxing authority for a tax position that was not recognized per above, We boliove that our liabilities reflect the anticipated outcome of known uncertain tax
positions in conformity with ASC Topie 740 Income Taxes. Our liabilities for unrecognized lax benefits are presented in the consolidated balance sheets within other noncurrent
liabilities.
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A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of unrecognized tax benefits Is as follows (in thousands):

Liability
For
Deferred Liability For Interest
Tax Unrecognized and Liability
B Asset Tax Beneiits Penalties Total
Balance, January 1, 2021 3 5666 % 0893 % 2614 & 12,507
Additions based on tax positions related to the current year 665 665 - 665
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years {4413 (187 543 356
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations (435 {1,469) (867} (2,336
Balance, Decenber 31, 2021 5455 8,902 2,250 11,192
Additions based on taxpositions related fo the current year 636 636 - 636
Additions (reductions) for tax positions of prior years (1,097 (273) 900 627
Reductions for statute of limitation expirations (240) (760) {512 {1,272)
Balance, Decenber 31, 2022 e 4,754 8,505 2,678 11,183
Additions based on taxpositions related to the current year 1,454 1,454 - 1,454
Additions (reductions} for tax positions of prior years . {198) 324 1,583 1,907
Reductions for statute of linitation expirations (361) {1,030) (823) {1,853)
Balance, December 31,2023 3 5649 % 9253 § 3438 3 12,691

Untecognized tax benefits of $4,149,000, net of federal benefit at December 31, 2023, attributable to permanent differences, would faverably impact our effective tax rate if
recognized, We do not expect significant increascs or decreases in unrecognized tax benefits for the 2024 year, except for the effect of decreases related to the lapse of statute of
Timitations estimated at $1,102,000.

Interest and penalties expense telated to U.S, federal and state income tax returms are inclided within income tax expense, The Company is no longer subject to US,
federal and state examinations by tax authorities for years before 2020 (with few state exceptions).

Note 14 — Stock Repurchases

During 2023, the Conpany purchased 44,349 shares of its cormmon stock for a total cost of 2,482,000, The shares were funded fram cash on hand and were cancelled and
returned to the status of anthorized but unissued. -

Note 15 — Stock—Bas cd Compens ation

NHC recognizes stock-based compensation for ell stock options and restricted stock granted over the requisite service period using the fair value for these grants as
estitmted at the date of grant either using the Black—Scholes pricing model for stack options or the quoted market price for restricted stock.

The Compensation Commiltee of the Board of Directors (“the Committee”) has the authority to select the participants to be granted oplions; to designate whether the
option granted is an incentive stock optien {"180"), 2 nen—qualified option, or a stock appreciation tight; to establish the number of shares of common stock that may be issued
upen exercise of the option; to establish the vesting provision for any award; and to ¢stablish the tenm any award nay be outstanding. The exetcise price of any ISO% granted will
net be less than 100% of the fair matket value of the shares of common stock on the date granted and the term of an ISO may net be any more than ten years. The exercise price of
any non—qualified options granted will not be Jess than 100% ofthe fair market value ofthe shates of common slock on the date granted unless so determined by the Conmmittee.

09




Table of Contents

In May 2020, our stockholders approved the 2020 Ommibus Equity Incentive Plan (the "2020 Equity Incentive Plan”) pursuant to which 2,500,000 shares of cur conimon
stock were available to grant for restricted stock, stock appreciation rights, stock options, and euployee stock purchase plans. At December 31, 2023, 1,751,461 shares were
available for future grants under the 2020 Equity Incentive Plan.

Additionally, we have an enployee stock purchase plan that allows enployecs to purchase our shares of stock through payroll deductions. The plan allows enployees to
terrrinate participation at sy time.

Cotmpensation expense is recognized only for the awards that ultimately vest, The Company accounts for forfeitures when they occur. Stock-based compensation totaled
$2,782,000, $2,612,000, and $2,620,000, for the years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021, respectively, Stock-based compensaticn is included in salaries, wages and bencfits in
the consolidated statements of eperations, The total intrinsic value of sharcs exercised (and tax deductions taken) was $2,769,000, $583,000, and $2,844,000 for the years ended
Decerrber 31, 2023, 2022 and 2021, respectively.

At Decerrber 31, 2023, the Conpany hed $3,351,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock-based cormpensation awards, This unrecognized
conpensation cost will be amortized over an approximate two and a half year period.

Stack Options

The Company is required to estimate the fajr value of stock—based awards on the date of grant, The fair value of each option award is estimated using the Black-Scholes
optien valuation model with the weighted average assumptions indicated in the following table. Each grant is valued as a single award with an expected termbasex upon expected
employment and termination behavier, Corpensation cost is recognized over the requisite service perod in a manner consistent with the option vesting provisions. The straight—
line attribution methed requires that compensation expense is recognized at least equal to the portion of the grant—date fair value that is vested at that date. The expected volatility
is derived using weekly historical data for periods immediately preceding the date of grant, The risk—fiec interest rate is the approximate yield on the United States Treasury Strips
having a life equal to the expected option ife on the date of grant, The expected life is an estimate aof the number of years an option will be held before it is exercised. The fellowing
table summarizes the assumptions used te value the options granted in the periods shown,

Year Ended December 31,

2023 2022 2021

Risk-fiee interest rate 4.52% 1.83% 0.21%

BExpected volatility 29.3% 314% 34.9%

Bxpected life, n years 2.9 29 22

Expected dividend yield 441% 3.57% 3.00%

The following table sunmarizes option activity:
Weighted Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
Shares Bxercise Price Value

Qptions outstanding at January 1, 2021 866936 % 7211 -
Optiens granted 55,706 70.80 -
Options exercised (541,736) 71.39 -
Options cancelled (6,000) 7294 -
Options outstanding at December 31,2021 374,926 72.95 -
Options granted 302,266 64.72 -
Options exercised : (32,597 64.49 -
Options cancelled (199451) 7598 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2022 445,144 66,62 -
Options granted 299,278 54.44 -
Optiens excreised (103,481} 64.72 -
Cptions cancelled (52,407) 60.38 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2023 588,534 61,30 18,315,403
Options exercisable at December 31, 2023 162,781 % 087 % 3,507,939
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Weighted
Average

Options Weighted Rermining

Qutstanding Average Contractual
December 31, Exercise Life in
2023 Exercise Prices Price Years
507,633 $53.94 - 85909 $ 59.21 16
80,895 7164 - $77.92 7443 1.5
588,534 P - $ 61,30 33

Note 16 — Credit Facility

In May 2023, we entered into an unsecured $50,000,000 credit facility that has a 364-day matutity date, Loans bear interest at the one-month secured overnight financing
rate ("SOFR”) plus 1,25%. If we maintain certain aggregate deposit levels within the financial institution, the credit facility shall bear interest at ene-month SOFR plus 1.10%. The
credit facility is available for general cotporate purposes, including working capital and acquisitions. The credit facility agreement contains customary representations and financial
covenants, including covenants that restrict, among other things, asset dispositions, additional indebtedness, investmonts, sale-leasebacks, and certain contingent lLiabilities, The
credit facility contains customary ovents of default and remedies.

As of December 31, 2023, we have no cutstanding balance on the eredif facility.

Note 17 - Contingencies and Guarantees
Accrued Risk Reserves

We are self-insured for risks related fo workers® compensation and general and professional iability insurance. We have two wholly—owmed limited purpose insurance
companies that insure isks related ta wotkers’ cormpensation and general and professional liability insurance claitms both for our owned and leased entities and certain of the
entities to which we provide management or accounting services. The Lability we have recognized for teported claims and estimates for incurred but unreported clains fotals
$103,259,000 and $102,469,006 at December 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively. The lability is included i acerued risk reserves in the consolidated balance sheets and is subject to
adjustment for actual claims incurred, It is possible that these claims phus unasserted claims could exceed our insurance caverages and our reserves, which could have a material
adverse effect on our consalidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows,

As a result of the terms of our insurance policies and our use of wholly owned limited purpose insurance corpaties, we have retained significant insurance risk with
respect to workess’ conpensation and general and professional tiability. We consider the professional services of independent actuaries to assist us in estimating our exposures
for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasserted clains) related to deductibles and cxposures in excess of coverage limits, and we maintain reserves for these obligations.
Such estinmtes are based on many variables including historical and statistical information and other factots.

Warkers' Compensation

For wotkers® cotrpensaticn, we utilize a wholly owned Tennessee domiciled property/casualty insurance company to wiite coverage for NHC affiliates and for third—party
custoters, Policies are written for a duration of twelve months and cover only risks related to workers’ conpensation losses. All custormers are companies which operate in the
long—termeare industry. Business is written on a direct basis,

General and Professional Liabifity Instrance and Lawsuits

The senior care industry has experienced significant increases in both the number of personal injury/wrongfit death claims and in the severity of awards based upon
alloged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their employees in providing care ta residents, The Company has been, and continues to be, subject 1o claims and legal actions
that arise in the ordinary course of business, including potential claims related to patient care and troatment, The defense of these lawsuits may result in significant legal costs,
regardless of the ottcomns, and can result in large settlement amounts or damage awards.

Insurance coverage for all vears includes primary policies and excess policies. The primary coverage is in the amount of a per incident claim and a per location claim with
n annual primary policy aggregate limit that is adjusted on an annval basis. Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplenent the
coverage provided through our wholly owned captive insurance company.

There is certain additional litigation incidental to our business, none of which, based upen information available to date, would be material to our financial position, results
of operations, or cash flows. In addition, the long—term care industry is continuously subject to sorutiny by govemmental regulators, which could result in litigation or claims
related to regulatory conpliance matters,
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QOui Tam Litigation

United States of America._ex rel._Jennifer Cook and Saily Gaither v, fntegrated Behavioral Health, e, NIC He {thCa. L :
_CV-0087Z-AMMND 4la) This is aquitamcase originally fled under seal on June 22, 2020, The United States declined intervention on March 1, 2021, Thereafter, the Plaintiffs

filed an amended Complaint agamst Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Tntegrated Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entities that Dz Malhotra was alleged to own or in which he allegedly Tiad a
financial interest, The Complamt alse named nmltiple skilled nursing facilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC, an affiliate of National HealthCare
Corporation. The Complaint alleged that nurse practifioness affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided frec services to the facilities in exchange for refenals to entities owned by ot in
whiclh Dr. Malhotra had a financial interest in viclation of the False Clains Act and Anti-Kickback Statute. NHC Healtheare/Moulton, LLC denled the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on November 4, 2021. On January 28, 2022, the district court stayed this matter and administratively terminated the motion to dismiss pending the U.S. Supreme Court's
review ola petition for certiorari filed i an unrelated matter but involving one of the legal arguments raised in the motion to dismiss. Thereafter, the US. Supreme Court denicd the
petition for cortiorari in the unrelated matter. As a result, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC renewed its motion to dismiss. The District Court granted NHC Healthcare/Moulten's
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Disnissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case In its entirety with prejudice with respect to the claims asserted by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United Stales Court of Appeals for the Eleventh Circuit, On December 21, 2023, the Heventh Circuit entered an Order affinring the District Court's dismissal of the claims.
The Plaintiffs have 90 days from the entry of the dismissal Order to file a Petition fora Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court requesting a review; otherwise, the
Order affirming dismissal issued by the Eleventh Circuit will be final,

Governmental Regulations

Laws and tegulations governing the Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare prograns are complex and subject to interpretation, Management believes that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations i all material respects. However, compliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to future government review and
interpretation as well as significant regulatory action including fincs, penalties, and exclusions from the Medicate, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs,

Debt Guarantees

At Decenber 31, 2023, no agreement to guarantes the debt of other parties exists.

Note 18 — Relationship with National Health Corporation

National Health Corporation ("National"}, which is wholly owned by the National Health Corparation Leveraged Enployee Stock Ownership Plan {"ESOP"), was formed in
1986 and is our administrative scrvices affiiate and contractor. As discussed below, all of the personnel conducting our business, including our executive managemment team, are
enployees of National and may have ownership interests in National only through their participation as employees in the ESOP.

Management Confracts

We currently manage five skilled nursing facilities for Naticnal under a rmnagement contract. The managenent contract has been extended until January 1, 2628, Sec Note
4 for additional inforrmation regarding management sorvices fees recognized from National.

Financing Activities
In conjunction with our management contract, we have ontered inte 2 ling of credit arrangement whereby we may have amounts due from National from tine to time, The

mmximum loan commitment under the line of eredit is $2,000,000, At Decersber 31,2023 and 2022, National did not have an outstanding balance on the line of eredit.

l . . N . .
The maxinum fine of credit commitment amount of $2,000,000 is alse the amount of a deferred gain that has been outstanding since NHC sold certain assets to National in

1988, The amount of the deferred gain is expected to remain deferred until the management contract with National expires, currently scheduled in Januaty 2028, The deferred gain is
inclyded in deferred tevenue in the consolidated balance sheets.

Pavroil and Related Services

The perscnnel conducting our business, including our executive management team, are employees of National und may have ownership interests in National only through
their participation in the ESOP. National provides payroll services to NHC, provides employee fringe benefits, and maintains certain lability insurance. We pay to National all the
costs of personnel employed for our benefit, as well as an administrative fee equal to 1% of payroll costs, The administrative foe paid to Natioual for the years ended December 31,
2023, 2022, and 2021 was $5,431,000, $5,074,000, and $5,112,000, res pectively, At Decenber 31, 2023 and 2022, the Company has recorded $1,499,000 and $74,000, respectively, in
accounts payable in the consolidated balance sheets as a result of the timing differences between interim payments for payrolland employee benefits services costs.
National’s Owaership of Our Stock

At December 31, 2023 and 2022, National owns 1,084,763 shares, or approximately 7,19, of our outstanding commen stock,
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Consalidation Considerations

Recause of the contractual and nnnagement relationships between NHC and National as described in this note above, we have considered whether Naticnal should be
——consolidated by NHC under the_guidance_proxided in ASC T 10, Canselidation. We do_not consolidate National because (1) NHC does not have any obligation or rights

(curent or future) to absort losses or to receive benefits from National. The ESOP participants bear the current and future financial gain or burden of National, {2) National's equity
at risk &5 sufficient to finance its activities without past or future subordinated support from NHC or other parties, and (3) the equity holders of National (that is collectively the
ESOP, its tmstees, and the ESOP participants) possess the characteristics of a controlling financial interest, inchiding voting rights that are proportional to their cconomic interests.
Supporting the assertions above is the following: (1) substantive independent trustees are appointed for the benefit of the ESOP participants when decisions mmust be made that
may create the appearance of a conflict of interest between NHC and the ESOF, and (2) National was designed, formed and is operated for the purposc of creating variability and
pessing that variability along to the ESOP participants—that is, to provide retiroment benefits and value 1o the employces of NHC and NHC's affiliates. The contractual and
managerment relationships between NHC and National are with the skilled nursing facilities that are substantially less than 50% of the fair value of the total assets of Natjoral, NHC
does net have a variable interest in National as a whole. ’

Nofe 19 — Variabte Interest Entity

Accounting guidance requires that a variabls interest entity (" VIE"), according to the provisions ofASC Topic 810, Consolidation, must be consolidated by the primary
beneficiary. The prinary beneficiary is the party that has both the power to direct activities of a VIE that most significantly fmpact the entity’s econormmie perforvance and the
obligation to absorb losses of the entity or the right to receive benefits from the entity that could potentially be significant to the VIE. We perform ongoing qualitative analysis to
determine if we are the primary bensficiary of 2 VI, At December 31, 2023 and 2022, we are the primary beneficiary of ene VIEand therefore consolidate that entity.

Springfield, Missouri Lease

Tn Decerber 2010, we signed an eperating agreement to lcase Springfield Rehabilitation and Health Care Center, a 120-bed skilled nursing facility located in Springfield,

" Missouri. The terms of the lease mclude a ten-year lease and inchide five additional, five-year lease options as well as a purchase option, The operating lease agreement was

established on the same date third party owners purchased the real estate of the 120-bed giilled nursing facility. The third-party owners purchased the real estare for $4,500,000,

which is the amount NHC loaned the owness to purchase the facility under the terms of the lease agreement and the mortgage note, The risks and rewards associated with the

operations of the facility and any appreciation or doptecation in the value of the real estate of the facility is bome by NHC. A mortgage note receivable fromthe third-party owners

of $11,047,000 at Decenber 31,2023 and 2022 is eliminated in our consolidated financial statements. Land and buildings and inprovements of $11,047,000 at December 31, 2023 and
2002 have been recorded in our conselidated financial statements, as well as the operations of the facility because we arc the primary beneficiary in the relationship,

TTEM 9. CHANGTS IN AND DISAGREEMINTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE
None.

ITEMY94A, CONTROLS AND PROCFDURES

Tvaluation of Disclosure Contrels and Procedures

Based on their evaluation as of December 31, 2023, the Chief Frecutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer of the Company have concluded that the Company’s disclosure
controls and procedures (as deflned in Rules 13a—15(c) and 15d-15(e) under the Securities Pxchange Act of 1934, as amended) were effective to ensure that the infenmation
required to be disclosed by us in this Annual Report on Form 10K was recorded, processed, sunmarized and reportod within the time periods specified in the SEC’s rules and
instructions for Form 10-K.

MANAGEMENT'S RTPORT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINANCIAL RFPORTING

We are responsible for establishing and nwintaining adequate intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rule 13a—15(f) under the Securities Bxchange Act of
1934, as amended), We assessed the effectiveness of our intemal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023. Tn making this assessment, our nanagement used the
criteria set forth by the Comnittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Comnission ("COS0") in Internal Control-Tntegrated Framework (2013 Framework). We have
concluded that, as of December 31, 2023, our internal control over financial reporting is effective based on these criteria. Our independent registered public accounting firm, Bmst &
Young [P, has issued an attestation report on the offectivencss ofthe Company’s intemal control ever financial reporting included herein,
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Stockholders and Board of Directors of National HealthCare Corporation

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have sudited National HealthCare Corporation’s internal control over financial reporting as of Decenber 31, 2023, based on critetia established m Intermal Control—
Tntegrated Framework issued by the Conmittee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Conmuission (2013 framework) (the COSO ctiteria). In our opinion, National
HealthCare Corporation {the Conpany) maintained, in all naterial respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2023, based on the COSC criteria,

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Cormpany Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB), the consolidated balance sheets of
the Company as of Decetnber 31, 2023 and 2022, the related consolidated statements of operations, conprehensive incone, equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2023, and the related notes and financial statement schedule listed in the Tndex at tem 15(a) and our report dated February 16, 2024 expressed an
unqualified opinion thercon.

Basis for Opinion

The Company’s management is responsible for maintaining effective intemal control over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectivencss of internal control
over financial reporting included in the accompanying Managorent's Report on Internal Control aver Financial Reperting. Our responsibility Is to express an opinion on the
Company’s intemal control over financizl reporting based on our audit, We are a public accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with
respect to the Company in accordance with the US, federal sceurities faws and the applicable rales and regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB,

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether effective internal control over Snancial reporting was maintained in 2l material respects.

Qur audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a meterial wealmess exists, testing and evaluating the
design and operating effectiveness of intemal control based on the assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the ¢circumstances, We
believe that cur audit provides a reasonable basis for pur opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Iaternal Centrol Over Financial Reporting

A compumy’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the roliability of financial repotting and the
preparation of financial statenents for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, A conpany’s intemal contro! over financial reporting
in¢ludes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, aceurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the
assets of the company; (%) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are tecorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the conpany are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the
conpany; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding provention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the company s assets that could have
a naterial effect on the financial statements.

Beczuse of its inherent limitations, intermal control over financial reperting may not provent or detect misstatoments. Also, projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to
fiture periods are subject to the risk that controls may becone inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may
deteriorate.

{s/ Emst & Young LLP

Nashville, Tennessee
February 16, 2024
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Changes in Internal Control

There were no changes in our intemal control ever financial reporting during the quarter ended Decenber 31, 2023 thal have materially affected or are reasonably hikely to
materially affect our intemal control over financial reporting.

ITEM 83, OTHER INFORMATION

Nene,

ITEMOC. DISCLOSURE REGARDING FORKIGN JURISDICTIONS THAT PREVENT INSPECTIONS
Not Applicable.

PART I

[TEM10. DIRBCTORS, FXECUTIVE QFFICTRS AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The nformation n our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the captions Direcfors of the Company and Fxecutive Officers of the Company 8 hereby
incorporated by reference. ‘

TTEM 11, EXBECUTIVE COMPENSATION

The informetion in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the caption Compensation Discussion & Analysis is hereby incorporated by reference.

MIM12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENSFICIAL, OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS

This information is incorporated by reference fromeour definitive 2024 proxy statement.

ITEM13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RILATED TRANSACTIONS AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE

The information in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth vnder the caption Certain Relationships and Related Transactions is hereby incorporated by reference.

ITEM14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SFRVICES

The information in our definitive 2024 proxy statement set forth under the caption Repor! of the Audit Commiftee is hoteby incorporated by reference (which will be filed
within 120 days of the end of the fiscal year to which this report relates).
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PARTIV

[FEVI15,  EXHIBITS AND FINANCIAL STATEMENT S CHEDULE

The following documents are filed as a part of this report:

(2) [4)] Financial Statements:

The following financizl statements are included in rem & of this Annual Report on Form 10-K and are filed as part of this report;

Repert of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm (PCAOB IDA2)

Consolidated Statements of Operations - Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Conprehensive Inconwe — Years ended Decenber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Balance Sheets — At December 31, 2023 and 2022

Consolidated Staterments of Cash Flows — Years ended Decerber 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021
Consolidated Statements of Equity — Years ended December 31, 2023, 2022, and 2021

Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(3] Financial Statement Schedule:

NATIONALHEALTHCARE CORPORATION
SCHEDULE I - VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
FOR THE YEARS ENDED DECEMRBER 31, 2023, 2022, AND 2021

(in thousands}
Colunm A Colunn B Coluri C Colunn D Colurm E
Additions
Balance- Charged to Charged Balance—
Beginning Costs and ta other End of
Description of Period Bxpenses Accounts Deductions Period
For the year ended December 31, 2021
Alowance for doubtful accounts $ 5672 % 3886 % 3 3470 § 64L1
Accrued risk reserves 3 %9537 § 82219 § $ §,708  § 98,048
For the year ended Decerber 31, 2022
Allewance for doubtful accounts $ 641l § 471§ 3 4876(1) 3 6,246
Accrued risk reserves - $ 05048 § R 3 T 102,469
For the year ended December 31, 2023
Allowance for doubtful accounts $ 6246 % 7424 % $ 5616(1) § 8,054
Acoried sk rescrves $ 12468 § 81364 3 3 B5H S 103,259

(1) Amounts written off] net of recoveries

All other Enancial statement schedules are not required under the related instructions or are inapplicable and therefore have been omilted.
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(3) Exhibits;
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit No. Deseription Page No. or Location
3.1 Certificate of Incorporation of National HealthCare Corporation Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s

32

3.3

34

3.5

4.2

10.1

10.2

10.3

104

10,5

10.6

10.7

*108

*10.9

Certificate of Amendnent to the Certificate of Incorperation of National HealthCare

Comporation

HealthCare Corporation

Certificate of Desipnatipn Series B Junior Partieipating Prefered Stock

Restated Bylaws as amended February 14, 2013

Form of Cormmon Stock

Description of each elags of securities registersd under Section 12 of the Fxghange Aot

Masler Asreement of Lease dated as of Oclober 17, 1991 by and arong National Health

Inyestors. Inc. and National HealthCorp, LP.

Form of Service Agreement by and hetween National Health Corporation and National

HealthCare Corporation

Anendnent No. | to Master Agreenent lo Leage beiween Nationg) Health Investors, Ing,

and Natipnal HealthComp LP.

Anendment No, 2 to Master Agreement to Lease between National Health Investors, [nc.

and Natignal HealthCare LP,

Amendirent No, 3 to Maste,
and National HealthCare LP.

I 5
and National HealthCarc LP.

Arendiment No. 5 to Master Agreenent to Lease botween National Health Tnvestors, Ine.

and National HealthCarg Corporation

National HealthCare Corporation's 2010 Onmibus Fauity Ingentive Plan

Firs{ Amendiment dated February 14, 2011 to the Nationa| HealthCare Corporation 2010

Omnibus Fguity Incentive Plan

ndinent No., 4 te Master Agreement to Lease botween National Health mvestors, Tne,

77

rogistration statement on Form S—4 {File No. 333-37185) dated
Qctober 3, 1997)

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 attached to Form 10-Q
filed on August 3, 2017

Incorporated by refetence to Exhibit 2.1 to the current report on
Form 8-K filed on Decentber 20, 2006

[ncorperated by teference to Exhibit 3,1 to the Registrant’s
registration statement on Form 8-A, dated August 3, 2007

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.5 to the quarterly report
on Form 10-Q filed on May §, 2013,

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 attached to Form 10-Q
filed on August 3, 2017

Incorporated by reforence to Bxhibit 4.2 atfached to Fonn 16X
filed on Febmary 21, 2020

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,1 to the Registrant’s
registration statemcat on Form §—4 filed October 3, 1997

Tncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5.1 to the Registrant's
registration statenment on Forni 84 filed October 3, 1997

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.19 from 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 20056

Tncomporated by reference te Exhibit 10.20 from 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.21 from 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2006

Incorposated by reference to Exhibit 10,22 from 2008 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2006

Incotporated by refercnce to Exhibit 10.23 from 2005 Form 10-K
filed March 16, 2006

Incorporated by reference to Bxhibit A to 2010 Proxy Staterent
Hled April 1, 2010,

Incorporated by reference to Fxhibit 10.16 from 2015 Form 10-K
filed February 19, 2016,
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*10.10

*10.11

Amendment dated March 10, 2015 to Mational HealthCare Corporation's 2010 Qemibus
Equity Incentive Plan

2017 NHC Executi ficer Performance Based Conpensation Plan

* 10,12

10.13

10,14

10.15

10.16

10.17

HLIR

10.19

10,20

10.21

1022

10.23

10.24

1025

14

21

23

Incorporated by reference to Appendix A to 2015 Proxy
Statement filed April 1, 2015,

Incorporated by reference to Appendix B to 2017 Proxy

National HealthCare Comoration’s 2020 Gimnibus Fouity Incentive Plan

Amendnent to Purchase and Sale Apreement with Modifications to Master Agreement to
Lease between National Health Investors, Inc, and Mational HealthCare Corporation

Agreevent to Lease between NHI-REIT of Northeast, LLC, Landlord and NHC/OP, LD,
and National HealthCare Corporation, Co-Tenants

Anended and Restated Amendment No, 6 to Master Agreenxnt to Lease between
NationaiITealth Investors, Inc, and Nationai HealthCare Corporation

Amendment No. 7 to Master Asreement to [ease between National Heaith Investors, ihe
and Nationa] HealthCare Corperation

Oontrlbutlon Agrrecment datu.l Decerrber 29,2011 bctwccn Nauongl Hcg,lthCare
LP HC d

in Caris fromMcRac in exchange for $7, 500,000

Assienment of metrbership interest in Solaris Hospice, LLC dated Decetrber 29. 2011 and
ffectwe on Jﬂnuar_y 1 2012, whereby NIIC as swned its membet\lug interest to Caris in
; ; hi i

Purchase and Sale Agreement and Extension of Masler Lease dated Decerber 26, 2012
between National Health Investors, Inc. and National HealthCare, Corporation

Amendment No, & to Master Agreement to Lease between Nalional Health Investors, Inc.
and Natioriat HealthCare Corporation

Purchuse and Sa & Ag:ee ment dated June 11, 202] between NHC/OP, LP., u wholly
JHC, and Ni C, McRac ang McRae Investment Company, LLC

Amendment No. 0 to Master Agreement to Lease between National Healih Investors, Ing,
and Nationa] HealthCare Corporation

Amendiment No. 10to Master Agreenent to Lease between National Health Investors,
Ing. and Nationa! HealthCare Corperation

National HealthCare Cotporation General Policy on Insider Trading

Nationa| HealthCare Comoration Compensation Recoupment Policy

Code of Bthics of National HealthCare Corporation

Subsidiaries of Registrant
Consent of Independent Registered Public Aggounting Finm— Fmst & Young LIP
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Statenent filed Aptil4, 2017,

Incorporaled by reference to Appendix A to 2020 Proxy
Staterent filed April 6, 2020

Tncorperated by reference to Exhibit 10,] of National HealthCare
Corporation's Fonm 10-Q filed on November 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10,4 of National HealthCare
Cerporation's Fonn 10-Q filed on Novenber 5, 2013

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of National HealthCare
Corporation’s Form 10-Q filed on Noveiber §, 2013

Incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.3 of National HeakhCare
Corporation's Form 10-Q filed on Nevember 5, 2013

Tncorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.26 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual report on Form 10-K filed on
February 21, 2014

Ingotporated by reference to Fxhibit 10.27 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual report on Form 10-K filed on
February 21, 2014

Ingotporated by reference to Fhibit 10,29 to National
HealthCare Corporation's annual repert on Form 10-K filed on
February 21,2014

Incorperated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 o Naticonal
HealthCare Corpurations annual report on Form 10-K Filed on
February 19, 2021

Incorporated by reference to Fxhibit 10,21 to National
HealthCare Corporation annual report cn Form 10-K Filed o
February 18,2022

Incerporated by reference te Exhibit 10,1 of National HealthCare
Cotporation's Form 10-Q filed on Noverber 3, 2022

Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 of National HealthCare
Corporation's Fom 10-Q filed on Novenber 3, 2022

Filed Herewith
Filed Herewith

Available at NHC's website www.nhccare.comor in print upon
request to:

WNational HeelthCare Cormp.

Attn: Investor Relations

P.O. Box 1398

Murfteesboro, TV 371331393

Telephone {(615) 850-2020

Filed Herewith

Filed Herewith
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311 Rale 13a—14{a¥15d-14(2) Centification of Chiet Executive Officer Filed Herewith
312 Filed Herewith
32 Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 by Chief Boecutive Officer and Thief Filed Heréwitli
Financial Officer
101INS Inline XBRL Instance Document (the instance docunxnt does not appear in the Intetactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within the nline
XBRL document)
101.8CH Inline XBRI. Taxononty Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonomy Exension Definition Tinkbase Document
101.LAB Inline XBRI. Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE Inline XBRL, Taxonomy Extension Prescntation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Interactive File (embedded within the Inline XBRL docurent and included in Exhibit 101)

*Indicates management contract of componsatory plan or arrangemment,

ITEM16. FORM10-KSTMMARY

Not applicable.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Bxchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the
undersigned, thereunto duly aythorized.

NATICNAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

Date: February 16, 2024 BY: /s/Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Executive Officer and Director

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Bxchange Act of 1934, this Report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf of the registrant and in the
capacities and on the dates indicated.

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxccutive Officer and Ditector
(Principal Executive Qfficer)

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F, Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer)

Date: February 16, 2024 /s/ Robert G Adagrs
Robert G Adans
Chairman of the Board

Date: February 16,2024 s/ J, Paul Abermathy
J. Paul Abernathy
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 /8! W, Andrew Adums
W, Andrew Adams
Director

Date: February 16,2024 /s/ Brnest G, Burgess
Emest G, Burgess
Director

Date: Febmary 16, 2024 /s/ Emil E, Hassan
Fmil E. Hassan
Director

Date: Febrary 16, 2024 [s/ Sandra Y. Trail
Sendra Y, Trail
Director

Date: February 16, 2024 {s/ Richard F. LaRoche, Ir.

Richard F. LaRoche, Jr.
Director
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Exhibit 10,24

NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
GENTRAL POLICY ON INSIDER TRADING

This_Insider Trading Policy describes the standards of National HealthCare Corporation, its subsidiaries and affiliates (collectively, the "Company"} on trading, and

causing the trading of, the Company's securities er sceurities of certain other publicly traded conpanies wihile in possession of confidential NfoImalion. Tliis Policy s divided- inta
two parts: the first part prohibits trading in certain circumstances and applies to all divectors, otficers and enplovees and their respective immediate family metsbers of the Conpany
and the second part imposes special additional trading restrictions and applies to all (j) directors of the Conpany, (i) executive officers of (e Conpany at the level of Senior Vice
President and above (togesher with the directors, " Company Insiders"), {iii) the employees listed on Appendix A and (iv} certain other enployees that the Company may designate
from time to tine as "Covered Persons" because of their position, responsibilities or their actual or potential access to material information ((i)Hiv) above coliectively, "Covered
Persons").

One of the pringipal purposes of the federal securities laws is to prohibit so-called "insider trading™ Siply stated, insider trading cecurs when a person uses waterial
nonpublic information obtaned through mvolvement with the Cowpany to mmake decisions to purchase, sell, give away, or otherwise trade the Conmpany's securities or to provide
that information to others outside the Company. The prohibitions against insider trading apply to trades, tips and reconmendations by virtually any person, including all persons
associated with the Company, if the information involved is "material" and "nonpublic.” The tenrs "woterial” and "nonpublic” are dsfined in this Policy under Part I, Section C.
below. The prohibitions apply to any director; officer or enployee of the Company, who buys or sells securitics on the basis of matorial nonpublic information that he or she
obtaimed about the Conpany, ifs customers, suppliers, or other companics with which the Company has contractuai relationships or may be negotiating transactions.

PARTI
A Applicahility,

This Palicy applies to all trading or other transactions in the Conrpany's securitics, imcluding common stock, options and any other securities that the Company may issue,
such as preferred stock, notes, bonds and convertible sceurities, as well as to derivative securitics rélating to any of the Conpany's securities, whether or not issucd by the
Cormpany,

This Policy epplics to all employees of the Coipany, including all employees of National Health Comporation (collectively "Employees™), all officers of the Company
{("Officers™ and all mendbers of the Corpany's board of directors ("Directors™) and cach of their respective family memwbers. This Policy also applies to ali those other pasties listed
previously above,

This Policy also applies to any entities thal any Director, Officer, Biployec or Covered Person influences or contrels, including any corpotations, pattnerships or trusts
(collectively toferred to as "Controlled Entities™), and tansactions by these Controlled Entities should be treated for the purposes of this Policy and applicable securities laws as if
they were for the sccount of the controlling person.




The Poliey continues to apply to transactions in Company securities even after termination of enployment or service (a3 applicable) ot directorship, If a Director, Officer

Enployee or other Covered Person is in possession of material nonpublic infonmation when his or her employment or service (as applicable) or directorship tenminates, such persen
niay tiof engage in transactions subject to this Policy until that infonation has becowe public or is no longer matexial,

B.

General Poliey: No Trading or Causing Trading While in Possession of Material Nonpublic Information,

@ No Director, Officer or Employee or other Covered Persous or any of thelr imrediate family members tay purchase or sell, or offer to purchase or sell, any Company
seourity, whether or not issued by the Company, while in possession of material nonpublic information about the Company (the terms "material’ and "nonpublic” are
defined in Part 1, Section C. (i} and (ii) below).

{ii) No Director, Officer or Fmployee or other Covered Persans or any of their immediate fammily members who knows of any rterial nonpublic information about the
Company may communicate that information to ("tip") any other person, including family members and fiiends, or otherwise disclose such information without the
Company's authorization,

{iiy No Director, Officer or Erployee or other Covered Dersons ot any of their inmediate farily members may purchase or sell any security of any other company, whether
ot net issued by the Company, while in possession of material nonputlic information about that company that was obtained in the course of his or her invelvement
with the Company. No Director, Officer, Ernployee or other Covered Persons ot any of their inmediate fanily members who knows of any such material nonpublic
information tay communicate that information to, or tip, any other person, including fammily mermbers and friends, or otherwise disclose such information without the
Company's authorizition,

(ivy For compliance purposes, you should never trade, tip or recommend securities {or otherwise cause the purchase or sale of securities) while in possession of
information that vou have reason to believe is material and nonpublic unless you first consult with, and obtain the advance approval of, the Trade Clearance
Committee (which is defined in Part I, Section C, {iii) below).

() Bena fide gifts of securities are transactions subject to this Pelicy,

{vi) Covered Persons nust "pre-clear” all trading i securities of the Company in accordance with the procedures set forth in Part I, Section C. below.

Definitions.

() "Material”: Insider trading restrictions come into play only if the information you possess is "naterial” Materiality, however, involves a relatively low thresheld.
Tnformation is generlly rogarded as "materfal® if it has market significance, that is, if its public dissemination is likely to affect the market price of securities, ot if it

otherwise is information that a reasonable investor would want to know before making an investment decision, Inforrmation dealing with the following subjects is
reasonably likely to be found meterial in particular situations:




tinancial performance, especially eamings, or any event that could have a significant impact on financial results;

b. significant changes in the Company's prospects, projections ot strategic plans;
. ¢. significant write-downs in assels or increases in reserves;
d.  develapments regarding significant litigation or governiment agency investigations;
e. liquidity problens;
f  changes in eamings estimates or unusual gains or losses i operations;
g changes in the Conpany's senior managenent or the board of directors;
h. changes in dividends or significant repurchases of cormon stock under the stock repurchase prograr
i, exraordinary borrowings;
j.  significant changes in accounting methods or policies;
k. award or loss of a significant confract;
1 cybersecurity risks and incidents, including vulnerabitities and breaches;
m  c¢hanges in debt ratings;
n, proposals, plans or agrecments, even if preliminary in nature, involving mergers, acquisitions, divestilures, recapilalizmtions, strategic alliances, licensing
artangements, or purchases or sales of substantial assets; and
o. offerings of Company sccurities,

Material information is net limited to histerical facts but may also include projections and forscasts, With respect to a future event, such as a merger, acquisition or
introduction of a new product, the point at which negotiations or product development are detenmined to be material is determi
oceur against the magnitude of the etfect the event would have on o corpany's operations or stock price should i occur. Thus,
large effect on stock price, such as a merger, may be material even if the passibility that the event will ocour is relatively small. When in doubt about whether particular nonpublic
information is material, you should presume it is matetial. If you are unsure whether informati
making any decigion to disclose such information {other than to persons who need to Lnowit) or to trade in or recommend securities to which that information relates or assuie

that the infermation {s material,

(i} "Nonpublic™: Insider trading prohibitions come In

disclosed to a few menthers of the public does not nuke it public for insider tading purposes. To be "public
and the ivestors must be given the epportunity to absorb the information, Even after public disclosure of information
icly disclosed before you can treat the

manner designed to reach investors generally,
asbout the Company, you nust wait until the close of business on the second trading day after the information was publ

information as public. Nenpublic information may inciude:

ned by balancing the probability that the event wilt
information concerning an event that would have a

on Is material, you should either consult the Trade Clearance Committee before

to play only when you possess mformation that is material and "nenpublic.” The fact that information has been
" the information must have been disserminated in a



a. information available to a select group of analysts or brokers or institutional investers;

b, undisclosed facts that are the subject of mmors, even if the rumors are widely circulated; and

¢. information that has been entrusted to the Company on a confidential basis untif a public announcement of the information has been made and enough time has
elapsed for the market te respond to a public announcement of the information (nonrally two (2) trading days).

As with questions of matertality, if you are not sure whether informmtion is considered public, you should either consulf with the Trade Clearance Committee or
asswme that the information is nonpublic and treat it as confidential,

(i) "Trade Clearance Committec™; The Compary has appeinted the Chief Bxccutive Officer, Chief Financial Ollicer, and General Counsel as the Trade Clearance
Committee for this Policy. The duties of the Trade Clearance Comnittee inchude, but are not linited to, the fo lowing:

a. assisting with implementation and enforcement of this Policy;
b. circulating this Policy to all enployees and ensuring that this Policy is amended as necessary to remain up-to-date with insider trading laws;
¢, pre-vlearing all trading in sceurities of the Company by Covered Persons in accordance with the procedures sot forth in Part II, Section C. below; and
d. providing appreval ofany Rule 1065-1 plans under Part I, Section A. (iv) below and any prohibited transactions under Part IT, Section D. below.
D. Exceptions.

The trading restrictions of this Policy do not apply te the following:

(i) 40106 Plan, Investing 401(k) plan contributions in a Company stock fund in accordance with the terms of the Conpany's 401(k) plan, However, any changes in your
imvestment election regarding the Company’s stock are subject to trading restrictions under this Policy.

(i) BSPP. Purchasing Company stock through periodic, automatic payroll contributions to the Conpany's Fmployee Stock Purchase Plan ("ESPP"). However, electing to
enroll in the ESPE, making any changes in your elections under the ESPP and selting any Conpany stock acquired under the FSPP are subject to trading restrictions
under this Policy.




{ii) Options, Bxercising stock options granted under the Conpany's stock option plan(s) for cash, a net exercise or the delivery of previously owned Commpany stock

However, the sale of any shares issued on the exercise of Conpany-granted stock options and any broker-assisted cashless exercise of Company-gtanted stock
options are subject to {rading restrictions under this Policy.

E

(iv) Restricted Stock The grant or vesting of restricted stock issued in the ordinary course of business or vesting according to its terms.
(v) Mutual Fund Transactions. Transactions in matval funds that are invested in securities of the Corpany.

{vi) NHC Nengualified Deforred Conprensation Plan ("Deferred Corp Plan™). Investing Deferred Comp Plan contributions in Conpany stock m accordance with the terms

of the Deferred Conp Plan through periodic, autonutic payroll and/or benus compensation confributions to the Deferred Conp Plan,

Violatiens of Insider Trading Lavs.

Penaltes for trading on or cemnunicating material nonpublic information can be severe, both for individuals involved in such unlawfi!l conduct and their employers and

supervisets, end may include jail ters, ¢rintinal fines, civil penalties and civil enforcement injunctions. Given the severity of the potential penalties, compliance with this Policy is
absolntely mandatory.

(it Lesal Penalties, A person who violates insider trading laws by engaging in transactions in a company's securities when he or she has material nonpublic infonmation

can be sentenced to a substantial jail tennand required ta pay a criminal penalty of several tines the amount of profits gained or losses avoided.

In addition, a person who tips others may also be Kable for transactions by the tippees to whomhe or she has disclosed material nonpublic information. Tippers can
be subjeot to the same penalties and sanctions as the tippees, and the SEChas fmposed large penalties even when the tipper did not profit fomthe transaction,

The SEC can also seek substantial civil ponalties from any person who, at the fine of an insider frading violation, "dircctly or indirectly controlled the person who
conmmitted such violation," which would apply to the Company and/or management and supervisory personncl These contrel persons may be held liable for up to
the greater of $1 million or three times the amount of the profits gained or losses aveided, Bven for violations that result in a small or no profit, the SEC can seck
penalties froma company and/or its menageiment and supervisory personnel as control persons.

The SEC offers whistlehlower awards to persons who provide infornition lkeading ta the imposition of the civil monetary penalty.

(i) Company-imnosed Penaltics, Fnployees who violate this Policy nay be subject to disciplinary action by the Company, including dismissal for cause. Any exceptions

to the Policy, if petwitted, may cnly be granted by the Trade Clearance Committee and must bo provided before any activity contrary to the above requirements takes
place.




F Tnquiries,

) Tfyou have any questions regarding any of the provisions of this Policy, please contact the Trade Clearance Conmittee by (i) calling the home office at 615-890-2020; (i)
_emailing the Cormmiltes al_tradeclearanceconmititee@nhecare.cony o {jif) emeiling the then members ofthe Committes using their NHC eunil address.

PARTII

A, Blackout Perlods,
All Covered Persons are prehibited fom trading in the Conpany’s securities during blackout periods as defined below.

(0 Quarterly Blackout Poriods. Trading in the Campany's scourities is prohibited during the period beginning at the close of the market on the fifteenth {15th) day of the
Tast month of each fiscal quarter and ending at the close of business on the sccond (2nd) trading day following the date the Company's financial resulis are publicly
disclosed and Form 10-Q or Form 10-ICis filed. During these periods, Covered Persons generally possess or are presumed to possess material nonpublic information
about the Cormpany's financial results.

{ii) Other Blackout Teriods, From time to time, other types of material nonputsiic information regarding the Conpany {such as negotiation of mergers, acquisitions or
dispositions, investigation and assessment of cyberseeurity incidents or new product developments) may be pending and not be publicly disclosed, While such
raterial nonpublic information is pending, the Company may impose special blackout periods during which Covered Persons are prehibited fiom trading in the
Company's securities. If the Company inposes a special blackout period, it will notify the Covered Persons affected,

(iii) Stock Repurchase Plans. The Company may adopt stock repurchase plans from time to time that allow the Company to tepurchase its own stock, Trading in Company
securities by Covered Persons is prohibited while the Corpany is actively engaging in repurchases and for two (2) days following a repurchase period.

{iv) Exgeption, These trading restrictions do not apply fo tmnsactions under a pre-existing writton plan, contract, nstruction, or amangement under Rule 10b5-1 under the
Securities Fxchange Act of 1934 (an "Approved 10b5-1 Plan") that:

a. has been reviewed and approved at least ong month in advance of any trades thereunder by the Trade Clearance Conuittee (or, if revised or amended, such
revisions or amendments have been reviewed and approved by the Trade Cleasance Cormittee at least one month in advance of any subsequent trades);

b, provides that no trades may ocour thereunder until expiration of the applicable cooling-off peried specified in Rule 10b3-1{e)i)(B), and no trades occur until afier
that time. The sppropriate cooling-off period will vary based on the status of the Covered Person, For directors and officers, the cooling-off period ends on the
later of (3 ninety days after adeption or certain modifications ofthe 10b5-1 plan; or (v) two business days following disclosuze ofthe Conpany's financial results
in a Form 10-Q or Form {0-K for (he quarter in which the 10b5-1 plan was adopted, For afl other Covered Persons, the cooling-off period ends 3¢ days after
adoption or modifieation of the 10b3-1 plan. This requived cooting-off periad will apply to the entry into a new 10b5-1 plan and any revis ion or nodification of a
10b5-1 plan;




¢. was entered into in good faith by the Covered Person at a time when the Covered Person was not in possession of material nonpublic information about the
Conpany; and

d.——gives a_third.party_the discretionary authorty to_execnte.such.purchases and sales, outs ide the contro! of the Covered Persor, so long as such third panty does
not possess any material nonpublic information about the Company; or explicitly specifics the security or securitics Lo be purchased or sold, the number of
shares, the prices and/or dates of transactions, or other formulaés) describing such transactions.

e. is the only outstanding Approved 10b3-1Plan enfered inte by the Covered Person (subject to the exceptions set out in Rule 10b5-1(c)()YD)).

No Approved 10b5-1 Plan may be adopted during a blackout period. 3 |
B. Trading Window,

Covered Persons are generaily permitted to trade in the Company's securities when no blackout period is in effect, This means that Covered Persons can usually trade
during the period beginning on the day that a blackout period under Part 1, Section A. above ends and ending on the day that the next blackout period under Part I, Section A.
begins. However, even during this trading window, a Covered Person who is in possession ofany material nonpublic informution should not trade in the Company's securitics until
the mformation has been made publicly available ot is no longer material. In addition, the Conpany may close this trading window if a special blackout period under Part II, Section
A. (i) above is imposed or the Company is repurchasing shares under Part II, Section A. (jif) above and will re-open the trading window once the blackeut period has ended.

C. Pre-clearance of Securities Transactions,

i
() Bocause Covercd Persons are likely fo obtain material nonpublic information on a reguler basis, the Company requires all such persens to retiain fromtrading, even i
during a trading window under Part II, Section B, above, without first pre-clearing all transactions in the Company's securities.

{iiy Subject to the exermption in subseetion (iv) below, no Cavered Person may, directly or indirgetly, purchase or self (or otherwise make any transfer, gift, pledge or loan
of) any Company sceurity at any time without fisst obtaining prior approval from the Trade Clearance Committee. Thess procedures also apply to transactions by

such person's spouse, other persons living in such person’s household and minor children and to transactions by entities over which such person exercises control,
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{iii} The Trade Clearance Committee shall record the date each request is received and the date and time each request is approved ot disapproved, Unless revoked, a grant
of permission will normally remain valid until the close of trading twe business days following the day on which it was granted. If the transaction dees not occur
during the two-day period, pre-clearance of the transaetion nust be re-requested.

(iv) Pre-clearance is not requircd for purchases and sales of securitics under an Approved 10bS-1 Plan, With respect to any purchase or sale under an Approved 10b3-1
Plan, the third party effecting transactions on behalf of the Covered Person should be instructed to send duplicate confirmations of all such transactions to the Trade
Cleararce Conittec.

Prohibited Trans actions,
{i) Covered Persons are prohibited from tading in the Company's equity securities during a blackout period inposed under an “individual account” retirement or
pension plan of the Company, during which at least 50% of the plan participants arc unable to purchase, sell or otherwise acquire or transfer an interest in equity

securities of the Company, duc to a temporary suspension of ttading by the Company or the plan fiduciary.

(il Covered Persons, including any person's spouse, other persons living in such person's houschald and minor children and entities over which such person cxcreises
control, are prohibited fiom engaging in the following transactions in the Company's securitics unless advance approval is obtained from the Trade Clearance
Committes:

a,  Short-termirading, Covered Persons who purchase Company securities may not sell any Company securities of the same class for at least six months after the
purchase;

b. Shert sales. Covered Persons may hot sell the Corrpany’s secuities short;
¢. Options trading, Covered Persons may not buy or sell puts or calls or ather derivative securities on the Company's securities;
d, Trading on margin orpledging, Covered Persons may not held Corrpany securitics in a margin account or pledge Company securities as collateral for a loan; and
e. Hedging. Covered Persons mey not enter into hedging or monetization transactions or similar arrangements with respect to Company securitles,
This Policy Controls.
Tn the event the ferms of'this policy conflict with any other Company policy addressing insider trading, then this policy shall control,
Acknowledgment and Certification,
All Covered Persons are required to sign the attached acknowledgnent and certifieation.
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ACKNOWLEDGMENT AND CERTIFICATION

The undersigned does hersby acknowledge receipt of the Company's Insider Trading Policy. The undersigned has read and understands (or has had explained) such
Policy-ané-agress-to-be govemed by such Policy at-alltimes.in.connection with the purehassand.sale of sepurities and the confidentiality of nonpublic infornmtion.

(Signature)

(Please print name)

Date:
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—Robert-G-Adams
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Exhibit 10.25

NATIONAL BFALTHCARE CORPORATION
Compensation Recoupment Policy

1. Purpose. The purpose of this Compensation Recoupment Pelicy of the Conpany (as anended from time to time, the "Policy™), dated as of November 2, 2023 (the

Adoption Date™ is to describe the cirounstances in which current and former Executive Utficers will e required to Tepay or Terunn Hroncousty Awarded Conpensation to
menbers of the Company Group. The Company has adopted this Policy to conply with Section 954 of the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reformand Consuiver Protection Act of 2010, as
codified by Section 10D of the Bxchange Act, Exchange Act Rule 10D-1 promulgated thereunder, and the Tules and requirements of the NYSE-Ametican (including Section 811 of
the NYSE-Awerican Conpany Manual) {such legal requirements, and rules and requirements of the NYSE-American, collectively, the " SEC/NYSE-Anerican Clawback Rules™).
Pach Excoutive Officer shall be required to sign and retumn to the Company an acknowledgment to this Policy in the form attached fereto as Fxhibit A pursuant to which such
Brecutive Officer will agres to be bound by the terms and comply with this Policy.

2, Administration, This Policy shall be adninistered by the Beard. The Board is authorized to interpret and constme this Policy and to make all deterninations
necessary, appropriate, ot advisable for the administration of this Policy, and any such determinations nade by the Board shall be in the Board’s sole discretion, and shall be final
and binding on all affected individuals. Subject to applicable legal requirements and the rules and requirements of the NYSE-Anerican, the Board may delegate any or all of its
powers and duties under the Policy to authorized officers of the Company, subjeat to such limitations on such delcgated powers and duties as the Board way impose, if any. Excopt
as otherwise required by applicable legal requirements ot the rules and requirements of the NYSE-American, any deterinations of the Board hereunder need not be uniform with
respect to one or more Excoutive Officers {whether current or forner).

3. Definitions. For purposcs ofthis Policy, the following capitalized Lenms shall have the meanings set forth below:

(a) " Accounting Restatement” shall mean an accounting restatement due to the material noncomphiance of the Company with any financial reporting requirement
under the securities laws, including any required accounting restatenent (i) to comect an errer in previously issucd financial statements that is waterial to the previously issued
financial statements (a "Big R” restatement), or (if} that would result in a material misstatement if the crrer were cotteeted in the curent period or left uncorrected in the eurrent
period {a "little r” restatement).

() "Board” shall mean the Board of Divectors of the Company.

() *Clawback Higible Incentive Compensation™ shall mean all Incentive-Based Compensation Received by any current or fotmer Executive Officer on or after the
NYSE-Ametican Effective Date, provided that;

{i) such Incentive-Based Compensation is Reesived after such individual began serving as an Executive Officer;

(i) such individual served as an Executive Officer at any time duting the performance petiod for such Incentive-Based Compensation;




{iity such Incentive-Based Compensation is Received while the Company has a class of securities listed on the NYSE-American; and

{iv) such Mcentive-Based Compensation is Received during the applicable Clawback Perlod.

) o Clawhack Period” shall mean, with respect to any Accounting Restatenont, the three completed fiscal years of the Company immediately preceding the
Restatement Date and any transition period (that results from a change in the Conpany’s fiscal year) of less than nine wonths within or mmvediately following those three
completed fiscal years.

(c) "Cormpmpn Stock” shall mean the commen stock of the Company.

3] "Coprpany” shall mean National HealthCare Corporation, a Delaware cotporation.

(2 "Company Group™ shall mean the Corpany, together with each of its direct and indirect subsidiaries.
{h) "Frroneously Awerded Corpensation ™ shall mean, with respeet to any current o former Exccutive Officer it connection with any Accounting Restatement, the

amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation Received by such current or former Exzeutive Officer that exceeds the amount of Clawback Eligible Incentive Compensation
that otherwise would have been Received by such current or former Becutive Officer had such Clawback Eligivle Incentive Compensation been determined based on the restated
amounts as reflected in connection with such Accounting Restatement, computed without regard to any taxes paid.

0] "Exchange Act” means the Securities Bxchange Act of 1934, as amended,

[} "Exgeutive Officer” shall mean any officer as defined in Rule 10D-1(d} (or any successor provision thereof) under the Exchange Act,

3] "Financial Renorting Measures” shull mean moasures that are determined and presented in accordance with the accounting principles used in preparing the
Coupany's financial statements, and any other measures that are derived whelly or in part from such measures, For purposes of this Policy, stock price and total shareholder return
(and any measures that are derived wholly ot in pat frem stock price or total shareholder retum) shall be considered Financial Reporting Measures. For the avoidance of doubt, a

Financial Reperting Measure need not be presented within the Corpany's financial statements or incleded in a filng with the SEC.

()] "ncentive-Based Commpensation” shall mean any compensation that is granted, eamed ot vested based wholly or in part upon the attainment of a Financial
Reporting Measure.

(m) "NYSE-Anerican” shall mean the New York Stock Exchange-Americat.
(n) "NYSE-American EBffective Date” shall mean October 2, 2023.
{0) "Received” shall mean when Incentive-Based Conpensation is received, and Tacentive-Based Compensation shall be deemed received i the Company’s fiscal

period during which the Financial Reporting Measure specified in the Incentive-Based Compensation award is attained, even if payment or grunt of the Incentive-Based
Cotpensation ooouts atter the end of that period.




P) "Restaternent Date” shalt mean the earlier to oceur of (i) the date the Board, a Conmiittee of the Board, or the officers of the Conpany authorized to take such
action i Board action is not required, concludes, or reasonably should have concluded, that the Conpany is required to prepare an Accourting Restatement, or (i) the date a
court, regulator or other legally authorized body directs the Company to prepare an Accounting Restatement,

)] "SEC shall mean the U.S, Securitics and Bxchange Cormmission,
4, Recoupment of Erronecusty Awarded Compensation.

(a) In the event that the Company is required to prepare an Accounting Restaterent, (i) the Board shall determine the amount of any Eroncously Awarded
Compensation for each applicable current or former Executive Officer (whether or not such individual is serving as an Executive Officer at such time) (the "Applicable Bxecutives™)
in connection with such Accounting Restatoment, and (i) the Company will reasonably promptly requirs the recoupment of such Frroneously Awarded Compensation from any
such Applicable Fxccutive, and any such Applicable Executive shail surrendet such Erroneously Awarded Conpensation to the Cotnpany, at such time(g), and via such method(s),
as determined by the Board in accordance with the ters of this Policy. In such evont, any such Applicable Frecutive shalf enter into any recoupment or similar agreenent as may
be requested by the Board in connection with the Company’s recoupment of Frroneous ly Awarded Compensation fiom such Applicable Executive pursuant to the terns of this
Policy.

b) For Tncentive-Based Compensation based on (or derived from) stock price or total sharcholder retum whete the amount of Erroncously Awarded Compensation is
not subject to matheratical recaleulation directly from the information in the applicable Accounting Restatement, (i) such amount shall be determined by the Beard based on a
reasonable ostimate of the offect of the Accounting Restatement on the stock price or total shareholder retum upon which the Incentive-Based Compensation was Received, and
{ii) the Company will maintain documentation of the detenmination of that reasonabie estimate and provide such documentation to the NYSE-Anerican.

() The Board shall determing, in its sole discretion, the method(s) for recouping any Enoneously Awarded Compensation fromany Applicable Executive, which may
include one or more of the following:

(i} Tequiring one or more cash payments to the Company Group from such Applicable Bxgeutive, nehuding, but not limited to, the repayment of cash
Incentive-Based Compensation previously paid by the Company Group to such Applicable Exgcutive;

(i) seeking recovery of any gain realized on the vesting, exercise, settlenent, sale, transfer or other disposition of any equity-based awards proviously made
by the Company to such Applicable Executive and/or otherwise tequiring the delivery to the Conpany of shares of Conmen Stock held by such Applicable Exccutive;

(i) withholding, reducing or sliminating fitture cash compensation (including cash incentive payments), fature cquity awards and/er other benefits or
amounts otherwise to bie paid or awarded by the Conpany Group to such Applicable Executive;

(i) offselting amounts against compensation or other amounts otherwise payable by the Corpany Group to such Applicable Executive; and
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(v} cancelling, adjusting or offsetting against soue or all outstanding vested or unvested equity awards of the Company held by such Applicable Bxecutive;
and/or

(i) taldng_any other remedialand_recovery actions with respect to such Applicable Exeoutive permitted by applicable legal requirements and the rules and

regulations of the NYSE-American, as determined by the Board.

{d) Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, the Company shall not be required to recover Eroneous ly Awarded Compensation from any Applicable
Bxccutive pursuant to the terms of this Policy if (1) the Company’s Compensation Comiittee determines that such recovery would be impracticabic, and (2) any of the following
conditions is met:

i) the direct expenses paid to a third party to assist in enforcing the Policy would exceed the amount te be recovered, provided that, before concluding that
it would be impracticable to recover any amount of Enoneously Awarded Conpensation based on cxpense of enforcement pursuant to this clause (i), the Company has {4
made a reasonable attempt to recover such Emoneously Awarded Cowpensation, (y) documented such reasonable atterpt(s) to recover, and {g) provided such
dogunentation to the NYSE-Ametican,

{ii) recovery would violate home country law where that law was adopted prior to Novemhor 28, 2022, provided that, before detonmining that il would be
impracticable to recover any amount of Frroncously Awarded Compensation based en violation of home country law, the Company has obtained an opinion of home
country ceunsel, aceeptable to the NYSE-Ametican, that recovery would result in such a violation, has provided copy of the opinion is provided 1o the NYSE-Anerican;
or

(i) recovery would likely cause an otherwise tax-gualified retirement plan, under which benefits are broadly available to empioyees of the Cormpany Group,
to fail to muet the requirements of 26 U.S.C, 401(2)(13) or 26 U.S.C. 411(z) and regulations thereunder.

5. No Indemnification, Bt The Company Group shall not () indemnify any cuirent ov former Frecutive Officer against (i) the loss of any Frronecusly Awarded
Compensation that is repaid, retuned or recoversd pursuant to the terms of this Poliey, or (i) any clains relating to the Company Group’s enforcement of its rights under this
Policy, or {¥) pay or reimburse any cutrent or former Executive Officers for insurance premiums to rocover losses incurred ynder this Poliey.

6. Supersedure, This Policy will supersede any provisions in () any agreement, plan or other arangement applicable to any member of the Company Group, and {¥)
any organizational documents of any entity that is patt of Company Greup that, in any such case, (2) exenmpt any Incentive-Based Comypensation fromthe application of this Pelicy,
(b} waive or otherwise prohibit or restrict the Company Geoup’s right to recover any Erroneously Awarded Compensation, including, without limitatien, in connection with
exeroising any right ofsetoffas provided herein, and/or (¢} require or provide for indemnification to the extent that such indemmification is prohibited under Scction 5 above.

7. Amendment; Termination; Tnterpretation, The Board may amend or terminate this Policy at any time, subject te cormpliance with afl applicable legal requirements
and the rules and requirenients of the NYSE-American, It is intended that this Pelicy be interpreted in a manner that is consistent with the SECYNYSE-Anerican Clawback Rules.
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8. Other Recoupment Rights; No Additional Payments.

(@) Any tight of recoupment under this Policy is in addition to, and not in leu of; any other temedies or rights of recoupnent that may be available to the Conpany
e Group-pumsuani-to.(i-the terns of any recouprent provisions in_any employment agreement, ingentive or equily compensation plan or award or other agreenent, (i} any other legal

tequirements, inchiding, but not limited to, Section 304 of Sarbanes-Oxloy Act of 2002 (subject to Section 8(b) of this Policy below), and (iii} any other legal rights or rencdies
available to the Company.

L) Notwithstanding anything hercin to the contrary, to the extent that the Board determines that any Frroncously Awarded Compensation includes any anounts that
have been actually reinbursed to the Company Croup fom any Applicable Executive pursuant to Section 34 of the Satbanes-Oxley Acl {any such amounts that have been
reimbused to the Company Group, the "Applicable SOX Recoupment Amount™), in order o provent duplicative recovery, the amount of any Frroneously Awarded Compensation
to be recovered from any such Applicable Iceutive shall be reduced by the Applicable SOX Recoupnient Amount.

9. Successors. This Policy shall be binding and enforceable against all current and former Executive Officers and their beneficiaries, heirs, executors, administratots or
other legal representatives.




fxhibit A
Form of Aclknowledement

By signing below, the undersigned acknowledges and confimes that the undersigned has received and reviewed a copy of the National HealthCare Corporation

Conpensatien Recoupment Policy {the "Policy™). Capitalized terms used but not otherwise defined i this acknowledgment shall have the meanings ascribed to such fomms in the
Policy.

By signing this acknowledgiment, the undersigned acknowlodges and agrees that the undersigned is and will continue to be subject to the Policy and that the Policy will

apply both during and after the undersigned’s employment with the Company Group. Further, by sigring below, the undersigned agrees o abide by the tenrs of the Policy,
including, without limitation, by retuming any Errenecusly Awarded Cotrpensation to the Company Croup to the extent required by the Policy.

Signature

Print Nare

Date



EXHIBIT 21
Subsidiaries of the Registrant

Narhe % Owned State of Organization
INHC/Delaware, Inc. 100% [Delaware
INHC/OP, LP, 100% [Delaware
[National Heaith Realty, LLC 100% Delaware
Prerier Group Ins, Co, 100% Tennessee
National Healthcare Center of Fort Oglethorpe, LP, 100% Tennessee
Nutritiona!l Support Services 100% [Tennessee
INHIC HealthCare/Anniston, LLC 100% Alabarm
INHC Place/Anniston, LLC 100% IAlabama
INHC HealthCare/Moulton, LLC 100% A labarma
Premier Plus Insurance Co, 100% [Caytran Islands
Knoxville Center for Behavioral Medicing, LLC 65% Delaware
Maryland Heights Properties, LLC 100% Delaware
Middlebrock Property Partners, LLC 88.98% Delaware
INHC Delaware Investments Inc, 100% Delaware
NHC-Maury Regional Transitional Care Center, LLC R0%% Dclaware
{0sage Beach Center for Behavioral Health, LLC 100% Delaware
Post Acute Service Solutions, LLC 100% [Delawnre
St. Peters Il Holdings, I1.C 100% Delaware
The Health Center of Hermitage, L1.C 100% Delaware
INHC HealthCare/Lake City, inc. 100% florida
INHC HealthCare/Pensacela, Ing, 100% Florida
INHC Place Meniit Island, I1.C 100% Florida
INHC Place Stuart, LLC 100% Florida
INHC Place Vero Beach, 11.C 100% [Florida
Hudson HealthCare Advisors, L1LC 100% Florida
CGeorgia HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Georgia
INHC HealthCare/Rossville, LLC 100% Georgia
[NHC HealthCare/Clasgow, LLC 100% Kentucky
Buckley HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
[Holyoke HealthCare Center, ILC 100% Massachuseits
Tohn Adams HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachuseits
[Taunton HealthCare Center, LLC 100% Massachusetts
Maryland Heights Center for Behavioral Health, LLC 100% Miss ouri
Missouri HeakthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Missourd
NHC Advantage, LLC 75.56% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Desloge, LLC 10074 Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Joplin, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/Kennett, LLC 100%% Missouri :
INHC Piace/Lake St. Charles, LLC 100% Missouri
INOC HealthCare-Macen, LLC 100% Miss ouri i
NHC HealthCare/Maryland Heights, LLC 100% IMissouri :
NHC HealthCare-Osage Beach, LLC 1% IMissourd
INHC HealthCare-Springficld Missouri, LLC 100% Miszouri
INHC HealthCare/$t. Charles, LLC 100% Missouri
INHC HealthCare/West Plains, L1C 100% Missouri
NHC Homecate Missour, LLC 100% Missourd
St. Peters Memory Care Operations, LLC 100% Missouri
St, Peters Menory Care Realty, LLC 100% Missourd



Villages of St. Peters, 11.C 100% Missourd
[Villages of Jackson Creek, LLC 100% IMissouri
Villzges of Jackson Creelk Memory Care, LLC 100% IMissouri
———|Heartland-Health€are-Centery EEG 100% New Hampshire.
Pearl Street HealthCare Center, LLC 100% [New Harmpshire
Villa Crest HealthCare Center, LLC 100% New Hampshirg
INHC HealthCare/Aiken, ILC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Anderson, LLC 100% South Carolina
INTIC HealthCare/Bluffton, L1LC 100%% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare-Charleston, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealithCare/Clinton, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Garden City, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Greenville, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Greenwood, LLC 100% South Carolina
NHC HealthCare/Laurens, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Lexington, LLC 100% South Carolina
INHC HealthCare/Mauldin, LLC 100% South Caroling
INHC HealthCare/North Augusta, [IC 100% South Carclina
INFIC HealthCare/Parklane, L1C 10604 South Carclina
INHC Homecare — South Caroling, LLC T00% South Carolina
INHC Place-Charleston, LLC 100%% South Carolina
The Palmettos of Biuffton, LLC 100% South Carolina
IThe Palmettos of Garden City, LLC 100% South Carolina
[The Palnettos of Parklane, 11O 100% South Caroling
South Carolina HealthCare Advisors, LIC 100% South Carolina
A damsPlace, LLC 100% [Tennessce
(Caris HealthCare, LP. 100% Tennessee
[HealthCare Transition Center, LLC 100% l'ennessee
Inoxville Health Care Center, 1.0, 100% [Tennessec
NHC Famragut Memory Care, LLC 100% Tenncssce
INHC HealthCare/Athens, LLC 100% [Tenncssee
INHC HealthCare/Chattanooga, LLC 100% [Termessee
NHC HealthCare/Columhia, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Ceo! Springs, LI.C 100% Tennessee
NHC HealthCare/Dickson, ILC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Farragut, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Franklin, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Hendersonville, LLC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Heartland, LLC 160% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Hillview, LLC 100%% Tennessee
[NHC HealthCare/Holston Hills, LLC 100% [Tennessee
NHC HealthCare/Johnson City, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Kingsport, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INFIC HealthCare/Knoxville, LI.C 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Lewisburg, 1L1C 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/McMinnville, LLC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Milan, LLC 100% Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Oakwood, LLC 100%% [Tcnnessee
INHC HealthCare/Pulaski, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC HealthCare/Scott, LLC 100% Tennessee
NHC ealthCare/Sequatchic, LLC 1005 [Fennessee
INHC HealthCare/Smithville, LLC 100%% crnesses




INTIC HealthCare/Somerville, LLC 100% Tennessec
INEIC HealthCare/Sparta, LLC 100% [Tennessce
INHC HealthCare/Springfield, L1LC 100% [Tennessee
INHE HeslthCarc=Sunner; ELE 1005 [Tennessec
INHIC HealthCare/Tullahoma, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC-Maury Regional HealthCare, LLC 100% ennessee
INHC Middlebrook Behavioral Services, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC Middlebrook Properties, LLC 100% [Tennessee
INHC Place at the Trace, LLC 100% Tenncssce
INational Hospice, Inc, 100% [Tennessee
Renal Health Services, LLC 100% [Tennessee
Standifer Place Properties, LLC 100% [Tennessee
Tennessec HealthCare Advisors, LLC 100% Tennessee
Tennessce Home Care Holdings, LLC 50% Tonnessee
City Corporation 100% [Tennessec
City Center, L.P. 50% Tennessee
Medical Personnel Services, LLC 100% Tennessee
[Tranzion, LIC 100%, [Tennessee
(C HealthCare/Bristel, LLC 100% Virginia




Exhibit 23
Censent of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:

(1) Registration Statement (Font 58 No. 333-129462) perfaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2005 Stoek Option, Fployee Stock Purchase, Phiysicizr Stock
Purchase & Stock Appreciation Rights Plan and 2004 Nen-Qualified Stock Option Plan

(?) Registration Statements (Forms S-8 No, 333-167685 and No. 333-216085) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2010 Cnmibus Equity Incentive Plan
{3} Registration Statemcnts (Form $-8 No. 333-238900) pertaining to National HealthCare Corporation’s 2020 Ormnibus Bquity Incentive Plan
of our reports dated February 16, 2024, with respect to the consclidated financial statements of National HealfhCare Corporation, and the effectiveness of internal

conirol over financial reporting of National HealthCare Corporation, included in this Annual Repott {Form 10-K) of National HealthCare Corporation for the year
ended December 31, 2023

Nashville, Tennessee
February 16, 2024




EXTHEBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION

1, Stephen F. Flatt, certify that:

1.

2

{ have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of National HealthCare Corporation,

Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any unirue statement of a material fact or omit to statc a mmaterial fact necessary to make the statements made,
in light of the circunktances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual repert;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this veport, fairly present in alt waterial respects the financial condition,
results of opetations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and 1 are responsisle for establishing and naintaining disclosure controls gnd procedures (as defined in Fxchange Aot Rules 13a-
15(cy and 15d-15(e}) and intemal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(9) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

Dosigned such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material
infonmation telating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known te us by others within those cntities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or cansed such interal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Bvaluated the cffectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and preseated in this report our conclusions about the effectivencss of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the pericd covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal contro] over financial reporting that oceurred during ¢he registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter {the
registrant's fourth fiscal quatter in the case of an annuyal report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemnal control
over financizl reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and T have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal contral over fmancial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors
and the audit conmittee of the tegistrant's board of directots {or persons performing the equivalent function);,

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control ever financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and repoit financial mformation; and

Any fraud, whether cr not material, that involves management or ether enployees whe have a significant role in the registrant's internal control over financial
reporting.

Date; February 16, 2024

/st Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer




EXHIBIT 31,2

CERTIFICATION

[, Brian F. Kidd, certify that:

1,

T have reviewed this annualreport on Form 10-K of National HealthCarc Corporation;

Based on ny knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to statc a material fact necessary to make the statements made,
in fight of the cirounstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respeot to the period cavered by this annual report;

Based on my knowledge, the financiat statenents, and ather financial information incladed in this report, faidly present in all nmteria! respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Fchange Act Rules 13a-
15(e) and 15d-15(e}) and mtemal control aver financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15¢-15(6)) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, lo ensure that material
information relating to the registrant, meluding its conselidated subsidiares, is made known to us by others within these entitics, particularly during the peried in
which this report is being prepared;

Designed such intemal control over financial seperting, or caused such intemal contrel aver financial reperting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemnal purposes in aceordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registmnt's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this roport our cenclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure contrels and procodures, as ofthe end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; ang

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that oceurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual repoxt} that has materially affected, or is reasonably Jikely to materially affect, the registrant’s intetnal control
over financial reporting; and

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemat control ever financial reperting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit committee of the registrant's board of directors {of pezsons performing the equivalent function):

All signiticant deficiencies and matetial weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, suniarize and repott financiu} information; and

Any finud, whether or not material, that invelves wenagenent or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal control aver financial
reporting.

Date; February 16, 2024 .

/s/ Brian F. Kidd
Brian F, Kidd
Seniot Vice President and Chist Financial Officer




Txhibit 32

Certification of Annual Report en Form 10-K
of National HealthCare Corporation
Yor the Year Fnded Decerber 31, 2023

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 US.C. Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2602, that, to the undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the Annual

Report on Form 10-K for National HealthCare Corporation {"Issuer) for the period ending Decenber 31, 2023 as filed with the Securities and Bxchange Connission on the date
lereof (the "Report"):

(2) fully cemplies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and

() the information contained in the Report fairly prescnts, in all material respects, the finuncial condition and results of operations of the Issuer.

This Certification accompanies the Annual Report on Form 10-K of the Tssuer for the year ended December 31, 2023.

This Certification is executed as of February 16, 2024,

/s/Stephen F, Flatt
Stephen F, Flatt
Chief Executive Officer

/s/ Brian ¥. Kidd
Brian F, Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

A signed criginal of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Conpany and will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securitics
and BExchange Conrission or its staffupen request.
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UNTTED-STATES

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION
Washington, D,C, 20549

FORM10-Q

XQUARTERLY REPORT PURSUANT TQ SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGH ACT OF 1934
For the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024
OR
JTRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(dy OF
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
For the transition period fom to

Conmmission file nunber __001-13489

(Exact name ofregistrant as specified in its Charter)

Delaware 52-2057412

(State or other jurisdiction of (LR.S. Enplayer
incorporation ot organization Identification No.)

100 E. Vine Street

Murfreesbora, TN

37130
(Address of principal executive offices)
{Zip Code)
$15) 890200

Registrant's telephone number, including area code

Sccurities registered pursuant to Section 12(b} of the Exchange Act:

Title of cach class Trading Nane of each exchange on wlhich
Synbols(s) registered
Comimon, $0.01 par value NHC NYSE American

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) Has filed all reports required to be filed by Sec

nonths (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and (%) has been subject te

Indicate by check mark whether the rogistrant has submitted clectronically every Interactive Data File require

this chapter) during the preceding 12 months (or for such period that the registrant was required to
Indicate by check matk whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a ho
Large Accelerated filer X

Non—accelerated filer O

Tf an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the
accounting standards provided pursuant te Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. O

tion 13 or 15(d), of the Securitics Bxchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12
such filing requirements for the past 90 days. Yes X No [

d lo be subrritted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T (§ 232405 of
submit such files). Yes X NoO

n-accelorated filer, saller reporting company, or an emerging growth company.
See the definitions of "large accelerated filer,” "accelerated filer,” "smaller reporting company,” and

"emerging growth company™ in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.
Accelerated filer

Stmaller reporting corpany (1
Fimerging growth company O

extended transition period for complying with any new or revised financial

Indicats by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as s defined in Rule 1262 of the Bxchange Act), Yes O NeX

15,399,724 shares of commmon stock of the registrant were cutstanding as of May 1, 2024.
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PART L. FINANCIAL INFORMATION

Item-1,-Financial Statements

NATIONAL BEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Cons olidated Statements of Operations
(in thousands, except share and per share amotrits)

(unaudited)
Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Revenues:
Net patient revenues $ 285823 % 258,007
Other revenues 11,353 11,556
Net operating revenues 297,176 269,563
Cost and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 183,138 167,824
Other operating 77429 71,489
Facility rent 10,348 10,092
Depreciation and amortization 10,586 10,048
Interest 46 98
Total costs and expenses 281,547 259,551
Income fiomeperations _ ) 15,629 10,012
Other income: ) ] o ]
““Non—operating income ’ 5,683 4,323
Unrealized geins on marketable cquity securities ) ) ) 14,399 1,386
Income before income taxes ) ) 35713 15,721
Tnconk taxprovision S - (9,462) {4.436)
Net incone a B 26,251 11,285
Net (inceme)/loss attributable to nencontrolling interest (38) 433
. .. !
Net incomre attributable to National HealthCare Corporation $ 26213 § 14,723
Eamings per share attributable to National HealthCare Corporation stockholders:
Basic 3 L7 § 0,76
Diluted $ 169 3% 0,76
Weighted average common shares outstanding:
Basic 15,350,240 15,337,423
Diluted 15,503,096 15,356,335
Dividends declared per cormon share b3 059 % 057

The accompanying notes to interim condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part af these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condens ed Consolidated S tatements of Comprehensive Income
(unaidited = i thonsands)

Three Months Ended :
March 31
2024 2023
Net incone 8 6251 § 11,285 |
QOther comprehensive income/(loss);
Unrealized gains/(losses) on investments in marketable debt securities @72y 1,958
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains on sales of marketable debt securities (10} -
Income tax (expense)benefit related to items of other comprehensive income 45 279
Other conprehensive income/{loss ), net of tax (437) 1,679
Net (income)lass attributable to noncontrolling interest (38) 438
Comprehensive income astributable to National HealthCare Corporation 3 25776 § 13,402

The accompanying nates fo interin condensed consalidated financial stafements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheets

(in thousands)

March 31, December 31,
2024 2023
unaudited
Assels
Current Assefs:

“Cash and cash equivalents 93,982 107,076
Raestricted cash and cash equivalents, current portion 26,010 17,725
Marketable equity securities 123,040 111,117
Marketable debt scourities 484 5,427
‘Restricted marketable equity securities 20,616 26,779
Restricted marketable debt securities, current portion 4,750 12,822
‘Accounts receivable - ) 125,664 108,545
Inventories 6,763 7,380
Prepaid expenses and other assets 6,750 8,853
Notes receivable 487 503

Total current assets 417,586 406,235
Property and Equipment:
Property and equipment, at cost 1,065,543 1,104,681
Aceunnlated depreciation and amartization (576,845) {608,352)
Net propesty and equipment 488,608 493,329
Other Assets: )

Restricted cash and cash equivalents, less current portion 1,140 1,167
Reslricted marketable debt securitics, less current portion 119,042 109,478
Deposits and other assels 13,738 14786
Operating lease right-ofuse assets 87,356 94,201
‘Goodwill ' 168,295 168,295
Intangible assets 7,038 7,038
Investmonts ih unconsolidated companies 16,747 16,267

Total other assets 413,356 411,232
Total assels 1,319,640 1,310,796

The aecompanying notes to interin condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condens ed Consolidated Balance Sheets (continued)
(in thousands, except share and per share amnounts)

March 37, Decenberil;
2024 2023
unavdited
Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity
Current Liabilities:
Trade accounts payable 3 20657 3§ 19,194
Finance lease obligations, cuirent portion - 860
Operating lease liabilities, current portion 29,733 29,352
Accrued payroll ) 64,156 84,110
Amounts dueto third party payors 19,988 18,365
Accrued dsk reserves, cumrent partion 30,800 30,549
Other cument linbilitfes ' 24302 22,991
Contract Jiabilities 7,667 -
Dividends payable © 9,086 9,051
Total current liahilitios 206,429 244,476
Operating lease liabilities, less eurrent portion 56,004 63,175
Accrued nisk reserves, less cument portion 71457 72,710
Refindable entrance fees 5,708 6,376
Deferred ingone taxes 19,639 17,200
Other noncument labilitics 27,909 26,379
Total liahilitics 393,126 400,316
Equity: - B ;
Comron stock, $.01 par vatue; 45,000,600 shares authorized; 15,399,724 and 15,350,661 sharcs, respectively, issued |
and outstanding 154 153 |
Capital in excess of par value 226,909 227,604 !
Retained earnings 704,726 687,599 5
Accurnilated other comprehensive loss (7.041) (6,604)
Total National HealthCare Corporation stockholders’ equity 924,748 908,752
Noncontrolling interest -~ 77 o ) 1,766 1,728
Total equity 926,514 910,480
Tota! Labilities and equity $ 1319640 3 1,310,796

The accompanying notes ta interin condensed consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these consolidated statemenis.
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NATIONAL HEAL THCARE CORPORATION
Interim Condens ed Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(unaudited - in thousaiids)

Three Months Fnded
March 31
2024 2023
Cash Flows From Operating Activities;
MNet incorne $ 26251 § 11,285
Adjustments to reconcile net income to nef cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and anortization 14,586 10,048
Equity in eamings of unconsolidated investments (67) (1,535)
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities {14,395 {1,386}
(GainsYlosses on sale of marketable securities (344) 492
Gain on sale of uiconsolidated cormpany {1,024y -
‘Deferred income taxes 2484 331
Stock—bascd compensation 793 639
“Changes in operating assets and liabilities;
Accounts rcce]vable (17,119} (3,148)
Inventories 623 142
Prepaid expenses and other asgets 3,153 1,957
" Operating lease obligations ’ 58 (316)
Trade accounts payable 1,503 (4,018)
‘Acerued payroll (19,954 (15,800
Amounts due to third party payors 1619 48
““Acerued tisk reserves 4978 3,157
Contract liabilities 7,667 -
Other current liabilities 1,311 5407
QOther noncurrent liabilities 1,530 6,554
Net cash provided by operating activities 9,646 13,857
Cash Flows From Imesting Activities:
Purchases of property and equipment {5,955) {6,640}
Proceeds from sale of unconsolidated company 2,100 -
Investments in unconsolidated companies {1,488) -
Collections of notes receivable 16 2
Purchases of narketable securities (8,703) {10,281}
Proceeds fromsale of nmrketable scourities 11,6158 15492
*. "+ Net cash used in investing activities 2413) (1,427
Cas h Flows From Financing Activities: )
. " Principal payments under finance lease obligations - (860} {1218)
Dividends paid to common stockholders {3,051) ) (8,748)
.. Issuance of common stock © 8412 -
Repurchase of common shares (9,500 (2482)
" “Entrance feerefunds : ' (668} (171
Net cash used in financing activities (12,067} (12,619
Net Decrease in Cash; Cash Bquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents (4,836) (189)
Casly, Cash Bquivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restrioted Cash Bquivalents, Beginning of Period 125,968 74,865
Cash, Cash Fypivalents, Restricted Cash, and Res tricted Cash Fouivalents, End of Period $ 121,132 74,676
Balance Sheet Classifications:
Cash and cash equivalents b3 93082 % 46,144
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 27,150 28,532
Totat Cash, Cash Eguivalents, Restricted Cash, and Restricted Cash Equivalents $ 121,132 % M,576

The aecompanying notes Lo interim condensed consolidated financial statements ave an infegral part of these consolidated starements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION

For the three months ended March 31, 2024:

Balance at January 1, 2024
Net incene
Other conprehensive loss
Stock-based conpensation
Shares sold — options excreised
Repurchase of conmon sharcs
Dividends declared to conuron stockholders
(80.59 per share) ’
Balance at March 31, 2024

For the three months ended March 31, 2023;

Balance at I anuary 1,2023
Net incorme/(loss}
‘Other comprehensive incone
Stock-based conpensation
Shares seld — options exercised
Repurchase of cormon shares )
Dividends declared to cormon stockholders

($0.57 pershare)
Balance at March 31, 2023

Interim Condensed Consolidated S taterents of Stockhokders” Equity
(inthousands, except shave and per share amounis)

(naudited)
Accumulated
Capitalin Other Non- Total
Cormon Stock Excess of Retained Comprehensive controlling Stockholders’
Sharcs Atrount Par Valuc Eamings Loss Interest Fquity
15350661 % 153 27604 § 687,599 § {600 $ L728 § 910480
- - - 26213 - 38 26,251
- - - -~ 457 - “37)
- — 793 - - - 793
150,154 1 8412 - - - 8413
(101,131) - {9,900) - - - {9,500)
— - - (9,086) — - (9,086)
15399724  $ 154 226508 § 704726 % (7,041} § 1,766 926,514
Accunlated
Capitalin Other Non- Total
Common Stock Fcess of Retained Comprehensive controlling Stockholders®
Shares Amount Par Value Earnings Income J.085) Interest Fquity
15,357,746 % 153 26991 % 656,664 3 9532y 3 3238 § 877,514
— — - 11,723 - (438) 11,285
- - - - 1,679 - 1,679
- - 639 - - - 639
7,046 - - - - - -
(44,349) - (2482} - - - {2,482)
— - - (8,733) - - (8,733)
15320443 % 153 225,148 % 639,654 % (7.853) 3 2,800 879,502

The gecompanying rotes to interim condensed consolidated financial statemenis are ar integral part of these comsolidated statements.
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NATIONAL HEALTHCARE CORPORATION
Notes te Interim Condensed Censolidated Financial Statemments
March 31, 2024
{unaudited)

Note 1 —Description of Business

National HealthCare Corporation ("NHC” or the "Cormpany™) is a leading provider of scnior health carc services. As of March 31, 2024, we oporatc ot manage, through
certain affiliates, 65 skilled nursing facilities with a total of 8421 licensed beds, 24 assisted living facilities with 1,365 units, five independent living facllities, three behavioral health
hospitals, 35 homecare agencics, and 30 hospice agencies. We oporate specialized carc units within certain of our healthcare conters such as Alzheimer's discase care units and
sub-acute nursing units, In addition, we provide insurance services, management and accounting services, and we lease properties to eperators of skilled nursing and assisted
living facilities, We operate in § states and arc located primarily in the southeastem United States.

Note 2 — Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

The listing below is not intended to be a comprehensive List of all our significant eccounting policics. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particnlar transaction is
specifically dictated by U.S. generally accepted accounting prineiples ("GAAP™), with limited need for management’s judgment in their application, There are also areas in which
management’s judgment in selecting any available altemative wouid not produce a materially different result, Sec our audited Decerober 31, 2023 consolidated financial statemonts
and notes thereta which contain accounting policies and other disclosures required by U8, GAAP. Our audited Decewber 31, 2023 consalidated financial sialements are availablo
at our web site; www.nhecare.com

Basis of Presentation

The unaudited interim condensed consolidated financial statements 1o which these notes are attached include all normal, recurring adjusinents which are necessary to
fairly present the financial position, results of operations and cash flows of NHC, All significant intercompanty transactions and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
The consolidated financial statements nclude the accounts of all entities controlled by NHC, The Conpany presents noncontrolling inferest within the equity section of its
consolidated balance sheets. The Company presents the amount of consolidated net income that is atiributable to NHC and the noncontroliing interest in its consolidated
statements of operations.

We assume that users of these interim financial statements have read or have access to the audited December 31, 2023 consolidated financial statements and that the
adequacy of additional disclosure needed for a fair presentation, except in regard to material contingencies, may be detemined in that contoxt, Accordingly, footnotes and other
disclosures which would substantially duplicate the disclosure contained in our most recent annual repert to stockhiolders have been omitted. This interim financial infonmation is
not necessarily indjcative of the results that may be expected for a full year for a varicly ofreasons,

Estimates and Assumptions

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires us to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and
liabjlitics and disclosure of contingent assets and liabllities at the date of the financial statenents and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
Actual results could differ from those estimates and could eause our reperted net income to vary significantly fromperiod to period.

Net Patient Revenues and Accounts Recetvable

Net patient revenues are derived from services rendered fo patients for skilled and intemediate nursing, rehabilitatiots therapy, assisted living and independent living,
home health care services, hospice services, and behaviora! health services. Net patient revenue is reported at the amount that refieets the consideration to which the Company
expects to be entitled in exchange for providing patient services. These amotnts are due from patients, governmental progrars, and other third-party paycrs, and include veriable
consideration for retroactive revenue adjustments due to settlement of audits, reviews, and investigations,

The Conpany recognizes revenue as its performance obligations are completed. Routine services are treated as 4 single performatee obligation satisfied over time as
services are rendered, These routine services tepresent a bundle of services that are not capable of being distinct, The performance obligations are satisfied over time as the
patient simuiltaneously receives and consumes the benefits of the healthcare services provided. Additionally, there may be ancillary services which arc not included in the daily
rates for routine services, but instead ure treated as sepamie performance obligations satisfied at a point in time when these services are rendered. Contract liabilities are recorded
for payments the Company receives in which performance obligations have not been conpleted.
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The Company determines the transaction price based on established billing mtes reduced by explicit price concessions provided to third party payors. Baplicit price
concessions are based on contractual agreements and historical experience, The Company considers the patient's ability and intent to pay the amount of consideration upon
admission, Credit losses are recorded as bad dobt expense, which is included as a component of other operating expenses in the fterim condensed consolidated statements of

———————— opemations—Bad-dobt-cxpense was-$2,471,000-an4-$1,811,000.for.the three months_ended Manch_31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, As of March 31, 2024, and Dgcermber 31, 2023, the

Conpany has recorded allowance for doubtfil accounts of $9,174,000 and $8,054,000, respectively, as our best estimate of expected losses inherent in the accounts receivable
balance.

Other Revenues

Other revenyes include revenues from the provision of insurnce services, management and accounting services to other long-totm care providers, and rental income.
Our insurance revenucs consist of promiums that are generally paid in advance and then amortized into income over the policy period. We chatge for management services based
on a percentage of net rovenues. We charge for accounting scrvices bascd on a monthly fee or 2 fixed fee per bed of the healthcare center under contract. We record other
revenues as the performance obligations are satisfied based on the terms of our contractual amangements.

We recognize rental incorre based on the terms of our operating leases, Under certain of our leases, we receive variable rent, which is based on the inciease in revenues of
o lesses over a base year. We recognize variable rent annually or monthly, as applicable, when, based on the actual revenue of the lessce is eamed.

Segment Reporfing

n accordance with the provisions of Accounting Standards Codification ("ASC") 280, Segment Reporiing. the Company is requited lo report fmancial and descriptive
information about its reportable opetating segments. The Company has two reportable operating segments: {1} inpatient s¢rvices, which includes the operation of sldlled nutsing
facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) homecare and hospice services, The Company also reports an "all ather” categery that
inclades rovenues from rental income, munagement and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office, Sec Note 6 for further disclosure of the
Corpany’s operating segments,

Other Gperating Expenses

Other opersting expenses include the costs of care and services that we provide to the residents of our facilities and the costs of neintaining our facilities. Our primary
patient care costs include drugs, medical supplies, purchased professional services, food, and professional liability msurance and licensing fees, The primary facility costs include
utilities and property insurance,

General and Administrative Costs

With the Company being a healthcare provider, the majority of cur expenses are "cost of revenue” itens. Costs that could be classified as "general and adiministrative” by
the Company would include its corparate office costs, excluding stock-based compensation, which were 56,164,000 and $5,653,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, respectively.

Long-Term Leases

The Company's lease portfolio prinatily consists of operating real estate leases for certain skilled mussing facilities, assisted and independent living facilities, homecare
and hospice offices, and pharmacy warehouses, The origial tems of the leases typically range fromtwo to fiftecn years. Scveral of the real estate leases include renowal opfions
which vary in length and may not include specific ront renewal amounts. We detormine if an arrangement is a lease at inception of a contract. We determine the lease term by
assuming exereise of renewal options that are reasonably certain. :

The Company records right-cf-use assets and fabilitics for non-cancelable real estate operating leases with original ot remaining lease terms in excess of one year. Leases
with a leage term of 12 months or less at inception are not recorded and arc expenised on a straight-line bagis over the lease teom We recognize lease components and non-lease

components together and not as separate parts of a lease for real estate leases.
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Operating leese right-of-use assets and Habilities are recorded at the present value of the lease payments over the lease term The present value of the lease payments are
discounted using the incremental horrowing mte associated with each lease. The variable components of the lease payment that fluctuate with the operations of a health facility are
not included in determining the right-of-use assets and lease fiabilitics, Rather, these variable components are expensed as incurred.

Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are recorded at cost, Depreciation s provided by the straight-line method over the expeeted useful tives of the assols cstimated as follows:
buildings and improvements, 2040 years and equipment and fumiture, 3-15 years. Leasehold inprovements arc amortized over periods that do not excecd the non-cancelzble
respective lease terms using the straight-line method.

Busiiess Combinations

We account for acquisitions using the acguisition method of accounting in accordance with ASC 805, Business Combinations, Acquisitions are accounied for as
purchases and are included in our consolidated financial statements from their respective acquisition dates. Assets acquired and Liabilities assuimed, if any, are measured at fair
value on the acquisition date using the appropriate valuation method. Goodwill generated fiom acquisitions is recognized for the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of
tangible and ilentifiable intangible assets acquired and Labilities assumed. In determining the fair value of identifiable assets, we use various valuation techniques. These
valuation metheds require us to make estinates and assumptions suttounding projected revenues and costs, future growth, and discount rates. '

Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

Coodwill represents the excess of the purchase price over the fair value of identifiable net assets aequired in business combinaticns, Goodwill is not amortized but is
subject to an annual impairment test. We perform our annual goodwill impainment assessment on the first day of the fourth quarter. Tests are petformed more frequently if events
oceur, or circunstances change that woukd mors likely than not reduce the fair value ofthe reporting unit below its carrying amount.

The Company’s indefinile-lived intangible assets consist of trade nawmes and cextificates of need and licenses, The Company reviews indefinite-lived intangible assets for
impaimmant on an annual basis or more frequently if events erchanges in circustances indicate that the carrying amount of the intangible asset may not be recoverable,

Accrued Risk Reserves

We are self-insured for risks related to workers® conpensation and general and professional Habilily insurance, We have two wholly—owned linited purpose insurance
companies that insure these risks. The acorued risk reserves include a liability for teported cliims and estimates for incurred but unreported claims. Cur policy Is to engage an
external, independent actuary to assist in estinating our exposure for clains obligations {for both asserted and unasserted claims). We reassess our accrued risk reserves on a
quartetly basis,

Professional fiability remains an area of particular concem te us. The long-term care industry has seen an increase fn personal injury/wrongful death claims based on
alleged negfigence by skilled nursing facilities and their enployees in providing care to residents. The Company has been, and continues Lo be, subject to claing and legal actions
that arise in the ordinaty course of business, incliding potential clatms related to patient care and treatment. A significant increage in the number ofthese claiirs, or an increase in
the amounts due as a result of these claims could have a naterial adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, resulls of operations and cash flows. It is also possible that
future events could cause us to nake significant adjustments or revisions to these reserve estimates and cause our reported net incorae to vary sigrificantly fromperied to period.

We arc principally self-insured for incidents accurring in all centers owned or leased by us. The coverages include both primary poticies and excess policies. In all years,
settlements, if any, in excess of available insurance policy lintits and our own reserves would be expensed by us.
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Continuing Care Contracis

We have one continuing care retirement center ("CCRC’} within our operations. Residents at this retirement center may enter into continuing care contracts with us, The

_contmetsprovide that L0%.of the resident entry_fee becomes.non-refundable upon oceupancy, and the remaining refundable portion of the entry fee is calculated using the lesser

ofthe price at which the apartment is re-assigned or 90% of the original entry fee, plus 40% ofany appreciation if the apartment valuc exceeds the original resident’s entry fee.

Non-refimdable fees are included as a component of the transaction price and are amortized into revenue over the actuarily determined remzining life of the resident,
which is the expected period of occupancy by the resident. We pay the refundable portion of our entry fees to residents when they relocate from our community and the apartment
is re-occupied, Refindable entrance fees are not inchided as part of the transaction price and are classified as noncurrent liahilitics in cur consolidated balance sheets.

We also anaually cstimate the present value of the cost of future services and the use of facilitics 1o be provided to the current CCRC residents and corpare that amount
with the balanee of non-refundable deferred revenue fiom entrance fees received. If the prosent value of the cest of future services caceeds the related anticipated revenues, a
Jiability is recorded with 2 corresponding charge to income, As of March 31, 2024, and Decembor 31, 2023, we have recorded a future service obligation liability in the amount of
$1,606,000, This obligation is reflected within other noncurrent labilities in the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets,

Other Noncurrent Liabilities

Other noncurrent liablitics include reserves primatily related to various uncertain incorme tax positions, deforred revenue, and obligations to provide fufure services to our
COCRC residents, Deferred revenue includes the deferred gain en the sale of assets to National Health Corporation ("National”) and the non-refondable portion (10%) of CCRC
entrance fees being amortized over the remaining life expectancies of the residents.

Other noncurrent liabilities akso include funds received related to the Fnployee Retention Credit ("ERC"), a refundable tax credif for businesses that sustained a partial
suspension of operations limiting commerce due to COVID-19 erhad significant declines in gross receipts during 2020 and 2021.

Noncontrolling Interest

The noncontrolling interest in a subsidiary is presented within total equity in the Company's interim condensed consolidated balance sheets, The Conpany presents the
noncontroliing interest and the amount of consolidated net incone attributabls to NHC in is interim condensed consolidated statements of operations. The Company's samings
per share is calculated based on net income attributable to NHC's stockholders. The carying amount of the noncontrolling interest & adjusted based on an allocation of the
subsidiary eamings, contritutions, and distributions,

Variable Interest Entities

We have equity interests in unconsolidated limited liability companies that operate various post-acute and senior healthcare businesses. We analyze our investnents in
these Lmited liability conpanies to determine if the company is considered a variable interest entity ("VIE") and would require consolidation, To the extent that we own interests i
a VIE and we {i) have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and {ii) have the obligation ot rights to absorb the VIES losses or receive its benefits, then we would be
determined to be the primary beneficiary and would consolidate the VIE. Te the extent we own interests i a VIE, then at each reporting period, we re-assess our conclugions as to
which, ifany, party within the VIBis considercd the primary beneficiary.

The Company's maximim exposire o losses in its investments in uncensolidated VIFs cannoi be quantified and may ormay not be fmied to its investment in the

unconsolidated VIE. The investments in unconsolidated VIEs are clagsified as "nvestments in unconsolidated companies™ in the interim condensed consolidated balance sheets.

Recently Lsued Accounting Guidance

In November 2023, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB”) issncd Accounting Standards Update (" ASU"Y Na. 2023-07, " Segment Reporting (Topic 280);
Improvement to Reportable Segment Disclosures”” The ASU improves reportable segment disclosure requirements, primarily through enhanced disclosures about significant
segment expenses. In addition, the amendments enhance interim disclosure requirements, clarify circumstances in which an entity can disclose multiple segwent measures of
profit and loss, and contain ether disclosure requirements. This ASU is effective for scal years beginning afier December 15, 2023, which will be the Company's fiscal year
2024, and interim periods within fiscal years beginning after Decermber 15, 2024, We are currently evaluating (ke itnpact this standard will have on our disclosures,
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Note 3 — Net Patient Revenues

-——————-——Fhe Conpany disaggregates revenue-fromrcontracts-with-customers-by-service type-and by-payos

Reventie by Service Type

The Company’s net patient services can generlly be classified into the following two categories: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skilled nursing
Tacilities, assisted and independent living facilities, and behavioral health hospitals, and (2) homecare and hospice sctvices (in thotsands).

Net patient revenues:
Inpatient services
Honecare and hospice
Totel net patient revenues

Three Months Ended

March 31
2024 2023
b 252254 § 226,169
33,569 31,838
§ 285823 % 258,007
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- For inpatient and hospice services, revenue is recognized on a daily basis as each day represonts & separate contrac and perfonnance obligation, For honecare, revenue
is rco.ogmzed when services are provided based on the number of days of service rendered in the period of care oron a per-visit basis. Typicafly, patients and third-party payors
are billed monthly afier services are performed or the patient is discharged, and payments are duc based on contract tems,

As our perfermance obligations relate to contracts with a duration of one year or less, the Company is not required to disclose the aggregate amount of the transaction
price allocated to performance obligations that are uasatisficd or partially unsatisfied at the end of the reporting period. The Company has ninimal unsatisfied performance
obligations at the end of the reporting period as our patients are typically undor no obligation Lo remain admitted in cur facilities or under our carc. As the period between the time
of serviee and time of payment is typically one year or less, the Company did net adjust for the effevts of a significant financing component.

Revejue by Payor

Certain groups of patients receive funds ta pay the cost of their care froma conmon source, The following table scts forth sources of tict patient revenues for the periods
ndicated:

Three Months Ended

March 31
Source . 2024 2023
Medicare T i ’ o ’ 34% 36%
Managed Care 16% 1%
Medicaid B ' - 28% 2%
Private Pay and Other ) 28% 26%
Total ) ' 100% 100%

Medicare covers skilled nursing services for beneficlaries who require aursing care and/or rehabilitation services following a hospitalization of at least three consecutive
days. For each eligible day a Medicare beneficlaty is ina skdlled mursing facility, Medicare pays the facility a daily payment, subject to adjustment for certain factors such as a wage
indexin the geographic arca, The payment covers all services provided by the skilied nursing facility for the beneficiary that day, including room and beard, nursing, therapy and
drugs, ns well as an estimate of capilab-related costs to deliver those services.

For homceare services, Medicare pays based on the acuity level of the patient and based on periods of care, A period of care is defined 2s a length of care up to 30 days
with rmaltiple continuous petods allowed. The services covered by the payment include all disciplines of care, in addition to medical supplies, within the scope of the home health
benefit,

For hospice services, Medicare pays 2 daily rate to cover the hospice’s costs for praviding services included in the patient care plan. Medicare mekes daily payments
based on 1 o4 levels of hospice care. All hospice care and services offered to patients and their families rmust follow an individualized written plan of carc that meets the patient’s
necds.

Our hospice service revenue is subject to certaln limitations on payments from Medicare, We are subject to an inpatient cap limit and an overall Medicare payment cap for
cach provider sumber. We monitor these caps on a provider-by-provider basis and estirate amounts due back to Medicare if we estimate a cap has been exceeded. If applicable,
we record these cap adjustments as a reduction to revenue,

Medicaid is operated by individual states with the financial patticipation of the federal government. The states in which we operate currently use prospective cost-based
reimbursement systems. Under cost—based reimbursemont systemns, the skilled nursing facility is reimbursed for the reasonable direct and indirect allowable costs it incurred in a
base year in providing routine resident care services as defined by the progratm.

Private pay, managed care, and other payment sources include commercial insurance, individual patient funds, menaged care plans and the Veterans Administration,
Private paying patients, private insurance camiers and the Veterans Administration generally pay based on the healthcare center's charges or specitically negotiated contracts. For
private pay patients in skilled nursing, assisted living and independent living facilities, the Company bills for room and board charges, with the remittance being due on receipt of
the statermeitt and generally by the 10th day of the month the services ate performed.

Certain managed care payors for homecaro services pay on a per-visit basis. This revenue is recorded on an accrual basis based upon the date of sorvices at amounts
equal ta its established or estimated per-visit rates.
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State Relief Supplemental Funding

The Company received supplemental Medicaid payrents from various states, including healthcare relief fanding under the Anetican Rescue Plan Act ("ARPA") and
————-0t-her—sta-te—-s-peelﬁc—-relieﬁpragran’s—.—'[—he—ﬁmding-geneml}y-'mcorporates_spcciﬁc_use_.rcquitements__pﬁnnﬂly_far__djrc“(ﬂ_patiant care_ inchiding fabor related expenses or various

patient care related expenses. We have recorded $3,462,000 and $4,383,600 in net patient revenues for these supplemental Medicaid payments for the three months ended March
31, 2624 and 2023, respectively.

Contract Liabilities

Included in the Company’s interim condensed consolidated balance sheels are contract Habilities, which represent paynents the Company receives in advance of services
provided. As of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, the Company has recorded $7,667,000 and $0, respectively, in contract Jiabilities related to receipts during the first quarter
012024 from the Change Healthcare/Optum Payment Distuption ("CHOPDY') Accelerated and Advance Payment program Thege payments were issued to providers who
experienced delays In the submission or processing of Medicare clalms payiments as a result of the Change Healthcare/Optum cyber ineident, which began Febmary 21, 2024,
Recoupment of the accelerated payments began in the first quarter 02024,

A summary of the activity related to contract liabilities follows {in thonsands):

Balance at December 31,2023~ - e i : $

Payments received . 9,881

Payments recouped 0 e ’ ) (2,214
Balance at March 31, 2024 b 7,667
Third Party Payors

Laws and regulations govering the Medicare and Medicaid programs are conplex and subject to nterpretation. Nonconpliance with such laws and regulations can be
subject to regulatory actions including fines, penalties, and exchusion from the Medicare and Medicaid programs. We belisve that we are following ali applicable laws and
regulations.

Medicare and Medicaid pregram rovenues, as well as ceriain Managed Care program revenues, ars subject to audit and retroactive adjustment by govemment
representatives or their agents, Settlements with third-party payors for retroactive adjustments due to audits, reviews or investigaticns are considered variable consideration and
are included in the determination of the estinated transaction price for providing patient care, These scitlements are estimated based on the ters of the payment agreemont with
the payor, correspondence from the payor and the Conpany’s histarical settlement activity, including an assessment to ensute that it is probable fhat a significant reversal in the
amount of cumlative revenue recognized will not ocour when the uncertainty associated with the retroactive adjustent is subsequently Tesolved. Fstinated settlements are
adjusted in future perieds as adjustments becomo imown, or as years are settied or arono longer subject to such audits, reviews, and investigations, We belicve that any
differences botween the net revenues recorded, and final determination will not materially affect the consolidated financizl statements. We have made provisions of approximately
$19,98%,000 and $18,36%,000 as of March 31, 2024 and Deeember 31, 2023, respectively, for various Medicare, Medicaid, and Managed Care claims reviews and cutrent and prier
year cost roports.

Note 4 — Other Revenues

Other revenues are outlined in the table below. Revesues from rental income include health care real estate properties owned by us and leased to third party operators.
Revenues from management and accounting services include fees provided to manage and provide accounting services to other healthcare operators. Revenues from insurance
services inofude premiums for workers’ compensation and professional liability insurance policies that our wholly owned insurance subsidiaries have written for certain healthcare
operaters to which we provide maragement or accounting services. "Other” revenues inchide miscellaneous heelth care related eamings (in theusands).

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Rental income $ 595 § 6,043
Management and accounting services fees 4,438 4,057
Insurance services 872 1,048
Other 84 368
Total other revenues b 11,383 & 11,556

Rentual Income

The Company leases real estate assets consisting of skilled nursing facilities and assisted living facilities to third party operators. Additionally, we sublease four Florida
skilled nursing facilities included in our lease fromNational Health Investors ("NHI™) as noted in Note 7— Long Term Leases.

Management Fees from National Health Corporation

We rmanage five skilled nwsing facilities owned by National Health Corporation ("Naticnal”}. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, we recognized
managenent fees and interest on management fees of $1,320,000 and $1,190,000, respectively, for these centers,

15




Table of Contents
Insurance Services

For workers’ compensation insurance services, the premium revenues reflected i the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations for the three menths
—___ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were. $582,000.and $736,000, respectively Associated losses and expenses including those for self-insurance are mcluded in the interim condensed

consolidated statements of operations as "Salarics, wages and benefits."

For professional liability nsurance services, the premium revenues reflected in the interim condensed consclidated statements of operations for the three months ended
March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $290,000 and $312,000, respectively. Associated losses and expenses including those for sclf-msurance are included in the mterim condensed
consolidated statements of operations as "Other operating costs and cxpenses™.

Note 5 — Non—Operating Income

Non—operating income is corprised of the following (in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31
2024 2023
Dividends and net realized gains and losses on sales of securities b 2,056 1,233
Tnterest income 2,538 1,355
Equity in eamings of unconsolidated investments ' 67 1,535
Cain on sale of unconsolidated company 1,024 -
Total non-operating income $ 5685 % 4323

Gain on sale ofunconsolidated company

Tn January 2024, the Company sold its 50% joint venture ownership interest in a homecars agency located in Mashville, Tennessee. The total consideration paid to the
catmpany was $2,100,000, which resulted in a gain of 51,024,000,

Note 6 — Business Segments

The Company has twe reportable operating segmenis: (1) inpatient services, which includes the eperation of skilled nursing facilities, assisted and independent living
facilities, end behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services. These reportable operating segments are consistent with mformation used by the Company’s
Chicf Executive Officer, as chief operating decision maker {'CODM?”), to assess performance and allocate resources. The Company also reports an "all other” category that
inctudes revenues from rental income, management and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office,

The Company’s CODM cvaluates perfornmance and allocates capital resources to cach segment based on an operating model that is designed to inprove the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Company while enhancing jong-term shareholder value. The CODM does not review assets by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,

assets by segment are nat disclosed below,

16




Table of Contents

The following table sets forth the Conpany’s unandited interim condensed consolidated statements of cperations by business segment (in thousands).

Three Months Ended March 37, 2024

lupatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Cther Taotal
Reveoues:
Net patient revenues 252254 % 33,560 - 8 285,823
Other revennes 15 - 11,338 11,353
Net operating revenunes 252,269 33,569 11,338 291,176
Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 150,850 21,009 11,239 183,138
Other operating 68,683 5972 2,774 77,429
Rent * - 8,112 566 1,670 10,348
Depreciation and amortization 9,630 187 769 10,586
Interest ) 46 - - 46
Total costs and expenses 237,361 27,734 16,452 281,547
Income/{loss) frem operations 14,908 5,835 (5,114 15,625
Non-operating income - - 5,685 5,683
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities - - 14,399 14,399
Income before incone taxes 14,908 b3 5,833 14970 § 35,713
Three Mouths Fnded March 31, 2023
Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hespice All Other Total
Revenues:
Net patient revenues 226169 % 31,838 - 5 258,007
QOther revenues 271 - 11,285 11,556
Net opcmting revenues 226440 31,838 11,285 269,363
Costs and expenses:
Salaties, wages, and benefits 138,939 20,244 8,641 167,824
Other operating 62,2064 5499 3726 N,A489
Rent 8,168 558 1,366 10,092
Depreciation and amortization 9,117 185 46 10,048
Interest 98 - .- 98
Total costs and expenses 218,586 26486 14,479 259,551
Incone/(loss) fromoperations 7,854 5,352 (3,194} 10,012
Non-operating income - - 4,323 4,323
Unrealized gains on morketable equity securities - - 1,386 1,386
Income before incotro taxes 7854 § 5,352 2515 § 15,721
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Note 7— Long-Term Leases

—————0peratingLeuses

At March 31, 2024, we lease fom NHI the real property of 28 slilled nursing facilities, five assisted living centers and three independent living centers under cne lease
agreement, As part of the lease agreement, we sublease four Flotida skilled nusing facilities to a third-party operator, The lease includes base rent plus a percentage rent. The
annual base rent is $32,625,000 in 2024, $32,225,000 in 2025, and $31,975,000 in 2026 with the lease torm expiring in December 2026, The percentage rent is based on a quaretly
calcylation of revenue increases and is payable on a quarterly basis. Total facility rent expense to NHI was 56,472,000 and $9,295,000 for the three months endsd March 21, 2024
and 2023, respectively.

Minimum Lease Pavments

The following table surmarizes the maturity of our operating lease fabilities as of March 31, 2024 {in thousands):

QOperating
Leascs
w025 Lo $ 34,351
2026 33,550
027 e T 24,933
2028 493
2029 - 207
Thereafter o 21
Totzl minirum lease payments ) 93,595
Less: amounts representing interest {7,858)
Present value of future minimuim lease payments 85,737
Less: current portion (29,733}
Nongurrent lease labilities 3 56,004
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Note 8 — Earnings per Share

-——— - asicnet-income-per-share-is-computed-based-en-the-weighted-average-mimber of common-sh ares-outstanding for cach. period presented. Diluted net income per share —_
reflects the potential dilution that would have oceurred if securities to issue conmon stock were exercised, converted, or resulted in the issuance of common stock that would have
then shared in our earnings.

The following table summarizes the eamings and the weighted average number of common shares used in the calculation of basic and diluted eamings per share {in
thousands, except for share and per share amounts);

Three Months Ended
warch 31
2024 2023
Basic: i
We_ightcd average common shares outstanding 15,350,240 15,337,423
Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation b 26213 % 11,723
Eamings per conmon share, basic 3 L71 § 0.76
Diluted:
Weighted average conmon shares outstanding 15,350,240 15,337,423
Effects of dilutive instruments 154,856 18,912
Weighted average common sharcs outstanding 15,505,096 15,356,335
Net income attributable to National HealthCare Corporation 3 26213 % 1,73
$ 169 § 0.76

Farnings per conanon share, diluted

For the three months ended March 31, 2024, 245,726 stock options have been excluded fomthe caleulation of diluted weighted average shares of common stock
outstanding because the inclusion of these securities would have an anti-dilutive effect, For the three months ended March 31, 2023, 691,580 stock options have been exchided
from the calculation of diluted weighted average shares of comimon stock outstanding because the inclusion ofthese securities would have an anti-dilutive effect.

Note 9 — Investments in Marketable Securitics

Our investments in marketable equity sccurities are carried af falt vahue with the changes in unrealized gains and losses recognized in our results of eperations at each
measirement date. Our investments in marketable dobt securities are classified as available for sale securities and catried at fair vahic with the unrealized gains and losses
recegnized through accumulated other comprehensive ingeine at each measurenent date, Any creditaciated decline in fair market values below the amortized cost of our available
for sale debt scoutities are recorded in our results of eperations through an allowance for credit losses, Realized gams and losses fomsecuritics sales are recognized in results of
operations upon disposition of the securities using the specific identification method on a trade date basis, Refer to Note 10 for a deseription of the Company's tethodology for
determining the fair value of marketable securities.

Marketable securities consist ofthe following (in thousands):

March 31,2024 Decetrber 31, 2023
Amortized Fair Anortized Fair
Cost Value Cost Value
Investments available for sale:
Marketable equity securities b3 30176 % 123040 % 30176 5 111,117
Corporate debt securities o R o 494 a8 2,497 2441
U8, Treasury securities ) ) : } - - 2,990 2,986
Restricted investments available for sale;
Marketable equity securities 24,455 29,616 24,134 26,779
Corporate debt securities 61,488 59,398 59,586 57,731
Asset-based securities 19,026 17,438 19,388 17,659
U.8. Treasury securities 47323 43,004 46,771 42,863
State and nunicipal securities 4079 3,992 4,106 4,047
$ 167,081 % 276972 § 189,648 265,623
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Included in the marketable equity securities are the following (in thousands, except share amounts):

March 31, 2024 Decetber 31, 2023
Fair. Fair
Shares Cost Value Shares Cost Vaiue
NHI Common Stock o o6 % 24,734 % 102,453 1,630,642 § 24734 % 91,071

The amortized cost and estimated fair vahie of debt securities classified as available for sale, by contractual maturity, are as follows (in thousands):

March 31,2024 December 31, 2023
Fair Falr
Cost Value Cost Value
Maturities:

Within 1 year ) $ 21,298 % 20,785 % 19664 $ 16,328
1to 5years - 71,738 73370 81,517 77,118
6to 10 yeurs 32,012 28,925 33,515 30,802
Over 10 years S RN 1,361 1,236 642 479
$ 132410 % 124316 % 135,338 § 127,721

v

Gross unrealized gains related to marketable equity securities are $98,439,000 and $34,514,000 as of March 31, 2024 and Decermber 31, 2023, respectively. Gross unrealized
losses related to marketable equity securities are $474,000 and $928,000 as of March 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and
2023, the Company recognized net unrcalized gains of $14,399,00¢ and $1,386,000, respectively, for the changes in fair market valne of the marketable equity securities in the interim
condensed consolidated statements of operations.

Gross unrealized gains related to available for sale marketable debt sceurities are $179,000 and $326,000 as of March 31, 2024 and Decenber 31, 2023, respectively. Gross
unrealized losses related to available for sale marketable debt securities are $8,273,000 and $7,937,000 as of March 3 1, 2024 and December 31, 2023, respectively.

The Company’s unrealized Iosses in cur available for sale marketable debt securitics were detormined to be non-credit related. The Conpany has not recognized any credit
related itvpairments for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023.

For the marketable sccurities in gross unrealized loss positions, {a) it is more likely than not that the Company will not be required to sell the investment securitics before
recovery ofthe unrealized losses, and (b} the Company expects that the contractual principal and interest will be received on the investment securitics,

Proceeds from the sale of available for sale marketable securities during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023 were $11,615,000 and $15,492,000, respectively.
Investment gains of $344,000 and investreent losses of $492,000 were realized on these sales during the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Note 19 — Fair Valuec Measurements

The accounting standard for fair value measurements provides a framework for acasuring fair value and requires expanded disclosures regarding fair value measurements.
Fair value is defined as the price that would be received for an asset or the exit price that would be paid to transfer a kability in the principal or st advantageous market in an
orderly transaction between nerket participants on the measurenent date. This accounting standard establishes a fair value hierarchy, which requires an cntity to maximize the use
of observable inputs, where avaitable. The following sunmurizes the three levels of inputs that may be used to measure fair value:

Level ] — The valuation & based on guoted prices in active narkets for identical mstruments,

Ievel 2 — The valuation is based an observable inputs such as quoted prices for similar instnuments in active markets, quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in
markets that are not active, and model-based valuation techniques for which all significant assumptions are observable in the market.

Level 3 — The valuation is based on 1nobservable inputs that are supported by minimai or no warket activity and that are significant to the fair value of the instrument. Level 3
valnations are typically performed using pricing models, discounted cush flow methodclogies, or similar technigues that incorporate managerment’s own estimates of
asswptions that market participants would use in pricing the instrunent, or vaty ations that require significant wanagement judgment or estimation.
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A financial instrument’s level within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value neasurement.

The following table summarizes fair value measurerments by level at March 31, 2024 and Decerrber 31, 2023 for assets and Habilities measured at fair value on a recurring

basis-gn-thousands):

Fair Value Measureivents Using

Quoted
Prices in
Active Rignificant
Markets Other Significant
For [dentical Observable Unabservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs
March 31, 2024 Value (Loyel 1) (Level2) {Level3)
Cash and cash equivalents o T $ 03982 93982 % - % -
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 27,150 27,150 - -
Marketable equity securities - 152,656 152,656 - -
Cotporate debt securities _ 59,882 42,611 17,271 -
Asset-backed securities 17,438 — 16,961 477
U.S. Treasury securitics 43,004 43,004 - -
State and municipal securities 3592 - 3,992 -
Total financial assets $ 398,104 § 359403 % 38224 § 477
Fair Value Measurements Using
Quoted
Prices in
Active Significant
Markets Other Significant
For Identical Observable Unobservable
Fair Assets Inputs Inputs :
December 31, 2023 Value (Tevel ) (Level 2) {Level 3)
Cash and cash equivalents - $ 107,076 § 107,076  § - % - ;
Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18,892 18,892 - -
Marketable equity securities B 137,896 137,896 - -
Compoerate debt securifies 60,171 42,860 17,311 -
Asset-backed seourities ' 17,659 - 17,210 449
U.8. Treasury securities 45,850 43,850 - -
State and municipal securities 4,047 — 4,047 —
Total financial assets $ 91,591 S 3555M 3 38,568 § 445

Nate 11 — Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

AtMarch 31, 2024, the Company reviewed the camying value of goodwill for impaimment indicators, As a result of the review, there were no impainrent indicators i
regarding the Company’s goodwill that required a quantitative test to be performed, However, aur accounting estimates could materially change from peried to period due to !
changing market factors, We will continue to monitor future cvents, changes in circunstances, and the potential impact thereof, If actual results are not consistent with cur
assumptions and cstimates, we may be exposed to future goodwill impaimment losses.

At March 31, 2024, the following table represents the activity related to our goodwill by segment (in thousands):

Inpatient Homecare

Services and Hospice All Other Total !
January 1, 2024 $ 3741 % 164,554 % - $ 168,295
Additiens - - - -
March 31, 2024 $ 341§ 164,554 § - 8§ 168,295

We also have recorded indefinite-lived intangible assets that consist of trade names ($4,340,000) and certificates of need and licenses (52,698,000,
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Note 12 - Stock Repurchase Program

——“'Burhrg'th&thnee-months—cndcd—March—}l-,-2024,—t-he—Eorrpa-ny—repumh-aseé—}-{-]-l—,-]—}}—shares-of—its-samnnn-stock-far-a.tctﬂ1.cosf.of.$9,9.00,DDO_Dudng_the_th:e.e_lmmhs____
ended March 31,2023, the Cotmpany repurchased 44,349 shazes of its cotnmon stock for a total cost of $2,482,000, The shares were funded fromcash on hand and were cancelled

and returned to the stafus of authorized but unissued.

Note 13 — Stock—Based Compensation

NHC recognizes stock-based compensation expense for all stock options granted over the requisite service period using the fair value at the date of grant using the
Black—Scholes pricing model, Stock-based compensation totaled $793,000 and $639,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Stock-based
compensation is included in " Salaries, wages and benefits™ in the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations.

A tMarch 31, 2024, the Company had $7,652,000 of unrecognized compensation cost related to unvested stock-based compensation awards. This vmrecognized
compensation cost will be anvrtized over an approximate three-yeer period.

Stock Options
The following table sunmarizes the significant assumptions used to vale the options granted for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended
December 31, 2023,
March 31, Decenber 31,
2024 2023
Risk—free interest rate 433% 4.52%
BExpected volatility 24.1% 29.3%
Expected lifs, in years 29 29
BExpected dividend vield 2.64% 4.41%
The following table summarizes our cutstanding stock options for the three nmonths ended March 31, 2024 and for the year ended Decenber 31, 2023.
Weighted Aggregate
Number of Average Intrinsic
Shares Exgroise Price Value
Options outstanding at January 1,2023 45144 § 6662 % -
Options granted 299,278 54.44 -
Options exercised (103,481) 64,72 -
Options cancelled (52,407) 60.58 -
Options outstanding at December 31, 2023 588,534 6130 -
Options granted 245,726 94,07 -
Options exercised (137,874} 60.95 -
Qptions outstanding at March 31, 2024 696386  § 729 3 15,025,015
Options exercisable at March 31, 2024 174,105 % 6848 § 4,531,876
Weighted Average
Options Remaining
Quistanding Welghted Average Contractual
March 31, 2024 Bercise Prices Bxercise Price Life in Years
CU3TTAS 5394 - 6919 58.92 3.5
318,981 7164 - 9410 89.51 4.0
" 696,386 7293 3.7
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Note 14 — Incorne Tazes

—————————The-Company’s-incone-taxprov. ision-as-a-perecntage-ofeur-ineomeb ofore-incorme-tanes—was-26,5%-and 28.2% for_the three_months_ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, ..

respectively,

Typieally, these percentages vary fom the U.S. federa statutory income tax rate of 21% primarily due to state income taxes, excess lax benefits from stock-based
conpensation, benefits resulting fom fhe lapsing of statute of limitations of itens in our tax contingency reserve, and non-deductible expenses, For the three months ended March
31, 2024 and 2023, the accrual of state income tax was the most significant reconciling item,

Our quarterly income tax provision, and our estinate of cur annyal elfective income taxrate, is subject to variation due to several factors, including volatility based on the
amount of pre-tax income or loss.

The Conmpany is no lenger subject to LS. federal and state examinations by tax autharities for years before 2020 (with certain state exceptions).

Note 15 — Credit Facility

Tn May 2023, we entered into an unsecured $50,000,000 eredit facility that has a 364-day maturity date. Loans bear interest at the one-month secured overnight financing
tate ("SOFR™) plus 1.25%. If we waintain certain aggregate deposit levels within the financial mstitution, the eredit facility shall bear interest at onc-month SOFR plus 1.10%. The
credit facility is available for general corporate purposes, including working capital and acquisitions. The oredit facility agreement contains customary representations and financial
covenants, including covenants that restrict, among other things, asset dispositions, additiona! indebtedness, investments, sale-lepsebacks, and certain contingent liabilities. The
oredit facility contains customary events of default and remedies.

As of March 31, 2024, the Company had no outstanding balance on the eredit facility. We do not expect to renew this credit facility upon its maturity date.

Note 16 — Contingencies and Cornmitments
Acerved Risk Reserves

‘We have wholly-owned limited purpose insurance companies that insure risks related to workers’ compensation and professional Tiability insurance claims both for cur
owned and leased entities and certain of the entities to which we provide management or accounting services. The liabflity we have recognized for reported claims and estimtes
for incurred but urreported claims totals $108,237,000 and $103,259,000 at March 31, 2024 and Decenber 31, 2023, respectively, The Tiability is inchuded in accrued risk reserves in
the interim conden sed consclidated balance sheets and is subject to adjustoent for actual claims incumed, Tt is pessible that these clains plus nnasserted claims could exceed our
insurance coverages and ourreserves, which could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financial position, results of operations and cash flows,

As 2 result of the tenvs of our insurance policies and our use of wholly owned lindted purpose insurance companies, we have retained significant nsurance risk with
respect te workers’ conpensation and general and professional linbility. We consider the professional services of independent actuardes to assist us in estimating our exposures
for claims obligations (for both asserted and unasserted clains) related to deductibles and exposures i1 excess of coverage limits, and we nmintain reserves for these obligations.
Such estinztes are baged on many varizbles Including historical and statistical information and other factors.

Workers® Compensation

For wotkers' conpensation, we utilize a wholly—owned Tennessee domiciled property/casualty insurance copany to write coverage for NHC affiliates and for th ird—party
customers, Policies are written for a duration of twelve months and cover only risks related to workers' conpensation losses. All customers are companies which operate in the
senior care industry, Business is written on a direct basis.

General and Professional Liability Insurance and Lawsuits

The senior care industry has experienced significant inereases in bath the nunber of personal injury/wrongful death clains and in the severity of awards based upon
alieged negligence by skilled nursing facilities and their employecs in providing care to residents, The Company has been, and continuics to be, subject ta clais and legal actions
that atise it the ordinary course of business, inclading potential claims related to patient care and treatment. The defense of these lawsuits may result in significant legal costs,
regardlzss of the outcome, and can result in large settlement anvunts or damage awards. Additional insurance is purchased through third party providers that serve to supplement
the coverage provided through our wholly owned captive insurance company.

There is certain additional litigation incidental to curbusincss, none of which, based upen inforvation available to date, would be material to our financial position, resulis
of operations, or cash flows, In addition, the long—term care industry is continuously subject to scrutiny by goveminental regulators, which could result in litigation or claims

related to regulatory conphance mmttors,

23




Table of Contents
Qui Tam Litigation

Uniited States of Awerica,_ex rel. Jennifer Cook gnd Sally Gaither v Integrated Behaviora! Health, hic., NHC HealthCare/Moujton, LLC, ol gl., Case No. 2:20-
— CVUBFTAMMND- Al This-is 3 qui tam case-originally_fled under scal. on June 22, 2020_The tnitcd States declined intervention on March 1, 2021. Thereafter, the Plaintiffs
filed an amended Complaint against Dr. Sanja Malhotra, Integrated Behavioral Health, Inc. and other entitics that Dr. Malhotra was alleged to own or in which he allegedly had a
financial interest. The Complaint also named multiple skiled aursing facilities as Defendants, including NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC, an affiliate of National HealthCare
Corporation, The Complaint alieged that nurse practitioners affiliated with Dr. Malhotra provided free services to the facilities in exchange for referrals to entities owned by or in
which Dr. Malhotra had a financial interest i violation of the False Claims Act and Anti-Kickback Statute, NHC Healthcare/Moulton, LLC denied the allegations and filed a motion
to dismiss on November 4, 2021, On Japuary 28, 2022, the distriet court stayed this matter and administratively terminated the motion ta dismiss pending the U.S, Supreme Court's
review of a petition for certiorari filed in an untelated matter but involving one of the legal arguments raised in the motion to dismiss. Thereafter, the U.S. Supreme Court denied the
petition for certiotari it the unrelated matter. As a result, NHC Healthears/Moulton, TLC renewed its motion to dismiss. The District Court granted NHC Healthcare/Moulton’s
Motion to Dismiss, along with other pending Motions to Dismiss, and entered an Order of Dismissal on March 23, 2023 and an Amended Order of Dismissal on April 4, 2023, which
dismissed the case in its entiroty with prejadice with respect to the claims asscrted by the Plaintiffs. The Plaintiffs filed a Notice of Appeal on April 20, 2023 to appeal the dismissal
to the United States Court of Appeals for the Heventh Circuit, On Deceriber 21, 2023, the Heventh Circuit entered an Order affiming the District Court’s dismiszal of the claims.
The time petiod for the Plaintiffs to file a Petition for a Writ of Certiorari with the United States Supreme Court has expired meking the Order affiming dismissal issued by the
Bleventh Circuit final.

Governmental Regularions

Laws and regulations governing Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healtheare programs are cotrplex and subject to interpretation. Management believes that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations in all material respeets. However, conpliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to fulure government review and
interpretation as well ag significant regulatory action including fines, penalties, and exchisions fromthe Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs,

ftem 2, Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations,

Forward-Looking Statenents

References throughout this document to the Conpany inchede Nationa] HealthCare Corporation and its wholly owned subsidiaries. Tn accardance with the Securities and
Exchange Commissions "Plain English” guidelines, this Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q has been written in the first persen. In this document, the words "we”, "our”, "ouss” and

"us” refer only to National HealthCare Corparation and its wholly—owned subsidiaries and ot any other person.

This Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q ang other infornmtion we provide from tine to time, contains certain "forward-looking” statements as that term s defined by the
Private Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995. All siatements regarding our expected future financial position, results of operations or cash flows, continued perfornance
inprovemenis, ability to service and refinance our debt obligations, ability to finance growth apportunities, ability to control our patient care Lability costs, ability to respond fo
changes in govemment regulations, ability to exccute our three—year strategic plan, and sinilar statements including, without limitations, those containing words such a3
"believes”, “anticipates”, “expeots”, "intends”, "estimates”, "plans”, and other similar expressions arc forward-Jooking statements,
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. Forward—looking statenents involve known and unknown risks and uncertainties that may cause our actual results in future periods to differ materially from those
projected or conterplated in the forward—looking statements as a result of, but not limited to, the following factors:

e national and local cconomic conditions, including their effect on the availability and cost of labor, utilities and materials;

o the offect of government regulations and changes in regulations goveming the healthcare industry, including our compliance with such regunlations;

s changes in Medicare and Medicaid payment levels and methodologies and the application of such methodologies by the government and its fiscal intermediaries;

¢ liabilities and other claims asserted against us, inchading patient care Babilities, as well as the resolation of eurrent litigation (see Note 16: Contingencies and Commitments);
e the ability to attract and retain qualified personnel;

s the availability and tertrs of capital to fund acquisitions and capital improverents;

s the competitive environnent in which we operate;

e ouwrneed to make investments continually in our processes and informmtion systens to protect the privacy of patients, partners and other persons and reduce the risk of
success fill eybersecurity attacks;

e damage to our reputation, regulatory penalties, legal clains and liability under state and federal laws that we could suffer upon any cybersecurity or privacy breaches;
e the ability to maintain and increase census levels; and
s demographic changes.

See the notes to the quarterly financial statements, and "Ttem 1. Business” in our 2023 Anrual Repert on Form 10-K for a discussion of various govemmental regulations
and other operating factors relating to the healthcare industry and the risk factors inherent in them This may be found on our web site at wwwnhceare.com. You should carefully
consider these risks before meking any investiment in the Company. These risks and uncertainties are not the only ones facing us. There may be additional risks that we do not
presently know of or that we currently deem inmaterial. Ifany of the risks ccour, our business, financial condition or results of operations could be materially adversely affected. In
that case, the trading price of our shares of stock could decling, and you may lose &l or part of your investment. Given these risks and uncertainties, we can give no assurances
that these forward—looking statements will, in fact, transpire and, therefore, caution investors not to place undue reliance on them

Overview

National HealthCare Corporation {"NHC" or the "Company™) is a leading provider of senior health care services. As of March 31, 2024, we operatc or manage, through
certain affiliates, 65 skilled nursing facilities with a total of 8421 licensed beds, 24 assisted living facilities with 1,365 units, five independent living facilities, three behavioral health
hospitals, 35 hotmecare agencies, and 30 hospice agencles. We operate specialized care units within certain of our healthcare centers such as Alzhcimers disease care units and
sub-acute nursing units. In addition, we provide insurance services, management and accounting services, and we lease propetties to opetators of skilled nursing and assisted
living facilities, We operate in § states and are located primarily in the southeasterm United States.

Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Seryices Minimum Staffing Standards

On April 22, 2024, the Centers for Medicare and Medicaid Services ("CMS”) issued the Mininmm Staffing Standards for Long-Temn Care ("LI'C") Facilities and Medicaid
Institutional Payment Transparency Reporting final nule. Included in this final rule are new conprehensive minimum nurse staffing requiroments, which aim to significantly reduce
the risk of residents receiving unsate and low-qaality care within ITC facilities. CMS is finalizing a total nurse staffing standard of 3.48 howrs per resident day (""HPRD™), which
st inchude at feast 0.55 HPRD of direct vegistered nurse ("RIN") cate and 2,45 HPRD of direct nurse aide care. Facilities may use any combination of nurse staff (RN, licensed
practical nurse and licensed vocational nurse, or nurse aide) to account for the additional 0.48 HPRD needed to comply with the total nusse staffing standard,
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CMS is also finalizing enhanced facility assessment requirements and a requirement to have an RN onsite 24 hours & day, seven days a weck ("24/7"), to provide skilled
nursing care, The 24/7 RN onsife can be the Director of Nursing; however, they must be available to provide direct resident care.

This fingl rale provides a staggered invplementation timeframe of the ninimum nurse stafling standards and a 24/7 RN requirement based on geographic location, as well as

possible exemptions for qualifying facilities for some patts of these requirerments based on workdorce unavailability and other factors.

Surmmary of Goals and Areas of Focus
Oceupancy

A primary area of management focus continues to be the rates of occupancy within our skilled nursing facilities, The overall census in owned and leased skilled nursing
facilities for the three months ending March 31, 2024 was 88.5% compared to 87.4% for the same period a year ago.

Due to America’s healthcare labor shortage, the challenge of maintaining desirable patient census levels has been anplified. Management has undertaken a number of
steps in order to best position our cumrent and future health care facilitios. This includes working internally to examine and improve systems to be nost responsive to referral
sources and payors, as well as find creative initiatives to retain and attract qualified heaithcare professionals, Additionally, NHC is in varfous stages of partnerships with hospital
systems, payors, and other post—acate alliances fo better position oursclves so we are an active participant in the delivery of post-acute healthcare services.
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Quality of Patient Care

. CMS introduced the Five-Star Quality Rating System to help consiimers, their families and caregivers conpare skilied nursing Bcilities more casily. The Five-Star Quality
Rating System gives each skilled nursing operation a mting ranging between ane and five stars in various categories {five stars being the best). The Company has always strived

for patient-centered care and quality outconies as precursors to outstanding financial performance.

The tables below summmrize NHCs overall performance in these Five-Star ratings versus the skiled nursing industry as of March 21, 2024

NHC Ratings Industry Ratings
Total nutrber of skilied nursing facilities, end of period 65
Number of 4 and 5-star tated skilled nursing facilities 40
Percentnge of 4 and S-star rated skilled nursing facilities 62% 36%
Average rating for all skilled nursing facilities, end of period 36 29

Development and Growth

We are undertaking to expand our senior care operations while protecting our existing operations and markets. The following table Hsts our recent development activitios.

Type of
Operation Description Size Location Placed in Service
Bospice “. 7" : New Agency { agency Cedar Bluff, VA March 2023
Skilled Nursing Acquisition 66 beds Mashville, TN May 2023
‘Homecare - ' L New Agency lagency “Tallahassee, FL May 2023
Asgisted Living Facility ) New Operations 135 units Yero Beach, FL July 2023
‘Assisted Living Facility New Operations 95 units Meitt Island, FL Tuly 2023
Assisted Living Facility New Operations 100units Stuart, FL July 2023
Hospice New Agency 1 agency Morristown, TN April 2024

Accried Risk Reserves

Our acerued professional liability and workers’ compensation reserves totaled $108,237,000 at March 31, 2024 and are a primary area of management focus. We have set
aside restricted cash and cash equivalents and narketzble securitics to fund our estimated professionat liability and workers’ compensation liabilities.

As to exposute for professional liability clains, we have develeped performance certification criteria to measure and bring focus to the patient care issues most likely to
produce professional liability expesure, mcluding in~house acquired pressure uleers, significant weight loss and numbers of falls. These prograns for certification, which we
regularly modify and inprove, have produced measurablo inprovements in reducing these incidents. Cur experience is that achieving goals in these patient care areas inproves
both patieni and enployee satisfaction.

Goyemment Reimbutsernent Programs
Medicare — Skilled Nursing Facilities

Tn July 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skifled nursing facilities, which began on October 1,
2023, The fiscal year 2024 ule equates to a net increase of 4.0%, or approximately $1.4 billion, in Medicare Part A payments to SNFs in fiscal year 2024 sonpared to 2023 levels, The
rule includes a 3.0% market basket rate increase, & 3.6% nurket basket forecast eror adjustiment, Tess a 0.2% productivity adjustment, as well as a negative 2.3%, or approxinately
$789 million, decrease in 2024 SNF Payment Progpective Systems rates as a result of the second phase of the Patient Driven Payment Model parity adjustment recalibration.

Tn March 2024, CMS released its proposed rule outlining fiscal year 2025 Medicare payment rates and policy changes for skilled nursing facilities, which will begin on
October 1, 2024. The fiscal year 2025 proposal equates to a net 4.1% increase in Medicare Part A paywents to SNFs in fiscal year 2025 conpared to 2024 levels. The rule inchades a
market basket merease of 2.8%, an increase of 1.7% to the market basket forecast crror adjustent, and a negative 0.4% productivity adjustment. These figures do not incorporate
the SNF Valuc Based Purchasing (" VBP”) reduction for certain SNFs subject to the net reduction in payments under the SNF VBP; these adjustments are estimated to total $196.5
million in fiscal year 2025.

For the first three months of 2024, our average Medicare per diemrate for skilled nursing facilities increased 4,7% as compared to the same period in 2023
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Medicaid — Skilled Nursing Facilities

Effective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Tennessee implemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We estirate the resulting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $15,000,000 annually, or $3,750,000 per quarter.

Effective October 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of South Caralina implemented specific individua nursing facility increases. We estimate the resulting
increase in revenue for the 2024 fiscal vear will be approximately $9,000,000 annually, or $2,250,000 per quarter,

Eifective July 1, 2023 and for the fiscal year 2024, the state of Missourl inplemented specific individual nursing facility increases. We ostimate the resuiting increase in
revenue for the 2024 fiscal year will be approximately $5,000,000 annually, or $1,250,000 per quarter.

We have also reccived from many of the states in which we operate a supplementat Medicaid payment to help witigate the inflationary labor and medical supplies costs
resulting from the pandentic. We have recorded $3,462,000 and $4,883,000 in net patient revenues for these supp lementa} Medicaid payments for the three months ended March 31,
2024 and 2023, respectively,

For the first three months of 2024, our average Medicaid per diem increased 12.0% compared to the same period in 2023.

State Medicaid plans subject to budget constraints are of particular concomn to us. Changes in federal funding coupled with state budget problers and Medicaid
cxpansion under the Affordable Care Act have produced an uncertain environuent, Some states will not keep pace with post-acute healthcare inflation, States are cumrently under
pressure to pursue other alternatives to skilled nursing care such as community and home—based services, Medicald programs are funded jointly by the federal govemment and
the states and arc administered by states under approved plans. Most state Medicaid payments are made undera prospective payment system or under programs which negotiate
payment levels with individual providers. Somc states use, or have applied to use, waivers grented by CMS to implement expansion, inpose different eligibility er enrollment
restrictions, or ctherwise implement programs that vary from federal standards,

Medicare — Homecere Progranms

In November 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rates, CMS projects payments to hote health agencies in fiscal year 2024 will
increase in aggregate by 0.8%, or $140 nillion, The increase is the result of a 3.3% market basket update, reduced by a 0.3% productivity adjustment. The increase is offset by a
behavioral adjustment that will cut payments by a net 2.6%. The behavioral adjustment was designed to achieve budget-neutral implementation of the PDPM, Finally, CMS also
adjusted the fixed-dollar Ioss ratio for cutlier payments, which will increase payments by 0.4%.

Medicare— Hospice

In Tuly 2023, CMS released its final rule outlining fiscal year 2024 Medicare payment rafes. CMS issued & rate mcrease of 3.1%, or $780 million, effective October 1, 2023.
This increase js the result ofa 3,3% market baskel ncrease rednced by a 0.2% productivity adjustment, The FY2024 hospice payment update also includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap atount, which lintts the oversll payments per patient that are made annually. The cap amount for FY2024 is $33,494,

In March 2024, CMS released its proposed rule cutlining fiscal year 2025 Medicare payment rates. CMS isvued a rate increase of 2.6%, or $705 million, effective October 1,
2024, This increase is the result ofa 3.0% market basket increase reduced by a (.4% produetivity adjustment. The FY2025 haspice payment update also includes an update to the
statutory aggregate cap amount, which limits the overall payments per patient that are made annually. The propesed cap amount for FY2025 is $34,365.
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Segment Reporting

The Cowpany has two reportable operating segments: (1) inpatient services, which includes the operation of skifled nursing facilities, assisted and independent Lving
tacilities, and behavioral health hospitals; and (2) homecare and hospice services. These reportable operating segnents are consistent with infonmation used by the Company's

Chief Executive Officer, as chicf operating decision maker ("CODM"), te essess potfornance and allocate resources, The Company also Teports ai "l oflier" categary tht
includes revenues fromrentat income, nanagement and accounting services fees, insurance services, and costs of the corporate office.

The Company’s CODM evaluates performance and allocates capital resources to each segment based on an operating medel fhat is designed to inprove the quality of
patient care and profitability of the Company while enhancing long-term shareholder value. The OODM does not review assels by segment in his resource allocation and therefore,
assets by segment are not disclosed below.

The following table sets forth the Company’s unaudited interim condensed consolidated statements of operations by business segment (in thausaids):

Three Months Ended March 31, 2024

Inpaticnt Henkecare
Services and Hospice All Cther Total
Revenues:
Net patient revenues 3 252254 § 33,569 - % 285,823
Other revenues 15 - 11,338 11,353
Net operating revenues 252,269 33,369 11,338 297,176
Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 150,890 21,009 11,239 183,138
Other operating 68,683 5972 2,774 77,429
Rent 8,112 566 1,670 10,348
Depreciation and amertization 9,630 187 769 10,586
Interest 46 - - 46
Total gosts and expenses 237,361 27,734 16,452 281,547
Income/{loss) fromoperations 14,908 5,835 (5,114 15,629
Nen-operating income h - - 5,685 5,685
Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities - - 14,399 14,399
Tngome before incomne taxes 5 14908 § 5,835 14970 $ 35,713
Three Months Ended March 31, 2023
Inpatient Homecare
Services and Hospice All Other Total
Revenves:
Net patient revenues § 226,169 § 31,838 - 3 258,007
Other revenues 21 - 11285 11,556
Net operating revenues 226,440 31,838 11,285 260,503
Costs and expenses:
Salaries, wages, and benefits 138,939 0,244 8,641 167,824
Other operating 62,264 5,499 3,726 71,489
Rent 8,168 558 1,366 10,092
Depreciation and amortization 9,117 1835 746 10,048
Interest o 98 - - 98
Total costs and cxpenses 218,586 26,486 14479 259,551
Inconx/(Joss) from operations 7,854 5,352 (3,194 10,012
Non-operating mcome - - 4,323 4,323
Unrealized gains on markefable equity securities - - 1,386 1,386
Incone before income taxes 3 7854 § 5,352 2515 § 15,721
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Non-GAAP Financial Presentation

The Company is providing certain non-GAAP financial measures as the Company believes that these figures are helpful in allowing investors to more aceurately assess
the ougoing nature of the Company’s operations and measure the Conpary’s performance more consistently across periods, Therefore, the Conpany believes this information is

meaningfitl in addition to the inforation contained in the GAAP presentation of flnancial mforation. The presentation of this additional fion-GA AP iR
intended to be considered in isolation or as a substitute for the financial information prepared and presented in accordance with GAAP,

Specifically, the Conpany believes the presentation of non-GAAP financial infornution that excludes the unrealized gains or losses on cur marketable equity securities,
operating results for start-up healthcare operations not at full capacity, gains on sale of unconsolidated conpanies, and gharc-based compensation expense is helpful in allowing
investors to assess the Conpany’s operations more accurately.

The operating results for the newly construcied healtheare facilities not at full capacity for the three months ended March 31, 2024 include facilities that began operations
from 2022 to 2024, which is two behavioral health hospitals, two homecare agencies, and twe hospice agencies. For the three months ended March 31, 2023, included are facilitics

that began cperations from 2021 to 2023, which is two behavioral health hospitals, one homecare ageney, and two hospice agencies.

The tables below provide reconciliations of GAAP to non-GAAP jtens (dollars in thousands, except per share data):

Three Months Ended
March 3!
2024 2023

Net income attributable to National Healthcare Corporation S : . 5 26213 § 11,723
Non-GAAP adjustments ] ) . .

‘Untealized gainsion marketable equity securities =~ . - : S 114399 {1,386

Operating results for newly opened facilities or agencies not at full capacity ) {457 1,217

Gain on sale of unconsalidated company ' ' (1,025) -

Share-based compensation expense 93 639

Tneome tax provision/{benefit} on non-GAAP adjustments 3.923 422
Non-GAAP Net income $ 15048 § 12,071
GAAP diluted eamings per share 3 169 § 0.76
Non-GAAP adjustments

Unrealized gains on marketable equity securities {0.69) 0.00)

Openling results for newly opened faciiities or agencies not at full capacity (0.02) 0.06

Gain on sale of unconsolidated conpany (0.05) -

Share-based compensation expense 0.04 Q.03
Non-GA AP diluted earnings per share 3 097 % 079

30




Table of Contents
Results of Operations

The following table and discussion set forth items from the interim condensed consolidated statements of operations as a percentage of nct operating revenues for the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,

Percentage of Net Operating Revenues

Three Months Ended

March 31
2024 2023
Net opetating revenues ' ' : 1000% 100.0%
Costs and epenses;
Salaries, wages, and benefits : o ' 6l6 623
Other operating 260 26.5
Facility rent 35 3.7
Depreciation and amertimtion 35 3.7
Interest 0.1 0.1
Total costs and expenses 94.7 06.3
Income fromoperations 53 37
Non—operating income 19 1.6
Unrealized gains on marketable couity securities 4.8 05
Income before income taxes 12,0 58
Income taxprovision 3.2 (1.6}
Net inceme 8.8 42
Net (income)loss attributable to noncentrolling interest ' G0 0.1
Net incone attributable to stockholders of NHC 8.8% 4.3%

Three Months Fi Mareh 31,2024 Compared to Threg Months Ended March 31, 202

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 conpared to the first quarter of 2023 include a 10.2% increase in net operating revenues. For the quarter ended March 31,
2024, GAAP net income aitributable to NHC was $26,213,000 compared to $11,723,006 for the same period in 2023, Excluding the unrealized gains in our marketable equity sccurities
portfolic and other non-GAAP adjustments, adjusted net incoe for the quarter endod March 31, 2024 was $15,048,000 compared to $12,071,000 for the same period in 2023. The
increase i adjusted net income for the first quarter of 2024 compared to the first quatier of 2023 was primatily due the contlnued occupancy itcrease in our skiled numsing and
assisted Yiving facilities, skilled nursing per diem increases from sone of our governmental payors, and the continued reduction of nurse agency staffing expensc within our
operations.

Net operating revenues
Net patient revenues increased $27,816,000, or 10.8%, compared to the same period last year.

The total census at owned and leased skillsd nusing facilities for the quarter averaged 88.5%, compared to an average of §74% for the same quanter a year ago. Overall,
the composite skilled nursing facility per diem increased 8.8% ormpared to the same quarter a year ago, Qur Medicaro per dem tates increased 4.7% and menaged care per diem
rates increased 5,8% compared to the same quarter a year ago, Medicaid and private pay per diem rates increasod 12.0% and 10,5%, respectively, compared to the sae quarter a
year ago. For the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively, $3,462,000 and 34,883,000 have been included in our net patient revenues for supplemental Medicaid
payments that are in addition to our Medicaid skilled nusing per diems.

New operations, which melude one skilied musing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three ussisted living facilities that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health hospitals, two hospice agencies and two homecare agencies, have attributed to an increase of $7,727,000 in net patient revenues for the quarter ended March 31, 2024
compared to the same quarter in the prior year.

On March 1, 2024, the Company exited a lease and fransfemed the operations of two skilled numsing facilities (included assisted fiving units} and cne memery care
facility located n Missouri. The exting of these operations resulted in net patient revenues decreasing $1,972,000 for the quaster ended March 31, 2024 conpared to the same

quarter in the prior year.

Other revenues decreased $203,000, or 1.8%, compated to the same quarter last year, as fusther detailed in Note 4 to our interim condensed consolidated financial
statements,
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Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the three nonths ended March 31, 2024 compared to the same period of 2023 increased $21,596,000, or 8.5% to $281,547,000 fiom
$259,551,600.

Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues was 61.6% compared to 62,3% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.
We continue to face workforee and labor shortages within all of our aperations, which increases wage pressure in regards to retaining and attracting qualified healthcare pariners
{enployees), We continue to work diligently to find selutions to reduce and eliminate the agency nurse staffing within our healthcare operations. Our agency stalfing expense
decreased approximately §1% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 conpared ta the same period of 2023,

New operations, which inchide one skilled nursing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilitics that we began operating on July 1, 2023, two behavioral
health kospitals, two hospice agencits and twa homecate agencies, have attributed to an increase of $3,591,000 in salaries, wages, and benefits for the quarter ended March 31,
2024 conpared to the same quarter in the pricr year,

On March 1, 2024, the Conpany exited the lease and transfered the operations of two skilled nursing facilities (included assisted living units) and one memory care
facility located in Missouri. The exiting of these operations resulted in salarics, wages, and benefits decreasing $1,799,000 for the quarter ended March 31, 2024 compared to the
same quarter in the prior year.

Other opetating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues was 26.1% and 26.5% for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Now
operations, which inchide onc skilled nwsing facility acquired May 1, 2023, three assisted living facilities that we began operating on Jaly 1, 2023, twe behavioral health hosplials,
two hospice agencies and two homeeare agencies, have attributed to an increase of $2,176,000 in other operating expenses for the quarter caded March 31, 2024 conpared to the
same quarter in tho prior year. We continue to face inflationary pressures in certain categories within other operaling exponscs as well, such as food/dietary supplies and
drugs/pharmaceutical supplies,

Other income

Non—operating income increased by $1,362,000 conpared to the same period last year, as fyrther detailed i1 Note 5 to our interim condensed consolidated financial
statements, In January 2024, the Conpany sold its 50% joint venture ownership interest in a homecare agency loeated in Nashville, Tennessee. The total consideration paid to the
company was $2,100,000, which resulted in a gain of $1,025,000,
Income taxes

The income taxprovision for the three months ended March 31, 2024 is $9,462,000 (an effective meome taxrate 0f 26.5%).
Nencanirolling interest

The noncentrolling interest in subsidiaries is presented within total equity of the Company’s consolidated balance sheets. The Company presents the noncentrolling
interest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to NHC in its consolidated statements of operations. The Conmpany’s earnings per share is cakulated based on net
income attributable to NHC's stockholders, The camying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an aliceation of subsidiary eamings based on ownership

interest.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2023 Compared to Three Months Ended Marel 31 2022

Results for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the first quarter of 2022 include a 3.4% decreasc in net operating revenues and grant incorre. The net operating
revenaes and grant income decrease was prinarly driven by the reduction in government stimulns income of $10,620,000 during the first quarter of 2023 compared to the same
period a year ago, as well as us exiting scven skilled nursing facilities in Massachusetts and Now Hampshire during the third quarter of 2022, Exchiding the govemment sthouius
income and the seven skilled nursing facilitics in Massachusetts and New Hanpshire, same-facility net operating revenues increased 7.1% during the first quarter of 2023 compared
to the same pericd a yearago.

For the quarter ended March 31, 2023, GAAP net income attributable to NHC was $11,723,000 compared to net income of $15,318,000 for the same period in 2022, Exchuding
the unrealized gas in our marketable equity scewrities portfolio and other non-GAAP adfustents, adjusted net ncome for the quarter ended March 31, 2023 was $12,071,000
compared to $14,081,000 for the same period in 2022, The decrease in adjusted net incone for the first quarter of 2023 compared to the first quarter of 2022 was primerily due to the
$10,620,000 less i government stinmlus come recorded during the cumrent quatter.
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Nel operating vevenues and grant income

Net patient revenues increased $1,670,000, or 07%, conpared to the same period last year.

The tota) census at owned and leased skilled nursing facilities for the quarter averaged 87,4%, compared to an average OT82.7% for the saie quarter 4 year ago, Uverall,
the composite skilled nursing facility per diem increased 3.3% cormpared to the same quarter a year ago. Gur Medicare per diemrates increased 2,1% and menaged care per diem
tates increased 2.7% cormpared to the sae quarter a year ago. Medicaid and private pay per diemrmates increased 3.6% and 3.1%, respectively, compared to the same quarter a year
ago. For the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, $4,883,000 and $5,538,000 have been included in our net patient revenues for supplemental COVID-19
Medicaid payments.

In September 2022, the Company trans ferred the operations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusctts and New Hampshire resulting in net patient
revermes decreasing $16,603,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 compared to the same quarter last year,

Other revenues decreased $470,000, or 3.9%, compared to the same quarter last yeat; as farther detailed In Note 4 to our interim condensed consoelidated financial
statements.

Duting the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022, respectively, we recorded $0 and $10,620,000 in government stinwilus income related to funds received from the
CARES Act Provider Relicf Fund.
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Total costs and expenses

Total costs and expenses for the thiee months ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the same period of 2022 decreased $5,215,000, or 2.0% to $259,551,000 from $264,760,000.

Salaries, wages, and benefits as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant Income was 62.3% conpared to 61.2% for the three months ended March 31,2023 and
2022, respectively. We eontinue to face workforce and Jabor shortages within alf of our epezations, which increases wage pressure in regards to retaining and attracting qualified
healtheare partners {enployees). The labor and workforee shottages have resulted in us contracting with agency nurse staffing companies. The agency nurse staffing companies
charge inflated hourly rates; therefore, we are warking diligently to find sofutions to reduce and climinate the agency nurse staffing within our healthcare operations. For the
quarter ended March 31, 2023, our agency nurse staffing expense decreased $4,941,000, or approximately 34%, conpared to the same period a year ago,

In Septenber 2022, the Conpany transferred the eperations of seven skilled nursing facilities located in Massachusetts and New Hanpshire resulting in salaries, wages,
and benefits decreasing $11,884,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the same quarter last year.

Other operating expenses as a percentage of net operating revenues and grant income was 26.5% and 26,6% for the three months ended March 31, 2023 and 2022,
respectively, The transfor of the operations of the seven skilled nursing facilitics located in Massachusctts and New Hampshire, as noted above, resulted in other operating
capenses decreasing $5,206,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023 conpared to the same quarter last yoar, We continue to face inflationary pressures in certain categoties
within other operating expenses as well, such as food/dietary supplics and drugs/pharmaceutical supplies,

Other inconie

Non-operating incone increased by $1,124,000 conpared to the same period last year, as farther detailed in Note 5 to our intetim condensed consolidated financial
statements,

Income taxes
The income tax provision for the three months ended March 31,2023 is $4,436,000 (an effective income tax rate uf 28.2%}.

Noncontrolling intevest

The noncontrolling intorest in subsidiaries is presented within total equity of the Company’s consalidated balance sheets. The Company presents the noncontrolling
interest and the amount of consolidated net income attributable to NHC in its consolidated statements of eperations, The Company’s earnings per share is caloulated based on net
income attributable to NHC's stockholders. The camrying amount of the noncontrolling interest is adjusted based on an allocation of subsidiary eamings based on ownership
interest.

Our priveny sources of cash inchide revenues from the operations of our healtheare and senior living facilities, management and accounting services, rental income, and
investment income. Our primary uses of cash inchude salaries, wages and other operating costs of our healtheare and senior living facilities, the cost of additions to and
acquisitions of real property, facility rent expenses, and dividend distiutions. These sources and uses of cash are reflected in our interim condensed consolidated statements of
cash flows and are discussed in further detail below.

The following is a sunmary of our sources and uses of cash flows (dellars in thousands):

Three Months Ended
March 31 Three Menth Change
2024 2023 $ Y
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents, at beginning of
period 3§ 125968 % 74865 § 51,103 68.3%
Cagh provided by operating activities : i C9s6 13,857 @211) (304
Cash used in investing activities i : T (2415 (1,427 (088) (69.2)
Cash used in financing activities ) : (12,067) {12,619 552 44
Cash, cash equivalents, restricted cash, and restricted cash equivalents, at end of period 3 2,132 § 74,676 § 46,456 62.2%
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Opargting Activities

Net cash provided by operating activitics for the three months ended March 31, 2024 was $3,646,000 as compared to 13,857,000 in the sawe period last year, Cash provided
__________ by operating activities_ consisted of net incore of 26,251,000 and decreases to operating ¢ flows related to adfustments for non—cash itens of $1,627,000. There was cash used

i

for working capital needs in the amount of $14,634,000 for the three months ended March 3 24 comypared to $6,017,000 for the same period a year age.

On February 21, 2024, Change Healthcare was the target of a ransomware attack, The Conpany uses Change Healthcare as an intemxdiary 1o process and pay cur
govemmental and insurance company healtheare claims, With Change Healthcare’s systens being down during the first quarter of 2024, we had to namually bill the nmjority of
our skilled nursing claims for the months of February and March 2024. Although we menually billed our skilled nursing healtheare claims in Febryary and March 2024, we
were hot paid as we typically would in the ordinary course of business. At March 31, 2024, our patient accounts receivabl balances increased approximately 315 nillion fromour
December 31, 2023 accounts receivable balances. We believe this increase in accounts receivable is temporary and over the next several months we expect our accounts
receivable balances and operating cash flow to be back to nommal levels.

Included in the adjustments for non-cash jtens arc depreciation expense, equity in eamings of unconsolidated investments, unrealized gains on cur marketable equity
securities, gain on sake of an uncensolidated conpany, deferred taxes, and stock compensation.

Investing Activities

Net cash used in investing activities totaled $2,415,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024, compared to $1,427,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2023,
Cash used for property and equipment additions was $5,955,000 and 86,640,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024, and 2023, respectively. Proceeds from the sale of
marketable scourities, net of purchases, resulted in cash provided by investing activity of $2,512,000 and $5,211,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023,
respectively, In January 2024, the Company sold its 50% joint venture ownership Interest in a homecare ageney resulting in proceeds from the sale of $2,100,000.

Financing Activities

Net cash used i financing activities totaled $12,067,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 compared to $12,619,000 for the thiee nmonths ended March 31, 2023,
We made principal payaents under cur finance lease obligations in the amount of $860,000 and $1,218,000 for the three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively. Cash
used for dividend peyments to common stockholders totaled $9,051,000 in the current year period compared to $8,748,000 for the same period a year ago. Cash provided by the
issuance of common stock totaled $8,412,000 tor the quarter ended March 31, 2024, We repurchased common shates outstanding in the amount of $9,900,000 and $2,482,000 for the
three months ended March 31, 2024 and 2023, respectively.

Shori—term Hguldity

We expect to meet our short-term liguidity requirements primarily fromour cash flows from operating activities. In addition to cash flows from operations, our current cash
on hand of $93,982,000 and our narketable cquity and debt securities of $123.524,000 are expected to be adequate to meet our contractual obiigations, operating liquidity, and our
growth and development plans in the next twelve months. We also have substantial vahic in our unencumbered real estate assets, which could potentially be used as collateral in
future borrowing cpportunities.

Long—term liguidity

We expect to moet our long-tenn liquidity requirements primarity from ovr cash flows fom operating activities, our eurrent cash on hand of $93,982,000 and our matketable
equity and debt securities of §123,524,000. We also have substantial vakie in our unencumbered real estate assets, which could potentially be ysed as collateral in future borrowing
opportunities.,

Qur ability to meet cur long—term contractual obligations, and to finance our opetating requirements and growth plans wil depend upon our future perfomance. Our
future performance will be affected by business, econonic, financial and other factors, including potential changes in state and federal government paytent rates for heal(hcare,

customer demand, success of our marketing etforts, pressures from conpetitors, and the state of the econonyy, including the state of financial and credit matkets, as well as many
wnforeseen factors.

Conwritment apd Contingencics
Gavermpental Regulations

Laws and regulations governing the Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healtheare programs are complex and subject to interpretation, Management belicves that it is
following all applicable laws and regulations in all material respects. However, cenpliance with such laws and regulations can be subject to futtire govemment review and

interpretation as well as significant regulatory astion including fines, penaltics, and cxclusions fromthe Medicare, Medicaid, and other federal healthcare program,
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Ttem 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk,

Market risk represents the potential econoic loss arising fom adverse changes in the fair value of financial instruments, Crently, our exposure to market risk relates
primardly to ou doincome and squily portfolios. These investment portfolios are exposed primarily to, but not limited to, interest rate risk, credit risk, equity price risk, and

concentration risk. We also have exposure to market risk that includes our cash and cash eguivalents. The Company's senior managemenf 1as establishied conprenensive gk
management policies and procedures to nanage these market risks.

Interest Rate Risk

The fair values of our fixed—income invesiments fluctuate in response to changes in marlet interest rates. Increases and decreases in prevailing interest rates generally
translate into decreases and increases, tespectively, in the fair values of those instruments. Additionally, the fair values of interest rate sensitive instrutnents may be atfected by
the creditworthiness of the issuer, prepayment options, the liquidity of the instrument and other general market conditions. At March 31, 2024, we have available for sale
marketable debt securities in the amount of $124,316,000. The fixed maturity portfolio is comprised of investments with primarily short-term and ntermediate—term maturities. The
fixed nturity portfolio allews our insurance compaty subsidiaties to achieve an adequate risk—-adjusted return while nuintaining sufficient liquidity to meet obligations.

Qur cash and cash equivalents consist of highly liquid investments with a maturity ofless than three months when purchased. As a result of the short-termnature of our
cash instruments, a hypothetical 1% change in interest rates would have minimal impact on our fature eamings and cash flows related to these instruments.

We do not enrrently use any derivative instraments to hedge our intercst rate exposure. We have not used derivative instrurents for trading purposcs and the usa of
such instruments in the fture would be subject to approvals by the Investment Committee of the Board of Directors.

Credit Risk

Credit risk is menaged by diversifying the fied naturity portfolio to avoid concentrations in any single industry group or issuer and by limiting investments in securities
with lower credit ratings.

Fquity Price and Concentration Risk

Our marketable equity securities are recorded at their fair matket value based on quoted market prices. Thus, there is exposure fo equity price risk, which is the potential
change in fair value due to a change in quoted market prices. At March 31, 2024, the fair value of our marketzble equity securities is approximately $152,656,000. Of the $152.7
million equity securities portfalio, aur vestment in NHI comprises approximately $102.5 mitlion, or 67.1%, of the total fair value. We manage our exposure to NHI by closely
rmonitoring the financial conditien, perfonrance, and outlock of the company. Hypothetisally, 2 10% change in quoted market prices would resukt in a related increuse or decrease
in the fair value of our equity investrents of approxinmtely $15.3 million, At March 31, 2024, our equity securities had net unzealized gains of $98.0 million. Of the $98.0 million of
unrealized gains, $77.7 million is related to our investment in NHL

Item 4, Controls and Procedures.

As of March 31, 2024, an evahation was performed under the supervision and with the patticipation of the Company’s managenent, including the Chief Brecutive Officer
("CHO™) and Chief Financial Officer (" CFO™, of the effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure contrals and procedures. Based on that evaluation, the
Conpany’s managetent, including the CEO and CFO, concluded that the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of March 31, 2024,

During the period covered by this report, there have been no changes in our intemnal control over financial reporting that have materially affected or are reasonably likely
ta materially affect our intemal control over financial reparting,
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PART TI. OTHER INFORMATION

e T Tegal Proceedings,

For a discussion of prior, current, and pending litigation of material significance to NHC, please see Note 16 of this Form 10-Q,
tem 1A, Risk Factors,

During the three months ended March 31, 2024, there were no material changes to the risk factors that were disclosed in Tteny 1A of National HealthCare Corporation’s
Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Decernber 31, 2023.

Tter 2, Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds.
Not applicable

Item3.  Defaults Upon Senfor Securities.
None

Ttem 4, Mine Safety Disclosures.

Not applicable

Ttem 5, Other Information.
None
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Ttem 6. Exhibits,
€3] Histofexhibits
EXHIBIT INDEX
Exhibit
No. Desctiption
i1 Certificate of comoration of National HealthCare Corpomation {Incomporated by reference to Extribit 3.1 to the Registrant's regigtration statement gn Form 84
(File MNo. 333-37185) dated {clober 3, 1997)
32 Certificate of Amendircnt to the Certificate of Incorporation of National HealthCare Cerporation {Incorporated by relerence (o Exhibit 3,5 to the quartetly report
on Form 10-0) filed on August 3. 2017,
33 Certificate of Desienation Series B Jupior Participating Preferred Stock (Incopomted by roference to Fhibit 3.1 fo the Registrant’s registration statement on Form
8-A, dated August 3. 2007
34 Restated Bylaws as amended Febmary 14, 2013 (fngorporated by reference to Eshibit 3,5 to_the guarterly report on Form 10-0 filed on May 8 2013.)
4,1 Form of Cotrnon Stock (Tncomorated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the quarterly repart on Form 10-Q) filed gn Augu 13,2017,
10.1 Amendient No, 9 to Master Agreement to Lease between National Health Jnvestors, Ing, and
Eshibit {01 to the quarterly repost on Form 10-Q filed on Novenber 3, 20221
10.2 Amendment No. 10 1o Master Agreement to Iease between National Health Investors, Ine. and National HealthCare Corporation (Tncorparated by reference o
Eshibit 102 1o the guarterdy report on Form 10-Q fled on November 3, 2022.)
311 Rule 13a-14¢a)/ 1 5d-14{x} Certification of Chief Fxscutive Officer
312 Rale 13a-14{a}/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer
32 Certification pursuant to 18 US.C, Section 1350 by Chief Bxpoutive Officer and Chief Financial Officer
101.INS Tuline XBRL Ins tance Document (the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRI, tags are enbedded within the Intine
XBRL document}
101.5CH Inline XBRL Taxonony Extension Schema Document
101.CAL Tnline XBRL Taxonouty Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF Inline XBRL Taxonony Extension Definition Linkbase Document
iILAB Inline XBRL Taxonony Extension Label Linkbase Decument
101.PRE Tnline XBRL Taxononty Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
104 Cover Page Intcractive File (embedded within the Inline XBRL decunment and include in Exhibit 101)
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Fachange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this report to bo signed on its behalf'by the undersigned thereunto
duly authorized,

NATIONAL HEATLTHCARE CORPORATION
(Registrant}

Date: May 9, 2024 /s/ Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Fagcutive Officer

Date; May 9, 2024 /s{ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer
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EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Stephen F. Flatt, certify that:
i I have reviewed this quarterly ropoit on Form 10-Q of National HealthCare Corporation;
2, Based on nyy knowledge, this guarterly report does not contain any untrue statement of a matetial fact or onilt to state a material fact necessary to make the statements

made, in light of the circumstances under which such statenents were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this guarterly report;

3 Based on my knowledge, the financial statenents, and other financial information included in this repoit, fairly present in all material respects the finaneial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's cther certifying officer and ! are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Fxchange Act Rules 13a-
15(z} and 15d-15(e}y and itcmal control over financial reporting (as defined in Fachange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(£) for the registrant and have:

a.

Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
waterial information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entitics, particularly during the
petiod in which this repert is being prepared; i

Designed such internal control over finaneial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial staterrents for external purposcs in accordance with gencrally
accepted accounting principles;

Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such gvalyation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual teport) that has rmterialy affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's intemal
control over financial reporting; and

5 The registrant’s other certitying officer and Thave disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of intemal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audil committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function);

Date: May 9, 2024

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, pracess, summarize and report financial information; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves menagement or other enployees who have a significant role in the registrant's intemal control over financial
reporting,

/s/ Stephen F, Flatt

Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer



EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

1, Brian . Kidd, certify that:

L

2,

Thave reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of National HealthCare Corporation;

Based on my knowledge, this quartetly report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a matetial fact necessary to male the staterents
nade, in fight of the circumstances under whicl such statements were made, not nisteading with respect to the peried covered by this quarterly report;

Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this rpor, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition,
results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

The registrant's other certifying officer and I arc responsible for cstablishing and maintaining disclosure contrels and procedures {as defined in Fxchange Act Rules 13a-
15(¢) and 15d-15(e}) and intemal control over financial reporting {as defined in Fxchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-~15(0}} for the registrant and have:

a.

Diesigned such disclosute controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that
material information relating to the registrant, including its censolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the
petiod in which this report is being prepared;

Designed such internal control over financial reperting, or caused such intemal control over fnancial reporting to be designed under cur supervision, to provide
reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for extemal purpeses it accordance with generally
accepted accounting principles;

Bvaluated the cffectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure contrels and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the
disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's intemal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the
registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting; and :

The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors
and the audit comuittec of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal controt over fnancial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely
affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial infermation; and

Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves manageiment or other enployees who have a significant role in the registrants intemal controt over financial
Teporting,

Date; May 9, 2024

fs/ Brian F, Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer




Exhibit 32

Certification of Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q
of National HealthCare Corporation
For the Quarter Fnded March 31,2024

The undersigned hereby certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Cxley Act of 2002, that, to the undersigned's best knowledge and belief, the Quarterly

Repon on Ferm 10-Q for National HealthCare Corporation ("Issver”} for the period ending March 31, 2624 as filed with the Sccurities and Exchange Comnission on the date hereof
{the "Report™):

(a) fully conplies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Txchange Act of 1934 and
) the information contained in the Repart fairly presents, in all material respeots, the financial condition and results of operations of the Issuer,

This Certification accompanies the Quarterly Report an Ferm 10 of the Issuer for the quarterly period ended March 31, 2024,

This Certification is executed as of May 9, 2024,

/s/Stephen F. Flatt
Stephen F. Flatt
Chief Bxecutive Officer

/s/ Brian F. Kidd
Brian F. Kidd
Senior Vice Prosident and Chief Financial Officer

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and wili be retained by the Company and firnished to the Securitics
and Hxchange Conmuission or its staff upon request.



ATTACHMENT I

Five Year Projection Statement



The financial forecast consisis of prospective financial statements that present, to the best of the applicant’s
——————knowledge-and-belief-an-entit’s-expected financial-position -results.of operations,.and_cash. flows

All documents are prepared in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles by a Certified

Public Accountant that has compiled, examined, or applied agreed-upon procedures io prospective financial
statements.

Company Name Telephone Number:

National HealthCare Corporation £15-890-2020

Sireet Address: Fax Number:

100 E. Vine Street 615-890-0123

City: County: State: Zip:
Murfreesboro Rutherford TN 37130
E-mail Address:

& No Emall hkidd@nhccare.com

L i pess cli g

Signature of Certified Pub!iﬁ Accountant and License # Date




NHC Healthcare/Charlotte, LLC

Projected Statement of Operations
For the Years Ending December 31, 2024 through 2028

Year Ended December 31,
REVENUES 2024* 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Net Patient Sarvice Revenue $ 7,392,671 $ 18,074,683 $ 18,616,924 §$ 19,175,431 $ 19,750,694 $ 20,343,215
Apartment Rents 264,834 654,671 674,311 694,540 715,376 736,838
Other Revenue 12,270 30,331 31,240 32,178 33,143 34,137
Total Revenues 7,669,775 18,759,684 19,322,475 19,902,149 20,409,214 21,114,180
EXPENSES
Nursing Services 3,067,249 7,287,840 7,506,476 7,731,670 7,963,620 8,202,528
Ancilliaries 595,259 1,471,481 1,515,626 1,561,094 1,607,927 1,656,165
Dietary Expenses 588,716 1,555,305 1,601,964 1,650,023 1,899,524 1,750,509
Social Services 78,912 195,069 200,921 206,949 213,158 219,652
Activities 48,180 119,101 122,674 126,355 130,145 134,049
Medical Records 23,108 57,123 58,837 60,602 62,420 64,293
Laundry and Linen 66,755 165,019 169,970 175,069 180,321 185,731
Housekeeping 214,983 531,438 547,381 563,803 580,717 598,138
Facility Operations and Maintenance 297,689 735,887 757,964 780,703 804,124 828,247
Depreciation 25,000 95,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
Taxes and Insurance 100,214 247,728 255,160 262,815 270,700 278,820
Ermployee Benefits. 298,177 737,093 759,206 781,982 805,442 829,605
General and Administrative 893,052 2,307,624 2,376,853 2,448,158 2,521,603 2,597,251
Total Expenses 6,297,294 15,505,710 15,978,031 16,464,222 16,959,699 17,469,890
Net Income 5 1,372,482 $ 3,253,975 $ 3,344,444 $ 3,437,927 $ 3,539515 § 3,644,300

* 8/01/24 - 12/31/24



NHC Healthcare/Chartotte, LLC

Assets

Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Patient accounts receivable, net
Other current assets
Totat current assets

Assets Limited As To Use - Operating Resetve

Maoveable Equipment
Moveable equipment, at cost
Accumulated depreciation
Moveable equipment, net

Total assets

Liabilities and Equity

Current Liabilities
Accounts payable
Accrued wages and other labilities
Total current liabilities

Deferred Credits

Deposits and unearned deposit revenue -
nonrefundabie
Total deferred credits

Total liakilities
Equity
Retained Earnings

Total equity

Total liabilities and equity

Projected Balance Sheets
December 31, 2024 through 2029

December 31,

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
$ 541,710 $ 3,849,868 §$ 6,909,104 $ 10,272,037 $ 13,742,014 § 17,317,287
1,457,845 1,501,580 1,546,628 1,593,027 1,640,817 1,690,042
80,000 81,600 83,232 84,897 85,585 88,326
2,079,555 5,233,048 8,538,964 11,849,560 15,469,426 19,095,655
155,340 155,886 155,984 156,056 155,888 155,460
500,000 750,000 950,000 1,150,000 1,350,000 1,550,000
(25,000} (115,000) {220,000} (335,000) (455,000) {580,000)
475,000 635,000 730,000 815,000 895,000 970,000
$ 2,709,895 $ 6,023,934 § 9,424,947 $ 12,921,016 § 16,520,314 $ 20,221,115
$ 415,278 § 427,736 $ 440,568 $ 453,785 $ 487,389 % 481,421
452,135 474,742 498,479 523,403 549,573 577,062
867,413 902,478 939,047 977,188 1,015,972 1,058,473
20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 115,000
20,000 40,000 60,000 80,000 100,000 115,000
887,413 942,478 999,047 1,057,188 1,116,972 1,173,473
1,822,482 5,081,456 8,425,900 11,863,827 15,403,342 19,047,643
1,822,482 5,081,456 8,425,900 11,863,827 15,403,342 19,047,643
$ 2,709,805 § 5,023,934 § 9,424,947 $ 12,921,016 § 16,520,314 $ 20,221,115




NMC Healthcare/Charlotte, LLG

Projected Statement of Cash Flows
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 through 2029

Cash Flows From Operating Activities
Net Income
Adjustments to reconcite net income to cash provided by
operating activities:
Depreclation
Deposit amortization
Deposit receipts
Change in operating assets and liabillties:
Accounts recelvable
Qther current assets
Accounts payable
Accrued wages and other liabilities
Net cash provided by operating activities

Cash Flows From Investing Activities
Purchase cf property ang equipment
Net change in assets limited to use - operating reserve
Net cash used Ininvesting activities
Cash Flows From Financlng Activities
Capital contributions
Net cash provided by financing activities
Net Increase In Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of year

Gash and Cash Equlvalents - end of year

Year Ended December 31,

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029

$ 1,372,482 $ 3253075 $ 3344444 $ 3,437,927 § 3538516 $ 3,644,300
25,000 95,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
(7,400} (18,150) (19,058} (20,010) (21,011) (22,081)
27,400 38,150 39,068 40,010 41,011 37,0681
(1,457,845) (43,735) (45,047) (46,359) (47,791) (46,225)
(80,000) {1,600} {1,632) {1,665) (1,608) (1,732}
415,278 12,458 12,832 13,217 13,614 14,022
452,135 22,607 23,737 24,924 26,170 27,475
747,050 3,358,704 3,450,334 3,563,005 3,669,810 3,774,845
{500,000 {250,000) (200,000} {200,000) {200,000) {200,000
{155,340) (547} {98) (72) 167 428
(655,340} (250,547) (200,098) (200,072) (199,333) (199,572)
91,710 3,108,158 3,250,236 3,362,933 3,489,977 3,575,273
450,000 541,710 3,649,868 6,808,104 10,272,037 13,742,014

$ 541,710 § 3,840,868 § 6,906,104 § 10,272,037 § 13,742,014 § 17,317,287




NHGC Healthcare/Charlotte, LLC

Projected Operating Reserve Requirement
For the Years Ended December 31, 2024 through 2029

2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total Projected Operating Expenses
Projected SNF Expense $14,444,505 $14,798,417 $15,258,980 $15,734,281 $16,224,783  $16,731,000
Projected Apartment Expense 609,000 612,283 614,042 614,941 614,918 613,890

15,053,505 15,410,710 15,873,031 16,349,222 16,839,699 17,344,890

Total Projected Depreciation Expense

Projected SNF Depreciation 45,000 78,500 86,850 95,943 99,950 103,989
Projected Apartment Depreciation 15,000 16,500 18,150 19,058 20,010 21,011
60,000 $5,000 105,000 115,000 120,000 125,000
Total Patient Days - SNF 52,000 53,040 54,101 55,183 56,286 57,412
Total Patient Days Attibutable to Aparment Residents 100 100 100 100 100 100
% of SNF Patient Days Attributable to Apartment Residents 0.15% 0.19% 0.18% 0.18% 0.18% 0.17%
% of SNF Days Attributable to SNF Only Residents 99.81% 99.81% - 99.82% 98.82% $9.82% 99.83%
Calcutation of Excluded SNF Expenses 14,417,060 14,770,517 15,230,784 15,705,768 16,195,957 16,701,858
Calculation of Included SNF Expenses 27,445 27,900 28,205 28,513 28,825 29,142
Calculation of Included SNF Depreciaticn 86 148 161 174 178 181
Expenses Subjectto DOl Approved Operating Reserve 621,359 623,545 523,936 624,222 623,553 621,840
Operating Reserve Percentage 25% 25% 25% 25% 25% 26%
Projected Reserve Requlremant 4 155,340 $ 155886 §$ 155984 $ 156,056 $ 155,888 § 1565480

Projected Ceoupancy as of Year End 97.0% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0% 97.0%




ATTACHMENT I

Current Interim Financial Statements
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ATTACHMENT IV

Resident Contracts



STATE OF NORTH CARCLINA ) APARTMENT RENTAL

)
COUNTY OF MECKLENBURG ) AGREEMENT (WITH NO INITIAL

DEPOSIT)

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into asg of the
day of ; 20 , by and

between NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC, a limited liability company
doing business as Sharon Village Apartments hereinafter referred to
ag "Owner" and , a resident of the
State and County aforesaid, hereinafter referred to as

"Regident."

WITNESSETH:

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of
which the parties hereto acknowledge, and the full and faithful
performance of all terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained, the Owner hereby agrees to rent to the Resident, and
the Resident hereby agrees to rent from the Owner, Apartment No.

, located at Sharon Village, Charlotte, North Carclina
(hereinafter called the "premises," "complex," or "apartment
complex") for Resident's sole occupancy, according to the
following terms, covenants, and conditions:

1. TERM. The term of this Agreement shall begin on the
day of , 20 ,
and end upon the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month followJ.ng the Resident's
death, or at such time thereafter as the Resgident's
belongings have been removed from the premises; or

(b} Resgident's default as hereinafter defined; or

(¢} Owner's having determined, and having given written
notification thereof, that the Resident:

(i)  is socially incompatible with the Owner's
employees, other residents, or guests;
(i1} has demonstrated possible emotional instability;
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(1ii) poses a risk to the I1fe and well-being or

{1v)

{(v)

{vi)

The last day of any month prior to which the Resident

hag given to the Owner;

(1)

(1ii)}

him/herself or others;

has destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property
belonging to the Owner, him/herself or others; or
fails to fully comply with all terms and
provigiong contained in this Agreement; or

has acted in any other unreasonable fashicn or
poses for the owner, its employees, residents or

guests, any other unreasonable risks; or

In the event the Regident i1s to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification, to a
hospital or to White Oak Manor - Charloctte
Nursing Center, at least ten (10) days prior

wrilitten notice; or

In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification,
anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

In the event the Regident is to be transferred
anywhere else, without written medical
certification, at least (60) sixty days prior

written notice; or

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed

by fire or other calamity, or if the apartment, or a

substantial. portion of the complex, is acquired

through condemnation proceedings, making it such,
under the circumstances, that the apartment is no

longer reasonably fit for its intended use,
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In the event the Resident is transferred as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to a hospital, he/she
shall have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to
return to his/her apartment, and to have the within
Agreement remain in full force and effect, so long as
all terms, covenants and conditions herein contained,
including those pertaining to rental payments, have
been (and are then being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident is transferred as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to White Oak Manor -
Charlotte Nursing Center, the Resident shall have
thirty (30) days from date cf transfer to return to
his apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain
in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditiong herein contained, including
those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and
are then being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being
transferred elsewhere as provided above, wishes to
again become a tenant of the Owner, after the within
Agreement hag terminated, and is certified, in
writing, by a qualified physician, as being again able
to reside in the apartment complex, Owner agrees to
give the Resident, to the extent reasonable possible,
a priority as far as the next available apartment,
with retention depcsits and rental rates to be those
then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental Agreement
to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and
(i1) above, the owner may, but shall have no legal

duty to, waive the requirement regarding written
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notification based upon terms and conditions mutually
agreeable to both Owner and Resident.

If for any reason, a resident would ke precluded
from occupying a living unit in the facility under the
terms of the contract for continuing care, the
contract is automatically canceled and all monies will
be promptly refunded to the resident or their legal
representative within 30 days after the termination
date of the agreement.

TRANSFERS. A transfer fee may apply if you desire to

transfer from your current apartment to another. After 10
vears of residency in the same apartment, a transfer fee
may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will apply if transfer
occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made
prior to 5 years, 100% of the transfer fee will apply. An
exception to applying the transfer fee may apply if a
prearranged admission agreement signed by both parties
stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific
apartment within one year. The transfer fee is not a preset
cost but is based on cost to refurbish vacated apartment.

MARRIAGES. If a current resident (g) of Sharon Village

becomes married, the rent will increase based on the rent
schedules in effect at that time for two persons. No
additional deposit is required and the balance outstanding
on any deposit{s) will continue to amortize in accordance
with each Resident's original Rental Agreement. A new
Rental Agreement will be negotiated between Sharon Village
and the husband and wife as Residents. Other than for
medical reasons there are no qualifying requirements for a
spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event the

spouse does not medically qualify for admission, the
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agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be
required.
RENT. Resident agrees to pay menthly rental to the Owner

in the amcunt of , salid rent to be payable in

advance on or before the first day of each month for which

due and owing, provided, however:

(a) The rent for a partial month at the beginning of the
term shall be prerated;

(b} Although the Owner will attempt to keep reﬁtal
increases to a minimum, during any calendar year
following the first full calendar year of this
Agreement, the Owner may, due to an increase in the
cost of operaticn, or for any other reason, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Resident,
increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during
any calendar year does not exceed the greater of:

(1) 8ix (6%) percent of the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year; or

(ii) An amount equal to the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year multiplied by
the percentage increase in the "Consumer Price
Index" figures for January and December of the
preceding calendar year, the Consumer Price Index
being the "Consumer Price Index - U.S. City
Average - All Items Figures for Urban Wage
Farners and Clerical Workers (Including Single
Workers), "which index is currently published in
the "Monthly Labor Review" of the Bureau of Labor
Statistics of the United States Department of

Labor, or its successor index.
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{c) All rental payments shall be due and payable on or
before the first day of the month for which due and
owing, and if received on or after the tenth (10) day
of that particular month shall accrue a five (5%)
percent late charge (5% of the monthly payment) which
sum shall be immediately due and payable and
collectible as additional rent.

USE QF APARTMENT; COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATTONS;

SMOKING. POLICY . Resident will make no unlawful or offensive

use of the apartment and the common areas belonging to the
Owner and will comply with all laws, crdinances and
regulations of duly constituted governmental authorities.
Resident will use the apartment only as a private dwelling
for him/her and such other persons as may be authorized.
In addition, Resident agrees to abide by the reasonable
rules and regulationg promulgated from time to time by
Owner generally applicable to all occupants and designed
for the general health, welfare, and comfort of the other
occupants. In addition to all such other rules and
regulations, Resident specifically acknowledges that Owner
has a policy prohibiting the use of all tobacco products
in the apartments as well as on the Sharon Village
property, and Resident agrees to abide by said policy. Any
regident who violates this policy by using tobacco products
in his/her apartment or on the Sharon Village property or
by allowing anyone else to use tobacco products in hig/her
apartment or on the property will be deemed to be in
default under this agreement and subject to the provisions
of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, including eviction and
reimpbursement of Owner's costs, expenses and attorney's
fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Resident further

acknowledges that this tobacco policy does not apply to
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other residents who signed their Apartment Rental
Agreements prior to the implementation of this policy in
September, 2008.

USE OF PREMISES. Resident shall have the use, possessicn

and enjoyment during the term of this Agreement of the
apartment above identified jointly with any other tenant,
but all common areas, including stairways, walkways and
grounds, shall be used and enjoyed with other residents,
and no portion of the same may or shall be permanently
or temporarily appropriated by Resident to Resident's
exclusive use, enjoyment or possession.

DESCRIPTION OF LIVING QUARTERS. Resident will regide in one
of the following units:

e Efficiency - 323 square feet. Living rocm/bedroom,
kitchen, 1 bathroom, porch

* Cne Bedroom - 530 square feet, Living room, bedroom,

walk-in closet, 1 bathroom, kitchen, porch

¢ Deluxe One Bedroom - 655 gquare feet. Living room,

bedroom, walk-in closet, 1 bathroom, kitchen, dining

room, porch

¢ Deluxe Two Bedroom - 867 square feet. Living rcom, 2

bedroomg, 2 bathrooms, kitchen, dining room, porch

CARE, OF APARTMENT AND REPAIRS. Resident will take good

care of the apartment and common areas and will report
promptly to Owner any repairs which may be needed. Owner
shall keep and maintain the apartment in tenable condition
and shall have the right to make at reasonable times any
and all repairs, renovationg and alteraticns as it shall
determine necessary or desirable. Resident shall reimburse

owner for expenses incurred by Owner for repairs
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10,

11.

12,

13,

14.

attributable to Resgident's abuse or mistreatment of the
apartment (including appliances) or the common areas.

ALTERATIONS BY RESIDENT. Resident shall make no

alterations to the apartment without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent shall not be
unreascnably withheld.

PETS. Resident may not keep any pets or animals of any
kind anywhere upon the premises without the prior written
consent of the Owner. Even after the Owner'’s consent has
been given, this consent may be reasonably withdrawn by the
Owner according to its sole judgment and discretion based
upon what it believes to be in the best interest of the
complex and the other residents. A $500 pet deposit is
required if a pet is maintained in the apartment. The
deposit may be refunded at the discretion of Management.

POSSESSION OF FIREARMS. No person, including residents,

friends of residents or family members, may possess Or
carry, whether openly or concealed, any guns, rifles,
pistols or firearms of any type on the premises. Violation
of this policy shall be deemed a violation of the Apartment
Rental Agreement and may constitute grounds for discharge
ox cancellation of the Agreement.

RIGHT OF ENTRY. Owner's representative may enter the

apartment at any reasonable time to examine same and/or
make guch alterations and repairs as Owner may determine.

SURRENDER OF PREMISES. Upon the expiration or termination

of this Apartment Rental Agreement, Resident shall
surrender the apartment to the Owner in the same condition
as at the beginning of the term, ordinary wear and tear
excepted.

INSURANCE, RISK OF LOSS AND RENTAL ABATEMENT. Resident

shall be solely responsible for insuring Resident's
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personal belongings. If the apartment is damaged by fire,
casualty, or act of God, regarding which the Resident was
neither negligent nor at fault, the Owner shall promptly
repair the damages and the rental provided for herein shall
be abated on a daily basis so long as the Resident is
unable to occupy the premises while repairs are being made.
However, at such time as the premises are again tenable,
the cbligation to pay rent shall resume. In the event that

the damages involved are caused by negligence or fault on

the part of the Resident, the rental provided for herein
shall not abkate, but shall be paid, as agreed, in timely
fashion, and the Resident shall be further responsible for
paying any sume deductible under the Owner's insurance
coverage, which the Owner would ctherwise be required to
pay.

LIARILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. The Owner shall not be

liable for any damages or injuries to person or property
occasioned anyone whatsgcever, including other residents,
employees, guests, or the like, by reason of Resident's use
or occupancy of the apartment or the common areas, and
Resident shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Owner
from and againgt any and all claims for damages or
liability arising from injury to person or property
regardless of how occurring. Furthermore, Owner shall not
be liable to Resident, his family, employees or guests, for
any injuries or damages caused by acts or omissicns of
other residents or occupants, whether caused on or off the
property owned by the Owner. Finally, the Owner shall not
be liable for any loss or damage resulting from failure,
interruption or malfunction in the utilities provided
Regident in connection with his/her occupancy of the
apartment.
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CONDEMNATION., If the apartment or all or any part of the

premises shall be at any time taken for any public or
guasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent
domain, Owner shall be entitled to and shall receive the
award or payment therefore (hereinafter called the
"Award"), and Resident shall assign, and does hereby assign
and transfer, such Award to the Owner free and clear of
every claim of every kind whatsoever by or on the part of
the Resident.

DEFAULT. This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the
condition that the Resident shall faithfully perform all of

the terms, covenants and conditions herein contained by

him/her to be performed as herein set forth or in other

agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into between the

Owner and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default

if:

(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be
in arrears and unpaid for fifteen (15) days after
receipt by Resident of written notice making demand
therefcre; ox

(b} Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the
covenants, agreements, or conditions set forth herein
and said failure shall continue for a pericd of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written
notice of such failure from Cwner.

In the event of a default, Owner may at its option, declare

the term of this Agreement ended and repossess the

Apartment, and shall further be entitled to all other

rights and remedies set forth herein. A waiver of any

default by Owner shall not constitute a waiver of any other
or subsequent default. The Owner shall be entitled to be

fully reimbursed for all costs and expenses incurred in
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18,

19,

20.

21,

enforcing its rights hereunder, including a reasonable
attorney's fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued
monthly interest, at the maximum rate allowed by law, as to
any payments due and owing hereunder.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Should the apartment complex be

sold or leased to another party, Owner shall have the right
to assign this lease to the new owner. However, Regident
may not assign or transfer this lease or sublet the
apartment or any part thereof without the prior written
congent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold.

SUBORDINATION. This Apartment Rental Agreement is subject

and subordinate to all ground or underlying leases and to
all mortgages or deeds of trust which may now or hereafter
affect such leases or the real property on which the
apartment is located. In the event of foreclosure, any
retention deposits or security deposits will be refunded to
the Resident on the basis of the applicable retention
schedule. Furthermore, every effort will be made to have
the mortgagee honor all agreements between the Owner and
Regident and continue the apartment complex as an operating
entity.

NOTICES. Any notice required or provided for herein shall
be deemed to have been served sufficiently or received if
the game shall be in writing and either hand delivered or
mailed, postage prepaid, to a party's present address, or
to such other address ag that party may subsequently
provide.

DTSPOSITION OF PERSONAL PROPERTY. Upon the expiration or

termination of this Agreement, Owner thall have the right,
after ten {10) days written notice, to remove, at the
Resident's sole cost and expense, from the premises, all of

the Regident's personal belongings and other property
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remaining therein, and to dispose of same as the Owner in
its sole judgment shall determine, with no liability
therefore. In addition, ag to any expenses thereby
incurred, or incurred by the Owner in cleaning Resident's
apartment, Resident shall reimburse Owner therefore.

SERVICES OFFERED.

{a) Meals. Owner will provide Resident with one meal per
day, the meal to be determined by Owner, and to be

served in the common dining area.

(b} CGuest Meals. Are available at $10.00 per meal.

{¢) Utilities. All utilities, except telephone expenses,
will be paid for by the Owner. However, the cost of
telephone installation and removal shall be paid by
Resident.

(d) Janitorial Services. Owner will provide services in

all service areas, halls and community areas.

(e) Maid Service. Owner will provide maid sexrvice every

other week, on a regularly scheduled basis, to clean
Resident's apartment if so desired by Resident.

(f) Laundry. Cnce each week, Resident's flat laundry will
be picked up outside the door of Resident's apartment,
cleaned and returned.

(g) Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of

charge at the apartment complex for Resident's use
(Resident must provide detergent) .

(h) Transportatiocn. Transportation will be available at

certain scheduled times, to be determined by the Owner
in view of the needs of the Resident and the other

occupants of apartments.

12 August 2024



Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center

will be made available, on a priority basis, whenever
Resident's health, as determined by Resident's
vhysician, So requires.

Nursing Facility Dayve. At the time of residence and

each calendar year thereafter, each resident is
allowed 10 inpatient days in the adjacent White Oak
Manor Charlotte Facility, Unused days cannot be

carried forward to the next calendar year. A

physician's written medical certification is required
before admission to the Nursing Facility.

Nurge Call svstem. Is located in the master bedroom

and bath of each apartment and is connected to the
nurse's station at the adjacent nursing facility. If
activated, a trained member of the Nursing Department
will respond to the apartment,

Health Services Available, Skilled and Intermediate

Nursing Care (Medicare and Medicaid Certified).

Storage Facilities. Owner shall provide, at

Resident's sole risgk, reasonable storage space for
Resident's belongings other than furniture and other
household furnishings.

Recreational Facilities, Recreational facilities are

available for Resident's use on first come/ first

served basis.

Basic Cable TV Service. Basic Cable TV gervice is

provided by the Owner. Additional services can be
purchased by the Resident.

Personal Services. The following are available at the
resident's expense:

Beauty/ Barber Shop

Accommodationg for overnight guests
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23,

ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT. This Apartment Rental

24,

Agreement contains the entire agreement between the parties
hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and sets
forth all representations and warranties and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous oral or written
agreements, representations, warranties or understandings
with respect to the subject matter hereof. No amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless

evidenced by an agreement in writing signed by both the

Resident (or his/her legal representative) and the Owner.

NORTH CAROLINA LAW. Notwithstanding anything else herein

contained to the contrary, the following rights afforded by

North Carolina law shall apply. Specifically:

(a} In accordance with N.C.G.S8. §858-64-25(a) (1), Resident
may rescind this Agreement within thirty (30} days
following the later of the execution of the contract
as set forth below or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.S. §58-
64 . Furthermore, Resident is hereby notified that
he/she is not required to move intc the apartment
described below prioxr to the expiration of the thirty
day period described herein.

(b} In accordance with N.C.G.S. 858-64-25(a) (2), if a
resident dies before occupying a livJd.ng un.i.t in the
facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or
incapacity, a resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility, under the
termg of the contract for continuing care, the
contract is automatically canceled. All fees and
deposits will be fully refundable to the resident. or
their Legal Representative within 30 days of
notification to the facility.
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In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64~-25{a) (3), if an
executed contract is rescinded or cancelled under the
terms of this contract, all unearned fees and deposits
will be fully refundable to the Resident or their
Legal Representative within 30 days of notification to
the facility.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (3), Owner
will follow the feollowing procedure to change
regident’s accommodations, if necessary, for the
protection of the health or safety of the Resident or

the general and economic welfare of the residents. All
decisions regarding your permanent transfer from Sharon
Vvillage will be made after consultation with you and,

when appropriate, with your family or designee. Sharon
Village's decision will be binding.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (8), Resident
is hereby informed that Owner has no religiocus or
charitable affiliation, Furthermore, there is no
affiliate organization that will be responsible for
the financial and/or contractual obligaticns of the
Owner.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b} (3}, Resident
has no property rights hereunder.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (10), Sharon
village's policy, regarding adjusting fees and/or
rental sumg hereunder, is that if the Resident is
voluntarily absent from the facility, no adjustment
will be made. In other words, all fees owed Owner
hereunder, in the event of the voluntary absence of
the Rezident from the premises, will nevertheless be

due and payable as otherwise provided for herein.
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25,

26.

(h) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) {11), there is
no requirement that the Resident apply for Medicaid,

public assistance, or any public benefit program. More
specifically, no such benefits are available to the
Regident under this Agreement ox while living at
Sharon Village.

(1) In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-40(b), “The Board
of Directors or other governing body of a facility or
its designated representative shall hold semiannual

meetings with the residents of the facility for free
discussions of subject including, but not limited to,
income, expenditures, and financial trends and
problems as they apply to the facility and discussions
of proposed changes in policies, programs, and
services. Upon request of the most representative
residents' organization, a member of the governing
body of the provider, such as a board member, a
general partner, or a principal owner shall attend
such meetings. Residents shall be entitled to at least
seven days advance notice of each meeting. An agenda
and any materials that will be distributed by the
governing body at the meetings shall remain available
upen reguest to residents."

APPLICABLE LAW, This Apartment Rental Agreement shall ke

governed by and construed according to the laws cf the
State of North Carolina.
BINDING EFFECT. This Apartment Rental Agreement and all

terms, covenants and conditions herein contained, shall
extend to and be binding upon the parties hereto and upon
their respective heirs, administrators, successors,

executors, and assigns.
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IN WITNESS WHERECF, the undersigned have hereunto set their
hands and seals as of the date and year first above written.

NHC HEALTHCARE/CHARLOTTE, LLC d/b/a
SHARON VILLAGE APARTMENTS

By:

(Name and Title)

(SEAL)

(Regident)
RESIDENT ACKNOWLEDGES THEAT HE/SHE HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT BEFCRE
SIGNING, UNDERSTANDS ITS CONTENTS, AND AGREES TO ABIDE BY ALL OF
ITS TERMS AND PRCVISTONS.
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STATE OF RORTH CAROLINA APARTMENT RENTAL AGREEMENT

COUNTY OF MECKLENBURG (WITH RETENTION SCHEDULE INCLUDED)

THIS AGREEMENT, made and entered into as of the
day of . 20 , by and

between NHC HealthCare/Charlotte, LLC, a limited liability compary
doing busginess as Sharon Village Apartments hereinafter

referred to as “Owner” and a

resident of the State and County aforesaid, hereinafter
referred to as “Resident”.
WILTNESSETH:

FOR VALUABLE CONSIDERATION, the receipt and sufficiency of
which the parties hereto acknowledge, and the full and faithful
performance of all terms, covenants and conditions herein
contained, the Owner hereby agrees to rent to the Resident, and
the Resident hereby agrees to rent from the Owner, Apartment No.

, located at Sharon Village, Charlotte, North Carolina
(hereinafter called the "premises," "complex," or "apartment
complex") for Resident's sole cccupancy, according to the
following terms, covenants, and conditions:

1. TERM. The term of thisg Agreement shall begin on the
day of 20 , and end upon

the first of the following to occur:

(a) The last day of the month following the Resident's
death, or at such time thereafter as the Resident's
belongings have been removed from the premises; or

(b) Resident's default as hereinafter defined; or

(¢) Owner's having determined, and having given written
notification thereof, that the Regident:

(1) is socially incompatible with the Owner's
employees, other residents, or guests;

(ii) nas demonstrated possible emotional instability;
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(iii) poses a risk to the life and well-being of

{(d)

(e)

him/herself or others;

(iv) hasg destroyed, or attempted to destroy, property
belonging to the Owner, him/herself or others; or
(v)y fails to fully comply with all terms and

(vi)

provisions contained in this Agreement; or
has acted in any other unreasonable fashion or
poses for the Owner, its employees, residents or

guests, any other unreasonable risks; or

The last day of any month prior to which the Resident

hag given to the Owner;

(1)

In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification, to a
hospital or to Wnite Oak Manor - Charlotte
Nursing Center, at least ten (10) days prior

written notice; or

(ii) In the event the Resident is to be transferred,
based upon written medical certification,
anywhere else, at least thirty (30) days prior
written notice; or

(iii) In the event the Resident is to be transferred

anywhere else, without written medical
certification, at least (60) sixty days prior

written notice; or

At such time as, if ever, the apartment is destroyed
by fire or other calamity, or if the apartment, or a

substantial portion of the complex, 1s acquired

through condemnation proceedings, making it such,
under the circumstances, that the apartment is no

longer reasonably fit for its intended use.

2 August 2024



In the event the‘Resident is transferred as provided
in Paragraph (i) above, to a hospital, he/she shall
have sixty (60) days from date of transfer to return
to his/her apartment, and to have the within Agreement
remain in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditions herein contained, including
those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and
are then being) fully complied with.

In the event the Resident is transferred, as
provided in Paragraph (i) above, to White Oak Manor -
Charlotte Nursing Center, the Resident shall have
thirty (30) days from date of transfer tc return to
his apartment, and to have the within Agreement remain
in full force and effect, so long as all terms,
covenants and conditions herein contained, including
those pertaining to rental payments, have been (and
are then being) fully complied with.

In the event that the Resident, upon being
transferred elsewhere as provided above, wishes to
again become a tenant of the Owner, after the within
Agreement has terminated, and is certified, in
writing, by a qualified physician, as being again able
to reside in the apartment complex, Owner agrees to
give the Resident, to the extent reasonable possible,
a priority as far as the next available apartment,
with Retention Deposits and rental rates to be those
then in effect, and a new Apartment Rental Agreement
to be entered into.

In the situations described in Paragraphs (i) and
(ii) above, the Owner may, but shall have no legal
duty to, waive the requirement regarding written
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- agreeable-to-both Owner and.Resident

2.

notification based upon termsg and conditions mutually

RETENTION DEPOSIT. At the time of executing this

Agreement, Resident hasg paid to the Owner a Retention

Deposit of .  The purpcse of the Retention

Depogit is to reduce the monthly rent when compared to the
Straight Rental payment plan. Subject to the Retention
9chedule herein contained, all such monies paid by the
Resident to the Owner shall remain the property cf the

Resident.

However, periodically, as provided by the Retention
8chedule, the Owner shall be entitled to and become the
owner of portions of the Retention Deposit, and eventually,
according to the terms of the Agreement, shall become the
owner of the entire fee. Notwithstanding ownership by the
Resident of a portion of the fee, as provided in the
Retention Schedule, throughout the entire term of this
Agreement, the Owner shall have the absclute right to use
the entire fee as the owner may, in its sole judgment,
determine and shall be solely entitled to all benefits
derived therefrom, including all interest earned therecn.

The Retention Schedule ig ag follicows:

LENGTH OF OCCUPANCY AMOUNT AMOUNT
RETAINED REFUNDED
Upon Occupancy 20% 80%
' 1-4 Years {prorated daily) 20% per year 80-0%

In the event this Agreement shall terminate due to
Resident's death or default as provided in Paragraphs 1i(a)
or i(b) above, the balance of the Retention Deposit to
which the Resident would otherwise be entitled shall
immediately become the property of the Owner and neither

the Regident, nor anyone claiming in his/her behalf, shall
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have any further entitlement thereto. However, should this

Agreement-terminate -as-provided-in-Paragraphs-1(c).,—{d), or

Liias

(e) above, Resident or hig legal representative, as the
case may be, shall be entitled to such refund as the
Resident may be due according to the Retention Schedule
described above. The amount of refund will be calculated on
a dailly basis (365 days per year). Refunds of this nature,
calculated on a pro rata daily basis, will be promptly
made to the Resident or his/her legal representative but
under no circumsgtances later than 30 days after the
termination date of the agreement.

If for any reason, a resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility under the terms of
the contract for continuing care, the contract is
automatically canceled and all moniegs will be promptly
refunded to the resident or their legal representative but
within 30 days after the termination date of the agreement.

TRANSFERS. A transfer fee may apply if vou desire to

transfer from your current apartment to another. After 10
years of resgidency in the same apartment, a transfer fee
may be waived. A 50% transfer fee will apply if transfer
occurs within 5-10 years of residency. If request is made
prior to 5 years, 100% of the transfer fee will apply. An
exception to applying the transfer fee may apply if a
prearranged admission agreement signed by both parties
stipulates a desire to transfer to another specific
apartment within one year. The transfer fee is not a preset
cost but is based on cost to refurbish current apartment.
MARRIAGES. If a current resident(s) of Sharon Village
becomes married, the rent will increase based on the rent
gchedules in effect at that time for two persons. No
additional deposit is required and the balance outstanding

ori any deposit(s) will continue to amortize in accordance
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with each Resident's original Rental Agreement. A new

Rental Agreement will be negotiated between Sharon Village

Ll el

and the husband and wife as Residents. Other than for
medical reasons there are no qualifying requirements for a
spouse to meet as a condition for entry. In the event the
spouse does not medically gqualify for admission, the
agreement will terminate and alternate placement will be
regquired.

RENT. In addition to paying the Retention Deposit provided
for above, Resident also agrees tc pay monthly rental to

the Owner in the amount of , gaid rent to be

payable in advance on or before the first day of each menth

for which due and owing, provided, however:

(a) The rent for a partial month at the beginning of the
term shall be prorated;

{b) Although the Owner will attempt to keep rental
increages tce a minimum, during any calendar year
following the first full calendar year of this
Agreement, the Owner may, due to an increase in the
cost of operation, or for any other reason, upon
thirty (30) days prior written notice to the Resident,
increase the monthly rental payable hereunder so long
as the sum of the increases in monthly rental during
any calendar year does not exceed the greater of:

(1) 8ix (6%) percent of the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year; O

(ii) An amount equal to the average monthly rental
during the preceding calendar year multiplied by
the percentage increase in the "Consumer Price
Index" figures for January and December of the
preceding calendar year, the Consumer Price Index
being the "Consumer Price Index - U.S. City

Average - All Items Figures for Urban Wage
6 August 2024



Earners and Clerical Workerg (Including Single

Workers)-—which dndexis currently pubklished in

the "Monthly Labor Review of the Bureau of Labor
Statistics of the United States Department of
Labor, or l1lts succesgscr index.

(c¢) All rental payments shall be due and payable on or
before the first day of the month for which due and
owing, and if received on or after the tenth (10) day
of that particular month shall accrue a five (5%)
percent late charge (5% of the monthly payment) which
sum shall be immediately due and payable and
collectible as additional rent.

USE OF APARTMENT; COMPLIANCE WITH RULES AND REGULATIONS ;

SMOKING POLICY. Resident will make no unlawful or

offengive use of the apartment and the common areas
belonging to the Owner and will comply with all laws,
ordinances and regulations of duly constituted governmental
authorities. Resgident will use the apartment only as a
private dwelling for him/her and such other persons as may
be authorized. In addition, Resident agrees to abide by the
reasonable rules and regulations promulgated from time to
time py Owner generally applicable to all occupants and
designed for the general health, welfare, and comfort of
the other cccupants. In addition to all such other rules
and regulations, Resident specifically acknowledges that
Owner has a policy prohibiting the use of all tobacco
products in the apartments as well as on the Sharon Village
property, and Resident agrees to abide by said policy. Any
regident who viclates this policy by using tobacco products
in his/her apartment or on the Sharcon Village property or
by allowing anyone else to use tobacco products in his/her
apartment or on the property will be deemed to be in

default under this agreement and subject to the provisions
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of Paragraph 14 of this Agreement, including eviction and

mbursement-of Ownexr's costs, —expenses and attorney's

fees. Notwithstanding the foregoing, Resident further
acknowledges that thig tobacco policy does not apply to
other residents who signed their Apartment Rental
Agreements priocr to the implementation of this policy in
September, 2008,

USE OF PREMISES. Resident shall have the use, possession

and enjoyment during the term of this Agreement of the
apartment above identified jointly with any other tenant,
but all common areas, including stairways, walkways and
grounds, shall be used and enjoyed with other residents,
and no portion of the same may or shall be permanently or
temporarily appropriated by Regident to Resident's
exclusive use, enjoyment or possession.

DESCRIPTION OF LIVING QUARTERS. Resident will reside in one

of the folleowing:

s Efficiency - 323 square feet. Living room/bedroom,

kitchen, 1 bathroom, porch

e One Bedroom - 530 gsguare feet. Living room, bedroom,

walk-in closet, 1 bathroom, kitchen, porch

¢ Deluxe Cne RBedroocm - 655 sguare feet. Living roomn,

bedroom, walk-in closet, 1 bathroom, kitchen, dining
room, porch

e Deluxe Two Bedroom - 867 square feet. Living room, 2

bedrooms, 2 bathrooms, kitchen, dining room, porch

CARE OF APARTMENT AND REPAIRS. Resident will take good

care of the apartment and common areas and will report
promptly to Owner any repairs which may be needed. Owner
shall keep and maintain the apartment in tenable condition
and shall have the right to make at reasonable times any

and all repairs, renovations and alterations as it shall
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determine necessary or degirable. Resident shall reimburse

owner-for -expenses—incurred by Owner -for repalrs

10.

11,

12,

13.

14,

attributable to Resident's abuse or mistreatment of the
apartment {(including appliances) or the common areas.

ALTERATIONS BY RESIDENT. Resident shall make no

alterations to the apartment without the prior written
consent of the Owner, which consent ghall not be
unreasonably withheld,

PETS. Resident may not keep any pets or animals of any
kind anywhere upon the premises without the prior written
consent of the Owner. Even after the Owner's consent has
been given, this consent may be reasonably withdrawn by the
Owner according to its sole judgment and discretion based
upon what it believes to be in the best interest of the
complex and the other residents. A $50C0 pet deposit is
required if a pet is maintained in the apartment. The
deposit may be refunded at the discretion of Management.

POSSESSION OF FIREARMS. No person, including residents,

friends of residents or family members, may possess or
carry, whether openly or concealed, any guns, rifles,
pistols or firearms of any type on the premises. Violation
cf this policy shall be deemed a violation of the Apartment
Rental Agreement and may constitute grounds for discharge
or cancellation of the Agreement.

RIGHT OF ENTRY. Owner's representative may enter the

apartment at any reasonable time to examine same and/or
make such alterations and repairs as Owner may determine.

SURRENDER OF PREMISES. Upon the expiration or termination

of this Apartment Rental Agreement, Resident shall
gurrender the apartment to the Owner in the same condition

as at the beginning of the term, ordinary wear and tear

excepted.
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15.

INSURANCE, RISK OF LOSS AND RENTAL ABATEMENT. Resident

shall be.solely responsible for insuring Resident!'s

16.

personal belongings. If the apartment is damaged by fire,
casualty, or act of God, regarding which the Resident was
neither negligent nor at fault, the Owner shall promptly
repair the damages and the rental provided for herein shall
be abated on a daily basis so long as the Resgident is
unable to occupy the premiges while repairs are being made.
However, at such time as the premises are again tenable,
the obligation to pay rent shall resume. In the event that
the damages involved are caused by negligence or fault on
the part of the Resident, the rental provided for herein
shall not abate, but shall be paid, as agreed, in timely
fashion, and the Resident shall be further responsible for
paying any sums deductible under the Owner's insgurance
coverage, which the Owner would otherwise be required to
pay -

LIABILITY AND INDEMNIFICATION. The Owner shall not be

liable for any damages or injuries to person or property
occasioned anyone whatsocever, including other residents,
employees, guests, or the like, by reason of Resident's use
or occupancy of the apartment or the common areas, and
Regident shall indemnify, defend and hold harmless Ownex
from and against any and all claims for damages or
liability arising from injury to perscn or property
regardless of how occurring. Furthermore, Owner shall not
be liable to Resident, his family, emplovees or guests, for
any injuries or damages caused by acts or omissicns of
other residents or occupants, whether caused on or off the
property owned by the Owner. Finally, the Owner shall not
be liable for any loss or damage resulting from failure,

interruption or malfunction in the utilities provided
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Resident in connection with his/her occupancy of the

apartment

17.

18.

CONDEMNATION. If the apartment or all or any part of the

premises shall be at any time taken for any public or
quasi-public use under any statute or by right of eminent
domain, Owner shall be entitled to and shall receive the
award or payment therefore (hereinafter called the

"Award"), and Resident ghall assign, and does hereby assign
and transfer, such Award to the Cwner free and clear of
every claim of every kind whatsoever by or on the part of
the Regident.

DEFAULT. This Apartment Rental Agreement is made upon the
condition that the Resident shall faithfully perform all of
the terms, covenants and conditiong herein contained by
him/her to be performed as herein set forth or in other

agreements heretofore or hereafter entered into between the

Oowner and the Resident, and Resident shall be in default

if: |

(a) Any rental payment due hereunder shall at any time be
in arrears and unpaid for fifteen (15) days after
receipt by Regident of written notice making demand
therefore; or

{b) Resident shall fail to observe or perform any of the
covenants, agreements, or conditions set forth herein
and said failure shall continue for a pericd of
fifteen (15) days after receipt by Resident of written
notice of guch failure from Owner.

In the event of a default, Owner may at 1ts option, declare

the term of this Agreement ended and repossess the

Apartment, and shall further be entitled to all other

rights and remediesg set forth herein. A waiver of any

default by Cwner shall not constitute a waiver of any other

or subseguent default. The Owner shall be entitled to Dbe
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fully reimbursed for all costs and expenses incurred in

Lte-rights—hereunder,—including-a-reasonable

19.

20.

21.

22.

attorney's fee, and shall be entitled to have accrued
monthly interest, at the maximum rate allowed by law, as to
any payments due and owing hereunder.

ASSIGNMENT AND SUBLETTING. Should the apartment complex be

sold or leased to another party, Owner shall have the right
to assign this lease to the new owner. However, Resident
may not assign or transfer this lease or sublet the
apartment or any part thereof without the prior written
congent of the Owner, which consent the Owner may withhold.

SUBORDINATION. This Apartment Rental Agreement is subject

and subordinate to all ground or underlying leases and to
all mortgages or deeds of trust which may now or hereafter
affect such leases or the real property on which the
apartment is located. In the event of foreclosure, any
Retention Deposits or security deposits will be refunded to
the Resident on the basis of the applicable retention
schedule. Furthermore, every effort will be made to have
the mortgagee honor all agreements between the Cwner and
Regident and continue the apartment complex as an operating
entity.

NOTICES. Any notice required or provided for herein shall
be deemed to have been served sufficiently or received if
the same shall be in writing and either hand delivered or
mailed, postage prepaid, to a party's present address, or
to such other address ag that party may subsequently
provide.,

DISPOSITION OF PERSONAL, PROPERTY. Upon the expiration or

termination of this Agreement, Owner shall have the right,
after ten (10) days written notice, to remove, at the
Resident's sole cost and expense, from the premises, all of

the Resident's personal belongings and cother property
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remaining therein, and to dispose of same as the Owner in

itg sole judgment shall determine, with no liability

23.

therefore. In addition, as to any expenses thereby

incurred, or incurred by the Owner in cleaning Resident's

apartment, Resident shall reimburse Owner therefore.

SERVICES OFFERED.

{a)

(c)

(d)

(e)

®

(h)

Mealg. Owner will provide Resident with one meal per
day, the meal to be determined by Owner, and to be
gserved in the common dining area.

Guegt Meals. Are available at $10.00 per meal,

Utilitieg. 21l utilities, except telephone expenses,
will be paid for by the Owner. However, the cost of
telephone installation and removal shall be paid by
Resident.

Janitorial Serxrvices. Owner will provide services in

all service areas, halls and community areas.

Maid Service. Owner will provide maid service every

other week, on a regularly scheduled basis, to clean
Resident's apartment if so desired by Resident.
Laundry. Once each week, Resident's flat laundry will
be picked up outside the door of Resident's apartment,
cleaned and returned.

Laundromat. Laundry facilities are available free of

charge at the apartment complex for Resident's use
{Regident must provide detergent).

Trangportation. Transportation will be available at

certain scheduled timesg, to be determined by the Cwner
in view of the needs of the Resident and the other
occupants of apartments.

Nursing Center. A bed in the adjoining nursing center

will be made available, on a priority basis, whenever
Regident's health, as determined by Resident's

physician, so requires.
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Nursing Facilityv Days. At the time of resgsidence and

each _calendar year thereafter, each resident is

allowed 10 inpatient days in the adjacent White Oak
Manor Charlotte Facility. Unused days cannot be
carried forward to the next calendar year. A

physician's written medical certification is required

Nurse Call System. Is located in the master bedroom

and bath of each apartment and is connected to the
nurse's station at the adjacent nursing facility. IE

activated, a trained member of the Nursing Department

Health Services Available. Skilled and Intermediate

Nursing Care (Medicare and Medicaid Certified)

Resident's sole risk, reasonable storage space for

Resident's belongings other than furniture and other

Recreational Facilities. Recreational facilities are

available for Resident's use on first come/ first

Bagic Cable TV Service, Baslc Cable TV gservice is

provided by the Owner. Additional services can be

{J)
before admisgsgion to the Nursing Facility.
(k)
will respcend to the apartment.
(1)
(m) Storage Facilities. Owner shall provide, at
household furnishings.
(n)
gerved basis.
(o)
purchased by the Resident.
(p)

Pergonal Services. The following are available at the
regident's expense:

Beauty/ Barber Shop

Accommodations for overnight guests
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24,

ENTIRE AGREEMENT AND AMENDMENT . This Apartment Rental

reement—contains the entire agresement between the pa‘rt"i@g

25,

el

hereto with respect to the subject matter hereof and sets
forth all representations and warranties and supersedes any
and all prior or contemporaneous oral or written
agreements, representations, warranties or understandings
with respect to the subject matter hereof. No amendment or
modification of this Agreement shall be binding unless
evidenced by an agreement in writing signed by both the
Resident {or his/her legal representative) and the Owner.

NORTH CAROLINA LAW. Notwithstanding anything else herein

contained to the contrary, the following rights afforded by

North Carclina law shall apply. Specifically:

{(a) In accordance with N.C.G.S8. §58-64-25(a) (1), Resident
may rescind this Agreement within thirty (30) days
following the later of the execution of the contract
as set forth below or the receipt of a disclosure
statement that meets the requirements of N.C.G.8. §58-
64 . Furthermore, Resident is hereby notified that
he/she is not required to move into the apartment
described below prior to the expiration of the thirty
day period described herein.

(b)Y In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25{a) (2), if a
resident dies before occupying a living unit in the
facility, or if, on account of illness, injury, or
incapacity, a resident would be precluded from
occupying a living unit in the facility, under the
terms of the contract for continuing care, the
contract is automatically canceled. All fees and
deposits will be fully refundable to the resident or
their Legal Representative within 30 days of

notification to the facility.
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In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(a) (3), if an

executed contract ig rescinded_or cancelled under the

(e)

(£)

terms of this contract, all unearned fees and deposits
will be fully refundable to the Resident or their
Legal Representative within 30 days of notification to
the facility. The amount of refund will be calculated
on a daily basis (365 days per year).

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25(b) (3), Owner
will follow the following procedure to change
regsident's accommodations, 1f necessary, for the
protection of the health or safety of the Resident.or
the general and economic welfare of the residents. All
decisions regarding your permanent transfer from
Sharon Village will be made after consultation with
you and, when appropriate, with your family or
designee. Sharon Village's decision will be binding.
In accordance with N.C.3.8. 858-64-25(b) (8), Resgident
is hereby informed that Owner has no religious or
charitable affiliaticn. Furthermore, there is no
affiliate organization that will be responsible for
the financial and/or contractual obligations of the
Owner.

In accordance with N.C.G.8. 858-64-25(b) (9), Regident
has no property rights hereunder.

In accordance with N.C.G.S. §58-64-25 (b} (10), Sharcn
village's policy, regarding adjusting fees and/or
rental gums hereunder, is that if the Resident is
voluntarily absent from the facility, no adjustment
will be made. In other words, all fees owed Owner
hereunder, in the event of the voluntary absence of
the Resident from the premises, will nevertheless be

due and payable as otherwise provided for herein.
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() Tn accordance with N.C.G3.8. §58-64-25(b) (11}, there is

t—-the Regident—apply for Medicaid

26.

27,

public assistance, or any public benefit program. More
gpecifically, no such benefits are available to the
Resident under this Agreement or while living at
Sharon Village.

(i) In accordance with N.C.G.8. §58-64-40{(b), "The Board
of Directors or other governing body of a facility or
its designated representative shall hold semiannual
meetings with the residents of the facility for free
discussions of subject including, but not limited to,
income, expenditures, and financial trends and
problemé as they apply to the facility and discussions
of proposed changes in policies, programs, and
services. Upon request of the most representative
residents' organization, a member of the governing
body of the provider, such as a board member, a
general partner, or a principal owner shall attend
such meetings. Residents shall be entitled to at least
seven daysg advance notice of each meeting. An agenda
and any materials that will be distributed by the
governing body at the meetings shall remain available
upon reguest to residents.

APPLICABLE LAW. This Apartment Rental Agreement shall be

governed by and construed according to the laws of the
State of North Carolina.

BINDING EFFECT. This Apartment Rental Agreement and all

terms, covenants and conditiong herein contained, shall
extend to and be binding upon the parties hereto and upon
their respective heirs, administrators, successors,

executors, and assigns.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have hereunto set their

hande and seals as of the date and year first above writter:

NEC HEALTHCARE/CHARLOTTE, LLC

d/b/a SHARON VILLAGE APARTMENTS

By:

{(Name and Title)

{SEAL)

(Resident)
RESIDENT ACKNCWLEDGES THAT HE/SHE HAS READ THIS AGREEMENT BEFORE
SIGNING, UNDERSTANDS ITS CONTENTS, AND AGREES TO ABIDE BY ALIL OF

ITS TERMS AND PROVISIONS.
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Facility Use Only:

IO ' y

= Sharon Village
© INDEPENDENT LIVING RETIREMENT COMMUNITY
WELLNESS EVALUATION FORM

(This physical examination must be completed by patient( s) primary care physician)

PLEASE PRINT NEATLY
Name; Birthdate: / /

Social Security Number: : 0 Male 0 Fernale
Address;___

How long has this individual been a patient of yours or seen af this practice?

Reason for Review; 0O Pre-Residency
g Change in Condition
0 Other

MEDICAL REVIEW FINDIN GS:‘ Date of Exam:

Wi Hi: B Pulse; . Rhythms:
Resp: Temp:

General Appeerance:

Skin;

Bauilibrivn: Tremor; ‘ Reflexes: .
Vision; Doss patient require the use of glasses, readers or contacts?_
Hearing; Does patient require the use of hearing aicls?

Do you recomrmend an audiology consult?

Oral Health: Does patient roquire the use of dentures or partials?
Limgs: Does patient require the use of oxygen?

Heart; Extremities:

Tuberculin Test: Negative: Positive: __ (x-ray if positive)

4009 Cralg Ave. * Gharlotts, NG 28211-2561 * 704-385-7190 * 704-365-5466 {fax)
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Date of last Balance Test: (if not i last 6 months, please administer)

Results;

Is patient ambulatory?

Does patient require use of the following?

MEDICAL HISTORY;

Primary Diagnoses(s):

(T O

OYes ONo

Walker
Cane

_Roliator

Motorized Chair
Wheelchair
Scooter

Secondary Diagnoses(s):

¢

{Please check any of the following illnesses or diseases which apply currvently or in the past)

Resolved?

Date of Onset Y or N

Controlled with
Medications?
YorN

High Blood Pressure

Diabetes

Congestive Heart Failure

Asthina

Ulcers

Anemia

Depression

Mental Wness

Intellectual Disability

Muscular Dystrophy

Cancer

Stroke

Heart Attack

Arteriosclezosis

Chronic Lung Disease

Rectal Bleeding

Memory Loss

Cataracts

Arthritis

Macular Degeneration

(i twviruel jun g ju o F an e gYan o g owl o fon Bt f ol ina R i andl o foll Fan l Fum}

Significant Vision Loss

Present Ilnesses not listed shove and date of onset:
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Past Olnesses not listed above and dates:

Mental / Emotional Tllnesses: Please provide history, if any (If ever institutionalized, please provide dates
and location(s)

Operation(s) and date(s):

Allergies:

Medications:
Food Allergies:
Seasonal;
Anaphylactic:
Diet:

Alcohol Use: Soclally
- Weekly

Daily

Is patient on any medication that contraindicates use of alcohol? (If yes, please list)

Is patient a tobacco user (any form of tobacco)? 0 Yes [0 No
(Sharor Village iz a tobacco-free campus)

Does patient require any orders for;  [1 Physical Therapy:
G Oceupational Therapy:
I Speech Therapy:

Does patient have any cognitive impairoent? O Yes [)No  If yes, [1 Minor [ Moderate [1 Severe
Does Patient have memory loss? OYes tINo If yes, 0 Minor [l Moderate O Severe

Is patient capable of correctly administering, filling and refilling their own medications?
OYes UONo {Please attach cuerent medication ist)

Is patient physically and mentally capable of living in an independent living environment, without
supervision? [F¥es [1No

(If no, please explain);

Is thers any other diagnosis that would prevent patient from living independently?

4008 Cralg Ave. * Charlotte, NC 28211-2561 * 704-8366-7190 * 704-365-5466 (fax)
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Sharon Village is a traditiondl, free-stunding apartment community that requires residents to exit their

building wred wallcowtside to our dining vooin, Residents nusf also be able fo shop for groceries.

Is patient able, without assistance, to attend daily noon meals served in the Dining Room or able to
prepare meals? O Yes [JNo '

In the event of fire, flood or any emergency situation, would you consider this patient able to exit; [} With
Assistance 1 Without Assistance

Do you consider this patient more appropriate for: 1 Independent Living
o [J Assisted Living

Any additional information;

Teertify that I have physicelly examined this patient and have accurately desctibed the individual’s
niedical state, cognitive status, and medication regimen.

Date: Signature of Physician
Printed Name of Physician:

Physician Phone Number: Fax Numbar;

Examining Physician — Return this form via:
MAIL:

SHARON VILLAGE

INDEPENDENT LIVING APARTMENTS
ATTN: SHERI CONRAD

4009 CRAIG AVE. -

CHARLOTTE, NC 28211-2561

FAX: 704-365-5466
ATTN: SHERI CONRAD

Thereby give permission for my physician to release my medical information to:
SHARON VILLAGE APARTMENTS

Patient’s Signafure:

Patient’s Printed Name:

Date;

4008 Craig Ave, * Charlotte, NG 26211-2561 * 704-365-7190 * 704-365-5466 (iax)
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| Facility Use Only:

Apt. & Bidg. #

% haron Village

APPLICATION FOR ADMISSION

Pleass Print or Type - (Each person must subwiit separate applications even if mairied)

Toil Name:
2, Spouse;_

Present Address: (If you maintain more than one home, please indicate):

‘Present Phone Number:,
Social Security #; Medicare #:
Health Insurance Co.: ' Policy #

7. Financial/ Legal Representative(s):

Name: ' Namg:

Address; Address:

Phone, : i Phore;
8. Marital Status: [1 Single [ Married L1 Widow/Widower
0. Veteran; 01 Yes [l No If yes, branch of service:
10. Birthdate: Place of Birth;

11, Former Occupation(s):

12. Hobbies, special talents or interests:

1
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13. Church Affiliation:
How long affiliated?
Name of Minister, Priest or Rabbi;
Address;,
14, Special Needs (or Haudicaps);
15, Names of Living Children {or next closest ielative):
Names ddresses Telephone #
16, Medical History: (Please check any of the following ilinesses or diseases which applies
currently or in the past)
[J High Blood Pressure [ Stroke 1 Depression
[ Diabefes [ Heart Attack [] Mental lliness
1 Congestive Heart Failure [] Arteriosclerosis 0 Mental Retardation
r1  Asthma ] Chronic Lung Disease 0 Muscolar Dystrophy '
3 Uleers [7] Rectal Bleeding [7 Cancer :
0 Anemia [ Surgeries in the lasf five years |
17, Sharon Village is a tobacco-free catmpus,
Will anyone residing in your aparhnent use tobaceo products? Yes [INo
18, Physician who will prepare your medical evalation form certificate:

Physician’s Name:

Telephone #;
Office Address:

Do you anthorize SHARON VILLAGE to discuss your health with the above physician?
YES [1 Nno [

List all corrently prescribed medications:

2
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19.

List all hospitalizations/institutions in past five ycm‘s: (Specify reason and date(s))

20,

21,

Rev.3/19

Hospital/fastitation—————Datg-—— Reason

Have you ever been denied admission {o snother retivement community?

YES I No O

{if your answer Is Yes, explain) :

v

Bmergency Contact Person:

Address;

Telephore #: FEmail Address:

List one person {not 4 relative) whom you have known at least five years, whom you wish to

uge as a personal reference:

A complete application will elso include & compieted Medical Evaluation Form,

I make this applcation for admission to SHARON VILLAGE APARTMENTS of my own fres
will and accord, with the knowledge that [ may always change my mind, T declare the answers to
be true, full and complete. To the best of my knowledge and belief, L am capable of living at
Sharen Village Apartments without extraordinary care and that the facilities; services, fees, costs,
refunds aud policies have been explained to me and are acceptable as presented. T hereby give

Sharon Village Apartments, Inc. the right to seek out any necessary information and/or referencs,

{ncluding those references set forth in this Application, in processing the Application,

Signature of Applicant

Date

3
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